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SrR: In a11swer to certain inquiries from the Committee on Claims, in 
regard to the legislation proposed by a till (S. 1028) " in relation to the 
claims of States against the United States," I have the honor to trans­
mit to the Senate a rPport prepared b,v l?in5t Lieut. Thomas H. Brarl­
ley, 'l'went.v-firRt Infantry, examiner of State elaims in this office, wl1ich 
expresses the Yiews of this deJmrtmellt upon the subject. 

ALB:X. RA1\1SEY, 

The PRESIDEN'l' O.F TilE SE:NA'I'B. . 
A~eoretary (~f War. 

Ust of paper.s. 

Copy of Senate bill No. 102 . 
Report of Lieut. Thomas H. Bradley, examiner of State claims. 
Copy of Senate executiYe document No. GO, Forty-tifth Congress, third session. 
Copy of letter of Secretary of War, dated .March 7, l b79. 
Copy of opinion of Attorney-General, dated March 14, 1879. 
Copy of Senate execntiv~ document No. 19, Forty-fifth Congress, second session. 
Copy of Honse miscellaueous document ~o. 35, Forty-second Congress, second ses-

sion. 
Copy cf letter from the Third Anditor, dated January 2-!, 1880. 

"'\Y AR DEP ART:JIEN1', 
lVa(/hin,qton, D. C., February .3, 1880. 

8n~: In the matter of a uill (B. 1028) "in relation to claims of States 
ag·aiust the United States," which has bePureferred to this department 
by the Senate Oommhtee on Claimt-5, to obtain '' all the information and 
facts shown by the records or known in your <lepartment touching the 
claim of each State of the Union against the e nited States, the number 
of snch elaimi-l, the character and amount of C'ach, what action, if any, 
lwR been taken in relation to each, a1Hl the Yie,Ys of your department 
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as to tlJC propriety of the passage of tlte l>ill,'' 1 haYc the honor to ~ul>­
mit the following report: 

1. ''All tlle information and facts ~howu by the records or knowu in 
yonr di'P<Htment touching the claim of each State of the rniou against 
the Unitef1 States" cannot. be gh~en until lcgi~;latiou is had, inclnding a 
large appropriation of money to rent a lmildiiJg, entploy a clerical force, 
and to furnish statiouery, in order that thousand::; of pages of records 
aucl Yast 1mml>ers of papers and rolls may bC' copied aud compiled for 
u.::.e e1~ewhere than in departmental offices. 

~. "Tlte number of such claims" cannot be ascertained without ex­
traordinary delay and re::;('arclt, \Yhieh would rtquire a clerical force ex­
ceeding that no\Y allo1Yed b;y law to this departwent, the present force 
being iuadeq ua te for the prompt and satisfactory transaction of the 
current business. 

3. "The character" of each claim included in the phrase "claims of 
States " cannot be giYen-the reason why being as above set forth­
further than to generalize the claims under two grand classifications, 
namely, one class being made up of claims which have accrued during 
and on account of the civil war, and the second class being made up of 
claims which are not included in the civil war designation. 

In order to give more comprehensive definitions to these two classes 
appears the following: 

The claims of the first grand class, namely, those which accrued dur­
ing and on account of the civil war, are mainly for reimbursement of ex­
penditures made in raising troops for the defense of the enited States 
between .April15, 1861, and .August 20, 1866. 

History accounts for these claims in the facts of record, which are sub­
stantially as follow·s: 

The Thirty-sixth Congress adjourned l\Iarch 3, 1861; the laws of the 
United States authorized the President to call forth the militia and vol­
unteer forces; the statutes afforded no appropriation (save $200,000 per 
annum for arming and equipping the militia) which could be applied 
to the support of such forces, and the Constitution allowed no money 
to be drawn fi'om the Treasury, but in consequence of appropriations 
made by law. 

The President called forth the troops by requisitions on the loyal 
States; the authorities of such States responded by furnishing the men 
anfl by raising the greater portion of the money necessary to defray the 
expenses of the troops until provision for their support should be made 
by Congress, or until they should be mustered into the service of the 
United States. For example: Massachusetts was among the first tore­
spond, and, in order to have the militia of the commonwealth prepared 
for war, certain gentlemen were instrumental in "procuring from the 
Bank of Redemption in Boston a temporary loan to the commonwealth 
for the use of the troops of the sum of$50,000." (1 Civil War in .America, 
by Lossing, page 402). · 

On the 4th of July, 1861, when the Thirty-seventh Congress first as­
semuled in special session, the Union .Army, exclusive of the regular 
forces, numbered 260,000 men, that had been enrolled, equipped, armed, 
clothed, quartered, subsisted, and transported from advances of money 
made by the loyal States. The magnitude of the expenses coincident 
to the affairs tht>n pending in this connection may be 1inferred from the 
faets that the sum total drawn from the United States Treasury bv the 
Secretary of War for all clas..;es of War Department expenditures for 
the month of J nne was $4,815,026.89, of which $98,417.50 was for arming 
and equipping the militia, and that in order to cover pending expenses. 
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there was appropriated by the Congress convened in July, $227,613,-
397.80, which amount was placed upon the books of this department by 
Treasury warrants dated July and August, 1861, and was thenceforth 
available for disbursement. 

The loyal States advanced some $50,000,000 between April15, 1861, 
and August 20, 186u, in raising troops for the United States service. 
Their authorities, it seems, paused not to consider conditions or limita­
tions touching return of the money, and cared not then for technical 
forms of accounts and proofs appertaining to military expenditures of 
the government. The character of these claims became stamped upon 
them from their very nature. The spirit of generous advances (without 
formal procee.dings), born of national necessity, was continued in prac­
tical existence, and was encouraged and unhindered during the entire 
war period. Some installments of these claims are now for the first time 
pending settlement, they having been filed in 1879, or presented some 
fifteen years after the expenses were incurred. The reports made at this 
office on these late installments cover hundreds of pages of manuscript, 
and are prepared with much care, owing to the vast number and variety 
of rules and precedents which have become practicably applicable to 
various charges submitted during the eighteen years these claims have 
been undergoing examination and adjustment. Any new rule which, at 
this late date, would for the first time allow a petty charge of a class 
heretofore suspended on these claims might be construed to work al­
lowance of half million dollars of similar items suspended on voucher 
which have been "passed upon" since the year 1861. 

A further statement concerning claims of this class is given in ex~ 
tracts, as follows : 

13. State war-claims were, at the outset, distinct and separate from claims for "col­
lecting, drilling, and organizing volunteers," as were also the appropriations in connec­
tion therewith. 

The organized militia was insignificant in numbers when compared to the number 
of men required; therefore goYernors of loyal States and their agents patriotically 
sought and found ways and means ''for enrolling, subsisting, clothing, supplying, 
arming, equipping, paying, an'tl transporting" State "troops employed" (and to be 
employed thenceforth for years) in aiding to suppress the insurrection. 

14. The Congress passed au act, which the President approved July 27, 1861 (12 
Stat., 276), entit,led "An act to indemnify the States for expenses incurred by them in 
defense of the United States." This act appropriated an indefinite amount of money 
for the repayment of the vast sums advanced, borrowed, and paid out in good faith 
for the purposes mentioned; hut such repayment could only be made upon ''proper 
vouchers," and these were difficult to ol.Jtaiu in the hurrying times of war, and were, 
in truth, at first unknown to State officials. 

15. It seems that Congress anrl the Pre~ident desired to doubly pledge the faith of 
the government to refund to States expense~ incnrrerl in this connection, inasmuch as 
there were appropriated, July 17, 18{)1, $10.000,000 (12 Stat., 264); on July 27, 1861, an 
unlimited amount (12 Stat., 276); and on February25, 186~. $15,000,000 (12 Stat., :H5). 
By Treasury warrants dated July 22, 1861, and March 3, 1862, the specific amounts, 
aggregating $25,000,000, were placed upon the books of the Tt·easury and o£ this de­
partment, nuder the technical title of appropriation for "Refunding expenses in rais· 
ing volunteers, act July 17, 18tH." 

16. lu July, 1861, a requisition W<1S issued for $-t50,000 in favor of the State of Indi­
ana; in August., 1861, req nisi tions were issued for $1,466,000-to pay to Illinois $400,000; 
to Ohio, $900,000; to Michigan, $9~,000, and to New Jersey, $74,000-all "refunding 
[to States] expenses incurred." And this practice continued while the appropriatio td 
were available; the amounts specificaUy appropriated and several sums under the i t­
definite appropriation having been used for the pnrpose specified in the technical title. 

17. On the l~th day of July, 1870, au act was approved which inter alia contains the 
following: 

That the appropriations made by the following parts of acts and resolutions be, and 
the same are hereby, repealed, to take effect from and after June 30, 1871, viz: 

* * * * * "' * 
Seetion one of the act of July 27, 1861, being an appropriation for refunding to 

Stated expenses inctured in raising volunteert:~ during the late rebellion. (16 Stat., 
250.) 
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An act of May lR, 1 72, appropriated "for payment of any balance due, or to be 
found due, during the present fiscal year, to any State, for costA, charges, and expenses 
contemplated and provided for and by the act approved .July 27, 1R61, being an act to 
indemnify certain States for expeuses iucurred by them in enrolling, equipping, and 
transporting troops for the defense of the United States dnring the late rebellion, one 
million dollars. (17 Stat., 129.) 

Hl. The use of the amount last appropriated was limited to the :fiscal year ending 
June 30, 1872, and a large portion of it remained an une:xpenned balance after that 
time; therefore, by an act of March 3, 1873, "the unexpended balance" was "reap­
propriated for the service of the :fiscal year ending .June, :30, 1H7:3.'' (17 Stat., 542.) 

19. March 3, 1873, is the date of the last-mentioned appropriation for continuing 
payment of State war-claims, and is the date of the act which established the afore­
said limitation on "claims against the United ~tates for collecting, drilling, or organ­
izing volunteers." (17 Stat., 500.) 

20. Further appropriations were made as follows: .June 23, 1874, "to indemnify the 
States for expenses incurred by them in enrolling, equipping, and transporting troops 
for the defense of the United States during the late insmref'tion, $~:>0,000" (18 Stat., 
224). March 3, 1875, "to indemnify the States for expenses incurred by them in enrol­
ling, equipping, anrl transporting troops for the defense of the Uuited States llnring 
the late insurrection, and for arms and munitions of war taken for said purposes by 
the United States from States not in insurrection, $250,000." (18 Stat., :~90.) 

21. The appropriatio11s subsequent to the year 1861 were all based upon estimates of 
wtliquidated claims. 

It is remarkable that the act of March 3, 1875, enlarged the scope of all prior acts 
by use of the words "and for arms and munitions of war takeu for said purposes by 
the United States from States not. in insurrection," and that only two installments 
have appeared in consequence of this additional legislation. One of the i11stal1ments 
was presented by the State of Maryland before Jnue :~0, 1874, and tbe other was pre­
sented by the State of Dela"·are on May 1, 1877, and nuder said act pa.yments have 
been made to these two States. The Solicitor's op1uion above referred to was rendered 
in writing under date of Febm:ny :~, 18i7, and he 1·ecousiilered and reaffirmed the 
same on April 18, 1877, sHbseqnent. to which the installment from Delaware was "pre­
sented," "audited," and "paid." 

22. ln order to continue refunding to States expenses properly incurred in raising 
volunteers during the war, annual estimates were submitted to Congress by this de­
partment and the Treasury, and $200,000 was the amount asked for the service of the 
fiscal year 1879. Of the appropriation made on the :~d March, 1875, to meet awards 
on claims allowed within the :fiscal year 1876, $7,548.55 were unexpended on June 29, 
ltl78, and this amount was carried to the surplus fund. 

23. Under this title there were recently appropriated $82,706.78 for the State of Xew 
York, and $29,527.23 for the State of Pennsylvania. (20 Stat., 222.) These amounts 
were in ·payment of vo11chers presented some time prior to June 30, 1874, and allowed 
subsequent to July 1, 1b7u, on re-examination and additional evidence of matters of 
fact. 

24. No appropriation now exists for refunding to States expenses incurred in raising 
volunteers. During the last eight years a rule of practice bas permitted au examina­
tion and liquidation of various claims which have been thereupon certified to Con­
gress by annual estimates of appropriations or reappropriations required to supply 
deficiencies shown hy the awards or amounts fountl due. 'fhis is evidently the course 
now intended to be pursued on State war claims, which should be adjusted in the 
future, as they have been in the past, by well-established rules of action. 

25. The rule of practice above mentioned has been legalized by an act of .J nne 14, 
1878, in which appears the following: 

"SEC. 4. That so much of section 5 of the act approved .June 20, 1874, as directs 
the Secretary of the Treasury at the beginning of each session to report to Congress 
with his annual estimates any balances of appropriations for specific objects effected 
by said section tha.t may need to be reappropriated be, and hereby is, repealed. 

"And it shall be the duty of the several accounting officers of the Treasury to con­
tinue to receive, examine, and consider the justice and validity of all claims under 
appropriations, the balances of which have been exhausted or carried to the surplus 
fund under the provisions of said sections that may be brought before them within 
a period of :five years. And the Secretary of the Treasury shall report the amount due 
each claimant, at the commencement of each session, to the Speaker of the House of 
Representatives, who shall lay the same before Congress for consideration: Prorideil, 
That nothing in this act shall be constmed to authorize the re-examination and pay­
ment of any claim or account which has been once examined and rejected unless re­
opened in accordance with existing law.'' 

if if * * * 
(Senate Executive Document No. 60, third session Forty-fifth Congress, pages_7 o 

H. Copy annexed, marked Exhibit A.) 



CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 5 

The claims of the second grand class, namely, those which are not in~ 
eluded in the civil W<:tr division, are for reimbursement of expenditures 
alleged to have been made in repelling Indian invasions, and in sup­
porting State troops employed on account of Indian wars, and so forth. 
The character of these claims may be ascertained by a reference to Sen­
ate Executive Document N o.lD, second session Forty-fifth Congress. A 
copy of this document is hereunto annexed, marked" B," and on page 
77 of it appears the following: 

"_.._-\.ml I further snbmit that a reimbursement of the last-mentioned 
amount ($~02,Ul8.54) or a recognition of the services of the men to whom 
it was paid will be the conunencement of a responsibility of which the 
end-though it may be made to appear in the case of the State of Texas­
cannot be fore~;;een, so far as the United States Government may be con­
cerned." 

-!:. "The amount of each" cannot be stated in this connection further 
than is shown in the annexed exhibits. 

The first class of claims, namel,,·, those growing out of the civil war, 
presented since ,T uly 17, 18o 1, are reported to have been in the aggre­
gate $.33,~21,:>0~.98. Of this ~nun there is stated to have been allowed 
and paid $4!,4.30,13U.44. SnRpended or disallowed, $8, 791,363.54. (See 
Exhibits(' and D.) 

The second class of claims, namely, those for repelling Indian invasion ' 
and employment of irreg·nlar troops, RO far aH reported at present, amount 
to 81,70.),0H4.:~.). Of this Hum Texas claimR 1,:3:36,-!:87.62. Florida claim 
$1G8,60H.7:t (See Exhibits Band C.) 

:3. "\Vhat action has been taken in relation to each" may be compre­
hencle<l from the following: 

The ci,ril war claims have been presentetl by installments, according­
to the pleasure of the State authorities, and each installment has been 
acted upou in the order of pre::;;eutation, a,:-; followl::l: Fir8t, administra­
tive examination and report in the office of the Secretary of \Var, stating· 
amotmts which slwnlcl be allowetl, suspended, or tlisallowed on account 
of Army rules and regulations; secondly, review and report by the prop­
er Auditor; and, thirdly, decision by the Second Comptroller of the 
Treasury. The ground upon which this department's action stands, in 
a legal point of view, ma,y be seen in the light of a rule laid by the 
Comptroller, to say: "HmvevPr the administrative examination made 
in the office of the A(,jntant-General (meaning the office of the Secre~ 
tary of \\"ar) may ultimately lJe construed, it will be respected until 
the State authorities fnrnislt explanation on the suspended items. It 
will then be time enough to determine how just or politic it may be to 
uujeet the Rtate:::; to a rigid adherence to Army regulations in the ex­

penditnreR they luwe made." FLuther under this head see Exhibit A., 
X o. ~, the same being the Attorney-G-eneral's opinion of l\Iarch 14, 187H. 

The Indian ilwasion chtims, or such as are miscellaneous, are only 
received or considered ou Cougressional inquiry or action, as shown in 
Exhibit "B." These elaiml'i ordinarily repose in possession of the States 
interested until an acti\'C official of the State or an agent familiar with 
the claim is plem;ed to bring- the same before the authorities of the 
United States for action as abo,Te suggested. 

G. "The views of your department as to the propriety of the passage 
of the bill," if I may be permitted to expresl'i the same, are substantially 
as follows: 

The fir~St section sets out in words of aggregation, namely, "the sev­
eral States of the Union which have claims against the United States." 
This sentence is without any subsequent restriction, and, therefore, in-
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eludes within its scope every State claim that can be produced against 
the United States. . The section continues with the permissive and in­
ductive expression "may present the.same," and closes with a declara­
tion which would practically work a repudiation of nearly "all such 
claims," in that tlley "shall be deemed to be forever barred and extin­
guished" if not presented "to the Court of Claims on or before the first 
day of Mareh, in the Jear eighteen hundred and eighty-one." 

All persons ]lOSsessing practical knowledge of the matters i11cluded in 
State claims accrued during the civil war will doubtless agree regarding 
this class of cases concerning the correctness of five several assertions, 
as follows: 

1. That within one year's tim~ from notice given no lawyer could 
properly and justly prepare for presentation in court any State's entire 
claims against the United States and include therein balances suspended 
from allowance on the installments in these war claims. 

2. That it would probably be beyond the power of the judges and 
practitioners of and in tl•e Court of Claims, either joh1tly or severally, 
to memorize or collate the administrative rulings or precedents that 
underlie the departmental actions touching allowances, disallowances, 
and balances suspended from allowance on these claims. 

3. That the adoption of any general measure which would send these 
cases to the Court of Claims or elsewhere, even with the assent ot the 
proper officers of the States interested, would be contrary to the letter, 
spirit, and intention of the act of July 27, 1861 (12 Statute, 27G), enti­
tled "An _act to indemnify the States for expenses incurred by them in 
defense of the United States." 

4. That the eonditions or grounds of obligation on which the greater 
portion of the amounts embraced in these claims was advanced with 
promise of return are expressly set forth in the act of 1861, above eiteu, 
which established the means and fixed the authority by which such 
matters were and are to be adjusted. 

5. That the said act should not be set aside~ restricted, or be made 
void by any act of the general government, but should stand bet,veen 
the parties as a covenant, to be observed acconling to iundamental prin­
ciples of justice. 

Section 2, authorizing the court to " make such rules and orders as 
justice shall require in regard to specifications of such claims, and of the 
answet s thereto, and the taking of evidence and argument in relation 
to the same," would effectually enable the ~ourt to reYiew, revise, and 
reverse, if it pleased, aU the principles, precedents~ and doctrines estab­
lished by usage or otherwise in the executive departments concerning 
such claims. This authority so broadly given would possibly involve 
resettlements of claims amounting to millions of dollars, with intermina­
ble money charges and counter charges on both sides. Therefore it 
should not be conferred. 

The Attorney-General would be embarrassed .in the defense of the 
United States against any of said claims; because, without full tran­
scripts from departmental records of all "rulings or precedents that 
underlie the departmental actionH" touching these claims of the civil 
war class, the government could not be satisfactorily represented; and 
it is suggested as a matter of fact that it would probably be beyond his 
power to memorize or collate such rulings or precedents, to say nothing· 
of the reasons on which they are based. 

Section 3 conclusively establishes the doctrine of repudiation, made 
possible by the limitation in section 1, in that the "one report" could. 
not be made until "after hearing all said cases," aD:d it is probable that 
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''all said ease~;" would neyer be heard. But further, this section does 
not provide, at best, any remedy or rule for the adjustment of these 
claims, inasmuch as the court, ~' after hearing all said cases," is not em­
powered to include the amounts found due in a list of judgments requir­
ing appropriation or payment, but iR :-;imply r<"q nired to "communicate 
to Congress the nature and grounds thereof [meaning the nature and 
grounds of claim], their conclusions of fact and law in regard to the 
,'arne, and any considerations which may seem to them pertinent to the 
question of the legal or eqnitalJle obligation of tlle United States to pay 
the same." 

In considering and reporting upon the se-veral points of the commit­
tee'R inquiry this rPport is restricted to statements of fact: or goes no 
further than is deemed necessary to a clear understanding of the mat­
ter presented, or, in other words, avoids what might be called ~n argu­
ment; and it therefore leaves undiscussed the all-important matter of 
public policy which underlies auy adjudication of the State war claims. 

In eouclnsion, I haYe to say that the bearing of the whole bill and the 
Yiews which ~lwul(l prevail as to the propriety of it~ pas:::;age are tu be 
found from two :-;imple fact:-;, namely: 

Pirst. Tllat tbi::; Lill (S. 10:.!8) undertakes to IH'ovide for all State daims 
of the ciYil-\rar d<L' ~ which are unuergoiug proper adjustmeuL, pun;uant 
to ample statntor,Y authority, which require uo legislation of the .kind 
propo::;eu by this bill, au<l which would be tluown into repudiation by 
mere operation of law, ~l.wulcl this lJill, as it is uow drawn, become a law. 

Second. That this hill undertakes to pro-dde for a hearing or rehear­
iug of all classes of miscellaneous State claims (not included in the civil­
war cla:-;s) which have failed to obtain satisfactory recognition in Con­
gress or in executive der1artments, and which ·are therefore ripe and 
ready 1or judicial consideration and report. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
THOS. H. BRADLEY, 

Bvt. Capt. U. S. A., Examiner of State Clain~s. 
lion. ALEX..A.NDER HAMSEY; 

Secretary of W a~·. 

A. 
[Senate Ex. Doc. No. 60, 45th Congress, 3d session.] 

Leiter front the Secretary of War, communicating, in answer to ct Senate resol1tlion of Feb­
l'llai'Y 6, 1879, information touching the application of a statute of lirnitations ·to State 
war-clai1n8. 

To the Senate : 

WAR DEPARTMENT, 
Washington City, February 1, 1879. 

In answer to the resolution of the .Senate of the 6th instant, concerning State war­
claims, I have the honor to transmit papers as follows: 

1. Letter from the Secretary of War to the Attorney-General, dated November 21, 
1 78. 

2. Opinion of the examiner of State claims in the office of the Secretary of War, 
dated November 14, 1878. 

3. Opinion of the Solicitor of the Treasury, dated February 3, 1877. 
4. Opinion of the Attorney-General, dated February 3, 1879. 

GEO. W. McCRARY, 
Secretary of War. 

W .AR DEPARTMENT, 
Washington City, Xovember 21, 1878. 

SIR: I have the honor to incruire whether, in your opinion, section 3489 of theRe­
vised Statutes (or the act upon which it was based) is applieable to the claims referred 
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to in the acts of Congress approved July 17 and 27, 1861 (12 Stat., 264, 276), and in 
continuing acts for refunding to States expenses incurred in raising volunteers during 
the late rebellion. This question arises on certain claims. which the States of New 
York and Pennsylvania have presented since June 29, 1874, and which the Third Aud­
itor of the Treasury has recently transmitted to me for adrninistrati ve examination. 

I translllit herewith, as bearing upon the question, a copy of an opinion given by 
Solicitor Talbot, under <late of February 3, 1877, and a brief prepared in this office, 
for my information, which papers I will thank you to return with your answer. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,! 

The Hon. the ATTORNEY-GE}."'"ERAL. 

GEO. W. McCRARY, 
Secretary of War. 

[War Department, Division of Requisitions and Accounts, November 14, 1878.] 

STATE WAR CLAIMS UNDER ACTS OF JULY 17 AND 27, 1861. 

Opinion submitted to the Secretary of War by Bvt. Capt. Thomas H. Bradle.IJ, F. S. A., exam­
iner of State claims in the Seaetary's office, 1·elatiL·e to a statute of limitation. 

Cases pending decision: New York, $197,53:3.76; Pennsylvania, $67,078.96. 

SYLLABUS. 

1. The opinion of Treasury Department Solicitor George F. Talbot, dated February 3, 
1877, which construes an act of Congress of March 3, 1873 (section 3489), as placing 
a limitation on State war-claims, was doubtless rendered in the absence of full 
knowledge or information touching, first, the technical use of the words "collect­
ing, drilling, or organizing volunteers," and, secondly, the record facts or "signs 
the most natural and probable" to interpret the will of the legislator; and, thirdly, 
the broad distinction e~isting in matters of record and in every respect between 
two separate classes of claims. 

2. The formal inquiry herein submitted, in order to obtain an autlwritatirc decision on 
the question (viz, is there a statute of limitation ou State war-claims 1), exhibits 
in brief three several sets of premises and conclusions, which effectively prove: 

1st. That the descriptive phrase "collecting, drilling, or organizing volnnteers" forms 
a title in appropriations, orders, claims, and accounts, which words and title are 
technical, and therefore must be taken in a technical sense on legal construction of 
the statute. 

2d. That the intentions of the legislature and the signs the most natural and probable 
to show its will in this instance, are found in and quoted from certain recommend­
ations made in writing, from which were taken part.icular words applicable alone 
to the specific class of claims to which the limitation directly appries, and the 
said words were copied by the legislature, thereby showing the propriety of a re­
strictive construction. 

3d. That claims of States have never been treated as claims for collecting, drilling, or 
organizing volunteers, or vice versa, save in the Solicitor's opinion, and that the 
statute of limitation applicable to claims for "collecting, drilling, or organizing 
volunteers" (which contains no other than these descriptive words) is not appli­
cable to claims of States against the United States. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, 
DIVISION OF REQUISITIONS AND ACCOUNTS, 

Washington, D. C., Sovcmbm· 14, 1878. 
SIR: The States of Pennsyh'ania and New YoJ1.k, by their duly authorized agents, 

.11ave submitted clailns whose admission or exclusion for consideration, in whole or in 
part, materially depends upon an authoritative answer to a question, namely: Is there 
a statute of limitatiou against the State war-claims referred to in the acts of July1 17 
and 27, 1861, and continuing laws for refunding to States expenses incurred in raising 
volunteers during the late rebellion' 

2. A limitation seems to have been so far applied at the 'l'reasury as to stop the con­
sideration of all such claims presented since June 29, 1874, except one installment in 
favor of Delaware, and except the Pennsylvania and New York installments, present, 
which t.he Third Auditor has transmitted to the Secretary of War "for his administra­
tive action thereon." 
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3. Tlle limitation is said to have been applied because such claims have been treated 
as though they were included in the following words found in the Revised Statutes : 

"SECTION 3489. No claim against the United States for collecting, drilling, or organ­
izing volunteers for the war of the rebellion shall be audited or paid unless presented 
before the thirtieth day of June, eighteen hunt.lred and seventy four." 

An opinion on this question appears as follows: 

"DEPARTMENT OP JUSTICE, 
11 OFFICE OF TilE SOLICITOR OF THE TRI<~ASURY, 

" Washington, D. C., Febl'!tary 3, 1877. 
''SIR: I have the honor to return herewith the letter of the honorable G. G. Hoskins 

and accompanying papers and exhibits in regard to the act to reimburse the States 
for expenses incurred in the late rebellion. 

"This letter requests to be informed whether the objects of the present law on the 
subject (act of July ~7, 11:561), cannot be accomplished without further legislation, by 
an amendment of the rules of the department apphcaule to this law. 

"The subject is referred to me for opinion. It appears from the Revised Statutes 
that no part of said act bas been codified, ancl, therefore, the act is in force. 

* * ;,. * * 
"~fy attention, iu connection with this subject, bas been asked by the Third Auditor 

to a provision in the act of March 3, 1873, chapter 226, which is an appropriation bill 
in force ; the clause is as follows : 

"'To enable the Secretary of War to have the rebel archives examined, and copies 
furnished from time to time for the use of the government, six thousand dollars: Pro­
dded, That no claims against the United States for collecting, drilling, or organizing 
volunteers for the war of the rebellion shall he andited or paid unless presented be­
fore the end of the fiscal year encling June 30, 1~74.' 

"I am askecl whether this clause limits the prese11tation of claims contemplated in 
the act of Jnly 27, Hl61, to tho date named, June 30, 1874. 

"The proviso seems to l1ave little or a very di:stant connection with the appropria­
tion clause, yet it is nnclonbterlly law, and must be conRtrned to mean what it says; 
claims, thcr~fore, contemplated by the act of Jnly 27, 1861, unless presenterl before 
the end of the fiscal ;vear ending June ao, 1b74, cannot be audited or paid. 

"Very rc:spectfnlly, 
"GEORGE F. TALBOT, 

" Solicitor of the Trea8m·y. 
it Ron. LoT M. MOHHrLL, 

" Secrctm·y of the Treasury." 

[First indorsement.] 

"Trea~mry Department, April 7, 1877. ReApectfully returned to the honorable the 
Solicitor of the Treasury (Department Justice) for further examination and consider­
ation, in compliance with his request of 5tlj. instant. R. C. McCormick, Assistant Sec­
retary." 

[Second indorsement.] 

''Department of Justice, office of the Solicitor of the Treasury, Apr~ 18, 1877. 
Reconsidered and the opinion herein given reaffirmed. George F. Talbot, Solicitor, 
&c." 

This opinion is not per se ant.horative. inasmuch as it does not bear the approval of 
the Attorney-General, the law being (if the question harl been referred by the Attor­
ney-General as it should have been referred to have had an~- consideration by the 
Solicitor)-

" If the opinion giYen by such officer is approved by the Attorney-General, such ap­
proval indorsed thereon shall give the opinion the same force and effect as belong to 
the opinions of the Attorney-Ueneral." (§ :35~, R. S.) 

The opinion, moreover, is not sound, doubtless owing to the absence of material 
facts, as it fails to observe that" collect.ing, drilling, or organizing volunteers" are 
technical words in the statute, aml to make a distinction between two great classes of 
claims. 

5. Any person unacqnainte(l with the particular application of the designation 
formed. b:v combinat.ion of tbeAe words in this connection, would understand t.hem ''in 
their usual and most known signification," or "in their general and popular use" (1 
Blk. Com., *GU). This construction would doubtless be on the ground that "the 
words of a statnto, if of common use, are to be taken in t.heir natural, plain, obvious, 
and ordinary signification and import." (1 Kent's Com." 462). He could not discover, 
without con~:~iderable research or especial information, that these certain words in this 
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statt1te are technical, and therefore his construction would not go to the further 
ground that "if technical words are used they are to be taken in a technical bense, 
unless it clearly appears from the context or other parts of the instrument that the 
words were intendeil to be applied rlifferently from their ordinary or their legal ac­
ceptation." (1 Kent's Com.; *462; 1 Blk., Com., *59.) 

6. In order to conclusively show tbe import of these words, namely, "collecting, 
drilling, or organizing volunteer!:!," certain historical facts allli records must be re­
viewed, and these, in urief, are as follows: 

In the Parly part of the rebellion the President of the United States called the militia 
into actual service, anrl at the same time called for volunteers, looking in the firRt in­
stance to governors of St,ates for such foret-•s as they could supply, and, in the second 
place, to certaiu agents of the general government for fm tber forces, whieh latter 
might have been, if they were not indeed, wholly dependent upon the United States 
Government for every necessity save perhaps commissions of officers. 

These agents of the general government were persons of national reputation, who 
were specially authorized by the administration at \Vashington to raise l>rigarles, reg­
iments, battalions, or companies of men. They undertook the work of "collecting, 
drilling, or organiziug volunteers," at their own expense in many instances, and at 
the expenRe of the government after a while, but embarrassments soon existed in the 
large cities, where men were collected to be fed, clothed, quartered, and drilled for 
military duty. Congress soon ascertained what the sub~tantial necessities of the serv­
ice were, and its act approved August 5, 1tl61, (12 Stat., 316) appropriated "for collect­
ing, drilling, and organiz.ing volunteers, nuder the acts authorizing the President to 
accept the services of :five hundred tl..wusand men, twenty millious of tlollars." It fur­
ther appropriated, by act of July 5, 1Ho2, "for collecting, drilling, auJ. organizing vol­
unteers, in addition to any sum heretofore appropriated for that pnrpose, five millions 
of dollars." (12 Stat., 508); by act of February 9, 1863, "for collecting, drilliiJg, and 
organizing volunteers, and all other necessary expenses, ten million seven hundred 
thousand dollars" (12 Stat., 64:3); and by act of June 15, 1864, "for pay of premiums, 
rent of buildings and grounds, transportation, tmbsistence, lo<lging;, commutation of 
fuel and quarters, straw, postage, staliiouery, advert.isiug, medicines, and medical 
attendance, and all othrr necessary expeusf's incidental to the collecting, drilling, and 
organizing volunteers, and for the necessar.\' expenses nndrr the enrollment act, :five 
millions of dollars" (13 Stat., 126); and $3,3h0 were appropria.ted for the ~arne account 
in 1866. By Treasury warrants dated August 19, 18Gl, July 9, 11:36~, June Hi, 1tl(t~ .. July 
19, 11:364, and May 8, 1866, the said amounts were plaeed upon the books of the Treas­
ury and War Departments~ and the title of the appropriation was technically desig­
nated" collecting, rlrilling, and organizing volunteers." Forty millions seven hundred 
and three thousand three hundred. and sixty dollars were thus placed upon the books, 
and amounts were continually drawn against that sum from August 20, 1861, until 
July 1, 1874. 

Army officers were on dnty at various prominent places mustering voluntet>rs into 
the United States service before and subsequent to the act of August 5, 1861, which. 
granted tbe :first appropriation under the foregoing titlt~, and were appointed disuurs­
ing officers by general orders No. 58, of August 15, 1861, from tbe \Var Department. 

'l'his order is in every part material to this subject, but, to show the tenor of the 
whole, the first portion of the opening paragraph is all that ueed be herein qnoted, 
and it is as follows : 

,, 1. The t>fficers of the RPgnlar Army now on mnstering dnty in tl.Je rrincipal cities 
are appointed disbursing offieers of the funds appropriated by the act of Congress for 
'collecting, drilling, and organizing volunteers, mH.ler the act anthoriziug the Pres­
ident to aecept the serYices o( five hundred thonsand men,' &c. They will be charged 
wit,b the payment of a 11 proper claims presented to them nuder this act, duly authen­
ticaterl and certified to by the various volunteer recruiting officers. These diRbnrse­
meuts will be made iu the manuer prescribed for the recruiting service of the Regular 
Army." 

In the month of August, 1861, $200,000 were drawn aud distributed among seveuteen 
different Army officers, who were stationed. in New York, Philadelphia, Bostou, Pitts­
burgh, Cit1cinnati, Elmira, RocheRter, Utica, Albany, Newark, Harrisburg, Bnffalo, 
Syracuse, Indianapolis, ani! Chieago. 

In September, 1M61, $948,500 were drawn and distributed in forty different remit­
tances to Army officers !:lt,a.t.ioued in various cities, specifically to disburse the money, 
and to account to the Treasury for the same. This system of disbursing the 
money continued <luring the war. The War Department had exclnsive control of 
this appropriation fr'om the time the money became subject to reqni!:lition until the 
accounts for its expenditure were conclusively rendered to the accounting; officers, 
and were :finally :filed in the office of the Seconcl ...luditor (State claims being; :filed in the 
office of the Thi1·d .duditor). 

Disbursing offices in the principal cities for payment of expenses of volunteers were 
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closed soon after recruiting ceased, and the Adjutant-General has bad special charge 
of all such business from that time to the present. 

On the 1st day of July, 1874, the total balance of the appropriation was carried to 
the surplus fund, and since that time only $108.23 have been reappropriated for" col­
lecting, drilling, and organizing volunteers" to meet allowances :rbade by the Second 
Auditor under the foregoing technical title. General Orders No. 70, from t.his depart­
ment, dated September 3, 1861, ''announced that the appropriation for 'collecting, 
drilling, and organizing volunteers, under acts authorizing the President to accept the 
services of five hundred thousand men,' is intended for the payment of all expenses 
that may hereafter be incurred therefor, as well as for the reimbursement to individ­
uals of such amounts as have been already justly and actually expended by them in 
raising troops that have been, or may be, received into the service of the United 
States. Claims of States for expenditures heretofore made by them in raising volun­
teers are provided for by separate and distinct appropriations, and will not be paid 
from the one now referred to." 

7. From the law and the facts above set forth the conclusion to be drawn is that 
the statute of limitation applicable to claims against the Uuited States for "collecting, 
drilling, or organizing volunteers," containing no other than these descriptive techni­
cal words, is not applicable to any other than the- said claims which accrued from par­
ticular transactions, positive understandings, or special contracts between two parties, 
viz, the United States Government as one party and certain individual citizens as an­
other, and which in point of fact as to law, custom, regulation, rendition, examination, 
payment, custody, and final disposition nevar have been treated as State war-claims. 

II. 

8. Aside from the foregoing premises and conclusions, however, other matters of 
Tecord conduce to a conclusion different from Solicitor Talbot's construct.ion of the 
statute first aforesaid, and these are: 

9 . .F'i1·st. That ''the fairest and the most rational method to interpret the will of 
the legislator is by explaining his intentions at the time the law was made, by signs 
the most natural and probable." ("'1 Blk. Com., 59.) 

10. Second. That the "intentions" of the legislator at or prior to the time tbe law 
was made, and the ''signs" or facts the most natural or probable to show bis will, ap­
pear in the Adjutant-General's Annual Reports for 1868 and 1869 for tbA information 
of Congress, wherein it was repeatedly recommeuded that a legil:llati ve lirni tation be 
put upon the claims specially desil!nated by the words of the statute. 

11. In the report for Hl68 appeared a subhead, "Jiustering and disbursing for volun­
teers," under which the Adjutaut-Geueral stated: 

"It is uow more tlmu threo anfl a half years since tbe recruitment of men for the 
voluuteer armies ceased, and most, if not all, legal claims against the fund for ' col­
lecting, drilling, aml organizing volunteers' have been paid, or are on file undergoing 
examination and verification with view to payment. Claims, however frauctnlently 
made up to cover alle~d expenses, continue to be pregented, and the.v are so skillfully 
prepared that it is only by great care and labor on the part of this office that t.he frau(l 
is detected. 

"The detection is made the more difficult by the use of official information which 
came in the possession of some of the parties while in the military service. It iR there­
fore recommended that legislation be bad limiting the time within which claimt~ for 
expenseR incurred prior to ntuster into service may be presented. 

"'No appropriation of money for the volunteer disbursing branch will be required 
during tLe next fiscal year.' (Report of the Secretary of "\Var, Abridgment, 1868, pages 
143, 144. )" 

The recommendation that legislation be bad limiting the time within which said 
claims may be presented was renewed by the Adjutant-General's report for 1869 (Report 
of Secretary of War, Abridgment, 1869, page 1:~0). The recommendation could have 
properly included only such claims as were under said officer's jurit~dictiou, and, ac­
cording to record facts, could not have properly included State war claims, which, so 
far as tbe War Department bas acted thereon from 1862 to the present time, have been 
examined and reported upon exclusively by an Army officer on special duty in the 
office proper of the · Secretary of War, the officer and his act.ions while on such duty 
having been and being wholly independent of the Adjutant-General's administrative 
authority. 

As a part of the record facts above suggested, the following is worthy of place herein: 

"[Brief.] 

"WASHINGTON, D. C., Septen~ber 29, 1868. 
"Third Auditor United States Treasury forwards for administrative action the fourth 

installment of the war claims of the State of Rhode Island ; amount, $6,122.53. 
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" [First indorsement.] 

''Respectfully forwarded to the War Department. This office has not records upon 
which to base administrative action as requested. 

"ADJUTAXT-GENERAL'S OFFICE, October 1, 1868. 

"THOMAS M. VINCENT, 
''Assistant Adjutant-Gen01·al. 

" [Second indorsement, in pencil.] 

" General Ketchum will act. Adj ntant-General will furnish necessary clerks.-J. M.S. 

"[Third indorsement.] 

"Administrative examination of State claims properly pertained to the duties of my 
· office after 1862, and until the bureau of the Provost-Marshal-General was abolished, 

when I was directed to trausfer such business to the Adjutant-General. 
"It was for a long time supposed that this finally disposed of the subject, so far as 

I was concerned; but the duty having been again assigned to me, I placed the subject 
before the Secretary of War on the 2d of October, 1868, verbally stating the facts, with 
the remark that the force in my office was not sufficient to enable me to discharge the 
duty. 

"The claim of the State of Rhode Island was left with the Secretary on the 2d in­
stant, and on the 5th was received back with the remark, in pencil, appearing hereon. 

"W. SCOTT KETCHUM, 
"Bvt. Afaj. General, ..-1. I. General. 

"WAR DEPARTMENT, October 6, 1SG8." 

The bureau of the Provost-Marshal-General was abolished August 20, 1866 (General 
Order No. 611, of 1866). No State claim is found to have been received at either the 
War Department or the Adjutant-General's Office between August 20, 1866, and Sep­
tember 29, 1868. The undersigned was General Ketchum's assista:~.t from August, 1863, 
and his successor as to duties of office from December, 1670. 

12. The conclusion to be drawn from this second series of premises is-
That the statute of limitation first aforesaid applies only to such claims as have 

been or are under the administrative control of the Adjutant-General, whose recom­
mendations to Congress that legislation be bad limiting the time within which said 
claims may be presented were the "8igns" which show the "inteutiOII8" of the legis­
lator, and which led to the use of the phrase "collecting, drilling, or organizing vol­
unteers'; and the word "presented," as the phrase and the word are used in the law. 

III. 

1:3. State war-claims were, at the outset, di!'tinct and separate from claims for "col­
lecting, drilling, and organizing volunteers," as were also the appropriations in con­
nection therewith. 

The organized militia was insignificant in numbers when compared to the number 
of men required; therefore governors of loyal States and their agents patriotically 
sought and fouud ways and means'' for enrolling, subsisting, clothing, supplying, arm­
ing, f'qnipping, paying, and transporting" State" troops employed" (and to be em­
ployed thenceforth for years) in aiding to suppress the insurrection. 

14. The Congress passed an act, which the President approved July '27, 1ts61 (12 
Stat., 276), entitled "An act to indemnify the States for expenses incurred by them in 
defense of the United States." This act appropriated an indefinite amount of money 
for the repayment of the vast sums advanced, borrowed, and paid out in good faith 
for the purposes mentioned; but such repayment could only be made upon "proper 
vouchers," and these were difficult to obtain in the hurrying times of war, and were, 
in truth, at first unknown to State officials. 

15. It seems that Congress and the President desired to doubly pledge the faith of 
the government to refund to States expenses incurred in this connection, inasmuch as 
there were appropriated, July 17, 18(51, $10,000,000 (12 Stat., :264); on July 27, 1861, an 
unlimited amount (12 Stat., 276); and on February 2:>, 1862, $15,000,000 (12 Stat., 345). 
By Treasury warrants, dated .July 2:2, 1861, and March :3, 186:2, the specific a.mounts, 
aggregating $25,000,000, were placed upon the books of the Treasury and of this de­
partment, under the technical title of appropriation for "Refunding expenses in rais­
ing volunteers, act July 17, 1861." 

16. In July, 1t;61, a requisition was issued for $450,000 in favor of the State of In­
diana; in August, 18fH, requisitions were issued for $1,466,000-to pay to Illinois 
$400,000; to Ohio, $900,000; to Michigan, $92,000, and to New .Jersey, $74:000-all 
"refunding [to States] expenses incurred." And this practice continued while the 
appropriations were available; the amounts specifically appropriated and several 
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sums under the indetinite appropriation having been used for the purpose specified in 
the technical title. 

17. On the 12th day of July, 1870, an act was approved which, inter ctlict, contains 
the following: 

"That the appropriations made by the following parts of acts and resolutions be, and 
the same are hereby, repealed, to take effect from and after June 30,1871, viz: 

" " " " " " " 
''Section one of the act of ,July 27, 1 61, being an appropriation for refunding to 

States expenses incurred in raising volunteers during the late rebellion. (16 Stat., 
250.)" 

An act of May IB, 1872, appropriated "for payment of any balance due, or to be 
found due, during the present fiscal year, to any State, for costs, charges, and ex­
penses· contemplated aml provided for and by the act approved .July 27, 1861, being an 
act to indemnify certain States for expenses incurred by them in enrolling, equipping, 
and transporting troops for the defense of the United States during the late reLellion, 
one million dolla.rs." (17 Stat., 129.) 

18. The nse of the amount last appropriated was limited to the fiscal year ending 
June :~o, Hl72, and a large portion of it remained an unexpended balance after that 
time: therefore, by an act of March :3, 11:!73, " the unexpended balance" was "reap­
propriated for the service of the fiscal year ending June :~0, 187:3." (17 Stat., 542.) 

19. March:~, 1873, is the date or the last-mentioned appropriation for continuing 
payment of State war-claims, and is the date of the act which established the afore­
said limitation on "claims against the United States for collecting, drilling, or organ- . 
izing volunteers." (17 Stat., 500.) 

20. Further appropriations were made as follows: June 23, 1874, ''to indemnify the 
States for expenses incurred by them in em·olling, equipping, and transporting troops 
for the defense of the Unitecl States dming the late insnrrection, $250,000." (ld Stat., 
224.) March 3, 1875, "to indemnify the States for expenses incurred by them in en­
rolling, equipping, and transporting troops for the defense of the United Stat, s dur­
ing the late insurrection, and for arms aud munitions of war taken for saitl pnrposes 
by the United States from States not in insurrection, $250,000." ( IS Stat., ~90.) 

21. The appropriat.ions snhseque11t to the year lt;ol were all hased upon estimates 
of unliquidated claims. 

It is remarkable that the act of March :~, ltl75, enlarged the scope of all prior acts by 
use of the words "aud for arms and munitions of war taken for said purposes by the 
United States from States not in insurrection," and that only two installments have 
appeared in consequence of this additional legislation. One of the installments was 
presented by the State of Maryland before June 30, 1.:374, and the other was pre!'euted 
by the State of Delaware on May 1, 1877, and under said act payments have been ma.de 
to these two States. The Solicitor's opinion above referred to was rendered in writing 
under date of February :3, 1H77, and be reconsidered ancl reaffirmed the same on April 
18, 1877, subsequent to which the installment from Delaware was "presented, "au­
dited," and "paid." 

22. In order to continue refmHling to States expenses properly incurred in raising 
volunteers during the war, annual estimates were submitted to Congress by this de­
partment and the Treasury, and $200,000 was the amount asked for the service of the 
fiscal year 1879. Of the appropriation made on the :M March, 1875, to meet awards on 
claims allowed within the fiscal year 1876,$7,548.55 were unexpended on June 29, 187o. 
and this amount was carried to tlJ.e surplus fund. 

23. Under this title there were recently appropriatetl $~2,706.78 for the State of New 
York, and $29,027.23 for the State of Pennsylvania. (20 Stat., 222.) These amounts 
were in payment of vouchers presented some time prior to June 30, 11:!74, and allowed 
subsequent to July 1, 1876, on re-examination and additional evidence of matters of 
fact. 

24. No appropriation now exists for refunding to States expenses incurred in raising 
volunteers. During the last eight years a rule of practice has permitted an examina­
tion and liquidation of various claims which have been thereupon certified to Con­
gress by· annual estimates of appropriations or reappropriations required to supply 
deficiencies shown by the awards or amounts found due. This is evidently the course 
now intended to be purst'ted on State war-claims, which should be adjusted in the fu­
ture, as they have been in the past, by well-established rules of action. 

25. Tho rule of practice above mentioned bas been legalized Ly an act of June 14, 
1871:!, in which appears the following: 

•• SEc. 24. That so much of section five of the act approved June 20, 11:!74, as directs 
the Secretary of the Treasury at the beginning of each session to report to Congress 
with his annual estimates any balances of appropriations for specific objects effected 
by said section that may nee<l to be reappropriated te, and hereby is, repealed. 

"And it shall be the duty of the several a0counting officers of the Treasury to con­
tinue to receive, examine, and consider the justice and validity of all claims under 
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appropriations, the balances of which have been exhausted or carried to the surplus 
fund. under the provisions of rsaid rsections that may be brought before them within a 
period of five years. And the Secretary of the Treasury shall report the amount due 
each claimant, at the commencement of each session, to the Speaker of the House of 
Representatives, who shall lay the same before Congress for consideration: Pl'ovided, 
That nothing in this act shall be construed. to authorize the re-examination and pay­
ment of any claim or account which has been once examined and rejected, unless re­
opened in accordance with existing law." 

.,. * * * * • 
This section, it is said,* is not intended to rcnwPe the limitation placed by Congress 

on Smte claims. It may be well to observe, however, that no limitation has been 
placed by that authority upon such claims, but that the alleged limitation has been ap­
plied without such serious and exhaustive consideration as the ends of justice and the 
gravity of the question actually deserved and required in order to reach a sound de­
cision under the law. 

26. The conclusions to be drawn from the third. series of premises are : 
1st. That the statute of limitation applicable to claims against the United States 

for" collecting, drilling, or organizing volunteers" is not applicable to claims of States 
against the United States for "refunding (to States) expenses incurred in raising vol­
unteers," which latter claims accrued from a statutory contract obligating the govern­
ment upon the receipt aud examination of proper vouchers "to pay to the governor of 
any State, or to his duly authorized. agents, the costs, charges, and expenses properly 
incurred by such State," on account of "its troops employed in aiding t.o suppress the 
insurrection." 

2d. That State war-claims in point of fact, as to law, custom, regulation, rendition, 
examination, payment, custody, and final disposition, have never been treated (save 
by Solicitor Talbot) as claims for collecting, drilling, and organizing volunteers. 

3d. That there is no statute of limitation against State war-claims. 
Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

THOS. H. BRADLEY, 
BTeret Captain, U. S . .:l., Exarnine1· of State Clairns. 

Ron. GEORGE W. McCRARY, 
Secretary of War. 

Dl~PARTMENT OF JUSTICE, 
OFFICE OF THE SOLICITOR OF THE TREASURY, 

Washington, D. C., Febnwry 3, 1877. 
SIR: I have the honor to return herewith the letter of the Ron. G. G. Hoskins, and 

accompanying papers and exhibits, in regard to the act "to reimburse the States for 
expenses incurred in the late rebellion." 

This letter requests to be informed whether the objects of the present law on the 
subject (act of Jnly 27, 1861) cannot be accomplished without further legitslation by 
an amendment of t.he rules of the department applicable to this law. 

The subject is referred to me for an opinion. It appears from the Revised Statutes 
that no part of said act hat> been coditied, and therefore the act its in force. 

I have given the subject careful consideration, and. am of opinion that the law as it 
now rstands is ample for all purposes and objects contemplated by it without further 
legislation. 

It is unnecessary to repeat the law here; its lan~unge is very broad. and comprehen­
sive. Its qualifying clauses are the following: "Expenses properly incurred," "troops 
employed in aiding to suppress the present insurrection," and. "upon proper vouchers 
to be filed and passed upon," &c. . 

The word" properly" as here used can be referred to nothing other than an expense 
incurred under proper authority, and the authority to incur expense can only refer to 
the United States. The rebellion was a great national calamity, and could. Le met and 
suppressed only by national authority; the expenses provided for can only relate, 
therefore, to such action by the States as was an thorized by the national government ; 
and by the second qualifying clause must be restricted to t.roops "employed" by the 
authority of the United States, and by the third qualifying cla.utse these expenses must 
be proven by vouchers and pass the ursual scrutiny of all claims against the govern­
ment. The word "employed," I think, may properly apply to the enlisting and en­
rolling men for service, if not afterward mustered in by reason of disability or other 
cause; but the expenses of enlisting and enrolling must be proper, legitimate, and 
usual expenses; not immoral, improper, aud unusual expen<litures. 

I am satisfied thart the amended rules of the department, as now suggested by the 
Third Auditor and accompanying these papers will, in the main, cover all the objects 

*See page 229 Digest of Appropriations, 1879-0pinion Secretary Treasury. 
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-of the law and are proper. Any further enlargement of the rules would be unsafe, as 
a large number of doubtful claims are filed, in amount sufficient rapidly to. deplete the 
Treasury. 

If these amended rules now suggested are not sufficient to let in all just claims, then 
further legislation is necessary ; but they cover, in my opinion, all the true purposes 
and objects of the law. 

My attention, in connection with this subject, has been asked by the Third Auditor 
to a provision in the a,ct of March :3, 11'73, chapter 226, which is an appropriation bill 
in force. The clause is as follows: 

"To enable the Secretary of "\Var to have the rebel archives examined, and copies 
furnished from time to time for the use of the government, six thousand dollars: Pro-
1:idecl, That n~ claims against the United States for collecting, drilling, or organizing 
volunteers for the war of the rebellion shall be audited or paid unless presented before 
the end of the fiscal year enciing June 30, 1874." · 

I am asked whether t.bis clause limits the presentation of claims contemplated in the 
act of July 27, 1861, to the date named, June 30, 1874. 

The proviso seems to have little or a very distant connection with the appropriation 
clause, yet it is undoubtedly law, and must be construed to mean what it says; claims, 
therefore, contemplated by the act of July 27, 1861, "unless presented before the end 
of the fiscal year ending June 30, 1874," cannot be audited or paid. 

Very respectfully, 

Hon. LOT M. MoRRILL, 
Secretary of the Treasnry. 

[Indorsement.] 

t 
GEORGE F. TALBOT, 

Solicitor of the Treasu1·y. 

TREASURY DEPARTMENT, 
.April 1, 1877. 

Respectfully returned to the honorable the Solicitor of the Treasury (Department of 
.Justice) for further examinat.ion and consi1leration, in compliance with his request of 
5th in:stant. 

R. C. McCORMICK, 
.J&sistant 8ecretw·y. 

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, 
OFFICE OF THE SOLICITOR OF THE TREASURY, 

Reconsidered and the opinion herein given reaffirmed. 
.Apl·il 18, 1877. 

GEORGE F. TALBOT. 

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, 
Washington, Febntary 3, H~79. 

SIR: Your letter_ of November 21, 1878, submits to me the inquiry" whet,her, in your 
-opinion, section :~4139 of the Revised Statutes (or the act upon which it is based)-is ap­
plicable to the claims referred to in the acts of Congress approved July 17 and 27, 1861, 
(12 Stat., 264, 276), and in continuing acts, for refunding to States expenses incurred 
in raising volunteers during the late rebellion.'! 

Your letter further states that "this qnestion arises on certain cla.ims which the 
States of New York and Pennsylvania have presente.d since June 29, 1874, and which 
the Third Auditor of the Treasury has recently transmitted to me for administrative 
examination.'' 

Upon reflection, you will observe that the inquiry is as to what is the duty of the 
Auditor, rather than as to what action should be taken at tb.e War Department in re­
gard to these claims. No express law requires that they should be submitted for ad­
ministrative examination to the War Department by the Treasury; but this submission 
is made in accordance with what has been understood to be the custom in similar cases, 
and with that which the law requires in certain cases-accounts of disbursing officers, 
which are to be transmitted for examination to the proper bureau be~re being sub­
mitted to the accounting officers of the Treasury. (See sec. 36~2, Rev. Stat.) 

Whether or not the claims in question are barred by the statute of limitations is 
therefore a question arisingin the Treasury Department; and the primary question is 
whether or not the Auditor himself shoulrl proceed to audit the accounts. 

In order that this question should be properly raised at the Treasury Department, 
the accouuts have been transmitted to you for administrative action. This examina­
tion should take place in your department, after which the accounts should be sub­
mitted to the Treasury Department, when the question will arise for the consideration 
of the Auditor, and of his superior, the Secretary of the Treasury, whet·her or not the 
claims should be audited as claims against the United States not now barred by the 
statute of limitations. In regard to that question, it may be that no difficulty will be 
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experienced by the Comptroller of the Treasury, whose decision, as to such matters, 
is final. 

I therefore respectfully suggest tha,t it would not be advisable that I should give an 
opinion upon this matter at this time to yourself, as it would involve the discussion of 
questions between us that arise in the administration of another department, which 
may perhaps experience no difficulty in regard to them. 

I return all the papers. 
Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Hon. GEORGE W. McCRARY, 
Secretary of War. 

CHAS. DEVENS, 
Attorney-General. 

NOTE.-See question renewed March 7, 1879, and opinion given March 14, 1879, as 
follows: 

A No.2. 
WAR DEPART~IE:NT, 

Washington City, ~'lfarch 7, 1879. 
SIR: I have the honor to transmit herewith, under date of the 6th instant, a request 

from the Third Auditor, and a recommendation from the Second Comptroller, based 
upon a joint apnlication of the States of New York and Pennsylvania, by their agents 
respectively, pursuant to which I respectfully ask your opinion on questions as fol­
lows: 

1. Whether section 3489 of the Revised Statutes bars the claims of States presented 
after June 30, 1874, from examination and settlement by the accounting officers of the 
Treasury. 

2. If said claims are barred by said statutes, whether claims filed with the account­
ing officers on the 30th day of June, 1874, are barred from examination and settlement 
by the accounting officers of the Treasury. 

I inclose herewith the papers on which appear the request, recomrueudation, and 
application above noticed, and a copy of Senate Executive Document Xo. fiO, Third 
session, Forty-fifth Congress, bearing on the subject, llind I will t.hank yon if you may 
be pleased to return these papers, with your opinion, at an early date. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

To the ATTORNEY-GENERAL. 

OPINION. 

Hon. GEo. W. McCRARY, 
Sec!'eta·ry of Wm· : 

GEO. Y.l . . McCRARY, 
Secretary of fl a.r. 

DEPART:\IENT OF JeSTICE, 
Washington, Jffm:h U, 1879. 

SIR: Your letter of the 7th instant inquires" whether section :Hd9 of tile Revised 
Statutes bars the claims of States presented after June 30, 1874, from exarnination and 
settlement by the accounting officers of the Treasury. 

The language of that section is as follows : 
"No claims against the United States for collecting, drilling, or organizing volun­

teers for the war of the rebellion, shall be audited or paid unless presented before the 
30th day of June, 1874." " * * * " ·.¥ " 

Taken in its ordinary sense, it would seem that this language was sufficiently broad 
and comprehensive to include the claims of States of the character now under dis­
cussion ; and it would be necessary to hold that it did so, were it not apparent that the 
phrase ''for collecting~ drilling, or organizing volunteers for the war of the rebellion'' 
had acquired a sense more limited in connection with the legislation upon this subject. 

The act of July 27, 1::561 (12 Stat., 276), made a gener<~l appropriation (not limited 
in amount) "to pay to the governor of any State, or to his duly authorized agents, the 
costA, chargef'!, and expenses properly incurred by such State for enrolling, subsisting, 
clothing, supp ing, arming, equipping, paying, anrl transportiue: its troops employed 
in aiding to suppre:,;s the present insurrection against the_ United States." 

In a previous act of July 17, 1861, and also in a subsequent act of Pebruary25, 1862, 
''making additional appropriations for the support of the Army" (1~ Stat., 264 and 
345), are to be found definite app~·opriations for similar expenses incurred by the States, 
amounting iu the aggregate to tweuty-fi ve millions. These provisions are not involved 
in the queAtion herein considered. 

By the fourth section of the act of July 12, 1870 (16 Stat., 230), the appropriation 
(indefinite in amount) made by the act of July 27, 1tl61 (above cited ), was repea.led. 
The act of 1870 contemplated, however, that the duty of auditing the claims of States 
presented under the latter act should continue (as before) to b :) performed oy the ac-
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couuting officers, and that in future Congress would proviue for tlleir paymeut by 
appropriations based upon estimater. submitted. 

In a~dition to the provisions made by the abo\·e-mentioned acts, for settling and 
paying war claims (all of which apply to claims of States exclusively), other provis­
ions were made by Congress for settliug and paying claims of like character by appro­
priation~ directed to meet expenses inunrred "for collecting, drilling, or organizing 
volunteers." [See act of An gust 5, 1B61 (12 Stat., 310); act of July 5, U362 (Ibid., 50o); 
act of February \:l, 186:3 (!bill., ti,t:3); act of Jmw 15, 1~l>4 (1:3 Stat., 126).] 

The latter provisions were cou::ltrued to cover claims of individuals, and not those 
of States, for the subjects therein designated. The claims of States for like subjects 
were regardecl as otherwise separately provided for. Thus, in "General Order No. 70," 
issued from the Adjutant-General's Office September 3, 1861, it was announced" that 
the appropriation 'for collecting, drilling, or organizing volunteera under the acts 
authorizing the President to accept the services of five hundred thousand men' is in­
tended for tile payment of all expenses that may hereafter be incurred therefor, as 
well as for the reimbursement to individuals of such amounts as have been already 
justly and actually expended by them in raising troops that haYe been, or may 
be, received into the service of the United States;" and it is added: "Claims of 
States for expenditures heretofore made by them in raising volunteers are provided 
for by separate and distinct appropriations, and will not be paid from the one now re­
ferred to." 

This early construction of the War Department, by which a distinction is made be­
tween the claims "for collecting, drilling, or organizing volunteers," and the claims 
which States might have for expenses incurred by them, was kept up, so far as I llave 
been able to find after careful examination . of the legislation and the practice there­
under, to the end. 

The· fund appropriated to the satisfaction of claims "for collecting, drilling, or or­
ganizing volunteers" had not been exhausted up to the 1st of July, 1o74, on which 
day the total balance of the appropriation then remaining was carried to the surplus 
fund under the provisions of the act of June 20, 1874. . 

The act of March 3, 1873 (17 Stat., 500), provided: "That no claims against the 
United States for collecting, drilling, or organizing volunteers for the war of the rebel­
lion, shall he audited or paid unless presented before the end of the fiscal year ending 
June ::JO, 1874." This is the enactment intended to be embodied in the section 3489 of 
the Revised Statutes, altho11gb a change was made in the words "the 30th day of 
June" as the final day of limitation. in place of the words "the end of the iiscal year 
ending June 30," by which, apparently, the time of limitation was shortened by the 
length of a day. 

I am of opiLion that. the limitation of section 3489 Rev. Stats. does not bar the audit­
ing of claims in behalf of States made under the act of July 27, 1861, where the same 
have not been presented before the 30th day of June, 1874. 

The language of the act of limitation, "Claims against the United States.for collect­
ing, drilliug, or organizing volunteers," must be understood, in view of contempora­
neous construction and legislation, as descriptive of, and referring to, the class of claims, 
and that class only, for which provisions had theretofore been made in the appropria­
tions "for collecting, drilling, or organizing volunteers." As the war claims of States 
were, by the construction given to those appropriations, excluded from that class of 
claims (of which Congress must be presumed to have been aware), it is but reasonable 
to infer that in employing in the act of limitation in question terms of description ex­
actly corresponding with those used in the appropriations, Congress meant that these 
terms should receive the same construction which bad theretofore been put upon them. 
The words used are words which have acquired in the legislation a more limited sense 
than that which would be attributed to them if the:v were t.o be construed without ref­
erence to other legislation. They do not therefore' impose a limitation upon the war 
claims of States. 

The question presented is undoubtedly one of much embarrassment and difficulty, 
upon which the officers of the Treasury and of the War Department have difi'ered~ 
There is noW'no appropriation available to meet these State war claims, and it will be 
hereafter for Congress to determine whetller it will make such appropriation. The 
result to which I arrive is, however, entirely Ratisfactory to my mind; and I deem it 
the duty of the administrative officers of the War Dt>partment and the accounting offi­
cers of the 'freasnr.v to proceed with the examinatiou and anditing"of these claims in 
order that proper estimates may hereafter be submitted to C0ngress therefor. 

This answer to yonr tirst i.nquiry renders an answer to the second question contained 
in your letter superfluous. 

Very respectfully, your obedient serYant, 

S. Ex. 7 4:--2 

CHAS. DEVENS, 
Attorney- General. 
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Lette;· from the Secretary of War, communicating his views ,in 1·elation to the bill ( S. 165) to 
Teimbu1'se the State of Texas for expenses incutTed in repelling invasions of Indians and 
Mexicans. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Janua1',1j 19, 1878. 
SIR: The Secretary of War bas the honor to transmit to the United States Senate, 

in accordance with the request of its Committee on Military .Affairs, an expression· of 
his views in regard to Senate bill 165, to reimburse the State of Texas .for expenses 
incurred by said State in repelling invasions of Indians and Mexicans. 

The expenses accrued, it is alleged, on account of payment and support of volun­
teers or rangers, and the claims of the State for reimbursement of expenditures said 
to have been made, relate to two periods of time. viz: 

First. From November 1, 1854, to January 28, 11:!61, $fl09,111.95. 
Second. From October 14, 1865, to .August 31, 1877, $1,027,:~75.67. 
In connection with these claims or accounts a communication to the Speaker of the 

Honse of Representatives December 26, 1876, stated: 
"This department possesses no evidence concerning the accounts of the State of Texa,s, 

further than the statements on two ahstracts which are for $1,536,487.62 and which 
were received from the committee, and except accounts for $223,143.89. The latter 
were examined at this department in the year 1872, and they were reported upon in 

·full, as appears in Honse Executive Document No. 277, second session Forty-second 
Congress." 

(See House Executive Document No. 14, second session Forty-fourth Congress.) 
The aggregate amount of these claims appears to be included in the provisions of 

Senate bill165, which refers to an act of July 27, 1861, entitled ".An act to indemnify 
the States for expenses incurred by them in defense of the United States." 

In regard to this act certain rules were established by the Treasury and this depart­
ment in 1861 ; one rule being: 

"II. It is only for expenditures on account of troops, officers, or men that have been 
or may be mustered and received into, or actually employed in, the service of the 
United States, that reimbursements will be made. Organizations raised, or attempted 
to be raised, but not mustered and received into, nor actually employed in, the service 
wi!l not be recognized. Nor will any reimbursements be made by the United States of 
expenses incurred in organizing, equipping, and maintaining troops for State purposes 
or homegnard, whether called out by State or other local authority, unless such troops 
were called out and such expenditures incurred at the request or under the authority 
of the President or the Secretary of War." 

This rule substantially expresses the funclamental principle upon which was rested 
and still rests the fair adjustment of any or all claims against the United States for 
military expenses. The operation of this principle has left some expenditures of the 
State of Texas in question since 1854, and prompted the suggestion relative to her 
claims examined in 1872, stating that out of $223,143.89 then considered, not more than 
$20,225.:3~ - should be allowed. ("ee page 66 House Ex. Doc. 277 second session Forty­
second Congress.) 

This principle also enters largely into the views relative to tbesH clai rns expressed 
by the Adjutant-General of the Army in a report dated April 9, 11'!72 (copy herewith), 
and in a statement from the General of the .Army, under date of Dl:lcember 5, 1877, in­
dorsed on that report, all concerning the subject-matter of the bill herewith, and all 
worthy of more extended attention than can be herein given to them. 

Very re&pectfully, your obedient servant, 

The PRESIDENT of tlte United States Senate. 

GEO. W. McCRARY, 
Secretary of Wal'. 

Schedule of accompanyi11g papers. 

Letter from the Secretary of \\,..ar to General Grant, dated October 11, 18()f). 
Letter from governor of Texas to Secretary of War, dated September .29, 1H.i6 . 
Telegram from governor of Texas to the President, dated September 26, 1clti:i. 
Telegram from Secretary of War to governor of Texas, dated Septem her 2t:l, 1 'j66. 
Letter from General Sheridan to General Grant, dated October 3, 1R66. 
'Telegram from governor of Texas to General Sheridan, dated September 26, 1 GG. 
Letter from General Sheridan to General Rawlins, dated November 11, 1866. 
Letter from Major Forsyth to General Sherman, dated November 2, 1866. 
Telegram from General Sheridan to governor of Texas, dated November 11, 1866. 
Report of the .Adjutant-General, dated .April 9, 1872. 
Indorsement of General of the .Army on report of the .Adjutant-General, dated De-

cember 5, 1877. · 
Executive Document No. 277, House of Representatives, Forty-second Congress, 

second session. 
Executive Document No. 14, House of · Representatives, Forty-fourth Congress, 

second session. 
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WAR DEPARTMENT, 
Wasl!ington City, October 11, 1866. 

GENERAL: I inclose to you for your consideration and such action as you deem 
proper a communication, dated Austin, September 29, 1866, addressed to this depart­
ment by J. W. Throckmorton, governor of Texas, in relation to Indian outrages com­
mitted in that State, accompanied by a copy of an act of the legislature of Texas pro­
viding for raising troops for defense, together with sundry new!:!paper extracts and a 
statement of the Ron. Mr. Black, a member of the legislature, all of which are referred 
to in tl.Je governor's communication. 

A telegram from Governor Throckmorton, dated the 20th of September, addressed to 
the President, and the answer thereto relating to the same subject, are also herewith 
nbmU~d. · 

The papers above mentioned have been laid before the President, and considered by 
him in connection with the report of Major-General Sheridan to you, dated Headquar­
ters, New Orleans, October~. 1866, inclosing a telegram to him from Governor Throck­
morton, dated September 26, Hl66, and your telegraphic reply addressed to General 
Sheridan, dated October t:l, 1866. 

The representations of Governor Throckmorton, and the statements that he trans­
mits, deeply impress the President with the obligation and necessity of affording re­
Hef and protection to the people of Texas from Indian outrages to the utmost extent 
within the power of the Federal Goverument; and he is of opinion that, if troops sta­
tioned in the interior can be adYantageously employed for that purpose on the fron­
tier, it should be promptly done. 

He desires, therefore, that you take such proper measures and give such instructions 
as may verify the actual condition of affairs in Texas, and atft>rd immediate and ade­
quate protection to the people on the frontier of Texas. If this protection can be af­
forded by the regular military force of the United States, he deems it preferable to 
.calling out and organizing a local military force. 

With this expression of his wishes the subject is referred to you for the prompt in­
vestigation and action which the urgency of the case seems to require. 

Your ouedieut servant, 

General GRANT. 

EDWIN M. STANTON, 
Secretar.IJ of War. 

STATE OF TEXAS: EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT, 
Austin, September· 29, 1866. 

SIR: Accompanying thi communication I forward for your information an act of 
the legislature of t.his State which requires me to call into the service one thousand 
mounted men for the defense of the frontier against the attacks of numerous bands of 
Indians, now waging a deadly warfare against our people. The sixth section of this 
act requires that I shall tender the !:lervice of these troops to the general government. 
In obedience thereto I make the tender, and trust the authorities will accept the ser­
vice of this command, or part thereof, for such length of time as may be deemed advis­
able. The frontier is sutl:'eriug great devastation; murder, rapine, and the most 
revolting outrages are of daily occurrence. 

Unless the government will send efficient and immediate protection the State will 
be compelled to undertake it, without a dollar in the State treasury to defray the 
necessary expenditures. 

The troops stationed in the interior of the State are of no service whatever. The 
laws can be enforced and every class of our population be protected in all their rights, 
without the aid of the military, and I most respectfully ask that the troops· be with­
drawn. 

I have corresponded fully with General Sheridan upon all the questions herein re­
ferred to, and also furnished him a copy of the act herein inclosed. 

I also forward you memoranda of Indian depredations that have occurred within 
the last few months. The statements herein are only partial accounts, and by no 
means constitute the half of what has actually occurred within the last twelve 
months. 

I respectfully request that you will make these facts known to the President, in 
order that he may be fully advised as to the condition of our State. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Hon. E. M. STANTON, 
Secretary of War, Tr ashington, D. C. 

J. W. THROCKMORTON, 
Governor of the State of Texas. 
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AN ACT to provide for the protection of the frontier of the State of Texas. 

SECTION 1. Be ii enacted by the legislature of the State of Texas, That there be raised 
-three battalious of Texas rangers, for the protectiOn of the northern and western 
frontier of the State of Texas, to consist of ten companies, giving to two battalions 
three, and to one lJattalion four companies, to be raised as hereinafter prescribed; 
and to consist of one c::~ptain, two lieutenants, four sergeants. four corporals, one 
bugler, one farrier, and eighty-seven privat.es each. The field and staff officers to con­
sist of one colonel, one lieutenant-colonel, and one major; one assistant adjutant­
general with the rank of captain, one adjutant with the rank of first lientenaut, one 
assistant quartermaster and commissary w1th the rank of captain, and two assistant 
quartermas~ers and commissaries w~th the rauk of first lieutenant., one surgeon with 
the rank of major, and three assistant surgeons with the rank of captain, entitled to 
pa.y as follows, to wit: The colonel shall receive two hundred dollars ptr month; 
lieutenant-colonel, one hundred and fifty dollars per month ; the major, one hundred 

-and forty dollars per month; captains, one hundred and twent.y-five dollars per month; 
lieutenants, ninety dollars per month; first sergeants, thirty-eight dollars per month; 
sergeants, thirty-four dollars per month; corporals, buglers, and farriers, thirty-three 

. dollars per month, and privates thirty dollars per month: P1·ovi£led, The pay of all 
officeFs and men shall be in currency; and further, that tbe pay herein provided for 
shall be full compensation in lieu of all otber pay and commutation for clothing for 
officers and men. 

SEC. 2. Said men shall furnish themselves with horses, arms, and accouterments, 
and !:!ball be furnished with ammunition, and shall be enlisted twelve months, unless 
sooner discharged. 

SEc. 3. The requisite number.of men for said battalion shall be raised, if possihle7 

in the counties of Denton, Cook, Montague, Clay, Jack, Wise, Young, Parker, Tar­
rant, Palo Pinto, Johnson, Hill, Erath, Bosque, Comanche, Hamilton, Coryell, Lam­
pasas, Brown, San Saba, McCulloch, Mason, Menard, Llano, Williamson, Burnet, Blanco7 
Gomal, Kendall, Gillespie, Kerr, Bandera, Uvalde, Frio, Medina., Atascosa, aud such 
other counties as border on the above list of counties: P1·ovided, That the governor 
may receive of said regiment from other counties not specified. 

SEc. 4. That the governor be authorized, immediately after the passage of this act, 
to commission competent persons, one for every company, to enroll the number of 
men for a company, and when at least sixty-four men shall have been enrolled they 
shall organize by holding an election for company officers, and the captain elected 
shall return a muster-roll, and such other reports as may be required by the governor, 
to the adjutant-general's department, and bold his company in readiness to take the 
field in obedience to orders from the governor or superior officer. 

SEc. 5. The governor shall have power to appoint the field and staff officers, together 
with all disbursipg officers of each battaliop, and shall have power to remove from 
office any of the :field or staff officers for neglect of duty, incompetency, or disobedi­
ence of orders, and furloughs and leaves of absence shall be granted under rules aud 
regulations prescribed by him. 

SEc. 6. The troops raised under and by virtue of thie act shall be governed by the 
rules and regulations of the Army of the United States, but shall always be subject to 
the authority of the State of Texas for frontier service, and shall not be removed be­
yond the limits of the State of Texas, except for the purpose of following and chas­
tising marauding bauds of Indians wherever found; and it shall be the duty of the 
governor to forward a copy of this act to the Secretary of War, urging the acceptance 
of said batt.alions for frontier protection. 

SEc. 7. That no portion of said troops shall become a charge against the State of 
Texas until organized as required by the fourth section of this act and placed under 
~~ . 

SEc. 8. The quartermaster and commissary of said regiment be authorized under in­
structions from the governor to contract for the following transportatiou of the regi­
ment, viz, one six-mule team and wagon, together with such number of animals :md 
accouterments as the colonel, with the governor's approval, may require for each bat­
talion as transportation for the troops, and one two-horse wagon and two mules for 
the field and staff of each battalion. The supplies are to be delivered by contractors at 
the place designated by the commanding officer, who shall give information to the q nar­
termaster and commissary at what point and at what time the supplies must be delivered; 
and all supplies purchased by the quartermaster must be of good quality, and his ac­
counts or certificates shall be examined and allowed by the commanding officer iu the 
-:field before the same shall become binding as a claim against the State; provided that 
the office of assistant quartermaster and commissary, within the meaning of this act, 
as but one officer, and is to be held but by one person. 

SEc. 9. That the governor shall have powet' to disband said battalions, or any por­
tion of them, whenever, in his jnrlgment, their services may no longer be necessary 
for frontier protection, and may thereafter call into service and reorganize such corn- . 
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panies and battalions whenever the condition of the frontier may require it, provided 
it shall not be for a longer period than twelve months, and should the same not he 
accepted by the United States Government under the provisions of this act. 

SEC. 10. The present legislature shall make all necessary appropriations, and provide 
means to enable the executive of this State to carry out the provisions of this act. 

SEc. 11. That the acts to provide for the protection of the frontier, passed February 
7, 1861, and December 24, 1861, be, and the same are hereby, repealed. 

SEC. 12. This act to take effect and he in force from and after its passage. 

STATE DEPARTMENT, 
..dustin, Tex., September 27, 1866. 

I, John A. Green, secretary of state, hereby certify that the above and foregoing is 
a copy of the original which has passed the legislature and received the approval of 
the governor on the 21st September: 1866, and now on file in my office. 

In testimony whereof I have caused the seal of this department to be affixed the 
date herein above written. 

[STATE SEAL.] JOHN A. GREEN, 
Secretary of State. 

STATE OF TEXAS, EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT, 
At1stin1 Septembel' 25, 1866. 

A statement now on file in this office from Hon. Mr. Black, a member of the legislature 
from Uvalde Count.v, shows that since May, 186f>, ten persons have been murdered 
and three carried into captivity in that county. Five Mexicans in Kinney and three 
in Maverick and four in Webb County have been murdered. In the last-named coun­
ties the perpetrators were Kickapoo Indians. 

J. W. LANE, 
Pl'ivate Secretary. 

P. S.-About 15th September instant, Enoch Jones and son and two freedmen, while 
cutting hay in Jack County for the government, were murdered by the Indians. 

J. W. L. 

fTelegram.l 

Received10.20 a. m., 27th. 

AUSTIN, TEX. 1 September 26, 1866. 
President JOHNSON: 

Onr frontiers are rapidly depopuiating from Indian depredations. I am requested 
by the legislature, unless immediate assistance is afforded by the government, to call 
out one thousand men for its defense. I am authorized to place this force under the 
control and at the disposition of the general government for such time as may he re­
-quired. They can be put on the line of operation in three weeks. I have informed 

. General Sheridan of the distressed condition of the frontier people. 
Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Governor THROCKMORTON, 
Austin, Tex. : 

[Telegram.] 

J. W. T,HROCKMORTON, 
Governor of Texas. 

WAR DEPARTMRNT, 
Washington City, Septcrnber 28, 1866. 

Your telegram of the 26th instant has been referred by the President to this depart­
ment. 

Major-General Sheridan, commanding the military division of which Texas forms a 
part, is now on a visit to that State: and upon his report being received the action of 
the government on your request for troops will be communicated to yon. In the mean 
time it would be well for you to confer with General Sheridan on the subject. 

E. M. STANTON, 
Se(.'1'etat·y of War. 
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HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF THE GULF, 
New Orleans, La., October 3, 1866. 

GENERAL: I have the honor to forward the inclosed telegram from Governor Throck­
morton of Texas. 

I have no reason to believe that there is any necessity for these volunteers, except 
the repotts fonnd in the Texas newspapers and the representations of Governor Throck­
moJ'ton. 

There bas not been a single military commander in Texas who bas reported Indian 
difficulties, except in the case or a few Kickapoos who came over on our side of the 
Rio Grande two or three times, and in parties not numbering more than five or six. 

So far as my judgment is concerned, it is opposed to the acceptance of these troops, 
and I have been led to believe, from what I have heard or seen, that the mainspring 
of the whole movement is to get the United States troops from the interior of tbe 
State. There is no one who would hail such an event with greater pleasure than my­
self, but so long as the government purtmes its present policy I would not advise their 
removal until there is a practical illustration of a better sentiment among the people· 
of Texas. 

I have, indirectly, been contending with the governor of Louisiana to prevent him 
- from raising troops in this State for the alleged purpose of protecting Union people 

(but most probably for other and more selfish motives), bnt if the governor of Texas­
can call out troops, the governor of Louisiana has the same right, and there will be 
this strange anomaly: 

The troops raised in Te,xas would be of the element which fought against the gov­
ermnent; those in Louisiana of the element which fought for it; and so it goes. 

I have sent the Fourth Cavalry to the region of alleged Indian troubles. 
General Wright informed me that Governor Throckmorton was going to make a 

great effort to remove· tbe troops from the interior of Texas. This may be a part of 
the programme. 

I am, general, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Official: 
GEO. K. LEET, 

Assistant Adjutant-Gen eral. 

General U. S. GRANT, 

P. H. SHERIDAN, 
Major-G eneral, United States Anny. 

Commanding Annies United StateB, Washington, D. C. 

(Telegram.] 

By telegraph from Austin .September 26, 1866. Received at New Orleans September-
26, Hi66. 

General SHERIDAN, Commanding, ~c. : 
The legislature requests me 'to call out one thousand mounted men to defend the· 

frontier, unless immediate relief is offered by the government. 
If their services are accepted by the Federal Government they are at the disposal: 

and service of the Federal authorities for such term as they may desire. They can be 
put in the field and supplied in three weeks from the order. 

Necessity requires prompt action. 
Very respectful]~, 

Official: 
P. H. SHERIDAN, 

Major- General. 
Official: 

GEO. K. LEET, 

J. W. THROCKMORTON, 
Governor of Texas. 

AsBistant A djntant-General. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF THE GuLF, 
New 01·leans, La., Norembtr 11, 1866. 

GENERAL: I have the honor to forward, for the information of the General-in-Chief,. 
the inclosed copy of a letter from Maj. G. A. Forsyth, whom I sent on special duty to. 
the frontier of Texas. 
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This truthful letter shows clearly how cautious we should be ii! believing newspaper 
accounts of Indian difficulties, or the exaggerated accounts of interested civil officials. 

I also inclose a copy of I.VY last telegnttn to Governor Throckmorton. 
I am, general, very reJSpectfully, yonr olJedient ~Servant, 

P. H. SHERIDAN. 
Major-General, Cnifed States .-1rm?J'· 

Bvt. Mllj. Gen. J. A. RAWLII"'S, 
Cltifj of Sta.ff, Washington, D. C. 

Personal.] V!r ACO, TEx., Km:ember 2, 1866. 
DEAR GENERAL: I arrivec1 here this afternoon, and start to-morrow for Jacksbor­

ongh, one hnuc.lred anfl twenty miles farther up the country. Thus far I have not 
beeu alJle to get any accurate iuformation in regard to the Indian depredations, but I 
am convinced that many of the people who are uwviug in from the frontier are doing 
it to better their condition, and uot from any fear they may have of the Indians; for 
instead of stopping in the fiist well-settled and perfectly safe counties they come to, 
they are movin~ down towards the central portion of the State, with.in reaching dis­
tance of the railroad, so that they may IJe sure of a market for what they produce. 

Guvernor Throckmorton, in his conversation with me, did not afford me any opportu­
nity to say anything in re~ard to his raising troops for the defense of the State IJorder, 
merely alluding to a certam line on the map as designating those counties in which 
the legislature had rmthorized the raising of a regiment, and continuing the conver­
sation, without pausing, in relation to the estaulishment of posts on the Red River 
frontier. 

I have only seen one individual who favors the raising of these troops, and he was 
a Confederate colonel, in rebel uniform. If the United States Government does not 
guarantee the payment of these troops, I doubt Governor Throckmorton's ability to 
raise auything but the officers; still, times are hard on the Texan frontier, and men 
may be found who are willing to enlist. I inclose a slip cut from the Waco Weekly 
Register, which shows tllat Governor Throckmorton wants to raise the troops, if he 
can. The fact is that these people are disloyal, and the sight of a blue uniform wor­
ries them badly; and then another great point is that, unless the Army is on the fron­
tier, the border counties have no market for what they raise, and unless the troops are 
sent there they will not be able to accumulate anything. There is no doubt but that 
the Indians have commit.ted outrages, but not by any means to the extent that cer­
tain interested parties would like the United States Government to believe. 

If this border regitnent is raisetl, ex-rebels will be the officers, and eventually the 
State of Texas will call on the govemment to refund the amount expended in raising, 
equipping, and supporting it. 

The cotton crop in this county averages a bale to the acre, and is by far the largest 
· ever raised. 

The freedmen are workipg well, but they will not be able to gather all the crop, it 
is so much larger than anticipated. Brevet Lieutenant-Colonel Evans has his com­
pany in a splendid state of discipline, but needs 33 more horses to mount his recruits. 
Money shoulcl be sent here to take up the vouchers issued by the Quartermaster's De­
partment. The people hold $-1,000 worth of them, ani! Lhere has been no money since 
June last. 

Very truly, yours, 

Mllj. Gen. P. H. SHERIDA~, 
United States .Arrny. 

GEO. ·A. FORSYTH. 

I will write again from Jacksborough, but you will please consider all communica­
tions as personal until I can make a final report. I shall be gone at least six weeks 
longer, and you will prolJalJly need what iuformation I can send you while en route. 

F. 

VOLUNTEERS WANTED FOR FRONTIER PROTECTION. 

As I have received an appointment to enroll a company of 100 men from his excel­
lency J. W. Throckmorton for th.s service, I hereby invite all able-bodied men wish­
ing to volunteer to meet at Stephensville, Erath County, on the 1st day of November, 
for the purpose of organi:r,ing the company by electing company officers. Each man 
will be required to furnish himself suitalJle arms and good horse, his arms to conbist 
at least of a good gun and six-shooter. 
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For further particulars refer to act of the present legislature providing for frontier 
de fense. 

October 13, 1866. 

:KOTE.-Rebellieutenant-colonel. 

J. B. BARR, JR., 
Captain pro lem. 

Official. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF THE ULF, 
New Orleans, November 11, 1~66. 

J. SCHUYLER CROSBY, 
Brevet Major, United Sta.tes Ar·my, Aide-de-Camp. 

[Telegram.] 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF THE GULF, 
New 01'leans, La., November 11, 1866. 

GOYERNOR: I see by an advertisement in the Waco Valley Register of October 13, 
1866, that you have authorized the calling out of troops under the provisions of the 
act. of the legislature of Texas. 

Now, as I have ordered to the frontier double the number of men the legislature 
thought necessary, I cannot see any good excuse for the employment of the volunteer 
force. 

His Excellency J. vV. THROCK:\:lORON, 
Got'ei'JW?' of Texas, Austin, Tex. 

P. H. SHERIDAN, 
Majo1·-Gen eral, Un-ited States .111'my. 

vYAR DEPART"'IENT, ADJUTANT-GENERAL's OFFICE, 
Ap1'il 9, 1872. 

Ret~pectfully returned to the Secretary of War. An act of 'the State legislature of 
Texas, approved Jnne 13, 1870, authorizeil the governor of the State to raise and 
muster into service twenty companies of rangers for frontier twelve months' service, 
provisions, ammunition, and arms to be furnished by the State; clothing, horses, &c., 
by the individual troops, always to remain subject to the authority and orders of the 
governor of Texas, and to be paid by the State. (See bill herewith.) 

July 19, 1870.-The Secretary of War instructed the Adjutant-General that the State 
of Texas would not be permitted to make war upon the Indians, but that the United 
States military authorities would preserve the peace. 

July 27, 1870.-The Adjutant-General instructed Colonel Reynolds, commandin~ De­
partment of Texas, as to the wishes of the Secretary of War. 

August 5, 1870.-Colonel Reynolds furnished governor of Texas with a copy of the 
said instructions. · 

August 8, 1870.-The governor informed Colonel Reynolds that the State troops be­
ing organized under the act would be placed at the disposal of the War Department 
to co-op~rate with United States troops, and that he (t.he governor) would ration and 
forage them. 

A11gust 15, 1i370.-Colonel Reynolds, in forwarding the communication of the gov­
€rnor, remarked tllat the circular, copy herewith, approved by the War Department 
June 20, 1868, provided them with subsistence from the supplies of the Unit.ed States 
posts near which they might rendezvous. The governor'~> letter, &c., were submitted 
to the Secretary of War by the Adjutant-General, September 3. 1870, with tlle remark 
that, ''a demand will certainly be made in the future for reimbursement of expenses 
and pay of the volunteers by the United States Government," for wh ich reason, and 
to prevent the possibility of future claims, the Secretary, September 2~, 1R70, directed 
that Colonel Reynolds be instructed (as in previous orders) that the civil authorities 
of the State of Texas would not be permitted to make war on t.he Indians. Colonel 
Reynolds was so informed by letter dated September ~4, 1870 (herewith). 

September 7, 1870.-The commanding officer of one of these ranger companies was 
instructed by Colonel Reynolds to proceed with his company to the vicinity of Old 
Camp Colorado, Texas, and to draw subsistence from the commanding officer of United 
States troops at Fort Concho, Texas, and stating that the chief commissary of subsist­
tence, Department of Texas, would furnish detail instructions. 

Septembe1· 13, 1~70.-The commissary referred to forwarlfed to the Commissary-Gen­
eral of Subsistence United States Army the correspondence, &c., relative to the sup­
JPlying of these troops, and remarked that the troops were now drawing rations from 
t he United States, by direction of Colonel Reynolds, commanding department. The 
chief commissary of subsistence, Military Division of South, in forwarding the papers, 



CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 25 

remarked that the "issue of rations to Texas volunteers was not authorized by the 
major-general commanrling the division." 

September 27, 1870.-The Commissary-General of Subsistence United States Army 
referred the papers to this office, and remarked that the appropriation for the subsist­
ence for the Army for the current year would not probably bear the heavy expense 
of suhsisting the Texas volunteers, if to be long continued, and especially invited 
attention to the sixth section of the act calling out these troops, wherein it is specifi­
cally provided that said rangers were to be i'urnished with provisions at the expense of 
the State. 

Upon an examination of the whole case, the Secret:ny of War, under date Octoher 
18, 1870, directed as follows: "Memoranda.-General Reynolds to be informed that he 
is not to subsist or pay the Texas troops. DirPct him to notify governor of Texas accord­
ingly; and that no claim for payment for their services, or for subsistence, or any other 
account, would be recognized." 

The facts connected with this subsistence question are as follows: 
September 17, 1870.-By Special Orders No. 11:1, Headqnarters Department of Texas, 

the Texan troops were authorized to be furnished subsistence, &c. 
October 6, 1870.-Colonel Rey11olds was telegraphed to revoke said order, which was 

accordingly done October 7, H:l70, by Special Orders No.12:3, Headquarters Department 
of Texas. 

October 8, 1870.-Governor Davis telegraphed the Ailjutant-General United States 
Army reqnestmg that subsistence to the State troops be continued, notwithstanding 
Special Orders No. 128 referred to, and stated that·, if subsistence would be furnished, 
the State would refund all expenses incurred by the United States. 

October 1:.!, 1870.-Governor Davis was telegraphed that his di!-lpatch was submitted 
to the Secretary of War and the President, and that it was decided that rations could 
not be issued. On the same day Colonel Reynolds was notified of this action. 

October 1:3, 1870.-Colonel Reynolds telegraphed the Adjnt.ant-General United St;ates 
Army that he" just bad interview with Governor Davis; be has received :your tele­
gram of yesterday"; and stated that the governor desired to know whether the State 
troops now in the field would be permitted to remain, the State supplying them in all 
respects, without any expense to the United States. 

October 19, 1870.-Colonel Reynolds was telegraphed (in answer to preceding tele­
gram) not to subsist or pay troops, and to notify governor of Texas accordingly; also, 
that no claim for payment for their services, or for subsistence, or on any other account, 
would be recognized. 

October 29, H:l70.-Acknowledged the receipt of this, anrl stated that the instructions 
therein were fully carried out on the 7th instant., and that he had notified Governor 
Davis of the decision of the War Department. 

No fnrt.her correspondence appears in the case. 
Prom the foregoing it will be seen that these rangers were not only refused recogni­

tion by the War Department, but were positively prohibited from carrying out the 
provisions for which raised; this, in connection with the fact that from the initial the 
United StateR authorities declared that neither pay, subsistence, nor any other emolu­
ment or supply would be furnished the force, and the declarations of the State author­
ities that the United States wonld not be called upon to bear any expense whatever in 
the support of said force; and, finally, that no service appears or is claimed to ha.ve been 
rendered by it. 

It is submitted that CnngrPss should not encourage claims of this kind. If encour­
aged, constant claims will resnlt from governors of States and Territories calling out 
troops without authority from the President, and in the face of the War Department 
notitication that the troops will not be recognized. Such was the case with the Mon­
tana militia, for which claims are now pending, and such will ever be the case if pre­
cedent be established or continued. 

The President is by law the judge of the necessity, and if he rleclines to yield to 
reqtll·Sts to call out militia or volunteers, the matter should there n~At. 

E. D. TOWNSEND, 
Adjutant-Geneml. 

HEADQUARTERS OF THE AR:\IY, 
Washington, D. C., December 5, 1877. 

I l1ave examined Senate bill 165, Forty-fifth Congress, first session, and deem it 
simply monstrous. 

The Texas Rangers, so called, have been a source of danger to the United States, 
ratl1er than assistance, in tbe matter of frontier defense. 

By the within report it is seen that the governor of Texas himself disclaims any 
purpo"e of construing this force as in the service of thP United States At no single 
instant of time has it been construed as a part of the military force on tbe border of 
Texas; never bas been " rnnstererl"; but, on the contrary, Congress has all the time 
been cutting down the strength of the Regular Army in the interest of economy. If 
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Texas may add $1,700,000 to the military expenses for the alleged inadequate protec­
tion, other States and Territories will swell it to a hundred millions. 

\V. T. SHERMAN, General. 

[House Ex. Doc. No. 277. 42d Congress, 2d sessiou.] 

Letter j1·om tlte Secretary of War, i?'allsmitting a 1'e]Jort con ceming th e history and chanwler 
of certain claims of the State of Texas. 

WAR DEPART:\IE~T, April :30, 1872. 
The Secretar~T of War has the honor to transmit to the House of Representatives, in 

accordance with the request of its Subcommittee on Appropriations. a report concern­
ing the l1istory and character of certain claims of the State of Texas. 

W:\1. W. BELKNAP, 
Secretary of Trw·. 

\VAR DEPARTl\1El\T, 
Wa shington, IJ. C. , ..::lpril '21, 1872. 

SIR: In compliance with verbal instructions received from yon, I have carefully 
examined all the evidence found concerning the history and character of certain 
claims of the State of Texas against the United States, and as the result of that ex­
amination I have the honor to respectfnlly submit tlle following rt:'port: 

The claims are for reimbursement of expenditures alleged to lJave been made for 
the payment and support of volunteers, or rangers, prior to tlle rebellion. 

The troops. it is asserted, were temporarily employeJ. a,t various dates, between No­
Hmber 1, 1804, and some time in September, 18GO, for the purpose of suppressing In­
dian hostilities on the frontiers of Texas. 

The evidence bearing upon this case is interspersed through many printed public 
documents, and, in addition to what is contained in them, it forms many pages of man­
uscript (copies annexed) heretofore unfolded in any public print. 

The merits of the claims may be the better understood, at this late date, by bestow­
ing a glance at the condition of affairs which may have rendered it necessary, from 
time to time, to employ Texan rangers, or \olunteers, wit,hin that State. 

Turning to the President's message of December 6, 1~52, so much of it as relates to 
Indians in Texas reads: 

"Experience has shown, howeYer, that whenever the two races are ' brought into con­
tact, collisions will inevitably occur. To prevent these colli~:~ions the United States 
have generally set apart portions of their territory for tlte exclush~e occupation of the 
Indian tribes. A difficulty occurs, however, in the application of this policy to Texas. 
By the terms of the compact by which that State was admit,ted into the Union, she 
retained the ownership of all the vacant lands within her limits. The government of 
that State, it is understood, has assigned no portion of her territor.Y to the Indians; 
but, as fast as her settlements advance, lays it off into counties, and proceeds to sur­
vey and sell it. 

''This policy manifestly tends not only to alarm and irritate the Indians, but to compel 
them to resort to plunder for subsistence. It aiso deprives this government of 
that influence and control over them without which no durable peace can ever exist 
between them and the whites. I trust, therefore, that a due regard for her own inter­
ests, apart from considerations of humanity and justice, will induce that State to 
assign a small portion of her vast domain for the provisional occupancy of the small 
remnants of tribes within her borders, subject, of course, to her ownership and eventual 
jurisdiction. If she should fail to do this, the fulfillment of our treaty stipulations 
with Mexico and our du t.y to the Indians themselves will, it is feared, become a subject 
of serious embarrassment to the government. It is hoped, however, that a timely and 
just provision by Texas may avert this evil." * "' * 

(See House Executive Document No. 1, second session Thirty-seconll Congress.) 
Pasbing to a later date, January 30, 1855, it is found that the Commh;~iouer uf Iudian 

Affairs remarked officially as follows : 
"Texas having retained all her lands and the exclusive jurisdiction 0\·er them, it was 

impossible for the United States to exercise any supervision over the tralle aull inter­
course with her Indians, or the necessary control over the latter, to prevent difticulties 
between them and the citizens of the State. Under these circumstauces it. waR uot in 
the power of the government to manage our Indian relations there in as etlicieut a 
manner as it might otherwise have done. It was. therefore, in a position not to be 
held responsible for any difficulties or depredations which may have arisen out of such 
a state of thin~s, which was made known from year to year throngh tbe annual re­
ports of this office, and the necessity urged of Texas set.ting apart a district of country 
for the location and residence of her Indians, and the cession of 1mflicient jurisdiction 
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over it to enable the government to manage them and the trade and intercourse of the 
whites with them in a more efficient and proper .manner. It was not nntillast year 
that Texas consented to, and made provisions for, such an arrangement." "" "" "" 

(See House Reports of Committees No. 151, second session Thirty-second Congress.) 
By an act of Congress approved Jnne 12, 1858, the S~:cretary of the Interior was di­

rected" to accept and survey the Indian reservation designated by an act of the leg­
islature of the State of Texas approved February 4, 18G6, and to appoint an agent fur 
said reservation." (3:30, Stat. 11.) 

Indian troubles in Texas seem to have commenced anew, or were continued, in 1852, 
as will be seen by reference to a letter (1)* from the Secretary of \Var to the governor 
of Texas, explaining •responsihilities connected with them. 

On account of various conflicts renewed betwt-en the people of the State and the In­
dians in the year 1854, General Persifer 1:". Smith, then commanding the Department 
of Texas, was authorized or instructed "to call 1upon the governor for aid should the 
exigencies of the service require it in repelling Indian incursions" (~); and he was in­
structed further: ''In such event you will make requisition for such number of 
mounted men as yon may, from time to time, deem necessary, who, while in service, 
will be supplied with ammunition, forage, and subf'istence by the United States (2). 

After the issne of said authority, the ~tcretary of ·war decided that it applied only 
to aid required "in repelling Indian incursions and to punme and punish hostile In­
dians" (3 aud 4 ). 

The various organizations of volunteers on acoount of which these claims accrued . 
appear to have been employed, as it were, by classes, under certain peculiar circum­
stances, at different times; they therefore will be classified herein as factti are den~l­
oped in connection with their tst!rvices. 

CLASS I. 

In 1854 six companies of volunteers were called into service by the govern..,or of Texas, 
and, as State troops, were organized. as follows (shown by mu::.ter-rollti fild"l in tlle Ad­
jutant-General's office): 

Captain. 

A G. S. Boggess . --- -- __ - . 
B .J. G. Walker.-- .. -----­
U W.R.HenrJ------ - ·-- · 
D Willilnu Fitzhugh. ____ _ 
E C. E. Travis _ ·---·· _ --· 
F P.H.Roger<>.---------· 

Enrolled. Mustered in. 

Where. When. Whe1·e. When. 

87 Tyler·-- - - · - - ·--- · 
84 I Naco~rdochcs. ____ . 
All Goliad ______ ____ _ 
84 McKinney---·_--· 
80 I Cameron._. __ . ___ . 
78 Brenham ___ . _ . ___ . 

Oct. 16, 1?5-t .Austin _____ ,-- .. Nov. 
Oct. Ill, 1854 Austin_________ Nov. 
Oct. 20,1854 Aut>tin . . --- · -·- · Nov. 
Oct. 16,1854 1 Austin __ , _______ Nov. 
Oct. 18,1854 .Austill.. ____ ---- ~ Nov_ 
Oct. 18, 1R54 .Austin.________ Nov. 

2, 1854: 
2, 1fl54 
2, 1854 
2, 1E'54 
2, 1854 
8, 1~54 

*Figures refer to numbers on papers annexed to this statement. 

General Smith issued a call (4) on the 2!:)th July, 1854, but before any troops were 
raised under it (7) he (12) and the governor (10) were notified that it was not ap­
proved at the War Department, because the troops were called for twelve months' serv­
ice. A modification of the authority then ensued; the general reissued the call Novem­
ber 1, lt:!54, and the adjutant-general of Texas forthwith proceeded to make the mus­
ters into State service, as above noted. 

Before the troops could properly be held subject to military orders from the general 
government, however, it was necessary that they should first be formally received into 
( 17) the service of the Unit~d States. 

That they were so received, for three months' service, there can be no doubt. A 
tabular statement, prepared from muster-rolls filed in the Adjutant-General's office,. 
exhibits these facts, viz: 

~ I 
p. 
8 
0 
0 

Captain. I 
.25 I Enrolled and mustered into United 
~ cti States Service. 
Q.)Q ....... 

Mustered out of United States 
service. 

Where. When. _:;; I Where. I When. 

A G. S. Bop:gess -----·1---;.;-· San .Antonio · --··-- · _D_e_c __ -2-3,-1-8<>--4-I --F-t-.-C-h-ad_b_o_u_r_n_e-.
1 

_M_a_r_. -22- .-1-8-5!'» 
B .John G. Walker____ 84 Fort Martin Scott.__ Dec. 1, 1854 Ft. Clark .. _. __ ._ Mar. 31, 1855-
C WilliamR.Henry __ R6 San.A}ltonio.--··---· Dec.l4,1854 Ft.Clark - ·-·--· Mar. 31,1855 
D WilliamFitzhugh __ l 84 SanAntonio .. -- .. -- . Dec.24,H!54 Ft.Chadbourne. Mar. 23,1855 
E C. E. Travis _______ . 80 Fort Martin Scott___ Dec. 1, 1854 Ft. Clark _______ .Apr. 1, 1t'55 
F P. H. Rogers_ _ _ _ _ _ _ 78 I San .Antonio ___ . ____ . Dec. 22, 1854 Ft. Chadbourne. ! Mar. 21, lt~55 
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On the 23d January, 1855, thAse were believed (16) by the then Secretary of War 
"to be the only troops from the State of Texas that were entitled to pay for services 
rendered to the United States. · · 

Acting upon that belief, on the 24th of January, 1855, a claim submitted on account 
-of the services of three companies of Texas volunteers, called out by the governor in 
1852, was not then favorably considered (17), for the reason that the troops were not 
in the service of the United States. In nearly every instance where volunteer troops 
haYe been properly received into said service, the general government has "f)romptly 
.awarded reasonable compensation to them. In this matter there was no delay con­
cerning the above-mentioned six companies of Texas volunteers. Before they were 
mustered out of service Rpecial provisions were made for them in two acts of Con­
gress. (See Stat. 10, pp. 636 and 637.) These companies were furnisht;!d with subsist­
()nce (99) and all supplies (100) required by them while they were under the command 
of General Smith, and for the whole time they were properly in the United Sta,t.es 
service, by muster, they were paid by United States paymasters or by the Second Aud­
itor of the Treasury. April 2, 1855, found the six companies all mustered out, they 
having been supplied wit.h all necessaries after their last muster-in, and fnocls were 
forthcon)ing from the Unit~4 States Treasury for the payment of the individual mem­
bers of the organizations. 

For these companies the total appropriated March 3, 1855, was .......... $162, 755 38 
Between that date and the 30th June, 1~59, the total paid for their serv-

ices and expenses was......................................... .• .•.. 9:1,612 47 

On the last mentioned date war warrant No.7 carried to the surplus fund 
this balance........................................................ 69,142 91 

CLASS II. 

Papers herewith show that this department repeatedly (1, 13, and 17) advised-the 
.authorities of Texas some years ago of the general rule in relation to expenses irregu­
larly incurred, on account of certain volunteers employed for frontier service or to 
give settlers a sense of security. 

The general rule was and is, in substance, that expenditures made by States or indi­
viduals for the support of troops who have not ueen actually received into the service 
of the United States will not be reimbursed by the general government, except in ex­
traordinary cases. Any proof of such reception and service is fatally incomplete if 
Un:ljccompanied with muster-rolls duly prepared and rendered in accordance with law 
and Army Regulations. In connection with these claims of Texas, muster-rolls of the 
troops, the six companies excepted, have never been filed in the office of the Adjutant­
General of the Army. 

The rolls, so called, now submitted with the vouchers, cannot be classed reliable 
suhstitutes for such muster-rolls as are usually accepted as evidence of service. 

By reference to official correspondence, dated during the first half of the year 1855 
copies of the same being hereunto annexed, one may obtain therefrom tangible ideas 
of the condition of military affairs in the Department of Texas about the time the six 
companies were discharged. Special reference may be made to General Smith's letter, 
-dated June 2, 1855, in which he stated: 

"I have late reports from the whole of the frontier. The efforts of the troops have 
been successful in driving the Indians entirely out of that part of the State forbidden 
to them, and the roads on the frontier are traveled with security. 

"A tribe of Lipans and three bands of Mescaleros have crossed into Mexico. The 
former are established opposite Laredo and Fort Duncan, and the others in Chihuahua, 
all under the protection of the respective State governments with whom they have 
made treaties. 

"As soon as the rains shall afford water and grass, we may expect them to cross the 
Rio Grande in marauding parties. (See House Executive Document No.1, first session 
Thirty-fomth Congress.)" 

On the 20th of June, 1855, iu writing to General Smith, Governor E. M. Pease in­
closed a newspaper slip giving an account of the murder of a citizen and of thefts com­
mitted by Indians in a locality where he asserted there were uo United States troops; 
anrl he requPsted that a military company might be sent to that locality (24 ). 

From the General's letter (4) of July 29, 1854, it seems he was not inclined to credit 
newspaper reports concerning operations in his department, and t,his may account for 
the absence of an immediate reply to the foregoing. Anyhow, the governor did not 
long remain silent or inactive, as appears from his letter of July 5. 1t:>55, to .J. H. Cal­
lahan, who, by it, was authorized to raise a company of mounted men to serve three 
months (25 ). 

Again, on the 25th, he wrote (27) to certain citizens, and from the communication it 
is learned that he had received a letter" from General Smith, dated the 15th instant, 

*No co~y found. 
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in which the general said he would send a party of mounted riflemen to the neighbor­
hood where the recent depredations were committed as soon as llajor Simonson re­
turned from certain duties. In this same letter tile governor stated that if the com­
pany (Callahan's) :tlready called out "did not prove sufficient to give ~:>ecurity to set­
tlers," he would "not hesitate to call ont other volunteers." 

From the remark conceming "security to settlers," it might be inferred that the­
War Department letter ( 1~~) of August :29, 1854, was not particularly heeded hy the 
governor, or that be did not really expect the general governmeut to recognize and 
pay for the services of Callahan's company. On the 5th of September, 1e55, his excel­
lency was at San Antonio, where he hoped but failed to see General Smith in regard 
to certain Indian depredations. There he wrote (:29) to the department commander 
concerning military projects, aud couclnded by calling attention to the good which 
had resulted from the employment of Callahan's company; uy d \veiling upon the em­
barrassing position of the executive of the State, and by expressing distrnst in rela­
tion to the propriety of employing volunteers. During this same month be also wrote 
several commuuications (30-~6) to various citizens, promising he would call out more 
volunteers if General Rwith did not ,act. No evidence appears in t.he correspondence 
to show that the governor actually made any call within the last half of tile year 1855, 
for the organization or serYice of an additional force. 

General Smith was communicating < :fficially with the War Department during the 
above-mentioned times (:26-:31), and in no case has it been discovered, f10rn the tenor 
of his letters, that he rtcognized any actual necessity for the employmeut of the Cal­
laban company, or that the latter acted in concert with the govemment troops. The 
correspondence (31), however, shows conclusively that in Septemuer, lt355, it was ex­
pected certain Texans would make a hostile expedition into Mexico (37 ). 

On the night of the 1st or 2d of October, 1855, such an expedition was made, and J. 
H. Callahan was its commander. A party (38) of ~>bout one hundred and ten Texans 
(52) secretly crosl!-cd the Rio Grande, about three miles below Fort Duncan, to the 
Mexican side. Tbe Ttxans had a fight with Mexicans and Iudians, and were driven 
back into Piedras Negras, a Mexican village opposite to Fort Duncan. While occupy­
ing tbat village the 'l'txalJS set fire to it and burned it up; General Smith stated 
"most wantouly, for it was occupied by a poor class of people generally engaged in 
cultivatiou of small plats of ground," &c. (For full particulars see annexed papers,. 
dated in October, 1855.) 

The povert.y of the said people may now puzzle the public mind, in view of the fact 
that, at this time, claims amounting to $11,3~7,988.43, for pro1•erty alleged to have 
been destroyed and damages accrued f1 om Callahan's operations at Piedras Negras, are 
pending before the American and Mexican joint commission at Washington, District 
of Columbia. 

Two other organizations, in addition to the Callahan company, were connected with 
the raid into Mexico. They were those of Captains N. Benton and \V. R. Henry. The 
latter commanded one of the six companies referred to in class one. On the 14th 
March, 185il, members of his company had broken open the post-office at D'barris, and 
pillageclthe town; some were discharged for misconduct on the march; the lieuten­
ant, Jackson, was under arrest; and charges were on hand against the captain, for 
misconduct while drunk (19). On the same da.y when Captain Burbank was writing 
his report (:38) at Port Duncan, in relation to the Callahan expedition, the governor 
was writing (3!:J) at San Antonio to the lieutenant of Callahan's company. One wrote 
concerning re-enforcements: "If the Texans should persist in crossing (the Rio­
Grande) acting unuer the orders of the governor, as they appear to be domg, I have 
no force sufficient to oppose them, admitting it to be my duty to do so." The other 
wrote: "Your company will be mustered out at the expiration of three months from 
the day you were mnst.ered in.'' 

Upon referring to the rolls the following appears: 

Lost in Mexico. ~ I ~ - - a;- . .--.,.----;--~-:-. .----,--a;-. 

i Mustered in- Mustered out- ~ .n ~ I ~ ~ Commander. 

~ I 0~ ~ Jj I ~ ~ a; ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ 
.J. H. Callahan, captain . _ .. __ . es .July 20, 1855 Oct. 
N. Beutou, c11.ptain ...... _ ... _. 26 Sept. 15, 1855 Oct. 
W. R. llenry, captain ....... _.. 36 Sept. 15, 1855 Oct. 

19, 1855 24 
15, 1855 7 
15, 1855 14 

17 • ;j-: 3 
5 
1 

3 I 1 
4 2 
1 I 1 

Callahan's compauy was mm1tered out by .John D. Pitts, as State mustering officer. Benton's com­
pany was mustered into and out of sel'Vice by .J. H. Callahan. Henry 's company was mustered int() 
and out of serYice by J. II. Callahan. 



20 CLAIMS AGAINRT THE UNITED STATES. 

CLASS III. 

When t.be Texans, under Callahan, were on tb~ Mexican side of the Rio Grande, 
before firing the villa~e, tbe~T found themselves apparently under the protection of 
t.be United States artillery, at Fort' Duncan, Texas (44). Taking undue advantage (50) 
-of this circumstance, t.hey ''determined to remain" (52) where they were, and sent 
persons over t.o Texas for re-enforcements. 

Captain Callahan having discovered, however, that the commanding officer at 
Duncan would not protect the Texans in the stand they had taken, returned with his 
forces to San Antonio and the neighboring towns, where, on tile 14th of October, lt!55, 
t.hey were" raising men to retum and try their fortunes again" (52). 

On account of the events ou the Rio Grande, a great deal of excitement existed at 
San Antonio on the 17th of October, 1t!54, when the Texans were raising "a thousand 
men'' (55). On that date and the day before, General Smith there saw parties ride 
into town" well armed and mounted, and of a better class of citizens than usually join 
such expeditious" (55). 
. On t.hat same date the governor wrote to the general concerning military operations, 
and suggested that an additional mounted force should at once be called into the field. 
The governor believed t.hat if be were called upon by the general for such a force, say 
three companies from the militia of the State, "it would supersede the unauthorized 
movement of armed men that seemed to he now making in the western part of the 
State" (54). From the general's reply (57) it is inferred that he did not favorably 
consider the foregoing application. In writing to this department, the general referred 

. to the correspondence above noted, and stated: 
"I have been told by several persons, committees, &c., that if I will only call out a 

few companies of rangers, it will at once employ the most unquiet, and tranquilize the 
alarmed, and thus break up the contemplated enterprise. I refuse absolutely. I will 
exert every means I have to avoid any serious difficulty, but I will not buy the prom­
ised good conduct of such men as must necessarily enter into many of their companies 
at any price" ( 5t!). 

As has heretofore been remarked, nothing appears in the correspondence to show 
that any other volunteers than the Callahan company were actually called out during 
the latter half of the year Hlfi5; neither does anything appear to show that General 
Smith was aware of the existence of any of the governor's organizations of Texas 
troops, other t.han the Callahan company, during the said time; yet the State claims 
reimbursement for payments made to no less than five companies, in addition to the 
{)ne above mentioned. Two of the said companies are dealt with in class two, preced­
ing, and three of them appear in this class (three), as follows: 

Captain. 

William Tom ........................................... 88 
W. G. Tobin.......................... ..... ...... ..... . 28 
Levi English .............. ·.· . . . . . • . . . • . . . . . . . . . . • • . . . • . . 56 

, Employed. 

From- To-

October 18, 1855 November 15, 1855 
October 12, 1855

1 

~ovember 15, 1855 
August 6, 1855 November-, 1855 

*Day fixerl for rendezvous (58} of the tbommnd {55) men who were to invade Mexico. The project 
became a failure. 

The h~ading on Captain Tom's company roll refers to an "advisory letter from the 
adjutant-general of Texas," on the 17th of 00tober, 1855, but a copy of the letter is 
not fonnd (61) 

William Tom's company was raised, it is asserted, at Srtn Antonio. and it was sup­
ported by a vigilance committee (61) . He figured in class one as second lieuteuant'of 
Henry's company; next, in class two (l•Jsing his gun and a ;pack!horse iu Mexico), as 
a pr' vate of Callahan's company ( rl1scharged October 19, 185:> ), and now iu this class 
(three) as captain on the 1i3Gh of Oetober, 1~55, or one day before he wa'3 discharged 
from Callahan's company. The signatures on the vouchers filed fix his identity as one 
.and tbe same individual in counect,iou with the above facts. 

Captain Tom certifies that be mustered his company out of service on the 16th of 
November, 1855, under the instructions of Capt. H. E. McCulloch (60! ). William G. 
Tobin's company, h is certified on t.he vouchers, was raisecl and organizAd at S 111 An­
tonio. 'l'he captain classed. hi.-, muster-roll as a report "commencing on the 12th rlay 
of October, 1t!55, and ending on the 15th day of November, 1855." He swears that, to 
the best of his knowledge and belief, the men of his company were actively employed 
in the military service of the State during t.he above-mentioned time (61). Powers of 
attorney, several in number, filed with the vouchers, give a slight explanation of one 
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f the pnrpoRN! ftlr which this company was organized by stating it was to operate 
againRt tht~ "Texas Indians." 

Lr:ri English'.s Company.-Concerning this a certificate, under date of December 1, 
11355, states that a list tberewith contains the names of men who were under English's 
commanf1 and did active service from Angnst 6 until November 1~{, 11:i5G. To this cer­
tificate the name of Levi English appears as having been signed by a bold band. 
Pa.pers of a snuseqnent date show that the captain made his cross-mark in 1856 in­
stead of signing his name. He, or a person of the same name, still lived in July, 1861, 
and at that time made his cross-mark to an affidavit setting forth as follows: 

"That the members of said (English's) company received pay for one month's serv­
ice from the 6th day of August, 1H55, to the 5th day of September, 11:355, inclusive, 
from the treasurer of the State of Texas"; and" that said company was actively em­
ployed in the military service of said State for the time herein specified, and was sub­
sequently disbanded, there being no mustering officer, therefore no muster-ont roll." 

The captain made a power of attorney (1:39) November 11, 1855, and in so doing 
swore that his company served against the "Texas Indians." This statement is con­
firmed by powers of attorney made by his men. 

In a message to the St.ate legislature, Januar.v 3, 1r356, the governor stated that 
"these companies were voluntarily organized and supported by the citizens of the 
frontier for their defense." "" * * 

"I think it but an act of justice that they should receive from the State a reasona­
ble compensation for their services and expenses" ( 65 > 

CLASS IV. 

"The action of those parties" who were so much excited on the lith of Octr)ber, 
1 55, seems to have been delayed, as General Smith expected it would be, and the 
citizens thought': better of the matter and abandoned the expedition," once intended 
to follow t:Pe Callahan afl:'air (55). 

From the claims submitted iu this case, it does not appear that any volunteers or 
rangers were employed in Texas after November 1!), 1855, until Rome time in the early 
part of the year 185G. 

The magnitude of claims for past services of State troops now began to appear iu 
legislative acts (137): One of December 17,1855, to pay Callahan's party; one of Jan­
uary 14, 1856, for additional pay to the six companies called. out by General Smith; 
and one of a subsequent date to pay the companies of Tom, Tobin, and English; the 
total appropriated being $87,944.51. J. H. Callahan, it appears (64). settled his ac­
counts with the State during the winter months, and, on the 12th of March, 1856, he, 
with R. \V. Johnson and others, wrote to the governor that unless there shall be 
"something done immediately for the protection of citizens residing on the Upper 
Blanco, Guadalupe, and Curry't> Creek, and Perdinales, they will be compelled to give 
up their homes" (69). The reply, of March 31, 18G6, from the governor, contains the 
following: "I have not been unmindful of your exposed. conct.ition, and some time 
since ref1nested * the commanding genera.l of this department to have mounted troops 
sent to your vicinity for jts protection, but I haYe beard nothing from him in reply (69). 
This letter, in substance, then advised the citizens to have a mutual understanding 
with each other, so as to organize a company of minute-men; and, at the conclusion, 
it is stated: "1 intend you shall endeavor by this plan to give yourselves protection 
against the Indians who may come to the vicinity of your settlements." In the bociy 
of the letter the governor ~rote: "I shal~ take pleasure in u.rging the legislature to 
make a suitaule compensatiOn for the service of those who may be employed, and to 
pay reasonable expenses that be may incurred." 

Concerning these minute-men nothing further a.ppears to have been done officially 
until August 4, 1f-!56, when the governor, by special message, was "urging the legisla­
latnre to make suitable compem.ation" to three companies of minute-men, one being 
that which he advised the citizens to raise, and the others his message historically 
mentions (73). Upon referring to the lists, or so called rolls, of these companies, the 
dates of service and number of men appear as follows: 

Time of service. 

Captain. 

From- To-

J. W. Sansom····--·---·-----·----··--··--··---··---·-----· 
J. M. Davenport·····-·-----·-----·-----··--·-·-----···---· 
R. W. Black._--_-. __ --- . -- _- .. __ -.-. __ .. _ ..... _. ___ . __ .. __ . 

14 ~ t.A.pr. 16, 1856 ~ July 
~ tApr. 19, 1856 S 

37 Mat·. 13, 1856 June 
30 Jan. 1, 1856 Dec. 

*No request subsequent to October 17, 185!'i, appears in evidence. 
t Governor's certificate in Januar·y, 1861. t Mustering officer's certificate. 

16, 1256 
1, 1857 

31, 1856 
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Further evidence concerning the two companies last mentioned appears in pape 
herewith (12f), 126), from which it seems that Davenport himself diiSIJanded hit:~ com­
pany and that Black's company was voluntarily disbanded. 

CLASS V. 

In September, 1857, the commanding general of the Department of Texas advisect 
the Secretary of \Var that a" rumored expedition'' was preparing in the weiStern part 
of Texas for the invasion of Mexican territory (7S). 

The War Department at once authorized the general to prevent, by all means in his 
power, the consummation of any such design (75 ). 

On the 3d November, 1H57, the governor wrote to Messrs. G. M. Bryan and John H. 
Rea.gan, who were then Representatives iu Congress, that the force assigned to the 
Texas frontier was inadt>quate to its protection and that there was a pressing necessity 
for a regimen t·of volunteers to be there employed. To verify the correctness of his 
statement be reported: 

"Within tbe last few months the mail train from San Antonio to El Paso was at­
tacked and robbed of its auimals, and I have now before me a communication just 
received from a large number of citizens residing on the waters of the San Saba and 
Upper Colorado Rivers, stating that the Indians have recently made several incursions 
into these set.t.lements, and stolen and carried off near three hundred horses (76)." 

On the 2:3d November, 1857, the governor issued letters which authorized in substance 
the following (77): Thomas K. Carmack to enroll a cqmpany of twenty mounted men, 
in the counties of Erath and Palo Pinto; John H. Conner to enroll a company of thirty 
mounted men in the counties of Brown and t5an Saba; and Neill Robinson to raise a 
company of twenty mounted men in the settlements on the waters of the Upper Blanco 
·and Guadalupe Rivers. On the 7th Decamber, 1857, the governor authorized (80) 
Thomas C. Frost to enroll a company of twenty mounted men in the counties of Cory­
ell and Comanche. 

Each of the above-mentioned companies was to serve three months; its members to 
be paid by the State, at the same rates as were allowed to volunteer.,; during the Mex­
ican war, and its lieutenant was to be eltcted; and then follow written instructions, 
which were in substance : 

"You will keep the whole or such portion of your company as you may consider 
'necessary in active service, at such point or points upon the frontier [in the vicinity 
where raised] as will best enable them to give protection to the inhabitan.ts against 
the incursions of hostile Indians. 

''It is ·not intended that you shall keep the whole or any part of your company in 
active service any longer at one time than there shall be an actual neces8ity for them, 
but t.hat you shall from time to time keep only such number actively employed as will 
give security and confidence to the settlements you are designed to protect, so as to 
make t.he three months of service extend over as long a period of time as possible." 

The instructions also warned the lieutenants to exercise extreme caution, so as not 
to give offense to friendly tribes of Indians, esl'ecially those on the reservations, and 
coucluded by pointmg out the mode of reports and accounts to be made and transmit­
ted to the governor. 

By reference to the llsts filed as substitutes for muster-rolls, companies appear to 
have been organized as follows : 

Lieutenant. 

Thomas K. Carmack ....................................•.••....... 
John H. Conner .............................................•...... 
JohnS. Hodges ......................................•............. 
T. C. Frost ........................................................ . 

Time of service. 

]'rom- To-

20 Dec. 14, 1857 Mar. 14, 1858: 
31 Dec. 2, lt157 Mar. 2, 1858 
20 Dec. 14, 1857 1 Mar. 14, l8a8-
20 Dec. 21, 1857 [ Mar. 21, 185B 

John H. Conner wa.s elected lieutenant on the 2d December, 1857, and was commis­
sioned to that office by the governor on the l9Lh December, lt357 (82). 

JohnS. Hodges was elected lieutenant of the Neill Robinson company on the 14th 
of December, 1857, and waiS commissioned to that office by the governor on the 19th 
December, 1857 (81 ). . 

Thomas C. Frost (83) mustered his company into service on the 21st December~ 
1857. 

On t.be 9th January, 1858, the governor notified the department commander of new 
depredatim1s committed in the counties of Erath and Bosque, and requested that a 
mounted force should be sent to that frontier, or that authority should be given to the 

• 
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State to raise two or three companies of mounted volunteers to meet the existing 
emergency. (Honse Executive Document No 27, second session,Thirty-fifth Congress, 
page :t) . 

"In a reply of the 13th he was informed that troops would be sent in pursuit, and the 
commanding general stated: "I regret to sa.y I am not authorized to call for volun­
teers, and cau onl.v employ the force now at my disposal." (Ibid., 4.) 

On the same rlate, in reporting t.he above correspo]J(1ence to Headquarters of the 
Army, General Twiggs wrote: "It. is extremely mortifying to be placed in this situa· 
tion with an inadeqnate force." (Ibid., 3.) 

On the same date one John Forbes, in writing, handed to the governor reports of 
the 7th aud 8t,h Janm~rs, 1858, from Lieutenants Frost and Carmack, and three com­
mnllications stating in substance that Indians had recently entered the counties of 
Comanche, Bosque, Erath, and Palo Pinto, on another foray, and in a bold, audacious 
manner, committed depredations; two citizens and a negro killed, two persons taken 
prisoners, and about one hundred and fift,y horses driven off. Citizens pursued the 
Indians, bnt failed to overtake them. Frost believed the reserve Indians were con­
cerued in the affair. (Ibid., fi-7.) Two days later the governor wrote to Congress­
men Bryan and Reagan, inclosed copies of tbe h•tters from Frost, Carmack, anrl I<'orbes, 
anrl urged the members of Congress to press action on the govern rnent. ( Ibid., 4.) 

On tlle Wth Jan nary, 1S5H, a resolution of the State legislature was approved, 
requiring the Texas Representativ.es in Congress to" call the attention of the geneml 
government to the frequently-recurring depredations committed by the Indians," 
"' .,. " "to nrge the adoption of a more adequate system of protection against 
them," * " and "to assist those of our citizens whose property may have 
been stolen or destroyed by the Indians aforesaid to enforce their claims for indem­
nity against the general government in such manner as to them may seem most effec­
tive." ( Ibicl., S.) 

R. H. Neighbonrs, superintendent of Indian affairs for Texas~ to the Commissioner at 
Washing10n, under date of January 17,1858, recapitulated Indian depredations com­
mitted since November 1, ltl57; traced guilt to northern tribes not belonging to the 
State; referrerl to fiwmer reports concerning the starving condition of certain In­
diatJS; t1efended character of the tribes on Texas rt>serves; attributed cause of dep re­
dations to failure of the government to place certain Indians under proper control, 
and not to a failure on the part of Indian agents of Texas or of military authorities 
to perform faitbfnlly the dnty intrusted to them; condemned tho practice of the 
general government giving, as annual presents, arms and ammnnition to hostile In­
dians and conclnderl by stating that the citizens are preparing claims against the gov­
ernment for indemnity for losses sustained. (Ibid., ~l.) 

The department commander, in transmitting to Army headquarters a copy of the 
superintendent's letter, staterl: 

''As I do not unr1erstand tlle policy of the goYernment in arming those Indians who 
it is notoriously known to be those that are haras~ing- the Texas frontier, I do not com­
plain of it, but think it st,range that such thinl{s are." (Ibid., H.) 

An extract from a publication iu the Austin Iutelligencer of about January 28, 1858, 
gives the following·: 

"lhe Indians.--Captain John H. Conner, who has been appointed by Governor Pease 
to look after the recent Indian depredations, came to town yesterday and ruade a re­
port of some skirmishes, in which be bad one man wounded, and killed 'oue Inciian 
that he got,' and perhaps one more. Five citizens of Brown County have been killed 
and three hundred and twenty-six horses driven off. The frontiersmen are retreating 
to the settlements, and the greatest consternation prevails. 

" * " " * * 
"A bill passed both branches of the legislature yesterday authorizing the governor 

t.o call out one hundred rangers for the protection of the frontier, and appropriating 
$70,000 for the purpose. 

"This is a step in the right rlirection. What with the Utah war and Kansas, the 
United States fails to afford Texas the protection neeessary to save the scalps of our 
citizens. Let us therefore protect ourselves and charge the hill to Uncle Sam. Tbe 
legislature has nobly performed its duty; let the goveruor see to getting the right sort 
of men." (Ibicl., 13.) 

With the tlourishing article above quoted, and in t,be events following its issue, the 
companies of Carmack, Conner, Hodges, and Fro~t, as well as the servic~s l'tmclered by 
them, seemingly sunk into insignificance, as the evidepce found, and to be hereafter 
referred to, does not appear to historically bear any relation to these fou:r; companies 

CLASS VI. 

By an act of January 27, 1858, the le~islature a.ppropriated $70,000 to " ·p.ay Capt. 
JohnS. Ford's companies" (137), and these will preseJJtly appt·ar in the fie1d. 

By a joint resolution approved January 28, U:l5tl~ the State set forth its. grievances 

S. Ex. 74--3 
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on account of India.n forays, and from the general government sought protection for 
the citizens, and suggested that certain restrictions ~:>hould be enforced couc ~miug the 
Indians on the Texas reserves. (House Executive Document No. 27, second session, 
Thirty-fifth Congress, page 13.) 

On that same date the governor appointed and commissioned JohnS. Ford as capt~i n 
(84). He was instructed aud (lirected to take command of the troops in the service 
of the State of Texas called out to protect the frontier; he wat> authorized to organize 
"the one hundred addition :~l men," and was ordered as follows: 

"In all matters pertaining to your duties as commancler of the State troops, you 
will co-opel'ate with the officers of the Regular Army, if expedient, convenient, or 
practicable; also, with the Indian agents. The interests of the frontier reCJuire tbe 
existence of a good underst.anding between the officers of this 1::5ta.te and tho>:!e of the 
United States, as well as concert of action, when it can be had without detriment to 
the efficiency or the good of the State service. * * * I impress upon yon the ne­
cessit,y of action and energy. Follow any and ::tll trails of hostiles or suspected hos­
tile Indians you may discover, ·and, if possible, overtake and chastise them if un­
friendly." (Ib·icl., 14.) 

January 30, 1858, the department commanrler transmitted to Army Headquarters ::tn 
account of Indian depredations sout,h of Belknap, aud stated: 

"All tlw disposable force of cavalry from C-1mp Verde, Fort Mason, CampsColoraclo 
and Cooper, have been ordered to that part of Texas, leaving other portions of the 
frontier, in some measure, unprotected. This is all I can do with the present force. 
This is the first time in a number of years that the Indians have committed deprLda-
tions in that vicinity." (Ib·id., 12.) · 

On the 2d February, 1851:l, the governor wrote to the department commander, in­
closed a copy of the orders issuect. to Ford, tendered the troups to the goverumeut 
through the gene\al (Twig-gs), and reqnested that they be recoguizecl and mustered 
into t,be service of the United States. (lbid., 14.) The general replied on tl1e 7th: 

"There is no authority by which I can accept the services of the company of State 
troops without tinst reft-rri ng the mat.ter to the War Department; this refereuce will, 
however, be immediately made." . (lbid., 15.) 

On the t3t,h :tnd 9th February, 1tl51:l, Stnte commissions were issued to Lieutenants 
Burleson and Pitts, of Ford's company (85). In March, 185tl, the governor requeHted 
the President of the United States to aut,borize the employment of Texas volunteers 
to take the place of regular forces reported as ordered to be removed from the Texas 
frontier at an early da.y. (Ibid., 16. ) To this the Secretary of War replied: 

"It is believed that the regiment of mounted volunteers authorized to be raised for 
service in your State under the act of April 7, 1858, will be sufficiPnt to replace the 
Second Regiment* Gf Cavalry, orrlered from Texas to Kansas." ( Ibicl., 16.) 

The regiment of Texas volunteers authorized by the a.foremm1tioned act does not 
appear to have been raised, for the reason that Congress did not make appropriations 
to mePt. t,be expenses which vvould follow, By reference to correspondence in January 
and February, 11:160, it will be seen that the \Var Department was at tbat time aske(l 
l•y the Senate Military Committee to send in estimates of the amount necessnr.v to 
pay, arm, and snpport the regiment for one year. Tbe et;timates were transmit,ted, 
but no subseqnent action appears to have been taken. (Senate Documeut No. 21, 
p::tges 20, 21, first srF:sion Thirt.y-sixth Congress.) , 

Ou the 21st May, 1858, Lieut. A. Nelson, of Ford's Texas Rangers, reported two en­
gagements iu which his command operate(l against Comanche Indians, on the 12th in­
stant, ou the nort,b ~>;ide of the Canadian River. Elated at a success, be remarked: 

"In this, as their finlt engagement,, bot.b officers and meu under my command bore 
themselves gallantly, and as uwn sensible they bad to maintain tbe charncter of Texan 
Rangers/' (Honse Executive Document 27, second session Thirty-fifth Congress, page 
21.) 

The particulars of these engagements are detailed in Captain Ford's report of May 
22, 1b58, from which it appears that his command, together with certain Indian allies 
from the Tex::ts r eserves, passed into the Indian Territory, and there the spies of tb11 
experlition, who had flitwovered Comanche Indians "running buffalo," had gotten a 
correct notion of t.heir camp by watching the pack-animals as they transported buf­
falo-meat to it,. The captain reports: 

''I prepared to move upon the em:my without delay. When we reached the Fort 
Smith aiHl Santa Fe road, we saw Com:mches movmg a.bont in the valley beyond the 
"divide,'' apparently UJJconscious of our proximit~'· Wbeu they had goue we resutllell 
our march, confining ourselves to the low grounds and ravines, to keep out of sight .. " 

The JJext, morriing a smalt "camp of five lodges was discovered twd taken. Two 
Comaucl1es fled toward the Canadian, and were followed by the whole command at 
nearly fnll speed." In pnrming the two Indians another camp was discovered, snr­
priRed, and the enemy routed.. The head chief, Iron Jacket, appea1:ecl in gorgeous ar­
nty, but "fell riddled with balls." The second chief was also killed, and the Co-

* This regiment continued on duty in the State July, 1858. (Ibid., 23.) 
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manches were pursuec1 and pnnished until the pursuers' horses were exhausted. To 
sum up the affair from the captain's remarks: 

'' Tbe forces of the enemy in these two enga~ements amounted to upward of three 
hundred. The captured camp had seventy lodges and fireR. The other pa.rt.v nnm­
bered over one hundred. Our entire force ·was two huoclred and thirteen. The loss 
of the enemy, ascertained by actual count of those remaining on the fielcl, waR as fol­
lows: First engagement, killed 69; seconcl engagement, killed 7; total, 76. Onr loss, 
first engagement, killed 1, wounded 2; second engagement, killed 1, wounded 1; to­
tal killed 2, wounded 3. 

"The enemy bad many wounded, but it waa impossible to ascertain the number, and 
therefore no guess at it will be made. 

"We captured over three htLUdred head of horse~; most of them are in possession of 
friendly Indians; some fift.y or sixty arfl in the hands of my men. There are few, if 
any, American horses among them. We took eighteen prisoner.'!, mostly women and 
children. 

* 
"The conduct of the men under my command was characterized by oheclience, pa­

tience, and perseverance. They behaved, while under fire, in a gallant aud soldier-like 
wanner, a 1: d I thiuk that they have fnlly vindicated their right to be recognized ~Ls 
Texas Raugers of the old stamp." (Ibicl., 17.) 

General Twiggs arrived at hea<lqnarters and assumed command of the department 
on the 1st of Juue, H:l.J , and on the following day inclosetl to the Adjt1tant-General of 
the Army a copy of Ford's report of the "two engagements" in the limits of the 
Cherokee country. (Ibicl ., 17.) 

Captain JohnS. Ford wrote from the Brazos agency to the governor, nuder date of 
July 5, 18.Jt:l, referred to the arrival of two reserve Indians," who bad been seut to the 
tribes east of the Red River to learn, if possible, the parties who committed the dep­
retlations in Jack and the adjoining counties in May and June; and after detailing 
certain reports obtained, he stated: 

''The contimwd :md unaccounted-for absence of the Kickapoos and Keechis and 
other circumsta.nces point to these people as the prime movers of the uumler.~ autl 
depredatious.receut.ly committed in Jack and the contiguous counties." (Ibid., 29.) 

* * * * ·)(. 7( * 
"There can be no doubt of t.he existence of an alliance between the renegade 1Gcka­

poos and Keechis ancl the northern Comanches in making war upon Texas. 
"The two messengers also learnetl that the different bauds of Comanches bad recently 

held a council and agreed to consolidate the seYen bantls into oue, under the leadership 
of the uopbew of the Jato chief Pa-hah-yu-cah. They have made treaties with aU or 
nearly all the tribes residing Aast of Rell J~i ver, and the head-chief bas taken aU the 
women, chil1lren, and old men into the Creek country, which he deems a place of safety 
for them. Tlw other six bands are to continue the war npon the people or Texas aud 
the reserve Iudiaus. In the event of being hard pressed, they contemplate, beyond 
doubr., falling h<1ck npon their head-chief at a point inaccessible to their enemies, alld 
thus they will convert the people alfording the refuge and their countenance-their 
allies t.o all intents and pnrposes. Should I be continued iu the service, I sh011ltlnot 
hesi ta to to moYe npon the point occupied by the head-chief of the Comanches, and 
chastise him and any others interfermg or ailliug in the matter adversely. 

"These facts corroborate and substantiate others already reported to yon. an<l infli­
cate the uece!'sity of inaugurating prompt and efficient measures to give protection to 
the frontier, and to pnniHh the part.ies who have grown rich by trafficking in the spoils 
wrested from our unprot.t>cted citizens. They cannot, in justice to the frontier, he 
overlooked; you will pardon me for again insist.ing upon the necessity of having a 
large force in the :tield, ancl the good results to be anticipated from a fall or win t.<>r 
campaign against our combined enemies. This, in my hf'lief, affords the only sure 
plan to secure Texas against the inroad8 and ravages of her savage and relent 
(Ibid., 31.) 

General Twiggs, to Army Headquarters, Jnly 6, 1858, wrote: 
"The Second Ca.valry remains at or near Belknap. If they are intended to be placed 

micler the orders of the department commander for the defense of this frontier, I would 
respectfully recommenrl a change of p(}licy with the Indians. For the last ten years 
"·e have been on the defensive. I would suggest t.hat it would be better not to detach 
the regiments to the posts as formerly, but send two detachments (s~ four companies 
e:teh) into the Indian conn try, ancl follow them np winter and snmmer; thus gi virw 
the Inrlians something to do at home and taking care of their families, and they might 
J1nssibly let Texas alone. I think the experiment worth making. Gnides and traiJers, 
I am informed by the agent, can be bad froni the Indian reservations in Texas." (Ibid., 
23.) 

The forflgoing suggestion received the approval of the G3neral-in Chief on the 2trl 
July, 1858. (Ibicl., 2:3.) 

In the meau time ( ou the 9th July) the governor of Texas had inclosed to General 
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Twiggs a copy of Ford's report of July 5, 1858, and expressed his apprehensions that 
disturbances of a serious character would soon arise on the frontiers from incursions 
of Indians, "now the more exasperated because of the recent retribution visited on 
them for the many outrages perpetrated during last winter and spring." (Ibid., 27.) 

On the lOth the governor wrote to the Secretary of Wac, stating: 
"The disbandment of the little band of rangers which bas been stationed on the 

frontier will take place about the 1st of August, and, I fear, will occasion great con­
sternation and alarm to the exposed settlements unless prompt action should be taken 
by the general government in substituting an active and effective force in their stead." 
(Ibid., 26.) 

July 27, 1858, General Twiggs, to Headquarters of the Army, wrote: 
"I respectfully ask permission of the General-in-Chief to detach three or four compa­

nies, in the fall, to leave on the 15th of September, to go into the Indian country and 
follow up the Comancl'ies to the residence of their families, this command to remain 
some three or four months, or until spring. It is necessary to have the order of the 
General-in-Chief, as the command might find it necessary to follow the Indians into 
another department. 

"I intend, if the permission is given, to put the command under Major VanDorn. 
"The Second Cavalry being concentrated at Fort Belknap bas, in my opinion, re­

strained the Indians from retaliating on the settlements for the attack on them by the 
Texnns lately." (Ibid., 24) 

The Dallas Herald published a communication of July 20, 1858, from A. C. Love, Oil 
Springs, Chickasaw Nation. The editor, in commentiug upon the affairs set forth, 
stated: 

''We think .that a vigilant lookout ought to be kept np, and that the movements of 
the northern Comanches ought to be watched constantly. The Indians are exasper­
ated at their defeat by Captain Ford. They mnst be 'wiped out,' as Mr. Love ex­
presses it, or they will have terrible revenge." (Ibid., 32.) 

Further propositions were submitted by General Twiggs to Army Headquarters 
unrler date of August 4, 1858, in relation to offensive operations against the Indians. 
(Ibid., 25.) . 

August 9, 1858, the governor inclosed to the Secretary of War a copy of Captain 
Ford's report and suggestions of the 5th ultimo, and, as the executive of the State, 
demanded from the general government protection for the citizent;l on the frontiers of 
Texas. He wrote : 

"The existing state of affairs cannot be endured, and Texas will not much longer 
acquiesce in silence, little as it may be believed by those from whom she claims a 
proper consideratiQn." (Ibid., 29.) 

From the rolls filed with the vouchers it appears that Ford's command was as fol­
lows: 

Officers. 

JohnS. Ford, captain and four lieutenants ........................ . 
John Williams ..... . . .................... ......................... . 
William G. Preston ..•.......•....•................................. 
W. N. P. Marlin ........•.•............•........................... 

Time of service. 

From- To-

135 Jan. 10, 1858 Aug. 10, 1858 
'20 Ma\ 24, 1858 July 24, 1tl58 
24 Apr. 20,1858 June 30, 1858 
34 July 15, 1858 Nov. 15, 1858 

*This company the governor specially authorized (86) in May, 1858, and disbanded (89) in July, 18:58. 

Further evidence concerning the history of the foregoing organization is not found. 

CLASS VII. 

August, 1858. 

9th.-Captain William E. Prince, United States Army, to Texas department head­
quarters, wrote: 

"Wichita chiefs report that large bands of Comanches, Apaches, Cheyennes, and 
other wild tribes of Indians are collected on the Canadian, near the Antelope Hills, 
professedly for hostile purposes, and if if to make an incurHion upon the frontier of 
Texas." (Page 35 of House Executive Document No. 27, Tbirt.y-fifth Congress, second 
session.) 

9tb.-General Twiggs renewed his remarks concerning the proposed VanDorn ex­
pedition, and stated : 

"For the last ten years the troops in this department have been acting mostly on 
the defenRive. The Indians will not remain quiet, and they must be made to feel the 
power of the United States." (Ibid., 24.) 
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12th.-The governor inclosed to the Secretary of War the (Love) slip from the Dal­
las Herald in regard to the intended moveweuts of the Indians. (Ibid., :)1.) The re, 
ceipt of this was acknowledgt!d by the War Department on the 28th following. (Ibicl. 
34.) 

24th.-General Twiggs sent to Army headquarters the Prince letter of the 9th, and 
inclosed a nt>wspaper paragraph headed, ''Indian depredations j jonr rnen killecl j occur­
?'ences nem· FoTt Da1•is." 

The general stated : 
"Fort Davis h• one hunored and eighty miles from Fort Lancaster. This extreme 

rlistance is without any military post. It is between these points most of the depre­
dations on this road-are committed. The roa,d from this to El Paso is traveled almost 
daily, and large amounts of property tmnsportAd on packs aurl trains. The San Diego 
mail makes two tripA a month to San Diego from this place (San Antonio). It is im­
portant that this road be well guarded, but I have not the force to do it." (Ibicl., :~4.) 

September, 185d. 

2rl.-Lieutenant Van Camp, United States Army, reported concerning his at.tempt 
and failure to enforce order at the Comanche Agency on the Clear Fork of the Brazos." 
(Ibicl ., 38.) 

17th.-General Twiggs, to Army headquarters, wrote: 
"Indications along the frontier, as well in Texas as outside, augur a general war 

with t.he Comanches, Kickapoos, and snch other hostile tribes of Inrlians as they can 
induce to join them, and that they will operate united against the frontier of Texas. 
It is said a council of the different tribes has been held this summer, and such was the 
determination. 

"From the Hio Grande reports are numerous of rlepredations and murders in Mexico. 
The river is, of course, no barrier to their crossing on this side, as the Rio Grande c:m 
be forded at this season of the year anywhere. Major VanDorn's command is smaller 
than I could wish, but it is all that he can be safely spared from the department at 
this time. The inclosed report, from Lieutenant Van Camp, of the Second Cavalry, 
shows the feelings of the Comanches on the reserve." (Ibid ., 36.) 

18th.-Sixty-one citizens of Wise and Montague Counties joineo in a petition, repre­
senting the deplorable condition of affairs in their section of country; referring to 
Indian depredations committed npon the settlers, to their "having despaired of re­
ceiving protection from the United States," to the depopulation of Montague County, 
and to the general distress prevailing about their neighborhoods. The citizens con­
cluded by announcing their determination to organize a comp~tny for "self-protec­
tion"; but they desired the governor's sanction and co-operat.ion in the matter. (Ibid., 
61.) The petition was inclosed to the governor in a letter from H. Bishop, indorsed 
by H. H. Gaines, giving additional particulars. (Ibid., 62.) 

26th.-VanDorn's command was at a camp on Otter Creek, Cherokee Nation, and 
irum there the major reported as to· his intentions. (Ibicl., 48.) 

October, 185S. 

1st.-The command bad an engagement with the Comanche Indians. Lieutenant 
Van Camp and three men were killed, and VanDorn, Captain Ross, and eight soldiers 
wounded; forty-fonr Indians were killed and some women and children taken pris­
oners. I bid., 49-50.) 

4th.-One hundred citizens of Cook, Montague, and Wise Counties joined in a pe­
tition to the governor, setting forth that murders 3·nd t.hefts had been committed in 
their vicinities by Indians, and asked for a company of a hundred men to range in 
these counties. (Ibicl., 64.) This petition was inclosed to the governor by his friend 
E. C. Palmer, who stated: 
. "There is no humbug about it. It is all the men can do to protect their stock and 
their families; they cannot go out after the Indians; they are all looking to you for 
a little help immediately, and you will gain a great credit by assisting. It is their 
wish that you send Captain Ford, if be is conveuient) with orders to enlist a company 
in these or the adjoining counties. This conn try is settling np very fast; i1 large em­
igration is expected from Missouri, anu the slavelwlders from Kansas." (Ibid., 66.) 

4th.-The petition of September lS, 1858, having reached the governor, he wrote 
to Col. James Bonrlanu, of Cook County, expressing pleasure at au article iu tue 
Dallas Herald, showing t.hat the colonel had taken the matter of protection in hand. 
and, wit.h a number of citizens," had determined to follow up and punish the Indian 
enemy." (Ibid., 42.) 

The governor inclosed to the colonel a commission (91) as captain, and authorizNl 
bhu to raise a company of seventy-nine men, rank and tile, and delegated to him 
powers of an extraordinary character; for which see.,pages 41 to 43 of House Execu-



38 CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 

tive Document No. 27. of the Thirty-fifth Congress, second session, or the papers here­
unto a.nnexed, numuered 90 and 91. 

5th.-Van Dorn, having sufficiently recovered from his wounds, wrote a detailed re-
port of his engagement of the first instant. (Ibid., 51.) . 

7th.-General Twiggs appreheuded that a'' serious blunder" had been made some­
whPre. as be bad learned that a treaty was made with the Comanches, Wichitas, &c., 
while he was fitting out an vxpedition against them. (Ibid., 40.) 

14th.-Ben. Hubert offered observations of depopulated count,ies. (Ibill., 66.) 
ltlth.-General Twiggs forwarded to Army headquarters Van Doru's report and 

commented thereon. (Ib'id .. 48.) 
lHth.-James Bourland accepted the commission from the governor and reported 

Indian depredations, asserting that the Comanches were fearfully in earnest concern­
ing their warfare a.gainst Texas. (Ibid., 55.) 

VanDorn's command rested at camp on Otter Cret'k, Cherokee Nation. (Ibid., 58.) 
22d.-General Twiggs, to Army headquarters, wrote: 
"I con:,;ider there is now a crisis in the Indian affairs of this frontier, and if I bad 

the means to prosecute a vigorous campaign against them, much good would be the 
result. The Comanche Imlians should be thoroughly chastised, or there will be no 
peace or security to Texas." (Ibi(l., 5:3.) 

25th.-Reports made to the governor: Joshua Jackson, wife, daughter, and a child 
murdered, and two girls of the same family carried off by IndianA. (Ibirl., 67 and 6tl.) 
Fift.y-:five citizens of Lampasas. County, citing the above, petitioned the governor to 
grant them a company. (Ibid., 70.) 

27th.-The governor wrote to the Secretary of War, hoping tbe general government 
would provide to meet the expenses of BonrL1nd's corbpauy (Ibid., 54), and to Gl!neral 
Twiggs concerning the Jackson murders, and, aid required. (Ibid., 57.) 

28tb.-A district court adjournerl, "anu the court and juries and many citizens" 
started in pursuit of Indians. ( L bid., 69.) 

:~Oth.-Bnsiness snpended; families" forted "; a young lady found butchered; In­
dians pursued, one killed; some clothing of Jackson family recovered; alarm and con­
fu:,;ion prevailing. (Ibid., 70.) 
~Oth.-General Twiggs transmitted to Army headquarters the governor's request of 

27th, aud stated: ".No troops available" to meet the re<)_uest except one company of 
cavalry supposed to !Je alreatly '·in pursuit of those Indians." (Ibid., 56.) 

Novernbe1·, 1858. 

!st.-General Twiggs reported VanDorn's position; bad sent re-enforcements; ac­
tion and energetic operations necessary; frontier stripped of nearly all the mounted 
force; a very hazardous move; understood Comanches crossed into Mexico; shall 
pursuit follow into Mexico' In absence of instructions will order them pursued across 
the Rio Grande. (Ibid., 57.) 

2d.-Goveruor authorized JohnS. Ford to raise a company of rangers, to rendezvous 
at Austin. (Ibid., 71.) 

Governor, to Secretary of War, inclosed evidence of depredations and" letters of 
Capt. John Williams and Lieutenant Cowan, officers of a company of volunteers or­
ganized for the immediate protection of their homes." He stated: 

"I bave, therefore, under the exist.ing emergency, authorized, in addition to the orrler 
issued to Captain Bourland, Capt. John S. Ford to raise a company of eighty-nine 
men, with instructions to repair without delay to the point of danger and ~ive such 
protection to the inhabitants as he may be able therewith. In conclusion, I can but 
express the hope that the government will recognize these companies and cause an 
appropriation for their pay and subsistence to IJe made by Congress at its present se:,;­
sion ; and, if not, that such other effective measures way be adopted at an early day 
as will render their presence no longer necessar.v in the field." (Ibid., 60.) 

9tb.-General-in-Chief, to Twiggs, regrets additional troops cannot be sent to Texas; 
purposes to send recruits. (Ibicl., 54.) 

lOth.-.Ford and his lieutenants commissioned (94 ). 
15th.-VanDorn expedition heard from. (Ibid., 72.) 
18th.-General Twiggs wrote : 
"The experiment of following the Comanches into their country so far is attended 

with good results. None have been on the fron·ier since Major VanDorn went into 
that country, with one exception, and that was the party that murdered the family in 
Brown County." (Ibid., 73.) 

19.-General-in-Chief, to General Twiggs, sanctioned the pursuit, if necessary, of 
hostile Indians into "another department" by troops of the Department of 'l'exas. 
(Ibicl., 59.) 

26th.-General Twiggs expressed regret at not being able to obtain re-enforcements; 
Vai! Dorn's horses~ much red need, to he recruited; Comanches out of reach; will prob­
ably remain so until the cavalry leaves their country, :~ when the same scenes will be 
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enacterl over again that have been on the Texas frontier for the last ten years. TIJe 
inhauitants of Texas canuot ue protected uy the present force in the department." 
(Ibid., 73) 

26th to 28th.-Van Dorn's command to be in the saddle on the 1st proximo (Ibid., 73) 
to "hunt" Indians. (I bill., 7 4.) 

December, 1858. 

Sth.-The Comanches will in all probability not tronhle the frontier of Texas this 
winter. Permission given to VanDorn to winter at Fort Belkuap with a portion of 
hiR command. (Ibid., 76. ) 

9th to 12th.-Scoutiug parties sent ont from Van Dorn's command; no Indian signs. 
(Page :356, Senate D,Jcument No.2, T hirty-sixth Congress, first session.) 

13th.-General Twiggs reviewed his past reports and snbmitted plans for fnture 
operations. Purposed to next spring bteak up all the posts except tl.Jose on El Paso 
mail-route, and to conceut.rate the infautry at some poiut near the Indian countr.v. 
Expressed his v1ews in relation to the Comanche Indians. (P<tge 76, House Executive 
Document No. 27, Thirty-fifth Congress, ~:>econd session.) 

Janua1'y, 1859. 

13th.-General TwiggR's plans submitted to General Scott, in substance; to break up 
posts at Fort Brown, Ringgold Barracks, and ·Fort Mcintosh; increase garrison at 
Fort Duncan; part of infantry to protect San Antonio and El Paso mail-route; rest 
to ue concentrated at Camp Cooper, on Comanche Reservation ; suggested that, in 
order to go\·ern Comanches near Cbibuahna, in Mexico, where "there is now no gov­
ernment," a portion of her territory should be taken possession of by the United States. 
(Page 5, House Execntive Docnment No. 52, first, ses;;ion Tllirty-sixth Congress). 

13th.-Gcneral Scott forwarded the plans above mentioned for ex·~utive considera­
tion, and approved the suggestion in relation to the ComancheH. (Ibid., 6.) 

19th.-The Secretary of Wa< instrncted General Twiggs "that it is inexperlient to 
allow the troops in pursuit of the Indians to pass beyond the borders of the 'United 
States." (Page 3.·15, Senate Document No.2, Thirty-sixth Congress, first session.) 

:)Oth.-Fort Belknap to be broken up by comllland of General Twiggs. (lbicl, 355.) 
31st.-The latter suggested the enforcement of an order "1leclaring the Comanches 

hostile whenever found off the limits of their reservations without proper permission! 
and requiring the troops to puuish them accordiugly." (Ibid, 355.) 

Febrnm·y, 1859. 

5th.-General Twiggs wrote : 
"It is known that a portion of the Indians that were att:wked by Major VanDorn, 

in October last, crossed the Rio Grande into Mexico. TIJey are located on a lake eighty 
miles sontheRst of Chihuahua. The number of Comanche warriors around that lake 
is estimated from seven to eight hundred. It appears t,bere is a taC'it understanfling 
het~'een them and the Mexicans not to molest each other except in extreme cases. 
They will, no doubt, commence their operations 011 the Texas frontier as soon as the 
grass will subsist their animals. These Indians ought to be broken up and be made 
to feel that the only security for them is in their gonrl_ behavior. (Ibid., 358.) 

5th.-Captain Lee reported five government mules stolen from Fort Quitman last 
night by Innians, who tlen across t,he Rio Grande. (Ibid., 360.) 

5th.-Ringgo1d Barracks and Forts Mcintosh, Mason, and McKavett to be aban­
doned by order of General Twiggs. (Ibid., 259.) 

6th.-Fifty-eigbt horses stolen from Dr. Isabel, in the Frio Calion by Innians, whom 
a detachment of regulars pnrsued on the 9th and overtook on the I::~th. Three of the 
six thieves were killed. Of the horses, forty-nine were retaken and nine were killed. 
(Ibid., 361.) 

16th.-Indians on the other side of Rio Grande turning their attention to the El Paso 
road. (Ibid., 360.) 

211:lt.-Tbe chief justice of Mason County coruplainell of Intlian visits made to his 
county after Fort Masou was broken up, and asked the govemor for troops. (Page 9, 
Honse Executive Document No. 52, Thirty-sixth Congress, first ~:>es -: ion.) 

22d.-An engagement reported between regulars and Indians on the San Diego mail­
route about seventy-five miles nortl.Jwest of El Paso. "This is the third time, within 
the past thirty days, that Indians who are in communication wit,h Mexico have made 
their appearance at different points along this route." (Page 361, Senate Document 
No.2, Thirty-sixth CongreAs, first session.) 

24th.-Comanches near Fort Arbuckle; two killed by detachment of regulars. (Ibid., 
381.) • • . 
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24th.-Jobn S. Ford, at Brazos Agency, was preparing to pay off Lieutenant Marlin's 
command; heard of a party of Iudiaus p:-tssiug up country with about one lmndretl 
and twenty horses stolen from Caddo Indians; at once commenced to organize ::~n ex­
pedition; enlisted Lieutenant Marlin ·and some of hi~:~ men for the ti'ip; American 
horses also stolen. (Page 10, House Executive Document No. 52, Thirty-sixth Con­
gress, first session.) 

27th, ~8th.-Comanches near Fort Arbuckle committ.ing depredations. (Pages 381, 
384, 3135, Senate Document No.2, Thirty-sixth Congre~:~s, firs~ session.) 

28th.-More Comanches killed by regnlars near Fort Arbuclde. (Ibid., :385.) 

March, 1859. 

4tb.-James Bourland reported concerning the operations of his command. (Page 
10, Honse Executive Document No. 52, Thirty-sixth CongresH, first session.) 

9th.-Citizens of Brownsville petitioned the Secretary of \Var to gi"e them security 
of life and property uy ordering the reoccupation of Fort Brown aud Ringgold Bar­
racks by United States troops. (Ibicl., 12.) 

15th.-The governor de~ired the Secretary of War to adopt measures for the pay­
ment of the companies of Ford aLd Bourland, they to be kept in the field. (Ibid., tl.) 

18th, 19th.-Governor communicated witll General Twiggs, who replied that the set­
tlement of ''the existing diffictllties between the citizens of Texas and tue rel'erve 
Indians, who are known to be.frientlly, is a purely civil matter, with which I have 
nothing to do further than to aid the proper officers in carrying out the laws. (Pages 
362, :363, Senate Document No. 2, Thirt~~-sixth Cl>ngress, first session.) 

19th.-Goveruor communicated with Bourlancl abont rolls aUtl recruits. (103.) 
21st.-l\fessrs. Hemphill aucl War(l, to the Secretary of War, believed tllere were 

''mischief and calamities likely to follow the removal of the troops from Fort Browu, 
Ringgold Barracks, and .Fort ~fclutosh.'' (Page 11, House Executi\'e Document No. 
52, Thirty-sixth Congress, first session.) 

24t.h.-R. S. Neighunurs appreheudeu that a party of Texfms contemplated an attack 
on the Indians at the Brazos Agency. (Page 363, Senate Document No.2, Thirty-sixth 
Congress. first session.) 

28th.-General Twiggs explained about posts broken up, anu stated.: 
"There is not nor ever has been any danger of the Mexicans crossing on our side of 

the river to plunder or disturb the inhabitants, and the outcry on that river (the Rio 
Grande) for troops is solely to have an expencliture of the public money. At every 
post that bas been abandoned in Texas an outcry has been r.aised, and plenty of Indian 
signs seen; the citizen·s in the vicinity of those posts are very uu willing to lose the op­
portunity of handling a portion of the money necessarily expended by the government 
and t,roops." (Ibid., 362.) 

2i3th.-Reserve war over for the present;" men emhoclied was about one hundred, 
from Jack, Palo Pinto, and Wise Counties." (Ibid., :3()3.) 

Ap1·il, 1859. 

5th.-The Secretary of War aut.borizecl General Twiggs to enforce hostilities against 
all Indians found off their reserve within his departlllent. (Ibid., 357.) 

May, 1859. 

1:~th.-Regular troops operated successfully-against Indians. (Ibid., ::l65-368.) 
21st.- Citizens again in arms against the Brazos Reserve Inclians; one of tlle latter 

hanged; Ex-Indian Agent John R. Baylor commando·(l t.he citizens: h~11l dotenninecl to 
destroy the Indians on this and the upper reserve if it co::,t 1 he life of every wan in 
his command"; citizenA withdrew to Marlin's ranch; "it was believed that Baylor 
would join with Nelson," and attack the Comanche Reserve. 

56th.-Maj. George H. Thomas, at Camp Cooper, Texas, wrote: 
''I was told this morning, by a g•·ntleman wllo resides near Anstin, that there was 

the greatest excitement throughout the lower countiet~ aud that tile people were arm­
ing with the avowed intention of attacl<in .~ and breaking up both reservl'S. All civil 
authority seems to be at an end. The May term of the district court of Young County 
cannot be held, the jndges ancl other officers of the cour~ feari!Jg to travel through the 
excited district." (Ibid., 373 ) 

27th.-" I received additional informntiou this morning- that ov('lr two hnndred men 
were on the road between t.bis and Bt>lknap, anfl that t.hey were coucentrating to at­
tack this reserve" (the Couwucl.Je). (Ibid .. 374.) 

:Hst .. -Reportecl that two hundred ConHtnchPt~ cnme over from .Mexico antl were seen 
near Comanche Spring, on the Et P<tsu road. (Ibid., 375.) 
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June, 1859. 

·2d.-General Twiggs, to the governor, referring to the deplorable state of affairs at 
the Indian reservatious, wrote : 

"Nearly all of the United States troops under my command, as yon are well aware, 
are now engaged in act,ive operations in t 11e field against hostile Indian trilJes, so that 
were it their province, I have hut a small number left to keep the citizens of Texas 
from exterminating Indians who are known to be friendly, and who have furnished 
from their tribes about a hunured warriors to accompany the troops as guitles in the 
field." (ibid., 374.) 

oth.-The governor appointed a board of five peace commissioners to represent the 
State ot Texas and peaceably and lawfully adjust the difficult.ies at the Brazos Agency. 
He autborize«l the lJoar•l, "in tbe last resort, to call into the military service of t,he 
State one hundred men, for the purpose of prest>rving the peace and preventing violn.­
tions of tbe law between the parti.-s." (105, 106). 

9th.-Geneml Twiggs instrncten to fumish an escort for the removal of Indians 
from the Texas reservatious, to the country leasecl from the Choctaws and Chickasaws. 
(Page ~64, Senate Document No.2, Thi_rty-sixth Collgress, first session.) 

llth.-The department commander to General Scott reported concerning the Co­
manches seen near Comanche Spring, on t-he El Paso road, auu stated: 

"So long as tllese Indians know that the Rio Grande is the limit beyond which the 
United States troops cauuot pnrsue them will the State be infested by these marauders 
from foreign territory." (Ibid., 375.) 

22d.-General Twiggs acknowledged receipt of order of 9th instant, and wrote: 
"A compliance wit b. the instructions will necessarily leave a portion of the frontier 

without adeqnate protection." (Ibid., 375.) 
25th.-Genera.l Twiggs, to the Adjutant-General, wrote: 
''I am at a loss to , kuow what kiud of a guard to send with the reserve Indians, 

whether cavalry or infantry. If it is to protect them from Texans, a small det.ach­
ment is sufficient, as the Texans will not follow the Indians out of the limit.s of the 
State; if from the IndiaPs on tlle prairie, less than four companies will not be l'lufJi­
cient. I uo uot wish to lJreak up any of the posts on the El Paso road, as the lndia.ns 
in Mexico, across the Rio Graufle, ought to he kept in check, if possible. I do not 
think there are twenty hostile Comanches in Texas, but they ca,u come in a few hours 
from the 'other side of the Rio Granue." (Ibid., 376.) 

July, -1850. 
6th.-Genem1 Twiggs wrote: 
"I do !lot believ~ tbere is at present in this State any consiclerahle nnmher of Co­

manche Imlians; there may be some small parties for horse-stealing, &c." (Ibid., 376.) 
8th.-Inquiry, COJJCeming disposition to be made of six Comanche prit:!uners, an­

swered Au~ust 5, 1859. (Ibid., :377.) 
13th.-Distnr1Janct>s at Brownsville, in executing a warrant, will presently be espe­

cially refPrred to under a lleadiug, ''Jnan N. Cortiuas." 
14th.-The War Department decided to protect the reserve Indians by force, if nec­

essary. (107.) 
16th.-Gcneral Twiggs notified of the decision of the 14th (page 36;), Senate Docu­

ment No. 2. tirst ses:;iou Tllirty-sixth Coug-mss), and instrncteu to send two companies 
with the reserve Inuians, (Ibicl.,375.) (108.) 

September, 1859. 

1st.-Indians reported to be near Laredo, "exhibiting no fear whatever." Page 30, 
Rouse Executive Document No. 52, secoml session Thirt.y-sixth Congress.) 

8th to 9th.-Indians appeared on the Pendencia, thirty-tive miles southwest of Eagle 
Pass, where they destro~·e<l everything in and about two houses, occupied by three 
families; killed a Mr. Warman; ravished two daughters, one of six and the other of 
ten years, in presence of their mother (Mrs. Hnnter); beat out the brains of the three 
females; crushed an infan1, to fleath, and, taking its mother with them, crossed the 
Rio Grande. The reporter (William Stone) concluded by stating: 

"While there were troops at Fort Dnncan there was never an instance of women 
and children being massacred, at least not in this vicinity-Eagle Pass." (Ibid., 
17-28.) 

lOth to 15th.-Two companies, one of twenty-two, the other of eighteen citizens, 
sent in punmit of the Indians. (Ibid., 29.) 

16th.-General Twiggs reporterl to Army headquarters the murders above referred 
to. (Ibid ., 16.) 

17th -Tllree parties of Inflia.ns reported near Laredo, committing depredations, and 
volunteer~:; orga.niziug to drive them out of the country. 
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22d.-Da11as Heral<l. William Stone, captain of volunteers, in pursuit of Indians. 
'•The merchaJlts at Eagle Pass threw op~>u their stores, and generally told the volun­
teers to help themselves to t:~upplies." (Ibid., 19.) 

22d.-Wi1liam Stone, reporter of the outrages on the 8th and 19th instants," is a 
man whose' staterp.ents may be relied ou." 

"Tbis, in my opinion, i'> only the commencement of outrages by Indians from the 
Mexican side of the Rio Grande."-General Twiggs. (Ibid., 16.) 

October, 1859. 

lst .. -.Jobn L. Haynes dwelt upon the Parly history of operations on the Rio Grande, 
and urgerl the reoccnpation of certain military posts. (Ibid., 24.) 

6th.-Hon . .John Hemphill, to the President, submitted the foregoing of the 1st in-
st.ant, wit-h comments. (Ib·id., 23.) , 

7th.-General Twig-gs reported concerning small parties of marauding Indians, sup­
_posed to be from across the Rio Grande. (Ibid, 31.) 

Here the chain of evidence concerning cnrrent events connected with Indian opera­
tions appears broker!, leaving a blank covering several months' time. 

Referring to the lists or rolls of troops pertaining to this class, the following appears: 

Officers. 

Captain James Bourland ................ .. 
First Lieutenant E. C. Perry ..... . ....... . 
Secoud Lieuteuant A. Boutwell ........ .. 
Thirtl Lieutenant G. H. Fitzhugh ...... . .. 
Enlisted men ............................. . 
Recruits ................................. . 

Recruits ................................. . 

Recruit .................................. . 

Recruit .................................. . 
Recruits ................................. . 
Recrnits ................................. . 
Recruit<~ ............. .................. .. 
Captain Jobn S. Ford . ................... . 
I.ieutenant J. R. Grbbons ............... . 
Lieutenant Aaron Burleson ............. . 
Enlisted men .. ...... ......... ............ . 

LieutenantW. N. P. Marlin ..... ···---·---
Captain J. H. Brown (commissioner) . .... . 
l<'irst Lieutenant J. W. Newlin• . ....... .. 
Second Lieutenant J. Y. Carmack* ....... . 
Surgeon W. E. Oakes· . .. . . ......... .. 
First Lieutenant \ ·V. H. Whitet ......... .. 
Second Lieutunant J.D. Bellt ........... .. 
Snrgeon H. Bradfordt ...... . ........... .. 
Enlisted men ... ... .. ..................... . 
l{ecruits ................................. . 

Recruits .... , ............................ . 

Recruits: ................................ . 

*First detachment. 

No. [ 

1 
1 
1 
1 

63 

2 

11 

1 

9 
4 
2 
1 
1 
1 

87 

22 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 

55 

14 

Enrolled. 

When. 

Oct. 4, 18:18 
Out. 213, 1858 
Oct. 28, lt<5tl 
Oct. 2~, 1858 
Oct. 28, 185ci 

Nov. 10, Ul58 

Nov. 13, 1858 

Nov. 29, 1858 

Dec. 22, 1858 

Jan. 28, 1859 
.Feb. 7, 1859 
Feb. 13, 1859 
Nov. 10, 1858 
Nov. 10, 1858 
Nov. 10, 1858 

Nov. 10, 1858 

Feb. 24, 1859 
J nne 2j, 1859 

July 4, 1859 

July 7, 1859 

July 18, 1859 

No. 

1 
l 
1 
1 
1 

r ~ 
{ 5~ 

l 
1 
1 
2 

31 

1 
1 
1 

r 8~ 
22 

1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 

{ 1~ 
{ 1~ 
)36 
{ 1 

Discharged. 

When. 

Unknown .. .. 
Unkuown . ... . 
Jan. 28, Lf:l9 
Unknown. 
Nov. 29, 1858 
Dec. 22, 1858 
Dec. 25, 1t:58 

Jan. 28, 1859 

Feb. 28, 1859 

Mar. 28, 1859 
April 6, 1859 
April :.!13, 1858 

May 10, 18:i9 
May 10, 1859 
May 10, 1P59 
May 10. 1859 
Feb. 10, 1859 
April 4, 1t:59 
Sept. 12, 1859 
Sept. l, 1839 
Sept. 1, 1R59 
Sept. I, 1859 
Sept. 12, I tc59 
Sept. 4, 1859 
Sept. 4, 1859 

Au:r. 21, 1859 
Aug. 23, 1859 
Aug. 25, 1859 
Sept. 1, 1859 
Se]Jt. 4, 18!':>9 
Sept. 12, 11?59 

t Second detachment. 

Died. 

When. 

Jan. 11, 1859 

Feb. 27, 1859 

Mar. 27, 1859 

Aug. 15, 1859 

Bourland's company was the one authorized by the letters of October 4, 1858, and 
March 19, 18G9, from the governor, who acknowledged receipt of its rolls on the last­
mentioned date. Concerning thfl services of this company there is nothing found 
further than what appears in Bourland's cornmunica.tions of October ltl, 11:l5H, and 
March 4, 1tl59. Its existence, otherwise than on paper, was apparently unknown to 
the United States military authorities in Texas. 

Ford's company was tL.e one ant.!Jorized by the letter of November 2, 1858, from the 
governor, who commit;sioned its officers on the lOth of the same mouth. Not.hing fur­
ther appears conceming the services of this company than is found in Ford's report of 
February 24, 1859. 

Brown's company was one which the peace commissioners on the part of the State 
were authorized to call out in the last resort to settle the difficulties at or near the 
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Brazos .Age::-cy. One of tLe commissioners, John Henry Brown, became captain of the 
company, and concerning its service nothing further appears. 

CLASS VIII. 

The history of the troops employed under this classification renders it necessary to 
turn to certain records of Congress and trace events therein noted. For convenient 
reference, let marks appear to represent the books selecterl, as follows: 

.A.-Senate Document No. 21, tirst session Thirty-sixth Congress, vol. V. 
B.-Report of Committees (H. R.) No. 535, first session Thirty-sixth Congress, vol. 4. 
C.-Honse Execut.ive Document No. 52, first session Tbirty·sixth Congress, vol. 8. 
D.-House Execntive Document No. 81, firsL session Thirty-sixth Congress, vol. 12. 
E.-Senate Docurneut No.2, tirst session Thirty-sixth C011gress, vol. 2. 
Let numbers hereinafter specified be applied to the pa~res bearing upon the history 

of this class in counection with Jnau Nepomnceno Cortinas. This extraorclinary char­
acter was a soldier under General .Arista at the time General Tavlol''s army arrived on 
the Rio Grande (D, 2); was at one time lieutenant unrlt>r Garcia, bnt being detectecl 
selling horses giveu bim for a reml)uuL, was dit>missed (D. :3); murdered his employer, 
Mr. ~urnerville, in 1847; committerl. robberies in' Texas iu 1849 (C. 125); had an indict­
ment pending against him in 11:350 iu the Cameron Count.y conrt of Texas (C, 123); con­
tinued to commit depredations in TPxag in 18~8; was then an ontlaw, and for bis 
numerous robberies was again indicted in the Cameron Couuty court iu the spring of 
1~59 (.A, 13); the indictments were hushed or looked over; be visited Brownsville two 
or thre~ times a mouth, walked publicly in the streets, and went where he pleaserl (A, 
12); w ben he carne to town be was always well armed or bad some of his friends 
around him, making it dangerous to interfere with him (D, 2; C, 21). 

In the spring of 1~59 a nutnber of Mexicans of reruted bad char<Luter, wb.o infested 
Cflrtaiu sections of conntry borcleriug on the Nneces River, were driven away by a vig­
ilance committee. These Mexicans banded together with Cortinas, aud commit.ted 
depredations thereafter (.A, 15). He had a ranch, called San Jose, a few miles from 
town, and whenever there was any danger of arrest, be woulu retire to that place and 
keep himself surrouuded uy a band of outlaws as desperate as himself (D, 2). 

July, 11:!59. 

18th.-Robert Shears, city marshal of Brownsville, was in tbe act of executing a war­
rant for the arrest of a <ligorderly Mexicau, when Cortinas appeared, shot the marshal, 
took the Mexican, set him np on behinu his horge, aurl rode off nnpursned. To the 
maYshal, Cortinas subsequently sent messages that he was in command of a company 
of soldiers at Matamoras, aud he ofl:'ered muuey to reconcile and compromise the shoot­
ing affair (A, 17). 

September, 1859. 

28tb.-Cortinas and his band entererl Brownsville early in the morning, murdered 
fh·e eitizeus, inclucling the jailer, and releasecl ten or twel\'e murderer:'! oe robbers from 
t be jail (C, 31). ''The immediate object of the gang seemefl to he to execute summary 
vengeance on a-ll toward wholll either Cortinas or any of his gang hart private grudge. 
Tue part.y remainell ~:~everal bOlll'H in the plttce, charging throngh the streets in a most 
savage manner, calling for ma.uy per.-;nns whom they lliu not tincl, t.he gang shouting, 
'Death to tlle .Americans! 1'il'a la l'epublioa Mexicaua,' and threatening to hoist the Mexi­
can flag on the staff of onr deserted garrison" (C, 20). 

Cortinas made his beadqnarters jn the desertPd garrison of Fort Brown, and sent 
mounted wen hunting up their enemies. He himself ro!le np tn a store an<l called for 
spirits of turpentine. .At this time General Caravajal made his appearance, sent for 
Cortinas, h:vl a talk with him, ancl, with the assistance of Don Manuel Tresiiio, in­
duced the villain to leave town (D, 4). 

The gang rendezvonsed at the ranch of Cortinas's mother, lncaterl. a few miles above 
Brownsville (D, 4). From that place Cortina<> issnerl a proclamation on the 30th .-,f 
September, 1859. (For a copj', see C, 70.) General Twiggs was written to for assist­
ance, and was informed of the prevailing opinion at Brownwille, "That if there ba,d 
been government troops in the garrison, such a number of men"-between fifty and a 
bundred-''could not have been induced to have entered the town" (E, 397). 

OctobeT, 1859. 

2d.-Eleven citizens of Brownsville recounted the Cortinas affair of September 28, 
and wrot.e: 

So long as the general government kept a show of its authority by the occupation 
of its frontier posts along the river, we had no complaint for waut of puulic order or 
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the necessary municipal protection. Now it is different; we have seen that a single 
Mexican outlaw can raise a crowfl in our midst of several hnnflred desperate, lawless, 
and licentious beings. and offend with impnnity the most sacred laws of security, peace, 
pnblic order, and civilization itself~ C, 20). 

Atlt.-Tbese statements were reported to the President (C, ~~:3, 34, 35). 
10th.-A guard of twenty-two paid men were kept at Brownsville ( C, 40). 
13th.-The governor gave W. G. Tobin autborit.y to raise a company of" one hunclrt>d 

men, for t.he purpose of assisting the civil authorities in the county of Cameron in 
qnellingt.helawlessand hloodydistnrbancesat the city of Brownsville." (See annexed 
paper, 109.) Dnring this time Cortinas continued to rob settlers to supply the wants 
of his command, &c. (A, 18). Upon visiting Mexico he was treated well by its people 
(A, 15). 

23cl .-He fortified his position and stopped travel (C, 47). 
24tb.-A force composed of Americans and Mexicans attacked him and was defeated, 

losing two pieces of artillery (C, 44 and 68). 
23th.-The War Depart.ment directed General Twiggs to "issue the necessary in­

stru,..tions for the immediate reoccupation of Fort Brown by •two companies of artil­
lel y" (C. :36). 
~5tlL-New Orleans citizens petitionecl the President "for immediate government 

interpo~ition" (C, 36). 
26tb.-Cortina.s threatened to batter down the houses at Brownsville if certain ene­

mies were not delivered into his hands (C, 69). 

Not·ernber, 1859. 

1st.--Two companies of regulars at Fort Clark notified to be in readiness to reoc-
cupy :E'ort Brown (C, 41). 

1st.-" The enemy ctaily increasing'' (C, 49). 
5th.-Mails stopped and inspected (0, 52). 
7th.-Tobin's company en ronte (C, 52). 
7th.-Exaggerated st,atemeut.s (U, 49). 
9th.-War Department, by telegraph, ordered a company from Baton Rouge to Fort 

Brown (C, 54). 
lltb.-Geueral Twiggs magnified the distresses (C, 56). 
12th.-Regulars to move in force; Major Heintzelman to command (C, 54). 
12rh.-Tbe grand jnry of Cameron County reported" on the disturbances" (C, 92). 
12t,h.-Brownsville is safe; one hundred and twenty Texas Raugers arrived (C, 61). 
14t,h.-General Twiggs wrote: 
"Carbajal has 500 men opposite the town of Rio Grande City, and is always ready 

to join auy sicle" (C, 56). 
17tb.-Unitel'l States troops under Captain Ricketts arrived (C, 62). 
2l~;t.-General Twiggs wrote : 
" The reports conceruiug Cortinas prove to be mostly false. The order sending the 

troops to Brownville bas been countermanded" (A, 3). 
21st.-Appraiser-General W. P. Reyburn reported the actual condition of affairs as 

they appeared to an ''eye-witness" (C, 64). 
22d.-The prompt action of the War Department in dispatching troops reflected 

honor upon the government. (Hatch, C, G4.) 
,22d.-Rangers under Tobin, about 250, including Captain Kennedy's and the Indi­

anoht company, "again started out to exterminate Cortinas," but were not successful 
. .(D, 6). 

2:3d.-" The Cortinas affair is over." (Twiggs, C, n.) 
2:M.-Cortil1as proclairm;, "I am ready for tlw combat" (C, 80). 

· 23cl.-Herald PYtra: "Cortinas is still carrying on his high-handed outrages." Full 
particulars (C, 82). 

::!fith.--Let,ter of this elate from Brownsville (C, 84). 
2Gth.-Bditorial on Cortinas's l:1st proclamat.ion (C, 78). 
2:-ith.-" Nothing reliaule from Cortinas." (Twiggs, C, 73.) 
2dth.-Reliable gentlemen reported particulars to the Pre~:;ident (C, 74). 

Decernber, 1859. 

1st..-Capt. James B. Ricket.ts, First Artillery, wrote from Fort Brown (C, 7fi). 
4th.-Colllmissioner Navarro reported that on this date Major Heintzelman" com­

p1Ptely ron ted Cortinas's force" (A, 9; bnt see 14th). 
fltb.-M)ljor D. D. Vinton reportetl information obt,ained through spies (C, 77). 
5th.-M:;jor Heintzelman, with his command of 5 officers and 117 men of the Regular 

Army, entered Brownsville. In Fort Brown were Captain Ricketts and 48 men of the 
First Artillery (D, 7). 
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6th.-Captain Tobin, with about one hundred and fifty rangers, placed himself un­
der Major Heintzelman's command (D, 7). 

lOth.-" Cortinas has 250 men from Mexico, and is iu a stockade nine miles above 
Brownsville" ( C, 86). 

l4th.-Return of troops of the Brownsville expedition (D, 74, or C, 91). Regulars, 
aggregate, 165; Captain Tobin'~; company, Texas Rangers, 65; Captain Tomlinson's 
co1npany, Texas Range1~s, 3f); Captain Hampton's company, Texas Raugers, 20. 

14th.-Expeuitiol! moveu agaiust Cortiuas'tl l>auus and "routed his carul>s" (C, 
87, 89). 

15th.-Expedition retnrued to Fort Brown (C, 87). 
16t.h.-Re-euforcements of regular troops ordered to Brownsville by department 

commander (C, 88). 
19th.-Scouts reported "no signs of any of Cortinas's people" ( C, 96). 
21st.-ExpE>dition left Fort Brown with additional for es, viz. (C, 97), Major Ford's 

company of Texas Rangers, 53; Captain Herron's company of Texas Hangers, 30 (D, 
72). The enemy was routed, aull Major Heint,zelman reported "the whole country is 
laid waste. " "' · " I11 Rio Grande City Cortinas plundered the stores and murdered 
several Americans" ( C, 98). 
~7th.-Cortinas's ban!l snpposed to be broken up (A, 9). 
27t!J.-Field returu of expedition (D, 72). 
28th.-He-enforcement referred to on 16th ordered relieved from the operations of 

the order of that tlate (C, 9 ). 
:30th.-" No more definite intelligence as to the whereabouts of Cortinas" (C, 99). 

January, 1860. 

12th.-Me~jor Tobin orclered by State commissioners to Brownsville. His command 
to l.>tl mnstered OLLt (C, 116). It was" without org<1niz<ttion, muster-rolls, or anything 
like <lbcipline," according to the commissioners' report to tlle governor (A, 10). 

12th.-Tbe ::-\t.ate commissioners asked a,(l\rice of Major Heintzelman concernmg the 
mnster-ont of Tobin's Texas volunteers (A, 6). 

1:3th.-E,·idence of depreda.tious committed by Cortinas's band (C, 123, 12i, 121'3, 129, 
1:30). 

15th.-Heintzelmau reported: 
"Tbft country is full of all sorts of rumors about Cortinas, but they do not merit 

repeating-. Thus far [ h>tve not been able to ascertain of tllere being any force om­
bodied, or even of his having been on this side of the river since the day of his defeat 
(C, 105)." 

21st.-Major Heintzelman reached Fort Brown (C, lOG). 
29t!J.-He reported the condition of aif<1irs and decided to remain at Fort Brown 

until tlle conntry bHca.me more quiet (C, 10;)). 
:nst.-State Commissioner Navarro reported to the governor regarding the situation 

(A, 4, or C. 117). 
Februm·y, 1860. 

2cl.-State commissioners asked Major Heintzelma.n's opinion "a"! to what force of 
Texas Rangers will for the present be necessary to be kept in service for the protec­
tion of the frontier" (C, llB, or D, 62). 

2d.-Answer to above: " [n rny opinion. the two companies of rangers now in the 
service of the State are sufficient. I have bnt one cornp tny of cavalry at my disposal, 
and this force I conRiuer entirely inadequate for the security of the frontier."-Heiut­
zelman (C, 118, or D, 62). 

2d.-State commit'lsioners issued special orders to John S. Ford, commanding Texas 
Rangers on the Rio Grande frontier: "From and after this date your movements, and 
the troops under your command, will be directe(l by Major Heintzelman, or other corn­
mandiog officer of the United States Army on this froot,ier. You will therefore obey 
all orders emanating from such officer" (C, lHI, or D, 62). 

2d.-Major Hemtzelman acknowledged two volunteer companies of Ford and Little­
ton as plaeed under his orders (C, 115). 

:~d.-Also reported: "With Captain Rtoueman's company, and two companies of 
rangers in serviee of the United States, I am emleavoring to protect the country as far 
as Ring'gold Barracks." Had" received instructions from the commander of the de­
partment to collect the names of the killed and ascertain the damage done by Cortiuas 
and his command" (C, 109). 

4t.b.-Cortinas on the Mexican side fired on Ford's men at La Bolsa; also, upon the 
steamer Ranchero about half a mile above. Ford decided to cross the Rw Grande (C, 
114, or D, 63). 

4th.-Heintzelman instructed Ford (D, 9G). 
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4th.-Some ranger~ under Major Tobin and Captain Tomlinson were fired upon from 
the Mexican side (C, 115)-. 

5th.-Ford crossed into Mexico; but, upon request of General Garcia, was ordered 
to return to the Texas side. Garcia was asked to co-operate with United States forces 
in putting down the marauders (C. 113; D, 66). 

5th.-About this time Cortinas retired to La Mesa, six miles back from the river 
(C, U7). 

5th.-General Garcia expressed "the strongest desire to do all in his power to arrest 
Cortinas and break up his forces" (C, 111) . 

5t.h.-Ford recrossed his forces; they aud the regulars all camped together (D, 70). 
Gth.-Towlinson'~:> company kept in service by State commissioners. Detachments 

from it accompanied Ford to Mexico (C, 119, 120). 
6th.-Cortinas said to be at Bengos, some ninety miles back of R eynosa (D, 97). 
6th.-Tobin to the governor reported concerning his command (C, 119). . 
tit.ll.-Major Heintzelman wrote to the Mexican military commandant at Matamoras 

(D, 67). . 
f:lt.h.-The governor issued" general orclers to aU Texans in the service" concerning 

the loss of horses or arms and the enforcement of iliscipline (C, 144). 
9th.-Major Heintzelman exposed the abHnrdity of" reclamations" made by a Mexi­

can commanda11t for certain jacals burned in )>!exico (D, 97). 
10th.-Additional regular troops placed at the disposal of Major Heintzelman (C, 

112). 
14t,h.-Texas bas at this time in the tielrl '1 a force supposeil. to amount to near or 

qnite a thousand men, at State expense" (State resolt1tiou B, 2) . 
15tb.-The governor, to the Secretary of W;tr, wrote of the deplorable condition of 

affairs in the State. Indian t.ronbles unexampled in the la.st ten yeanJ, forays from 
Mexico, and an empty treasur.v. Apprehended ~::>erious result.s, ·' shoulcluot the Federal 
arm be speedily raised aml extended iu behalf of our snffering frontier'' (A, 1!:1, or C, 
116) . 

15tb.-State commissioners to the governor reported the causes, origin, and progress 
of t.be diHtnrbauces on the Rio Grande (A, 9, or C, 120). 

20th.- The governor, to the Presidenr., through th ~ Secretary of War, referred to the 
above report of the 15th, aud besought the immediate interposition of the Felleral 
army in behalf of Texas (C, 131). 

2lst.-The Secretary of \Var directed the commanding officer at Fort Bliss, Texas, 
to protect American ciLizens in the vicinity of that post against the banditti (C, 131). 

24th.-Col. H. E. Lee, commanding- Department of Texas, ordered to resort to tile 
most vigorous tueasures for the capt-ure of Cor·tinas and his baut.l, and, if necessary, 
to vursne t.hem beyond the limits of the United States (C, 133). 

:25th.-Captain Ford reported.: 
'·Cortina'! is not at Me!'!a. at present. He received a notice from Matamoras to ena­

ble him to i.Je ont of the way when the troops from that p (>iut should arrive. They 
are now almost opposite this cantp, and will doubtless report their inability to find 
t.lw redoulJt,able baud it general. The S<tme !.tree was enacted by General Garcia, who, 
notwithst<tnding he had an interview with Cortinas, avowed ignorance of hi-s where-
abouts" (D, 71.) · 

28th.-The governor notified: "An officer of great distinction anJ. ability has b een 
dispatched t.o t.ake cotumaml of tile Department of Texas. SLrong re-enforcements 
will he sent into Texas soon (annexed paper, 112, or C, U4). 

Mnjor Heintzelman reported on the dates following, viz : 
29tb.-" Cortinas and his followers have disperse(!. and I do not believe that another 

effort will be made by him to collect a force" (C, 137). 

Ma1'ch, 1660. 

1st.-Fpll statement of operations on the Rio Grande expedition. "Cortinas was 
now a great man" (D, 2). 

1st.-List of persons killP.d b.v Cortin~s (D, 75). 
1st.-Damages aMrued, $:33n,82G.21 (D, 1:3), or $336,879 21 (D, 77). 
2d.-Col. R. E . Lee, commandillg :Department of Texa~, directed to'' notify the 

Mexican ant.borities on the Rio Grande frontier that they mnst break np and disperse 
the bands of banditti concerned in the outrages which have been committed fer some 
time past in that qnarter upon the persons ancl propert.y of America.n eitizens; and, 
fnrt.ber, that they will he held by you responsible for the faithful performance of this 
plailt dnt.y on their part" (C, 134). 

:3d.-Tbe colonel was further direetecl to employ force to hrea.k up the banditti on 
the Mexican sicle, if the Mexican anthorities failed to do so (C, 1:34). 

5th.-Tbe President sent to the Senateof the United Rt.ates a communication from 
tl1e SPcrPt.a.ry of War concerning the hostilities on t,he Rio Grande (A, 1). 

7th.-Reports at Fort .Brown "that Cortinas is at the raneho .of l{eystano; a few 
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]e~guNl a hove, collecting men to cross over; also, that be slept last night in Matamoras." 
'' Ordt>rl) to cro~s after Cortinas, a111l the arrival to-day of Company G, Second Cav­
alry, have createil much alarm in Matamoras, and may induce the authorities to act 
more efficiently" (C, 1:~1). 

8th.-Col. Harvey Brown was at Brownsville and reported that then" all was quiet 
on the frontier." The disturbances were belieVt'd to ue over and Cortinas to have 
given up rhe contest and to have retirec.l into the interior of ~Iexico. Major Heintzel­
man has officially reported the war to ue ended (C, 1~9). The correctness of Colonel 
Brown's report was doubted (D, 93). 

8tb.-The governor of Texas tendered to the War Department the services of :five 
tbonsand Texas volunteers (C, 13i:l). 

12th.-Additional regular troops ordered to Texas (C, 139). 
12th.-Governor Salll. Houston wrote to the President, through the Secretary of War, 

to vinditate himself from certain misapprehensions, and to obtain, if possihle, protec­
tion for the frontier, reviewing difficulties past, present, and apprehendec.l (C, 139). 

12tb.-Colouel Lee wrote: 
" I shall proceed at once to the Rio Grande and use every exertion to put an end to 

these incursions, if they still continne"(C, 145). 
14th.-Thf\ United States anthorities to Governor Houston, declined to accept vol­

unt.eers, a.nd referred to Colonel Brown's dispatch (paper 115, or C, 145). 
15tb.-Copies of correspondence of 2>3t,h Fehrnary and St,ll and Hth M~neh between 

the governor anl Secretary of War, sent to the Senate and subsequently printed. (See 
Senate Docnment No. 24, tirst session Tbirt.y-sixth Congrt~ss.) 

15th.-Colonel Lee wrote at San Antonio: "I take my departure this morning for 
tbe Rio Grande" (D, 14). 

1fith.-Unitt>d States troops operating in Mexico (D, 79, 80, 81 ). 
20th.-All (jniet in the section of conntry near Port Duncan (D, 82). 
~lst.-The United States troops returned to the Texas side. Cortinas at Reynosa 

(D, 82) . 
24tb.-Major Tobin, of the volunteers, wrote a repot·t to the governor concerning 

Texas troops that accompanied the regulars into Mexico (D, 9!J). 
2tith.-Col. Harvey Brown, at Port Brown, set forth the correctness of his former 

report atHl wrote a detaileil. sttttement of the difficulties. Pronounced newspaper re­
ports unreliable, &c. ( C, 147). 

April, 1860; 

2c1.-ColonPl Lee notified the Mexican authorities of his authority and of their re­
sponsibility (D, 1:!4, 102; for reply, seeD, 104). 

7th.-He aiM> specially notilit-Hl thecivil and military authorities at Reynosa lD, 8;J). 
They replied on the lOth (D, 101). 

tltb.-He issnNl an order directing his subordinate officers to see that the Mexican 
anthoritieA fulfilled their obliga.tions (D, ~t"l). 

llth.-He, haYing descended the left bank of the Rio Grande, "found the frontier 
on t.he river quiet" (D, <:!3). 

llth.-The governor expressed a desire that the rangers on the Rio Grani!e shonlcl 
remain under Colonel Lee's ord<>rs, provided the general government would assume their 
payment anrl subsistence (D, So). 

Uolonel Lee wrote: · 
'' 1 have received uo authority from tbe.Secretary of War to receive into the serviee 

of the United States any portion of volunteers; aud, thongh sorry to part with 
troops t.bat have performed good and efficient service in the disturbances on this fron­
tier, I am yet unaule to retain tlwm on the conditions you propose" (D, t;9). 

The correspondence relative to this class shows that several companies of volunteers 
operated against Cortinas. They wel'e commanded by Thompson, Ford, Herron, Ken­
nedy, Littleton, Tomlinson, au(l Hampton, and one, in addition to these, perhaps, was 
ca 'led the Indianola company. 

' ' aims are submitted for only two companies, and from the vouchers they appear as 
fo]l )IVS: 

1. r ';tptain J. H. Hampton's, thirty-seven men, mustered in by Tobin, twenty-eight 
ou th 12t.h November and nine on the 18tll December, loi>9; all mustered out .J au 11-

ary 1, 160. Concerning the nine men, a pencil-note, \Yllich appPa.rs on the roll, rends: 
"By re •r renee to Capt;tin Littlet.on's fin>t muster-roll it will be seen that these nlt'n 
are plat I thereon for the same tiwe of service, consequently they should not appear 
on this 1·ull." Litt-leton's roll is not submitted. 

2. Captain II. \V. Berr.v's, forty-seven men, mnstered in hy Tobin November 10, li:!:>D; 
mnstert!d ont Decemuer 20, lt;59; organized at Victoria. This company is not refnrt!d 
to in tlte correspondence above noted. 

17th.-" The last reliable acr-ount of Cortinas was that he was rei iring fart,her into 
the interior of ~iexieo. lie had with him his family a11cl two mt!u, aud was more than 
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one hundred miles from the frontier. General Garcia informed Major Heintzelman, o,n 
the l:~t.h instant, that orders bad been given by the Mexican authorities to arrest 
him (Cortinas) wherever fonncl" (D, 100). 

The orig-in of the Cortinas difficulties is acconntecl for as follows: 
"The origin of the difficuhy is owing to a falling ont uet\veen parties mixed up with 

private affairs, arid is so complicated that it is d"iflieult to ascertain the truth, no doubt 
much exaggerateil, and not improved by demonstrations on tbe part of some r angers 
and citizens who Lave effected notbing as yet."-H.icketts, Deeemher 1, 18f>9" (C, 76). 
Captain Ricketts was the first United States commandant who arrived at Brownsville 
after the disturbances commenced. 

CLASS IX. 

Indian depTedations, 1$GO. 

February 3, "animals of residents in the immediate vicinity of Camp Colorado 
driven off." 

Night of the 17th, "mule-yard at Camp Cooper, over which a sentinel was posted, 
was broken in and tb.e whole herd driven off. Twenty-three of t.he animals were re­
covered by a party sent at claylight in pursuit, but the remainder, forty mules and 
three horses, were not overtaken. The force at the post was so mnch reducecl by scouts 
then out that the detachment sent under Lieutena,ut LoYe, adjutant of the regiment, 
was principally composed of the band. The following night, all the animah:1 from 
the Indian agency, two or three miles distant from Camp Cooper, were stolen." " * " 
"A cit.izen residing within two miles of Fort Mason was shot, witlliu one hundred 
yards of his honse, by three Indians on foot." " * " ' 4 Tile troops in the depart­
ment are posted over a long line of frontier, and yet, from the paucit.y of their nurn­
hers are unable to protect tbe settlements."-(R. E. Lee, page 135, House Executive 
Document 52, :first session Thirty-sixth Congress.) 

On the 7th of this same month "there came fifteen Indians into the neighborhood 
of Robert Martin, attacking several families, which were def1-mded by brave spirits of 
the frontier." Tile Indians, however, killed two women and took two more away as 
captives. The latter subsequently made their escape, "ancl reached the settlements 
ent,irely naked." (See pages 8 and 9, House Report No. 535 of the Committee on In-
dian Affairs, first session Tbirty-sixth Congress.) · 

March 8, Major VanDorn, at Fort Mason, wrote conceruing r eports of Indian d~p­
redations committed in that viciuit.v, and ref(~rred to the reduced force under hi s com­
mand and to their inefficiency for service. (Page 79, Honse E xecutive Document No. 
81, first session Thirty-sixth Congress .) 

March 9, the governor issued an order that "the chief justice of each county in dan­
ger from t~be Indians will organize a winnte-detachment in his county," to protect the 
inhabit.ants · of their respective couut.ies from Indian incursions. (Page 143, Honse 
Executive Document No. 52, :first sc·ssion Tllirty-sixth Congress.) 

March 12, the governor explained his position in relation to calling out volunteers, 
and wrote: 

"I cannot but urge most earnestly the calling out of a regiment of rangers by the 
Federal government to protect the lives and property of onr citizens." (Ibid., 139-142) 

By an act of Congress approved April 8, 1858, a regiment of Texas volunteers was 
autllorized; bnt, as an appropi:iation for the snpport of snch an organization did not 
appear, that force was not raised. H1-1nce the correspondenM in relation to an appro­
priation sought in 1859, found in papers 9B to 102, 'hereunto annexed. 

April 1:3, E. W. CavP.: secretary of the State, wro.te to Ron. John Hemphill: 
"Not.~ithstanding the fact that we have now in the field a minute-detachment in 

almost every frontier county, the depreda -ions continue. 
"The utmost-vigilance is kept up; active scouts afe continually out in about twenty 

counties, besides tbe ~force wiJich bas been sent from the interior, but Indians still are 
seen and losses are daily reportPd. 

'·About five hundred men will make an expedition against the Indians, starting from 
Fort. Belknap on the 1st of May. 

" Texas has now over one thousand men in the :field. The treasury will not hold 
ont long if this drain upon it continues. 

* " * " " 
'' Tb.e people look to Congress for aid.'' (See page 105, House Executive Document 

No. 81, first session Tbirt.y-sixth Congress. 
April 14, Governor Houston wrote a lfmgthy communication to the Secretary of War, 

dwelling upon the efficiency of Texas Rangers when operating against Indians, show-

* We have come to the concluRion, from our observation anil from teRtimony of divflrs pPrRons, tl1at 
the ditnculty was originally occasioued by a pl'i\·ate fenrl hetwep,n .TuRn NepomucPno Cortinail and 
sundry individuals of the com1ty of Cameron (C, l:W, l:H, State Commissioners' Report; also C, 136). 
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ing his views of the necessity for their employment, and informing the general gov­
ernment that the State at that time employed the following, viz: 

23 detachments of 15 men each, with a reserve of ten men e~wh, force...... . . . . 575 
3 companies of 70 men each, force...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . • • . . . . . . . 210 
4 companies of 40 men each, force ........................ ----··.............. 160 
4 companies of 90 ruen each, force .................•............. ------...... 360 

84 organizations, total.force...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1, 305 

He deplored the misfortunE's of the bleeding frontier, and stated: 
"BE>lieving that when the facts are presented to Congress the dictates of humanity 

will rise above all p~rty or pers(mal consideral ions, I yet look for aid from that q nar­
ter. The American heart mnst feel for a, people of like race and kindred; and though 
sectional considerations may prevnil at times, they will, I believe, be forgotten when 
the catalogue of barbarities by which onr fronLier has been devastated is remembered." 
( Ibicl., 90-95.) 

Notwithstanding the statement above, that thirty-four organizations, making an 
aggregate force of oue thousand three hundred and five men, were employed during 
the times referred to in this cla.se of facts, yet npon turning to the vouchers or rolls 
submitted by the State only one company appears. It is reported as follows: 

Officer!'! au<l oolisted men. 

Captain Ed. Burleson ...... . ............................. . 

First Lieutenant J. E. :l\IcConl. ............................ . 
Second Lieutenant James C'arsou . ..................... .. . . 

~~1ifs~~~ ~;e:·. ~~~~~~-·_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_- ----_-_-_-_-_- _·_-_-_-_- _- .-_- _-_-_-_- .-:_-_-_-_- _- _-_-_-. 

.Aggregate 
force. 

l 
1 
1 

75 

Enrolled or 
mustered Discharged. 
in. 

Bet'n ,Jan. 1 Sept. 7, 1860. 
and June 1, 
1860 . 

.... do....... . Do. 

.... do...... Do. 

. .. do...... Do. 

.... llo.. . ..... Do. 

It is stated on thn roll that this company was called into the senice of the State by 
order of Governor Houston. Nothing further concerning the history of this company, 
or of the thirty-three organizations necessary to make the total employed, appears in 
the evidence found. 

THE ACCOUXTS. 

The foregoing remarks exhibit the character of the troops and the circurnstauc·es 
under which they were employed; also, a history of their services, so far as the facts 
are ascertained. 

With a view to a settlement of a part of the claims now under consideration, pre­
liminaries were entered into before the rebellion existed; and, in order to show how 
far they were advanced, a speedy review of certain facts is necessary. 

A resolution of the legislature of Texas, approved NoYember 23, 1~57, inaugmateLl 
the project of seeking from the Unitetl States reimbursement of expenditures made by 
the State on account of its rangers or volunteers. (See paper 79.) 

The State comptroller prepared a statement 18th of September, 1858, 8howiug the 
following amounts appropriate(1 : 

Paid ........................ ·----· ..........• - .............•.......•.. :·148,99;.( 75 
Assumed by State .................... _... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35, 545 76 

Making the claim ............................................... · 184, 544 .il 

All" for the pay, subsiHtence, and forage of volnnteer troops called into service for 
the protection of the frontier, since the 2 th day of February, 1855." (See pages -t.J-47, 
Honse Executive Document No. 27, second session Thirty-fifth Congress.) The gov­
ernor inclosed this statement to the Secretary of \Varon the .'3th of October, l"ilt!, allll 
sought reimbnrsement to the State. (Paper 92.) 

The claim having reached the Capitol, the committees in Congress to whom it was 
referred called npon the Secretary of \Var for ofllcial information concerning the troops. 
Several attemi>ts appear to have been made to fnrniHh in retnrn a "copy of e\-ery­
thillg ., connected with the case. (See papers 98-102, 116.) 

On the elaim above referre<l to a favorahle r~port was made by the Honse Commit­
tee on .tilitary Affairs Jannar;v 2~, l l:!59, apparently ignoring the fact that. the sL· com­
panie~ that were mHler General Smith had alretHly ueen paid by the United Htates Go:r.~-

H. Ex. 74--4 
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ernment for the time subsequent to muster into United States service. (See No. 143' 
Reports of Committees, second session Thirty-fifth Congress.) _ 

An act of Congress shortly appeared, approved March :~, 1859, to reimburse the 
amonnt pa.irl by the State on account of the six companies called out by General Per­
sifcr F. S::r1ith. (Stat., 10.) As that act could not satisfy more than one-third of the 
claim, the matter was again agitated during the first session of the Thirty-sixth Con­
gress, and caused some correspondence . . (See papers 11:3, 114, and 116.) Then ap­
peared section 6 of the act of June 21, 1H60, specifying that "all moneys advanced by 
the State of Texas in payment of volunteers called out in defense of the frontier of 
that State since the 2t:lth of February, 1tl55," shall be reimburAed: "Providecl, The Sec­
retary of War shall be satisfied that there was necessity for calling out these troops, 
or that they were called out by compe•ent authority, and that the amount so claimed 
was actually paid by the said State, and that the amount hereby provided for shall 
not exceed the sum of...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $123, 544 51" 
This amount was specified becaus~ the appropriation of March 3, 1859, 

for the six companies, covered the sum of . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 61,000 00 

And these two amounts taken together made the total claimed...... . . . . 184, 544 51 
Thit~ department called upon the State authol'ities for a fnll statement of the ac­

count, sustained by original vouchers. (See paper 117, September 11, 1860.) 
Regarding the proviso to section 6, act of June 21, 1860, Secretary Floyd decided that 

he was "satisfied that there was a neeessi ty for calling out the Texas volunteers men­
tioned," and he instructed the Second Auditor to audit the State claim as soon as the 
proper vouchers were received by him. (See paper 118, of November 15, 1860.) 

The Second and Third Auditors submitted their reports upon charges in the claim 
pertaining to their offices, respectively, under date of February, 1861. The Auditors 
obiected to the character of the vouchers, and called for addit.ional evidence or infor­
mation, and their repor-ts were approved by the Secretary of War during the same 
month. (See papers 121 and 122.) The State comptroller asked the return of all the 
papers in t,be case on the 2~d of February, 1861, and nearly all of them were returned . 

. (See papers 12:3, ·124.) The breaking out of the rebellion shortly after put an end to 
further negotiations, and for ten years the papers were buried as archives of the State . 
. In 1871 they were resurrected, and the annexed papers (127-135) show the official 
~ction taken on the case under the last presentation. 

The claim upon which Congressional legislation was had up to 1861 
amounted to ____ ........................ ---- ........................ $184 544 51 

Tlle abstracts now submitted have dropped this total appro­
priated by the State, and, instead, have taken up the amount 
paid therefrom, viz ..... . ................ ---··· .......... $152,274 66 
To this has been added amounts not heretofore considered, 

viz: 
For payments to companies of Bourland, Brown, and Ford.... 57, 382 33 
.And for advances made for services on the Rio Grande...... . 1:3, 354 77 
Thus increasing the former claim by this amount ........... _... . . . . . . . . 38, 467 25 

And making the total of the present claim .............................. 223,011 76 

Passing to the accounts, let them be audited with suppositions of the following: 
First. That a law authorizes their settlement on just and equitable principles. 
Second. That proof of loyalty is waived by an act of Congress. 
Third. That the decision given concerning the necessity for calling out the troops 

referred to in the first claim is satisfactory. 
With these suppositions adopted, the accounts, correctly audited under existing 

rules, will show the following : 
CLASS I. 

On the 14th January, 1856, the State appropriated $61,000 on account of the six com 
parries of volunteers called out by General Persifer P. Smith, of the United States 
Army. 

On the 18th September, 1858, in rendering an abstract of the expenditures made from 
the amount appropriated, the State comptroller represented that these companies were 
called into service on the date when they were mustered into the service of the United 
States; and from said abstract, as printed on pages 44 to 47 of Executive Document 
No. 27 (H. R. ), Thirty -fifth Congress, second session, it would at once be inferred that 
the State paid these men for the identical time that they were in t,he United States 
service, and for which, I have stated heretofore, they had been already or (up to the 
30th June, 1859) were being paid by the general government. 

Upon referring to the papers accompanying the claims filed, it is found that the 
State paid for expenses alleged to have been incurred prior to the said time, as an 
analysis of the accounts will now show: 
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('apt. Giles S. Bogges&'s company. 
Voucher. 
1. G. S. Boggess, pay and allowances as captain for three months. Dates 

of service not stated. Payment made April1, 1H56. Amouut __ . _. 
On the 4th of February, Hl5ti, Boggess was appointed agent to pay 

the members of his company who were mustered into State service 
November 2, 1854, under a requisition from General Smith, they to be 
paid at the same rate per month ''as they were afterward paid by the 
United States while in their service.'' 

In the written instructions, given to this agent by the governor of 
Texas, the following appears: 

"Any assignment from any member of said company of his pay 
which does not show on its face that the assignor knew at the time 
of its execution that he was entitled to three months' pay from the 
State will only be recognized as conveying to the assiguee the pay 
due tlw assignor for the time he was actually in the service of the 
State, which time of service was, for the members of your company, 
one month aud twenty-one days.n (See paper No. 66.) 

P1·om these instructions it is inferred that the members of the com­
pany had claims against the State for a time when they were not in 
any service, which time was prior to the date of General Smith's call 
of Noveml>er 1, 1854, and that if any individual, unfortunately for 
himself, overlooked sncb claims, then he was to be paid only for the 
time intervening between the date of call (or the date when the 
organization was accepted by the governor) aud the date of mnster 
into United States service, i. e., one month and twenty-one days, 
because that was the time he was "actually in the service of the 
State." 

It is remarlial>le, however, that not one of the members overlooked 
the importance of making a full claim, or that, if he did so, his friend, 
who was captain, paymaster, and agent, did not; for, with powers of 
attorney from tweuty-seven meml>ers of the company, the captain set 
out by drawing thre.:~ months' pay and allowances, and every member 
followed in his wake. As a ge1wral rule, the United States Govern­
ment pays only for s .... rvices rendered or for the time a person or party 
is actually employed in its service. As General Smith's call was made 
on the 1st of November, 1<:354, and this company was mustered into 
State service on the day following that date, the inference to be 
drawn is that the United StateA Government is responsible for the 
pay and allowances ac9rniug to the members of this company and for 
expenAcs protwrly incnrred on its account from the 2d day of Novem­
ber, l t<54, as it was then organized and recognized by the governor 
under General Smith's C<lll. In Yiew of the foregoing facts, this amount 
being for services for one month and twenLy-one days immediately 
prior to December 23*, 1854, should be allowed .... _ ........ __ .. _ .. . 
The balance claimed on this voucher, including 60 cents overcharged 

on servant!:!' clothing, l>eing an improper charge against the United 
States, should be disallowed ...... ----·· .... ---- ...... ·---·· . ... . 

2. C. J. Garrison, second lieutenant.----·-·· -·-···-·---··----· $3:38 10 
As on voucher 1, except that this amount should be allowed ...• _ ... _ 
And this disallowed _ ....... . .. -- .. ___ ..... _ .... _ •..... _ ... _. ___ .. _ 

3. Eli Wood, lirst lieutenant ........ ------------·--·--·-----· $323 10 
As on voucher 1, except that this amount should be suspended for 

want of the name and description of the officer's servant . _ .. _ ... . 
And th'is di~mllowed · ----· --·· --·· --·--· ---- ··---· .............. . 

4. Pay-roll of enlisted men: 
Dates of :service not sta,ted .. -- .. -.-- ...•.•. ·-- .... - .... $6, ~55 10 
Add for error, in addition ...... -- ... ---- •.. --- .. _.. . . . . . . 77 10 

Amount of voucher .. __ .... --- .. ---- .... - ..... __ ... -. . 6, 4:32 20 
Item 1. William C. Wright, first sergeant . -.ft...... . . . . . . 104 50 
Item'.>.. J. W. Shelton,sergeant......... . ................ 95 50 
Item 3. P. G. Whetstone, sergeam .. ---- .. -- ••... ---.. . . . . 95 50 
Item 4. R. W. Hall, sergeant-·---·--·· ...... --·· ..••.. -- 95 50 
Item 5. J. 'f. Hankin, corporal ... - ... - ..... --- -·.--- -·... 83 10 
Item 6. Alex. Ea,rp, corporaL .......... - _ ........... __ .. . 83 10 
Item i. GeorgeS. Powell, corporaL ... --·- ...•........ __ . 83 10 
Item 8. James L. P<~well, corporaL ..... -----·-----·-----· 83 10 

51 

$383 10 

216 75 

166 36 

191 25 
146 85 

182 75 
140 35 

~ 9_:i}. W. Jones, bngl~ ·...:..:...:...: • .::. _-_-_- ._._._·_· _- -_-_-_-_-_- . ___ 8_0_50 ____ _ 

*Date when mustered into the United States service. 



52 CLAIMS AGAI~"ST THE UNITED ·STATER 

Voucher. 
As on voucher 1, except that this money should be allowed .••••••••• 
And this disallowed ............... ___ .............. __ ......... __ .. 
Item 10. J. F. ·walker, bugler ..................... ------ $80 50 
Not receipt(d; amount not embraced in total charged; no action 

required. 
Items 11-52, 54, 55, and 57-tl5 are for pay and allowances for seventy-

thrE'e privates, at $77.10 each ··---- ··---· .............. $5,6~8 :30 
As on voucher 1, except that this amount shou1d be allowed .. --- •... 
And this disallowed. __ ... _ ...... __ ... ___ .. _ ................. _ .... . 

5. G. S. Boggess, services as paymaster or agent, for paying off volun­
teers, dates of service not stated, 5 per cent. commi~?sionfor dif:!burs-
ing $15,114 ............ ---- ·-- ............................ $7G5 70 
A copy of the appointment of Boggess is filed. It states that on a 

settlement of his accounts with the comptroller, a "reasonable com­
pensation" will be allowed. No receipt is submitted, but a certificate 
of the comptroller states, under date of February 28, 1860, ''receipt of 
Giles Boggess for the above amount of $755.70 is on file.'' 

The expense of employing an agent to pay these troops for services 
after November 2, 1854, was a contingency necessarily coupled with 
their employment; therefore this voucher is admissible for 5 per cent. 
on the amount favorably considered by the United States on payments 
made by Boggess for or on account of his and Walker's company, as the 
paymaster's duties specially pertained to said companies. 
The amount found admissible is $6,511.53, anu the per cent. thereon 

is a proper charge, but shonld be suspended for want of a proper 
receipt and until the vouchers paid by him are perfected ... _ ....•• 

The balance charged on this voucher, being an improper charge against 
the United States, should be disallowed .... _ .. _ ................ . 

6. Thomas M. Likens, services rendered the State of Texas in raising and 
mustering into service a company of rangers in the year 185t ... $50 

The charge is indefinite as to the time and company. Dates of service 
and rate of compensation are not stated, and the necessity for the 
expense is not apparent.. The amount should be disallowed ... _ ... 

7. 0. B. Wade. two and one-half months' service as acting assistant sur-
gton, at $100 ............................................ $250 00 

The receipt is informal. Orval B. Wade was a privatu in Boggess's 
company, and the charge for him was considereu as item 85, of 
voucher 4. This amount should be disallowed ........ _ •.......... 

8. Andrew J. Miller, services as contract physician for Boggess's com­
pany, from November 2 to 17, 1tl54, fifteen days, at $100 per 
month ........•... -·--·- ................................. $50 00 

The original contract is filed, accompanied with a receipt of John C. 
Miller, as administrator of A. J. Miller, deceased. The charge is 
reasonable and rests within the scope of time for which reimburse­
ment of pay and allowances, on account of this company, is sug­
gested, and, if that suggestion shall be favorably considered, this 
amount should be allowed ........ _ .... _ .... ___ . . . . . . . . . . . . . ... . 

9. N. "\V. Ray, three months' extra duty, pay as blacksmith and far-
rier .. _ ..... __ ........... _.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $3G 00 
This man's name is found in item 11 of voucher 4. 
The duty above mentionecl was that for which he was borne upon 

the roll, not extra duty, but regular duty. 
This amount, being an improper charge, should be disallowed ..•••• 

10. D. M. Fields, 36 bushels corn, furnished for the companies of Captains 
Boggess and Fitzhugh on the 2d December, 1854; price per bushel, 
$1.75-- . - ... - .. -- .. - - ... - . - ........ - . ----. -.... - ---. -. . . . . $63 00 
In connection with this charge, the following appears in a report 

dated Treasury Department, Third Auditor's Office, February 2:3, 1861, 
viz: · 

"The circi1mstances of the raising, organizing, and muster into serv­
ice of the above six companies are set forth in my report to the Sec­
retary of War upon the claim of S.M. Swinson, of Austin, Tex., dated 
June 5, 1855, whiGh is submitte(l herewith. 

"That claim was under a contract, dated Octo bel\ 30, 1854, with E. 
M. Peas, governor of Texas, for supplying said companies wit.h sub­
sistence, forage, and medicines, camp equipage, stationery, ammuni­
tion, and transportation, from tbe date of saicl contract nntil the com­
panies were mustered into the service of the United States, and was 
paid through this office in .Jnne and Angnst, 18;):), amounting to 
$20,0!JO.ti9. 

$455 36 
348 54 

3,1 9.37 
2,438_93 

325 58 --
430 12 

50 00 

250 00 

50 00 

36 00 



CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 

"Voucher. 

11. 

12. 

13. 

14. 
15. 
15. 

16. 
17. 
18. 
18. 
19. 
19. 
1!:}. 
20. 
20. 
21. 
2"~. 

22. 
22. 
23. 
23. 
24. 
25. 

25. 

26. 

27. 

"01 course, any part of the present claim of the State for supplies 
that were furnished said companies to the extent they were entitled 
to, according to existing regulation, onght not to be allowed. 

"Approved. 
'' J. HOLT, Secretary of War." 

In view of the foregoing decision this amount should be disallowed .. 
M. J. Brinson, wagon and team employed from 1st to 22d December, 

1854, transportation of baggage for Boggess's company, 22 days, at 
$7 per day. ____ .. ____ .. ___ .. _____ .. ___ .- . ____ .. ___ .. . . . . $154 00 

Georg.e W. Sevier, December 3, 1854, :36 bushels of corn, at 
$1.50 ...... -..... ----- .. - . -- ..... - ......... ---- -. -- .. -.. . 5-! 00 

George W. Sevier, December 3, 1854, 600 pounds beef, at 4 
cents·---·· ............ ··---···---· .... --···----·.·----· 24 00 

As on voucher 10, should be disallowed .............. ··---··----· .. 
Giles .S. Boggess, for t.ransportation of company baggage from 

rendezvous to Austin, place of muster, two teams 15 days, 
at $6 each. ____ .. _. __ ..... ____ ... _ .. _ .. _. _ .... ......... _.. 180 00 

This charge, being for expenses incurred prior to November 1, ltl54, 
should be uisallowed. (See also remarks ou voucher 10) .... ------

J. B. Stephens, December, L854, 36t bushels corn, at '1.25.... $45 62 
Silas Baggart, December, 1854, 36! bushels corn, at $1.25. __ . 45 95 
Silas Baggart, December, 1~54, 130 pounds meal, at $1.25 per 

bushel ....... _ ........... _ ........ -... ---. . . . . . . .. ----. 
E. H. Harrington, December, 1854,:36t bushels corn, at $1.50 .. 
B. D. Arnold, December, 1H54, G bushels meal, at $1.20 ...... . 
S. P. Ross, Decembt:>r, 1854, ferriage ...... ·----··----··----· 
S. P. Ross, Noveml>er, 1R54, ferriage. ___ .......... _ ... . .... . 
E. Linkenboger, December, 1M54, 36t bushels corn, at $1.25 .. 
E. Linkenhoger, Deeember, 1854,7 bushels meal, at $1.25 .... 
E. Linkenhoger, Dece.nuer, 1854, 200 ponnds beef, at 5 cents. 
J. D. Blair, December, 18;)4, :36t bushels corn, at $1.2;) ...... . 
J. D. Blair, December, 1854, 215 pounds beef, at 10 cents .. _. 
J. S. Blair, December, 1 54,15 bushels meal, at $1.25 ...... .. 

3 30 
54 75 
6 00 

24 30 
35 00 
45 62 

8 75 
10 00 
45 62 
21 50 
1tl 75 

M. L. Durham, November26toDecember 13,1tl54,soap,$9.50; 
vinegar, $15.75; rice, $19.12; and candles, $9.50 ........ _.. 53 87 

M. L. Durham, December 10, 1854,474 pounds beef, at 5 cents. 23 70 
M. L. Darharu, December 10, 1H54, 7:3 bushels corn, at$1.15... 83 95 
Simeon Mixon, December 7, 1854, 36t bushels corn, at $1.50.. 54 75 
Simeon Mixou, December 7, 1854, 445 pounds beef, at 5 cents. 22 25 
W. Ferrel, December 1, 1854, 3tl bushels corn, at $1.25 .. ___ .. 47 50 
M. T. J{)hnson, December 1, 1854, 187t bushels corn, at $1.50. 281 25 
1,404 pounds beef, at 5 cents............................... 70 20 
40 bushels meal, at . 1.50 . __ ................. __ ......... _... 60 00 
201. pounds coffee, at 30 cents .............. ·---·· ...•.• .... 60 30 
298 pounds sugar, at 1 cents .. __ ... ___ .. . . ....... __ . . . . . . . 53 64 
140pounds salt, at8 cents ............ ·---··................ 11 20 
7 pounds candles, at 70 cents ....... ·---··.................. 4 90 
14 pounds soap, at 30 cents ........................ ·---.... 4 20 
As on voucher 10, should be disallowed ...... ··--·· ................ . 
(In part.) M. T. Johnson, December 1, 1854, for 3! po-unds 

horseshoe nails, at 50 cents .... . ... -·-· .................. . 1 87 
Certified to by lieutenant as quartermaster 

Comptroller of State, in March, 18fi0, certified that receipt for amount 
was on file in his office at that time. Said receipt is not submitted; 
otherwise this is a proper charge, but should be suspended for want 
of a proper receipt .. _ ........ _ .. _ ... _ .......................... . 

S. McElrath, services as private, formed item 53 of voucher 4, 
not there paid ___ .. .. . . . . .. . . . . .. . . . . . . .. . . . . .. . . .. .. .. $77 10 

C. H. Morrell, services as private, formed item 55, voucher 4, 
not there paid............ . .............................. 77 10 

The State comptroller, February 29, 1860, certified that receipts for the 
amounts pai(l these men were then on file in his office. Said receipts 
are not produced; otherwise the remarks on voucher 1 are applicable 
to these vouchers, except that this amount should be suspended for 
want of proper receipts .... ··---· ............................... . 

. And this disallowed .......... ·---·· .............................. . 

53 

$63 00 

232 00 

180 00 

1,196 81 

187 

87 38 
66 82 



54 CLAIMS AGAIXST THE T.;NITED STATES . 

.John U. Tralker's company. 

Voucher. 
1. Pay-roll of officers and enlisted men, dates of service not 

stated ....... _.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $6, 392 20 
Receipts for the amounts alleged to have been paid on this voucher 

do not appear. Their absence is explained by an affidavit, in which 
Giles S. Boggess, paymaster, swears that the original muster-roll of 
John G. Walker's company was either stolen, taken out of his po~ses­
sion without his knowledge or consent, or lost, since which time he 
has not seen or ·heard of it; that the voucher upon which this affi­
davit is written contains a true statement. of the number of men and 
their names composing the said John G. \Valker'scompanyatthetime 
the muster-roll was lost; also the amounts paid and the amounts still 
due as set down opposite each name; and that this voucher is, to the 
best of his knowledge and belief, a faithful copy of said lost roll. An 
act of the legislature of Texas. approved August 25, 1856, for there­
lief of Boggess (see paper 1:38), authorized a settlement to be made 
with him u1wn his presenting, under oath, to the State comptroller 
the facts above set forth, with a copy of the lost roll or voncher, said 
voucher, when so submitted, to be received in lieu of the original roll, 
and the amount returned b,v said Boggess as paid to be passed to his 
credit upon the books of the comptroller'H office. 

In the act measnres were aclopted to gnarcl against frauc1, and the 
conditions npon which Boggess was to 1in<l relief were complied with 
by him. 
Item 1. John G. ViTalker, pay and allowan('es as captain for t.hree 

months • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $383 1() 

Renuu·l,:s.-On the 4th February, 185G, Giles S. Boggess was ap­
pointed agent to pay \Valker's company at the same rate per month 
as" they were afterwards paid by the United States while in their 
service." 

In the written instructions given to this agent by the governor the 
following appears: • 

"Any assignment from any member of said companies of his pay 
which does not show on its face that the assignor knew at the time 
of its execution that he was entitled to receive three months' pay from 
the State will only be recogni7-ed as conveying to the assignee the pay 
due the assignor for the time he was actually in the service of the State, 
which time of service was, for the members of Captain ·walker's com­
pany, one month." 

Upon referring to the remarks for voucher 1 for Boggess's company, 
it will l)e understoorl why the governor considered this company 
(\Valker's) entitled to pay for only one mouth. The reason was be­
cause he believed that this, and no more, was the time it was "act­
ually in the service of the State," though it seems he made an error of 
one day in favor of the company. 

As a general rule, the United States GoYemment pays only for serv­
ices rendered or for the time a person or party is actually employed 
in its service. As General Smith's call was made on the 1st of Novem­
ber, ltj54, and this company was mustered into State service on the 
day following that date, the inference to be drawn is th~tt the United 
States Government is responsible for the pay and allowauce accrning 
to the members of this company, and for expenses properly incurred 
on its account, from the 2d day of November, 1 1:l;'>4, as it was then 
organized and recognized l)y the governor under General Smith's call. 

Powers of attorney, filed in connection with payments made for 
members of this company, are, in several instances, informal, in this, 
that they are not witnessed as required by law, and are not attested 
by the certificate and seal of the clerk of a court, of record to show 
the standing of certain magistrates who admini;;tered oaths. It is 
inferred that these informalities cannot now be remedied by the State 
authorities, and therefore this objection should he waived. 
Conclusion.-In view of the facts herein found, this amount, bein~ 

for services for twenty-nine days immediately prior to December 1, 
1854, is admissible, hut shonhl be suspended for want of a descrip-
tion of the officer's servant and for a proper receipt .... .......... . 

The balance claimed on this item, including GO cents overcharged on 
servant's clothing, being an improper charge against the govern-
ment, should be disallowed . . . . . . . . . . . . ........................ . 

$123 25 

259 85 



CLADfS AGAINST THE UNITED S'I'.ATES. 

Voucher. 
Item 2, T. H. Garrett, first lieutenant .................. _ ... $323 10 

For the reasons set forth in the remarks for item 1, above, this 
charge for three months' service is admissible only for the twenty­
nine days immerliately preceding December 1, 1854. A proper receipt 
for the money is filed and the officer's servant is described. 
This amount should be allowed ...................••. ·----· ....... . 
And this, including 60 cents overcharged on servant's clothing, being 

an improper charge, should be disallowed ....................... . 
Item :3, Mercer Fain, second lieutenant ..................... $308 10 
Remarks and conclnsion, as on item 1, except that this amount should 

be suspeuded ................................. _ ................ . 
And this disallowed .............................................. . 
Item 4. P. H. Work, first sergeant ........................ $104 50 
Item 5. H. B. Pedigo, sergeant. ___ ........................ 95 50 
Item 6. J. B. :F. McCartney, sergeant...................... 95 50 
Item 7. ,L. B. Wood, sergeant............................. 95 50 
Item 8. M. J. Bean, corporal._ ...... _ ................ _ .. .. 83 10 
Item 9. William P. Scott, corporal .. .... .. .. .... ... . .. .. .. 83 10 
Item 10. In part, Pleasant ·wright, corporal .. . ... .. .. ... ... 27 70 
Item 11. H. II. King, corporal. .................... _.. .. .. .. 83 10 
Item 12. B. K. Riggs, bugler __ ............................. 80 50 
Item 13. F. J. Garrett, bugler.............................. 80 50 
Item 14. T. M. Bnrke, farrier and blacksmith . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 77 10 

Remarks as on item 1. 
Couclusion.-This amonnt should be suspended for want of proper re-

ceipts . . . . . . . ... _ ............ __ . __ ............................. . 
And this heing au impl'')per charge against the United States, should 

be disallowed .. ___ ................ ----·. -----· ...... ·---·· .... . 
Items 17, 18, 20, 21, :l2, 24, 25, 2G, 29, 30, 32,:33, 34,36-52,54,55, 56,57 in 

part, 59,60 in part, ul-iG, 7() in part, and 78-82, for services of fifty-
seven privates ......................................... ·4,240 50 
Remark~S as on item 1. 

Courlusion.-This amount, being for 57 privates, .;:H, 4t each, should 
be suspended for want of proper receipts...... .. .. .. . . ........ .. 

And this, being atJ improper charge against the United States, should 
bedisallowed ................................................... . 

Items 16, 23, and 58, for services of 3 privates_ .......... _... $~31 30 
As the names of the men charged for do not appear on rolls signed by 

mustering officers, this a.mount, being an improper charge against 
the United. States, should be disallowed ................... __ .... . 
Items 19, 27, 28, 31, 53, GO in part, 76 in part, B4 and 5, represented 

to have been paid by the State treasurer, are deducted; and items 2Ht 
35, 77, and 8~~ are not charged on the roll; therefore, no action is here 
required on them. 

2. Wright., Pleasant, corporal; balance of pay and allowance .. _ $55 40 
Favorable consideration having been given for the time this man ac­

tually served, prior to De<'ember 1, 1R54 (see voucher 1, item 10), 
this amount is an improper charge against the government, there-
fore should be disallowed .................. -- ........... ~ ...... --

3. Bird, Milton, private, pay and allowances for three months ... $77 10 
4. Click, E. S., private .... ---·.............. ..... ...... ...... 77 10 
5. Close, E. S., private .. __ .... __ .. ---- .. .. .... . .. .. .. . .. . .. .. .. 77 10 
6. Dye, John, private ............. _ .. __ .................... .... 77 10 
7. Lyons, L. P., private ......... -- ........ _ ..... __ ............ 77 10 

Remarks as on item 1, voucher 1. 
Conclusion.-The State comptroller certified in Februar.v, 1860, that 

the receipts of these parties were then on file in his office. Said re­
ceipts are not produced. The amount should be suspended for want 
of proper receipts_ ....... _ ....... -..... _ ........................ . 

And this, being an improper charge, shoul<l be disallowed ......... .. 
R. McKenzie, G. \V., priYate, balance of pay................ . ... ;51 40 
9. \Valdert, Edward, privat.e, balance of pay ............. ------ 51 40 

As on voucher 2, except in these cases, see it.en1s (i0 aud 76 of ,·oucher 
1, should \,e (li~Sallowed ................... -- ... __ .... _ ....... _ .. . 

10. Willmrn, F. G., priYate, pay and allowances for three months $77 10 
11. Yaruorough, \Villiam H., pl'i vate ...... __ .... __ .. . .. . .. .. .. .. 77 10 

Remarks and (•on<'ln:--ion as on Yonchers ~3 to 7, except that this aruonnt 
should be suspetHled ...................... , .................... . 

And this disallowed ............................................. .. 

55 

$103 92 

219 18 

99 08 
209 02 

309 82 

596 28 

11 416 07 

2,t324 43 

231 30 

54 40 

1'24 22 
2131 28 

102 80 

49 69 
104 51 



56 CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 

Voucher. 
12. James R. Arnold, pay for services for enrolling, orgauizing, and mns-

teriug Captain Walker's company ....... _.. . . . . ...... _.. $50 00 
TLe State comptroller certified, February 28, Hl60, that'' receipt of 

William C. Pollock, attorney, for the above amount of $50, is on file." 
Said receipt is not produced. 

Governor Pease indorsed on the back of the voucher, August 16, 
1856, ''Gen. R. Arnold was appointed by me to enroll the company 
of volunteers that was mnstered at Nacogdoches in October, 1854, 
under the call of Gen. P. F. Smith, and performed that duty." 
General Smith's call was made on the 1st November, 1854, therefore 

the amount of this voucher, being for services prior to that date, is 
an improper charge against the United States; therefore should be 
disallowed ........... . ......................... _ ... _ .... _ ...... . 

13. Mercer Fain, services of wagon and team for Captain Walker's com­
pany, from the 17th October to 30th November, 1854, inclusive, 45 
days, at $6 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . $270 00 

For Captain Henry's company from the 1st December to 13th Decem­
ber, 1854, inclusive, 13 days, at $6 .......•••...•.•..••..... $78 00 
Certified to as correct and jnst by Captains ·walker and Henry, and 

receipted for by A. A. Muncey, attorney. Power of attorney is tiled, 
but is not witnessed, and not attested by the clerk of a court of record. 
'fhe services alleged to have been rendered prior to November 2, 1854, 
do not constitute proper charges against the United StateR, and for 
transportation furnished subsequent to that date, see remarks for 
voucher 10, of Boggess's company. 
This amount, being an improper charge, should be disallowed ...... . 

14. John Twohig, fuel furnished ............................... $207,00 
The voucher is certified to as correct and just by Captain "Talker, 

commanding battalion Texas Mounted Volunteers, but dates of sen-­
ice are not stated. Comptroller Johns certified, March 1, 18110, that 
the receipt of S.M. Swinson, assignee of John Twohig, for the sum 
of $207, waR then on file; said rcoeipt is not snurnittecl. S. M. 
Swinson was a contractor in connection with these troops. His 
bills, to the extent of $20,9~0.(39, were paid by the United States 
in 1855. (See voucher 10, Boggess's company.) The informalities 
appearing on this voucher are sufficient to insure a disallowance of 
the amount ........... _ ............................... . ....... . 

15. James G. Swisher, ferriage for companies of Walker, Travis, and Ro-
gers, November 11, 1854 .......................... __ ....... "':2-:l 20 
Certified to by assistant q nartermaster; approved by State adj ntan t­

general. 
The State comptroller certified, March 3, 18fi0, that a receipt for the 

amount was then on file in his office; said receipt is not submitted. 
A contractor, Swinson, was bound to fnrnish transportation for these 
companies after October 30, 1854, and in U355 be ·was paid therefor by· 
the United States. :Ferriage is an item of transportation; t.here­
fo:re this amount, being an improper charge, should be disallowed. 
(See voucher10, BoggesR's company) ........................... . 

16. Orange "\Vright; services as guide and trader; dates of service not 
stated . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ... _ .. $~5 00 
Captain Walker certified, April7, 185£, that the services charged for 

were performed, "amounting to a month's time in all, and while sta­
tioned at Fredericksburg." 

The original receipt was not submitted, but Comptroller Johns cer­
tified, March 3, 1860, "that the receipt of Orange ·wright for the sum 
of $25 is on file in saict (his) office." 
The informalities appearing on this voucher are sufficient tu warrant 

a. diRallowanceof theamonnt ................................... . 
17. John "\York, surgeon; services rendered to the battalion of Texas 

Mounted Volunteers, three months, from 1st November 1804.$300 00. 
There is nothing· filed to show that he was mustered in to service or that 

he was employed as a contract physician; therefore the amount of 
this voucher should be disallowed ........ _ .............. . 

Tf'. It. Henry's company. 

1. Pay-roll of enlisted men, dates of service not stated._ ...... $6,07 4 08 
Item 1. G. Layton, first sergeant, pay and allowances for 

threemonths.... ...... .... ...... ...... .... ...... ...... 104 00 
Item 2. yv. D. Morrow, sergeant .. . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . .. . .. 95 50 

$348 00 

207 00 

28 20 

25 00 

300 00 



CLAIMS AGAINST TilE UKITED STATES. 

Voucher. 
Item 3. W. B. Fleming, sergeant........................ $95 50 
Item 4. George W. Russell, sergeant ......... _.. . . . . . . . . 95 50 
Item 5. R. Augustine, corporal. ................. ----.... 83 10 
Item 6. Sanford Brown, corporal. ................... _... 83 10 
Item 7. Riley Lewis, corporal........................... tl:l 10 
Item l:l. Leonard Moss, corporal. ................... ·---. 83 10 
Item 9. Henry Aloff, bugler........................ .... 80 50 
ltem 10. B. M. Fleming, bugler ..... :.................... 80 50 

Powers of attorney filed in connection with payments made for mem­
bers of this company are, in several instances, informal in this, that 
they are not Witnessed as required by law, and are not attested by 
the certificate and seal of the clerk of a court of record to show the 
standing of certain magistrates who administered oaths. It is in­
ferred that these informalities cannot now be remedied by the State 
authorities, and therefore this objection should be waived; other­
wise the remarks for voucher 2 are applicable to these items, except 
that this amount shoul1l be allowed ..........••...••............. 

And this disallowed ...... ·----· ..........................•....... 
Items 11-37, 39-44, 47, 4\J-52, 54-72, 74-79, and 81-85, for services of 68 

priv:;ttes ................................................ $4,985 80 
As on items 1 to 10, next above, except that this amount, being for 613 

privatAs, at $:35.98 each, should be allowed .................•..... 
And this should be disallowed .................................... . 
Items 31:3, 53, 86, and 87, for services of four privates._ ....... $203 H8 
A the names of the men charged for do not appear on the rolls signed 

by mustering-officen;, this amunnt, being an improper charge against 
the United States, should he disallowed ......................... . 
Items 45, 46, 4>:l, n, and RO, for tue several amounts of which receipts 

do not appear, are deducted from t.he roll, and therefore rec1uire no 
action. 

2 ,V. R. Henry, pay and allowances as captain for three months; dates 
of service and name of servant not stated; payment made April15, 
1856 ... -- .......... -- ......... -- .... --- ... -- ........... ----. ----
On the lOth April, 1806, John D. Pitts wa~ appointed agent to pay 

W. R. Henry's company, "which was enrolled at the town of Goliad, 
in the month of October, 1t:l34, for Lhree months' service," the members 
of the company to be paid the same as allowed by law aud regulations 
of the United States to monnted volunteers. In the written instruc­
tions given to this ap;ent by the governor the following appears (see 
paper 70): "You will recognize no assignment from any member of 
said company as con veyiug more. than his pay for one month and four­
teen days, unless it shall appear from said assignment that the as­
signor knew that he was enti::led to receive three mon hs' pay and 
intended to convey that amount. 

Upon referring to the remarks for voucher 1, for Boggess's company, 
it will be understood why the governor consiu~red this company (Herr­
ry's) entitled to pay for only one month and fourteen days. The 
reason was becanse the goveruor believed that this and no more was 
the time it waR " actually in the service of the State," though it seems 
he made an error of two days !n favor of the company. 

As a general rule, the United States Government pays only for sen· 
ices rendered or for the time a person is actually employed in its serv­
ice. 

As General Smith issued his call on the 1st November, 1854, and this 
company was mustered into State service on the day followin~ that 
date, the inference to be drawn therefrom is that the United ~tates 
Government is responsible for the pay and allowances accming to the 
members of this company and for expenses proflerly incurred on its 
account from the 2d day of November, 1854, as it was then organized 
and recognized by the governor under General Smith's call. 
In view of the foregoing facts, it is suggested that this amount, being 

for services for one month and twelve days immediately prior to 
December 14, ll:l54, should be suspended for want of a description 
of the officer's servant ...•...... _ .................... __ ......... . 

The balance claimed on this voucher, being au improper charge against 
the United States, should be disallow. d ...............•.......... 

3. S . .A. Jackson, first lieutenant .............................. $322 50 
as on voucher 2, except that this amount should be suspended ...•.• 

And this disallowed ...........................................••... 

57 

$H2 56 
471 84 

2,4!6 64 
2,539 16 

203 8S 

332 50 

178 50 

204 00 

150 50 
172 00 



58 CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 

Voucher. 
4. William Tom, second lieutenant...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. .. .. $307 50 

as on voucher 2, except that here the officer's servant is described, 
and that this amonnt should be disallowed ...................... . 

And this amount should be disallowed ............................ . 
5. John D. Pitts, services as paymaster or agent for p~ing off V\T~ R. 

Henry's company; dates of service not stated; 5 per cent. commis-
sion for di~bnrsing $7,2H0.27 .. _ .......... _. _ .............. $364 01 

A copy of the appointment of Pitts is filed. (Paper 70.) It states 
that, on a settlement of his accounts with the comptroller, a" reason­
able compensation" will he allowed. A receipt for the moues is not 
produced, but a certificate signed by Comptroller Johns, February 
29, 1860, states: "Receipt of John D. Pitts is on file.'' The expense 
of employing an agent to pay these troops for services after Novem­
ber 2, 18f>4, was a contingency necessarily coupled with their employ­
ment, therefore this voucher is admissible for f> per cent. on the 
amouut favorably considered by the United States on payments mafle 
by Pitts for or on account oi this company. Of the amount paid by 
him $3,331·70 is so considered, and the per cent. thereon is a proper 
charge, but should be snsl'euded for want of a proper receipt . .... . 

The balance charged on this voucher, being an improper charge against 
the United States, sho11ld be disallowed . . . . . . . ............... . . . 

6. John S. Ford, pay for organizing a company of Texas Rangers at Go-
liad . ___ ... ___ ... __ .. _ . __ . ___ . . ....... __ ... _ . ____ . . . . . . . . . $50 00 

The charge is indefinite as to time and company, llates of service 
and rate of compensation are not st.ated, and the necessity for the 
expense is not apparent. The amonnt shonld be rlisallowed ..... . 

7. James M. Latten, medical attendance on A. W. Sims and A. J. Lee, 
fromNovember7to20,1R54 ..... .. ...................... $96 00 

The two men above mentioned. were mustered in as privates of the 
company. The doctor swears to the correctness of his bill, and it 
bears the approval of the adjutant-general of the State. In the 
absence of a receipt for the money Comptroller Johns's certificate 
appears, under date of March 3, 1H60, that the receipt was then on 
file in his office. This voucher duplicates, in part, the charges in 
voucher 12, and the duplication of this voucher should bed isallowed, 
for the reason that here no approval of a> company officer appears. 
The charges rest within tlJe scope of time for v,hich reimbursement 
of pay and allowances on account of this company is suggested. 
This amount is deemed a proper charge, but should be suspended for 
want of a proper receipt ...... . ..... ------ ...................... . 

The balance, being an improper charge, should be disallowed ...... . 
8. Mrs. S. A. Glasscock, for boarding Wyatt Hanks during illness, from 

November 10 to D~cember 4, 1854 . .. ...................... $24 00 
Samuel January, during illness, from November 10 to 24, 1854. 14 00 
The State comptroller certified, March 3, 18GO, that a receipt for this 

amount was then on file in hisoffico. Said receiptisnot submitted. 
Hanks having been mustered into service, the charge for him shonlQ. 
1Je suspended for want of a proper receipt. (See remarks on voucher 
7, above)...... . . . . . . . . . . . . ............................... _ .... . 

As Samuel J annary's name does not appear on the muster-rolls signed 
by mustering officers, the charge for him slJonld be disallowed, the 
same being an improper cba.rge against the United Stat.es ........ . 

9. Robert Augustine, services as expressman on or about November 1, 
1854, nuder a contract with Captain Henry ................ $30 00 

In the absence of a receipt for the money paid to an attorney on this 
voucher, Comptroller Johns's certificate appears, under date of 
March 3, 1860, to show that a receipt was then on file in his office. 
The power of attorney does not bear the certificate and the impress 
of a seal of a court of record to show the standing of the justice of 
the peace who administered the oat.b. A copy of the contract is not 
filed. As the man whose serYices are charged for was borne on the 
company's roll and an award for his services bas been suggested on 
voucher 1, this charge should be disallowed ..................... -

10. William B. }<"leming, services as expressman on or about November 1, 
1854, under a contract with Captain Henry ......... . ...... $80 00 

In the absence of a receipt for the n11mey paid, Comptroller Johns's 
certificate appears, under date of March 3, 1860, to show that are­
ceipt was then ou file in his office. Captain Henry certifies that 
this expense was necessary to collect his company together. The 

$143 50 
164 00 

166 58 

197 43 

50 00 

• 

50 00 
46 00 

24 90 

14 00 

30 00 



CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED ~nATES. 

Voucher. 
United States Government should only pay for expenses incurred 
from tlle date the company was accepted by the governor of the 
State, as shown by the muster-in rolls, and after that date there 
was, or should have been, no JJecessity for the expense charged on 
this voucher. As the man whose services are charged for was 
borne on the company's roll and an award for his services bas been 
suggested on voncher 1, this charge should be disallowed ......... . 

11. M.A. Taylor, medical attendance on ·wyatt Hanks, November 13 to 
20, 1854 ........ -- .... -.- .. ---- .. --- .••. - .. - ••...•... - . -.. $60 00 

The physician swears to the correctness of the account and the rates 
charged, and the voucher bears the approva} of a lieutenant, as as­
sistant qnartermaster, and of the State adjutant-general. The man 
attended and was mustered into service. Johns's certificate appears 
in the absence of a receipt. The charge rests within the scope of 
time for which reimbursement of pay and allowances on account of 
this company is suggested, and is considered a proper charge, but 
should be suspended for want. of receipt ............. .......... . 

12. A. J. Lott and G. G. Steel, medical attendance from November 8 to 
14, 1854. 

Isaac Hickman ............................................. $27 00 
William Lee ........................................... · .... 28 00 
Mr. Sim1ns ............ ~ ... . .. . .. . ... ... . ... . .. . ... . .. .. .... 20 00 
Approved by State adjutant-general and by Captain Henry. 
Johns's certificate appears in the absence of a receipt. 
Isaac Hickman's name does not appear on the company roll, therefore 

the charge for him should be disallowed ...................... . .. . 
Lee and Simms were nmstPred in as privates. This voucher dupli­

cates, in part, the charges in voucher 7 for medical attendance on 
the same men during the same time. The duplicate charges on that 
voucher stand <li ·allowed, for the reason that it was not approved 
by a company ofticer, and that two physicians for one person at the 
same time are not admissible nnder ordinary circumstances. These 
charges rest within the scope of time for which reimbursement of 
pay and allowances on account of this company is suggested, and 
are considered proper charges, bnt should .be suspended for want of 
a proper receipt ................................................ . 

13. S. R. Reynolds, horseshoeing in November, 1 ~5-!-
For Captain Henry's company . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . $72 50 
For Captain ·walker's company.............................. :39 55 
For Captain Rogers's company.............................. 7 50 
:For Captain Travis's company ......... -.................... 1 87 
The bill for Henry's company is certified to by one of the'lieutenants 

and is approved by the captain. This company had no farrier and 
blacksmith, and the charges rest within the scope of time for which 
reimbursement. of pay and allowances on account of this company 
is suggested. If that suggestion shall be favorably considered, this 
amount for shoeing horses of men whose names are on the company 
roll sbon1d be a\}owed ...........•............................... 

Tlle balance charged, being for shoeing h'.>rses of men whose names do 
not appear on the company roll, should be disallowed ............ . 

The companies eommandecl by Captains ·walker, Roger~!!, and Tra>is 
each harl a farrier and blacksmith, whose duty it was to shoe the ani­
mals belonging to tho said companies, respectively, and, therefore, 
the amonnts claimed for shoeing done for said companies, beiug im­
proper charges against the United Rtates, shoald be disa,llowed . ... 

14. Joseph Lance, pay and allowances for three months' service .. $ii 10 
Amount receiYed .......................................... til 40 

Difference claimed and paid on this voucher. . . . . . . . . . . . . 15 70 
A certificate is filed as a substitute for a receipt. 

As this man was not mustered into the Uniterl States service, thi · is 
an improper charge against the United States, therefore should ue 
disallowed .............. _ ........................... .......... _. 

15. Charles E. Aikins, pay and allowances as a private for three 
months....... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $77 10 
A certificate is filed as a substitute for a receipt. 

This man's name does not appear on the company's rolls signed by 
mustering officers, therefore this amount, being an improper charge 
against the United States, should be disallowed ................ . 

59 

$30 00 

60 00 

27 00 

48 00 

53 75 

18 75 

48 92 

15 70 

77 10 



60 CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATE~ 

William Fitzhugh's company. 
Voucher. 

1. William Fitzhugh, pay and allowances as captain for three months, to 
December 24, 1854; payment made 11th March, 1856..... $3tl3 10 
On the 5th Febrnary, ltlG6, James W. Throckmorton was appointed 

agent to pay William Fitzhugh's company, "which was enrolled at 
the town of McKitmey,.iu the month of October, 1854, for three months' 
service," the members of the company to be paid the same as al­
lowed by law and regulations of the United States to mounted volun­
teers. 

In the written instructions given to this agent by the governor the 
following appears : . 

"Yon wil~ recognize no assignment of any member of said company 
which does not show on its face that the party knew that he was. en­
titled to three months' pay, as conveying a right to any more than 
one month and twenty-one days' pay. Service aU over and above that 
amount is a gratuity from the State, and should only be paid to the 
party who rendered the service, unless the said party bas assigned it 
with a full knowledge of his right." (See paper No. 67.) 

Upon referring to the remarks for voucher 1 of Boggess's company 
it will be understood why the governor considered this company (Fitz­
hugh's) entitled to pay for only one month and twentY,-one days. The 
reason was because the governor believed that this, and no more, was 
the time it was "actually in the service of the State." 

As a general rule, the United States Government pays only for serv­
ice rendered or for the time a person or party is actually employed in 
its service. 

As General Smith issued his call on the lst November, 1Fl54, and t.bis 
company was mustered into State service on the day following that 
date, the inference to be drawn iherefrom is that the United States 
Government is responsible for the pay and allowances accruing to the 
members of this ·company, and for expenses properly incurred on its 
account, from the 2d day of November, 1~54, as it was then organized 
and recognized by the governor under General Smith's. call. . 
In view of the foregoing facts, this amount, being for set:vices during 

. the one month and twenty-one da~Ts immediately prior to December 
24, 1854, should be allowed._ ...... __ ............................ . 

The balance claimed on this voucher, being an improper charge against 
the United States, should be disallowed ......................... . 

2. F. M. Dougherty, first lieutenant; dates of service not stated.$323 10 
As on voucher 1, except that this amount shall be allowed ......... . 
And this disallowed .............................................. . 

3. A. J. Trussell, second lieutenant; dates of service not stated .. $308 10 
As on voucher 1, except that this amount should be suspended, as the. 

offi.cer's servant is not described ................ _ ...... _ ........ _. 
And this disallowed ................................. --· .......... . 

4. Pay-roll of enlisted men; da,tes of service not stated ... _ ... $6, 666 90 
Item l. John B. White, first sergeant, pay and allowances for three 

months ....... _ ....... _ ........ _ ............ _ ........ ·•. $104 50 
Item 2. John Scanland, sergeant...... . .. . . . .. .. .. .. . . . . .. . 95 50 
Item 3. John M. Street, sergeant........................... 95 50 
Item 4. William U. Lewis, sergeant ............ ·---··...... 9f> 50 
Item 5. S. G. S. McGarrah, corporal .. .. .. . . .. .. . . .. .. .. .. . . 83 10 
Item 6. John 0. Mcintire, corporal......................... 83 10 
Item 7. Larkin Ball, corporal ...... .... ...... ... . .... .... .. 83 10 
Item 8. Joshua Gorham, corporal.......................... 8:~ 10 
Item 9. John J. Miller, bugler............................. 80 50 
Item 10. AndrewJ. Wisdom, lmgler...... ...... ...... ...... 80 50 
Item 11. William B. Dingle, blacksmith and farrier.... . . . . . 77 10 
The remarks for voucher 1 are applicable to these items, except that · 

this amount should be allowed .................................. . 
And this disallowed-----· ....... _ .......... __ ..... --· .. _ ......... . 
Items 12, 13, 15, 17-27,29-35,37-44,46-50, 52-58, 60-67, anc169-85, for 

services of sixty-six privates ........................... $5,088 60 
As on voucher 1, except that this amount, being for sixty-six privates, 

at $43.69 each, shoukl be allowed ............ _ ................... . 
And this should be disallowed ................. _ .................. . 
Items 14, 16, 28, 36, 45, 51, 59, and 68, for services of eight pri-

vates ...... -~-- .............. ·----· ...... ·----· ......... $616 80 

$216 75 

166 35 

182 75 
140 35 

174 25 
133 85 

544 85 
416 65 

2,883 54 
2,205 06 



CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 

Voucher. 
As the names of the men charged for do not appear on the rolls signed 

by mustering officers, this amount, being an important charge 
against the United States, should be disallowed .................. . 

5. James W. Throckmorton, pay as mustering officer of Captain William 
:Fitzhugh's company, $50. This voucher is simply a re(1uisition made 
by James W. Throclonot'ton for the money. It is not approved by 
any State official, and Comptroller Johns's certificate of February 29, 
1860, appeMs as a substitute for a receipt. The company was mus­
tered in first by the adjutant-general, and afterward by an officer 
of the Army; therefore this expense was unnecessary, and, being an 
improper charge against the United States, the amount should be 
disallowed ..................................................... . 

6. James W. Throc]{morton, for disbursing $7,7:3UW in paying off Captain 
'William Fitzhugh's company of mountefl volnnteeers, at 5 per cent., 
$386.56. Dates of service are not stated. A copy of the a.ppointment 
of Throckmorton is filed. It states that on settlement of his proceed­
ings under this appointment a "reasouahle compensation" will be 
allowed. A receipt for the money is not prodnce.d, hut a certificate, 
signed by Comptroller Johns, February ~t3, 18f50, statPs: "Receipt 
for the amount of $:386.56 is on file." 

The expense of employing an agent to pay these troops for services 
subsequent to November 2,11354, was a contingency necessarily coup­
led with their employment; therefore this vouchar is admissible for 
5 per cent. on the amount found admissible by the United States on 
payments made I.Jy Throckmorton for or on account of this company. 
Of the amount paid by Throckmorton this is favorably considered, 
$4,002.14, and the per cent. thereon should also be favorably con­
sidered, but should be suspended. for "ant of a proper receipt .....• 

The balance charged on this voucher, being an improper charge against 
the United States, should be disallowecl ......................... . 

7. William \V. Paynt>, medical aid rendered to James Everitt, Captain 
Fitzhugh's company, from December 1G to Decem her 25, 1~54. $:3':5 00 

Everett's name does not appear on the rolls signed by mustering offi­
cers of the Army, ancl it is not shown that be was a contract physi­
cian, therefore the amount oft his voucher~ being an improper charge 
against the United States, should be disallowed .................. . 

8. R. F. Hodgecoxt·, transportation of baggage f01: Captain Fitzhugh's 
company from Austin to camp, and returning, 24 days, at $6. $144 00 

Dates of service not stated. The remarks on \Oucher 10, Captain 
Boggess's company, are applicable to this voucher, the amount of 
which should be disa-llowed ..................................... . 

9. F. M. Dougherty, wagon and team employed from the 16th day of 
October to the 2cl of December, 1854, in transporting baggage for 
Captain Fitzhugh's company, 16 days, at $6 per day ........ $96 00 

A certificate is submitted in place of a receipt. As on voucher 13, 
Walker's company, should be disallowed ............• .. _ ....... . 

10. Felix McKetrich, 18 clays' rations, from November 2G to December 1:3, 
1854: Soap, $5; candles, $5; vinegar, $15.75; rice, $19.12 ... $44 87 

As on voucher 8, should l.Je disallowed .......................... _ .. . 
11. T. H. Turney, expenses in the burial of James Everett, December 25, 

1854 .......... ··-··· ·--· ......... ·--· ............... ······ $32 00 
A certificate appears in place of a receipt. As stated on voucher 7, 

Everett's name does not appear on the rolls signetl by a mustertng 
officer of the Army, therefore the amount of this voucher, being an 
improper charge against the United States, should be disallowed_. .. 

12. Latimer & Swindell, advertising "notice to rangers," February 9, 
1856.- - ......•... -- . . . . . - ... - ..... - ...... - .... - - . - ..... -. $15 00 

Approvetl by the governor, to be paid out of the appropriation for 
the payment of the volunteers mustered in the fall of 1854. 

James \V. Throckmorton, who paid this expense, was appointed pay­
master on the 5th of February, 1856, and instructed to pay this com­
pany, which was disbanded in 1855. Directly after the date of his 
appointment" notice to rangers" appear charged for. In the ab<;~ence 
of copies of the notices it is inferred that they were issued as a 
measure necessary to the paymaster's duties. If the suggestion 
made on voucher G in regard to paying these troops shall be favor-
ably co~si1lere(l, this charge should be allowed .................. . 

61 

$616 80 

50 00 

200 11 

186 45 

38 00 

144 00 

96 00 
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l;) 00 



62 CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 

Charles E. Tt·avis's company. 

Voucher. 
1. Charles E. Travis, pay and allowances as captain for three months. 

Dates of service not stated, and servant not described. Payment 
made May27, 1856 .... ·----- ·----· ........................ $3t33 10 
On the 1st May, 1856, James H. Raymond was appointed agent to pay 

Charles E. Travis's company, and he paid the members thereof for 
three months' service. 

As a general rule, the United States Government pays only for serv­
ices rendered, or for the time a person or party is actually employed in 
its service. 

As General Smith issued his call on the 1st of November, 1854, and 
this company was mustered into State service on the day following 
that date, the inference to be drawn therefrom is that the United 
States Government is responsible for the pay and allowances accru­
ing to the members of this company, and for expenses properly in­
curred on its account from the 2d day of November, 1854, as it was 
then organized and recognized by the governor under General Smith's 
call. 

Powers of attorney filed in connection with payments made for 
members of this company are, in several instances, informal, in this, 
that they are not witnessed as required by law, ancl are not attested 
by the certificate anil seal of the clerk of a court of record to show 
the standing of certain magistrates who administered oaths. It is in­
ferred that these informalities cannot now be remedied by the State 
authorities, and therefore this objection should be waived. 
In view of the foregoing facts it is suggested that this amount, being 

for services during the 29 days immediately prior to December 1, 
1B54, is a proper charge, but should be suspended for want of a de-
scription of the officer's servant . ...... _. _ ... __ ... _ ........ _ .... .. 

The balance claimed ou this voucher, inclu_ding an overcharge of 60 
cents on servant's clothing, being au improper charge against the 
United States, should be disallowed._ .......................... .. 

2. G. W. Chapman, first lieutenant. Servant is described . .... $023 10 
As on voucher 1, except that this amount should be allowed .. _ ..... . 
And this disallowed .. .. .. . .. .. . .. . .. . . . .. .. . .. . .. ............... . 

3. J. D. Scott, second lieutenant; servant not described ........ $102 70 
As on voucher 1, except that this amount should be suspended ..... . 
And this disallowed ..................... _ ........................ . 

4. Pay-roll of enlisted men. Dates of Eervice not stated. . . . . $6, 932 23 
Item 1. William B. Covington, first sergeant, pay and allowances for 

three months ...... . ..................................... $104 50 
Item 2. D. M. Dean, sergeant ......... e ~. • .. • • • • • .. • .. • • • • • 95 50 
As the names of these two men do not appear on rolls signed by mus­

tering officers, the amount charged for in the above two items, being 
an improper charge against the United States should be disallowed. 

Item 3. William Webb, sergeant ........................... $95 50 
Item 4. R. M. White, sergeant............................. 95 50 
Item 5. John F. Jones, corporaL .. . . .. .. .. .. . .. . .. .. .. .. . . . 83 10 
Item 6. J. C. C. Bonner, corporaL...... . . . .. . . .. .. . . . . .. . .. 83 10 
Item 7. W. H. Wood, corporal . ...... ...... ...... ...... .... 83 10 
Item 8. F. C. Stewart, corporal............................ 83 10 
Item 9. J. N. Hooks, bugler................................ 80 50 
Item 10. J. F. Robert, bugler.............................. 80 50 
Item 11. E. B. Wade, farrier ....................... --~---.. 77 10 
As on voucher 1, except that this amount should be allowed ........ . 
And this disallowed ......... ~ ... __ ............................... . 
Items 12-16, 18-23,26-40, 42, 44-52,54-60,62,64-84, for services of one 

sergeant and sixty-four privates ........................ $5,029 90 
As on voucher 2, except that this amount should be allowed ........ . 
And this disallowed .............................................. . 
Items 17, 24, 41, and 63, for services of four privates ......... $308 40 
As on items 1 and 2, the amount of these four items should be disal-

lowed ............. ............. _ ............................... . 
Item 25. E. T. Everly, private ............................. $77 10 
This man's name does not appear on the muster-in roll, but the muster­

out roll shows that he "joined as recruit for service December 22, 
1854." The amount charged for in the above item, being for services 
prior to "joining as recruit," is an improper charge against the 
United States, therefore should be disallowed .................... . 

$123 25 

259 85 

103 92 
219 18 

99 08 
3 62 

200 00 

245 37 
516 13 

1,620 75 
3,409 15 

308 40 

77 10 . 



CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 

Voucher. 
Items 4:3, 5:3, and 63, for services of three privates. . . . . . . . . . . $~31 30 
Not receiptell for on pay-roll, therefore this amount should be disal-

lowed . .... --- ... ----- ----- · · ·--- · ·- ·--- ·----- ·----- ·----- · · · · 
Tho correct total of the pay-roll for this company is $6,608.20, or 

$324.03 less than the amount carried to the abstract; therefore this 
discrepancy, hPing an improper charge against the United States, 
r,hould be disallowed ... _ ....... - .............................. .. 

5. E. B. Wade, farrier, services as private .. __ .... _ .. _. __ . . . . . . . $77 10 
For extra services as farrier to company, 90 days, at 18 cents. 16 20 

Paid, as per pay-roll on file ............................ .. 
93 30 
77 10 

16 20 
Comptroller Johns certified, February 29, 1860, that "receipt of 

Edward B. Wade for said $16.20 is on file." Said receipt is not sub­
mitted. 
The roll shows that this man was musterecl in as farrier and black­

smith. He was not entitled to extra-duty pay for extra services in 
the business for which be was mustered. This amount should be 
disallowed .. __ ........... _ . . ... _. ___ . __ ............ _. _ ......... . 

6. James S. Gillett, mustering into service volunteers at Cameron, 1~th 
October, 1854 ............................... -----· ........ $50 00 

Comptroller Johns certified, February 27, 1860, that" receipt is on file 
in this office." Said receipt is not submitted. The secretary of 
state certified, Austin, February 20, 1856, that Gillett was appointed 
on the 11th October, 1t:!54, to enroll and inspect the volunteers that 
were to present themselves at Cameron on the 18th October, 18.54. 
This amount for services rendered prior to November 2, 1864, the 
date of muster into State service, bein~ an improper ch .. uge, should 
be disallowed ....... _ ..... _ .............. ....................... . 

7. Ford and Jones, advertisement of pay to volunteers, Captain Travis's 
company, l\1<-ty 10, lri56 .......... _.. . . .. . .. ................ $-! 50 

Certified to as correct by the treasurer, aud approved by the governor. 
Comptroller Johns certified, l<'ebruary 28, 1~60, that "receipt for the 
above amount of $4.50 is on file." Said receipt is not subruitted. 
James H. Haymond was appointed paymaster on the 1st May, 1856, 
and inst.rnctcd to pay off this company, which was disbanded in 18G5. 
Directly after the date of his appointment, the services charged for 
in this voucher, it appears, were rendered. In the absence of a copy 
of the advertisement, it is inferrea that this expense was necessary 
to enable the paymaster to perform his duties. If the suggestion 
made on voucher 8 in regard to paying these troops shall be favor­
ably considered, this charge may be admissible, but the amount 
should be suspended for want of a proper receipt. __ ........... __ .. 

1st part. James II Raymond, services rendered as paymaster in pay-
ing oft' Captain Travis's company ....... ·-----·----···--·· ··376 35 
Comptroller Johns certified, February 29, 18W, that "receipt of 

James U. Raymond for said amount of $376.35 is on file." Said receipt 
is not submitted. 

The appointment of Raymond is filed. It states," Your compensa­
tion for said service will be same as may hereafter be allowed to 
the persons appointed to pay off the other companies." 
It was suggested to allow the paymasters of other companies a com­

pensfttion of 5 per cent. on so much of the amount paid by them as 
should be allowable by the United States. That suggestion, favor­
ably considered, would entertain the same rate of compensation in 
this case. 'l'berefore, this amount, being 5 per cent. on $2,196.871 is 
considered admissible, but should be suspended for want of a proper 
receipt ... __ .. ____ ..... _ ... __ .... ___ ... ___ .... _ . _ ... __ .. _ •• _. _ . _ . 

The balance, being an improper charge against the United States, 
should be disallowed .. __ .... __ .... -- .......... _ ..... ___ .. ___ - ... 

8. 2d part. James H. Raymond, for services rendered as paymaster under 
appointment of Governor E. M. Pease in paying companies of Cap­
tains William Tom, Levi English, and William C. Tobin, expenses 
included ..................... ·-----··--·· ................ $100 00 

This charge being for services rendered in connection with a class of 
troops to be hereafter referred to, is here disallowed, and will be 
transferred to class three .. __ ..... _ ..... _ ..... _ ... ___ •..••..... _. 

63 

$231 30 

324 03 

16 20 

50 00 

4 50 

109 84 

266 51 

100 00 



64 CLADIS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 

P. H. Rogers's company. 
Voucher. 

P. H. Rogers, pay and allowances as captain for three months, from · 
8th NovemiJer, 1855, to 8th February, 1856, payment made March 
31, 1856.----. -....... -- .. -.---- ------ ---- .. --- ----- .. -.-- .. - .. 
On the 22d March, HJ56, A.M. M. Upshaw was appointed agent to 

pay P. H. Rogers's company,'' which was enrolled at the town of 
Brenham, in the month of October, 1854, for three months' service," 
the members of the company to be paid the same as allowed by la.w 
and regulations of the United States to mounted volunteers. 

In the written instruction given to this agent by the governor the 
following :,tppears: 

"You will recognize no assignment from any member of said com­
pany as conveying more than his pay for one month and twenty-two 
days, unless it shall appear from said assignment that the assignor 
knew that he was entitled to receive full three months' pay, and 
intends t.o convey that amount." (See paper No. 68.) 

Upon referring to the remarks for voucher 1 of Boggess's company, 
it will be understood why the governor considered this company 
(Rogers's) entitled to pay for only one month and twenty-two days. 
The reason was because the governor believed that this, and no more, 
was the time it was "actually in the service of the State," though it 
seems he made an error of eight days in favor of the company. 

As a general rule, the United States Government pays only for serv­
ices rendered or for the time a person or party is actually employed 
in its service. 

As General Smith issued his call on the 1st November, 1854, and this 
company was mustered into St.ate service on the ·8th of November, 
the inference to be drawn therefrom is that the United States Gov­
ernment may be responsible for t.he pay and allowances accruing to 

, the members of this company, and for expenses properly incurred on 
its account from the 8th day of November, 1854, as it was then organ­
ized and recognized by the governor under General Smith's call. 

In view of the foregoing facts, it is suggested this amount,, being for 
services for one month and fourteen days immediately prior to 
December 22, 1854, should be allowed ........................ .. 

The balance claimed on this voucher, including an overcharge of 1')0 
cents on servant's clothing, being an improper charge against the 
United States, should be disallowed .......................... .. 

2. Alexander S. Wright, tirst lieutenant ..................... $32:3 10 
3. E. \V. Rogers, second lie:utenant .......................... 308 10 

As on voucher 1, except that this amount should be allowed ...... . 
And this disallowed ................................ ' ····· ..... . 

4. Pay-roll of enlisted men; dates of services not stated; _ abstracted 
for ......... __ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $3, 976 58 

The roll was made up for . _.... .. . . . . . . . . .. . . $4, 967 26 
The amount not receipted for is ........... _.. 1, 023 23 
Shewing this amount actually paid, viz ................. 3, 944 0:3 
This difference, overcharged, should be disallowed ............... . 
Item 1. William M. Bennet, first sergeant, pay and allow-

ance for three mouths ........................ $104 50 
Item 2. David Smith, sergeant------.................... 95 50 
Item ~- Thomas W. Rogers, sergeant....... . . . . . . .. . . . . .. 95 ;)0 
Item 4. Ezekiel White, sergeant......................... 95 50 
Item 5. John F. Kuffington, corporaL ..... _ ..... , ........ 8:3 10 
Item 6. In part, Alexander B. Davis, corporal . _.. .. . . . . . . 54 40 
Item 7. William M. Kusee, corporaL..................... 83 10 
Item 8. J. H. Hutchison, corporal....................... 83 10 
Item 10. Charles H. Allen, IJngler...... ... ... ...... ...... 80 50 
Item 11. Jacob Benson, farrier and blacksmith........... 77 10 
Powers of attorney filed in connection with payments made for mem-

bers of this company are, in many instances, informal, in this, 
that they are not witnessed as required by law and are not attested 
by the certificate and seal of the clerk of a court of record to show 
the standing of certain magistrates who administered oaths. It 
is inferred that these informalities cannot now be remedied by thl3 
State authorities, and therefore this objection may be waived. 
Otherwise, the remarks foi' voucher l are applicable to these items, 
except that this amount should be allowed ....•.... _ ........... . 

And this disallowed ............................................ . 

$383 10 

196 10 

308 00 
323 20 

32 55 

430 71 
421 59 



CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 

Voucher. 
Items 12-14,16-20,21 in part, 2:3,24, 26,27 in part, 28, 29, 

30, :n in part, 32 in part, :33-41,43,44,45,47,50 in part, 
51-55,56 in part, 57, 59,60 iu part, and 61 in part, for 
serviees of 42 privates ...... ...... ·----- ·----- ...... $2,977 80 

As on items 1-8, 10, and 11 above, except that this amount, being 
for 42 privates, at $37.69t, should be allowed ................... . 

And this disallowed ....... ------·----··----- ...... ------ .... ----
Items 62 and 64, for services of two privates .. ___ ..... ___ . $113 93 
As tho names of the men charged for do not appear on rolls signed 

by a mustering officer, this amount, being an improper charge 
against the United States, should be disallowed ............ _ . _ .. 
Items 6 in part., 9, 1f>, 21 in part, 22, 25, 27 in part, 31 in part, 32 in 

part, 4~. 46, 48, 49, 50 in part, 56 in part, 60 in part, 61 in part, ·and 
63, for the several amounts of which receipts do not appear, are 
deducted, therefore require uo action. 

5. A.M. Upshur, pay for enrolling and organizing Captain P. H. Rog-
ers's company in October, 1~54 ........ ·----- ·----· ·----· $~0 00 

This voucher, beiug a charge for services rendered prior to the date 
of muster into State service, should be disallowecl .. _ ... _ .. _ .•.. 

6. A.M. Upshur, services as paymaster, for paying off Captain P. H. 
Rogers's company-dates of service not stated._. __ . . . . . $299 08 
A copy of the appointment of Upshur is filed. It stated that on 

settlement of his account with the comptroller a reasonable com­
pensation would bo allowed. 

Comptroller Johns, February 28,1860, certified that receipt for the 
above amount of $299.01:3 was then on file in his office. Said receipt 
is not submitted. 
The remarks for voucher 6 of Fit,zhugh's company are applicable 

to this voucher, of which this amount, $118.37, being 5 per cent. on 
$2,:367.49, favorably considered, is admissible, but should be s•1spended, 
for want of proper rEceipt .......... _ .... _ •... _ .......... __ ...... . 
The balance charged on this voucher, being an improper charge against 

the United States, should be disallowed·--------·-··----- ...... .. 
7. Bennett F. Henderson, private. Balance of pay, &c ...... --. $:32 55 

Charles Human, private. Balance of pay, &c ............... $32 55 
8. As allowances for the full time these men were actually in the service 

of the State have been suggested on items 27 and 31 of voucher 4, 
this amount, paid on their account, should be disallowed ........ .. 

9. Andrew B. Eckles, private. Pay and allowances for three 
months------ .... -----·------ ............................ $77 10 
Comptroller Johns certified, February 29, 1860, that a receipt for 

this amount was then on file in his office. Said receipt is not sub­
mitted. 
As on voucher 1, except that this amount should be suspended for 

want of a proper receipt .. _ ................. ~-- ... --· ... _ .... _--· 
And this should be disallowed .. __ ... __ ............... _ ..... __ .... . 

1.0. Thomas A. Evans, private. Balance of pay . _-. _ ........ ___ . $32 55 
As on vouchers 7 and 8 (except in this case see item 21 of voucher 

4), this amount should ue disallowed ......... ·----·-----·---· ... . 
11. George W. Parks, private. Pay and allowances for three 

months ............................. ···-·-· .... ----····--·· $77 10 
As on voucher 9, except that this amount should be suspended .. ___ . 
and this should be disallowed ...... __ .. __ ..... __ .......... _ .... __ .. 

12. Samuel A. Terrell, private. Balance of pay .. _. _ ..... _ .. __ .. $32 55 
As on vouchers 7 and 8 (except in this case see item 56 of voucher 

4 ), the amount of this voucher should be disallowed ...... _ .. : .... 
13. A. R. Mott, private. Pay and allowances .................... $77 10 

As on voucher U, this amount should JJe suspended .. __ .......... __ .. 
And this disallowed ............... · ...................... ____ ..... . 

14. T. M. Petty, private. Pay and allowaiJces ................. _ $77 10 
As on items 1 to 11 of voucher 4, except that this amount should JJe 

allowed . ...... ·-----·----·-·--·---···----- .... ·-----·----···--·· 
And this disallowed ......... --· ........... : ....... __ ............. . 

lG. E. P. Carver, private. Pay and allowances ................. $77 10 
16. F. Nordhnes, bugler. Pay and allowances ... _.. . . . . . . . . . . . . 80 50 

As on voucher 9, except that this amount should be suspended------
And this disallowed ................... _. : . ..................... _ .. 

17. Mercer Fain, use of wagon and team six days, at $G, dates of service 
not stated .. ..... _ ............................... __ ....... $36 00 

S. Ex. 74--5 

65 

$1,583 12 
1, 394 68 

113 93 

50 00 

llt; 37 

180 71 

65 10 

37 69 
39 41 

32 55 

37 69 
39 41 

32 55 

37 69 
39 41 

37 69 
39 41 

77 06 
80 54 



6 CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 

Voucher. 
18. 0. Evans and Hanson, 711 rations subsistence, at :~9 cents, from 

December 15 to 23, 1854, $277.29; seven hundred and eleven rations 
forage, at 31 cents, from December 15 to 2:~, H~54, $220.41 ........ . 

The remarks on voucher 10, Boggess's company, are applicable to these 
vouchers, the amount of which should be disallowed ......... ___ . 

19. E. Kranskoff, gunsmith work in November, 18!'>4, Captain Rogers's 
company ............................................. ___ . $68 50 

Captain Walker's company------·---------··.·----·........ 1:~ 7G 
Captain Henry's company.................................. 4 00 

The account for Rogers's company is eert.ified to as correct and nec­
essary by the first lieutenant of the company, and is approved by 
Lieutenant Garrison, assistant quartermaster, Texas Rangers, and is 
receipted by A. A. Muncey, attorney for Krauskoif. The other ac­
counts are certified to as correct and necessary by Captains Walker 
and Henry, respectively, bnt are not receipted. Comptroller Johns 
-certified, March 1, 11i60, that the receipt of A . .A.. Muncey, attorney 
for E. Krausko:ff, for the sum of $8t:i.25, was then on file. Said receipt 
is not submitted. 
If the suggestion made in regard to awarding reimbursement on ac­

count of these troops should be favorably considered, this amount 
being properly incurred in arming and equipping the same, and be-
ing supported by proper vouchers, should be allowed ............ . 

This amount, charged on account of H. Lehman, whose name does 
not appear on the rolls signed by a mustering officer, should be dis-
allo·wed . _ .................................................. ____ . 

And this amount should be suspended for want of proper receipts._. 
20. Samuel Stone, Captain Rogers's company, in November, 11:l54, ferriage 

for 5 days...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $30 00 
Captain Walker's company, ferriage ...... .. ____ ....... __ . . 6 00 
Captain Henry's company, November 3 to 2:3, 1~54. 

Attention and hospital service rendered to the sick of this company, 
viz: 
Simms, Lee, Hickman, Reyburn, and York, at $25 ...... ... _. 
Boarding six horses ___ ............................ _ ... _ .. . 
Attention and funeral expenses of Hickman ............ __ .. 
:Ferrying sundry times to and from town ............. __ ... . 
Board and attention of Hanks and horse ....... __ ... _. __ . _. 

$125 00 
GO 00 
60 00 
10 00 
25 00 

280 00 
The subvouchers are certified as to correct and necessary by the 

captains and approved by the governor. 
The remarks of voucher 7 of Henry's company are applicable to the 

charges for board and attention to sick on this voucher, of which 
this amount should be allow eeL .... ___ ........ ............. _ .. _ .. 
The balance should be disallowed for the following reasons, viz : 

The charge on Hank's account is a duplicate of voucher t:l, Captain 
Henry's account; Hickman's name does not appear on Henry's rolls 
signed hy a mustering officer; and the remarks to voucher 10 of 
Boggess's company are applicable to the charges for boariling horses 
and ferriage; therefore this amount should be disallowed._ .. _. _ .. 

RECAPITULATION. CLASS I. 
The abstract for payments made to the six companies calls 

for ............ ----·- ................................ $50,109 32 
To this should be added, for an error in addition in Bog-

gess's roll, the sum of $77.10, less 25 cents for an error 
in abstracting voucher 23, same company .. ___ . . . . . . . . 76 85 

Correct amount of account...... .. . . .. .. .. .. . . . .. . . . . . .. 50, 186 17 
which is disposed of, in the foregoing analyses, as fol-
lows: 
Amount which should be-

Allowed .............. _. . . . .. . _._ ....... _.. "$Hi, 283 21 
l::\uspended . ___ ........ _ ............ _ ... _.. . *3, 942 14 
Disallowed .. _ ........... __ .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. 29, 9ti0 82 

Total. ... --·- .............. :..................... 50,186 17 

$497 70 

533 70 

()8 50 

25 
17 50 

100 00 

216 00 

*It. is respectfully submitteu that the sum of these two amounts ('l'iz, $20,2:!5.:35) is all of the foregoing 
amount that iR admissible as a proper chargt1 against the United States on account of the six companies 
called out by GenAral P. I<'. Smith in 11:!54. The greater part of the amount • • disallowed" is composed 
of sums which the State paid to the troops as" graLuity." (See annexed papen67.) 



CL.AIMS .AG.AINS'I' THE UNI'I'ED ST.ATES. 

CLASS II. 

Voucher. 
Callahan's parf.IJ. 

1. J. H. Callahan ............................................ $409 40 
This voucher is ~:~imply a re(·eipt for this amount paid the captain for 

three mouths' service, viz, Jrom July 20 to October 19, 1855. Items 
are not stated in det.ail; the officer's sel'\·ant is not described; and 
an excess beyond what was allowed by law and Army regulations 
appears in this charge. Said excess amounts to $6.90, which should 
be disallowed .............................. _ .. __ .... __ .. _ ... __ .. 

Any action tlJat will allow reimbursement of any expenditure on 
account of this company will favorab1y consifler this amount, sub­
ject, however, to suspension until the voncher shall be perfected_ .. 

2. William Kyle, seconcllieutenan t .... __ ..• ____ . __ . _ ......... $3~2 72 
3. Eel. Burleson, first lieutenant and assisLant, quartermaster... 408 06 

As on vonclwr 1, next above, except that here the excessive are Kyle 
$5.22. and Burleson $65.56, which should be disallowed ........... . 

The balance. as on voucher 1, suspended .......................... . 
4. Pay-rollvf enlisted men ................................... fn;7,48l 68 

Items 1 to 83 antl 85, for services of 82 men from Jnly 20 to October 19, 
1H55, ancl of 2 men from .July 20 to October 3, 1tl55 ....... $7,390 26 
.A mustflr-roll, certified to by Callahan and Mustering Officer J.D. 

Pitts, bears t.he items ancl receipts pertaining to this amount. 
Any action that will allow reimbursement of any expenditure on 

account of this company will favorably consider this amount, sub-
ject to petty dednctions ............ , .......................... . 

Item 84, for services of an enlisted man ...................... $91 42 
No receipt appears for this, therefore the amount should be disal-

lowed ..... ··---- ................................ --·· ...... ___ ... 
5. Pay-rollforpropertylost by enlisted men while in Mexico; items 1-22 

a.nd 24-29 .............................................. $2, 213 00 
Each item is supported by an affidavit made by the captain of the 

company, and the articles ancl valuation charged compare favorably 
with remarks on the company-roll. 
Rema1·k.-.Any action that will allow reimbursement of any expendi­

ture made on account of this company will favorably consider this 
amount .............................. , ......................... . 

Item 23. The amount of this Las been deducted from the claim, there­
fore requires no action. 

5. Made up of various items, to be dealt with separately. 
Item 1. John Riley, 326 bushels of corn, at $1.10, October 11, 

1 55 . - ' . . . . - . - • . - . - . . .•.. - . - ... - . - - .... - . . . . . . ... - .. - .. - . $358 60 
This bill, approved by Captain Callahan, bears the certificate of 

Lieutenant Burleson, ass1st:mt quartermaster, that the corn was de­
livered and that it was actually necessary for the P?blic s~rvice. 

Why the contractor, Swenson (see item 1:3 followmg), chd not fur­
nish a full supply of forage is not explained. 

If this bill does not in fact exhibit false signatures on its face, then 
it is simply a copy, but it is not so marked. 
Were any of the charges in this class allowable, this amount would 

be subject to suspension for want of a proper voucher, and for sat-
isfactory explanation in connection with item 13. _ ............... . 

Item 2. John Riley, seven weeks' rent of two houses, one for commis­
sary of supplies and the other for hospital, October 15, 1855 .. $26 25 

.As on item 1, next above, suspended .. _ ....................... -- .. .. 
Item :3. Erl. Burleson, transportation .......... _ ............. $409 68 

This bill is aR follows: ''Received, San Marcos, January 8, 1856, of 
Colonel John D. Pitts, paymaster, $409.6l:!, for transportation to Cap­
tain J. H. Callahan's company Texas mounted volunteers, entered 
upon rolls as pack-mules. Ed. Burleson, first lieutenant, assistant 
quartermaster. Witness: J. H. Callahan, captain." 
The rolls submitted do not throw any light upon this matter, further 

than that seventeen pack-mules, belonging to different individuals 
of the company, were lost in Mexico. 'l'he lack of evidence to sup­
port this charge will warrant a disallowance of this amount ....... 

Item 4. T. C. Doss, 560 bushels corn, at '1.'10, October 15,1855.$616 00 
This bill, approved by Callahan, bears the certificate of Burleson. Ex­

cepting that tbis is believed to be a genuine receipt, the remarks for 
item 1 are applicable to this amount-suspended ................. . 

67 

$6 90 

402 50 

70 78 
670 00 

7,390 26 

91 42 

2, 213 00 

358 60 

26 25 

409 68 

616 00 



68 CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 

Voucher. 
Item 5. Mrs. ReynoldR, shoeing horses; October 15, 1855 ....... $46 tlO 
Approved by Callahan ; certified by Burleson. The number of horses 

shod is not stated. The receipt is signed T. C. Doss, attorney, but 
no power of attorney is filed. This bill's defectiveuess is sufficient 
to warrant a disallowance of its amount ......................... . 
(See remarks for items 9 and 10 following.) 

Item 6. James Hunter, 54 bushels corn, October 13, 18G5 ....... $72.20 
As on item 1 of this voucher-suspended .......................... . 
Item 7. Ed. Burleson, trausportation of baggage .............. $36.00 

Claimaut Burleson explains: "I certify that the foregoing account 
is correct and just; that I have actually performed the journey herein 
charged for, in obedience to the authority hereunto annexed, which 
was received by me when in actual duty; and that I have received no 
public transportation, or money in lieu thereof, for any part of the 
above amount; and that I am not in arrears to the State of Texas on 
any account whatever." 
An order for the journey is not submitted, dates of service are not 

stated, and the charge is for transportation of baggage, and is not, 
as certified, for transportation of the officer. For these reasons, 
and in addition see remarks for item 3, this amount should be dis-
allowed .......... - ..... --· ......... -- .... -, ... --- .. ---- ... -- ... . 

Item tl. J. G. Barbee, services as surgeon for three months .... $:300 00 
Approved by Callahan ; approved by Burleson. 
The doctor's name does not appear on the rolls, and he was not a con-

tract physician, therefore this amount should be disallowed ...... . 
Item 9. Harmon Willie, shoeing horses ...................... $41 50 
Jtem 10. James Brown, shoeing horses .. . . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. 50 50 
Approved and certified as on item 1. The necessity for so much horse-

shoeing on the 15th October, 1855 (see item 5 ), is not explained. 
· Eighty-eight were the aggregate number of persons in the company, 

and of the animals employed with them forty-one were lost in Mex­
ico Parly in October, 1855. The company officers having been noti­
fied October 4, 1855, that they would be mustered out October 19, 
1855, the expenses incurred by them four clays before muster-out 
were extraordinary in character and amount. The total absence of 
full and satisfactory explanation concerning these items warrants 
their disallowance ............................................. . 

Item 11. Russell Varnell, services as guide .. . . . . .. . . .. .. . . . . $40 00 
Approved and certified as on item 1. Dates of service are not speci­

fied. If this company was ever properly and lawfully employed, it 
was when in a section of country with which its members must 
have been familiar, needing no guide. If a guide was necessary, 
then the organization was out of its proper element, and the ex-
penses incurred in such an event should be disallowed ........... . 

Item 12. J. H. Callahan, advances, October 12,1855 .......... $57 00 
This amount is made up of $23 for forage, $20 for corn, and $14 for 

horseshoeing for a scout, while out of reach of smiths, who were doing 
the company work, the captain asserting by certificate that he paid 
the money out of his own private means. 
Receipts of the parties paid by Callahan are not filed, and the correct­

ness of the;bill is not verified by affidavit. As submitted, this sub­
voucher is fatally defective, and its amount should be disallowed .. 

Item 13. S.M. Swanson .................. , _____ .......... $2,746 00 
This charge embraces items of subsistence, forage, medicines, ammu­

nition, scales and weights, stationery, camp equipage, and transporta­
tion. 

Reference is made to contract marked No. 1, dated August 3, 1855; 
also to contract marked No.2, dated October 30, 1854, and accounts 
marked Nos. 3 and 7. 

The contracts and accounts referred to in the foregoing memoranda 
on the bill are not submitted, dates of this account are not submitted, 
the correctness of this account is not certified to, daLes of service are 
not specified, and articles of property not perishable are not accounted 
for. 
Upon the evidence submitted this item of items is inadmissible; there-

fore should be disallowed ...................................... .. 
Item 14. Gastin Barbee, services rendered to men wounded fn bat-

tle ............... _.. • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $67 50 

$46 80 

72 20 

36 00 

300 00 

92 00 

40 00 

57 00 

2,746 00 
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Voucher. 
This bill, approved by Callahan, bears the certificate of Burleson 

"that the above account is correct and just; that the said Barbee did 
attend the men, and t,bat be did it at the request of Captain James H. 
Callahan, with the promise of having his claim properly presented to 
the State of Texas." 
Dates of service are not stated. This Dr. Barbee is supposed to be the 

same who figured in item 8; therefore this seems to be a double 
charge. If any amounts were allowable on this class, this item 
would be subject to suspension for want of satisfactory explana­
tion, and then it might be disallowed for the reasons stated in item 
8 ·----- ·----· .••••. -----· ···-·· ------ ..•••. ------ ---· ••... -----· 

Item 15. Thomas Durham, 2,263 rations of subsistence, at 39 cents, 
July 20, 1855 . ..••...••.•...•.. ------ ....••.. ------------ $882 57 
This bill, approved hy the governor, bears the certificate of Lieu­

tenant Burleson that the account is correct and the rations were fur­
nished. 
The necessity for so many rations for so few men in one day's time is 

not explained; abstracts of issues are not submitted; this charge is 
not submitted by a proper voucher, and if any amounts should be 
allowable in this class, this item should be suspended for want of 
satisfactory explanation ... _ •.... _ ............ _ ................ _. 

Benton's com]Jany. 

1. Roll of pay and allowances from September 15 to October 15, 
1855 . ----. ------ ------ ------ -- . ----. ----- .. ---- .. ----. $1' 57 4 83 

Item 1. Nat. Benton~ captain .. _ ................... _.. . . . . 191 35 
Item 2. H. B. King, first lieutenant....................... 161 88 
Item :3. Charles A. Read, second lieutenant. __ ........ _... 140 00 
An excess beyond what was allowable by law and Army regulations 

was granted to each individual above named. Said excess for Ben­
ton, $57.85; for King, $48.38; and for Read, $31.50, should be disal-
lowed ... _ ...........•........................ ----. ------ ---- . ---
Items are not stated in detail and descriptions of the officers' serv­

ants are not given. 
Any action that will allow reimbursement of any expenditures on ac­

count of this company will favorably consider this amount, subject 
to snspensiou until the vouchers are perfected ........... _ .•...... 

Items 4-26. For services of 23 enlisted men. . . . . . . . . . . . • • . $1, 081 60 
Amounts paid exceed, in every instance, the amounts of the items 

given to form the total, the latter being excessively stated. Powers 
of attorney filed in connection with payments made for members of 
this company are informal in several instances. 
The erasures, overcharges, lack of detailed statements of items to make 

the total paid, and the remarkable uniformity of handwriting of all 
the men, whose names stand as having been signed by the individ­
uals themselves, are all fatal defects on this voucher, and they will 
warrant a suspension of this amount ............................ . 

2. Roll of payments made for property lost in Mexico .......... $935 00 
Items of charge are certified under oath, and they and the amounts 

compare favorably with articles and valuations on the company-roll. 
Remark as on voucher 5 of Callahan's company, except that item 1 

in this case requires a power of attorney, and that this is the amount 
to be disposed of ........•....................................... 

3. J. H. Callahan ............................................. $57 00 
This duplicates tbfl charges composing item 12 of voucher 6 for Calla­

han's company, therefore should be disallowed .........•.........• 

Henry's cornpany. 

1. Roll of pay and allowances from September 1!) to October 15 
1855 . ---- .. ---- .. --- -- .. ---. --- . . ----- . --- ·.--. -----:.- $3, 112 60 

Item 1. W. R. Henry, captain .... ...• ...... ...... ....•• 178 00 
Item 2. Houston Tom., :first lieutenant......... . . . . . . . . . . 150 00 

As in items 1 to 3 of voucher 1 for Benton's company, except that 
here the exce sive charges amount to $tn, which should be disallowed. 
And the balance subject to suspension is ...........................• 

Item 3 is not receipted for, and the amount has been deducted from 
the roll. No action required. 
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$67 50 

882 57 

187 73 

355 50 

1,081 60 

935 00 

57 00 

81 00 
247 00 
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Voucher. 
Items 4-:36. Enlisterl men .................. ............. $1, 494 fiO 
Powers of attorney filed in connection with these payments are in­

formal, as in cases heretofore noted. 
Any action that will allow reimbursement of any expenditure on 

account of this company will faYorably consider this amount....... $1,494 60 
2 Roll of payments made for property lost in Mexico . ........ $1,290 00 

As on voucher 5 of Callahan's company . . .. . . . .. ... .. .. .. . . .. .. .. 1, 290 00 
3. John D. Pitts, paymaster------ ............................. $100 00 

This charge appeared as voucher 5 for Henry's company in class 
1, but from there was transferred to be dealt with in this class, 
the voucher being for services as paymaster for the companies in this 
class. 

Comptroller Johns certified, February 29, 1R60, that the receipt of 
John D. Pitts was then on :file. Said receipt is not subm\tted. 
Any action that will allow reimbursement of any expenditure on ac­

count of this company will favorably consider this amount, subject 
to suspension until a proper receipt is presented.... . . . . .. .. .. .. .. 100 00 

RECAPITULATION. CLASS II. 

If a United States law authorized and directed the Secretary of War 
to settle and adjust, "on just and equitable principles," the claims 
submitted in connection with the companies of Callahan, Benton, and 
Henry, an enforcement of the rules of the War Department would 
leave the accounts as follows: 

Amount which should be-
Allowed ......................... ----·----- $13,322 86 
Suspended . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. .. .. . . .. . .. . 4, 879 72 
Disallowed................... . . . . • . . . .. . . . • 4, 172 31 

---- $22,374 89 
Brought down from class 1 ...... -----· ------ ----·· ---- 50,186 17 

CLASS III. 

Tom's cmnpany. 

It is asserted that this organization was employed from October 18, 
to November 15, 1855. ~'or what purpose it was employed does not 
appear in the evidence. The vouchers do not state the dates of serv­
ice, but otherwise are as follows: 

1. William Torn, pay and allowances as captain...... . . . . . . . . . . $1:33 70 
Overcharged on servant's pay 20 cents, which should be disallowed .. 
Rerna1·k.-Any action that will allow reimbursement of any expendi­

ture on account of this company will favorably consider this 
amount ..................................••.. ~ ................. . 

2. Robert E. Jones, first lieutenant ............................ $13 70 
3. W. M. Rust, second lieutenant------------ ...... ------ ...... 108 70 

As on voucher 1, next above, except that this should be disallowed .. 
And this is the balance to be disposed of ........................... . 

4. Pay-roll, items 1-14, 16-26, 28, and 30-45, pay and allowances to en-
listed men ............................................ $1, 112 92 

The powers of attorneys submitted in connection with these items 
are informal, as in other cases heretofore noted. Otherwise the re­
mark on voucher 1, preceding, is applicable to this amount to be 
disposed of ...•....................•............................. 
Items 15, 27, and 29, for the several amounts of which receipts are 

not produced, are deducted from the roll; therefore require no action. 
5. Ezra Keyser's account with a vigilance committee: For cash paid b.v 

him for forage and subsistence furnished Torn's company .. $40R 97 
This bill was paid by the committee, and the State reimbursed the 

amount, per receipt of "E. Jones, chairman of the vigilance commit­
tee." 
The quantity and price of each article is not stated, and the receipts 

of the parties paid by Mr. Keyser are not submitted. 'rhe infor­
. mality of this voucher is sufficient to warrant a disallowance of its 
amount ..••.•.....•........................................ -.... 

6. George Lee, private ........................................ $25 70 
A receipt for this is not filed ; therefore the a.rnount should be disal-

lowed .......................................................... . 

$0 20 

133 50 

40 
222 00 

1, 112 92 

408 97 

25 70 
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Tobin's compauy. 
Voucber. 

It is asserted that this organization was employed from October 12 
to November 15, 1855. 

For what purpose it was employed is not clearly stated, unless it 
was to serve against Texas Indians. The vouchers are as follows: 

1. ·william G. Tobin (called captain), pay and allowances as second lien-
tenant . .............. _ ..... _ ..... __ ..................... $10tl 70 

As on ""oucher 1 of Tom's company, except that this amount should 
be disallowed . . ... _ .. ____ ... __ . • .. _. _ ... __ .... ___ ... ___ .. __ .. _ .. 

And this is the balance ............... .. .......................... . 
2. Pay-roll, dates of service not stated, items 1-7 aud 9-25, pay and ul-

lowances to enlisted men ................................ $808 76 
As on items for amounts paid on voucher 4 of Tom's company, except 

th~tt this is the amount to be disposed of ..... -----· ............ .. 
Item 8, not receipted, is deducted from the roll; therefore requires 

no action. 
English's company. 

It is asserted that this organization was employed at various times 
betv;een August 6 anrl November 13, 1855. For what purpose it was 
.)mployed is not satisfactorily explained, though the captain's power 
of attorney aRserts it was to serve against Texas Indians. (See an­
nexerl paper, No. 1:3!).) The vouchers are as follows: 

1. Levi English, pay and allowances for one month as first lieuten-
ant ................................... -----· ...... ·----- $113 70 

2. Joel M. Walker, second lieutenant ........ __ ........... __ .. 108 70 
As on voucher 1 of Tom't~ company, except that this amount should 

be disallowed ........................................ _ ..........• 
And this is the balance ........................ ·----· ............ .. 

3. Pa~-rol1, dates of service not stated, items 1 to 7, 9-18,20-31,35-39, 
and 42-46, pay and allowances to enlisted men ......... $1,376 46 

As on items for amounts paiu on voucher 4 of Tom's company, except 
that this is the amount to be disposed of ............. ·-----·-----

4. R. Radcliffe, private ....... __ .............................. $33 20 
fi. Evan Corner private ................ ------ ........... ------ 3:3 20 
6. John Taylor, private-----· ................................. 33 20 
7. E. O'Brian, private ................... ·-----................ 33 20 
8. Charles Richards, private------ . ........................... 33 20 

Mr. Johns certified, March 10, 1860, that the receipts for the above 
amounts were then on tile in the State comptroller's office. Why 
said receipts are not submitted is not explained. The remark on 
voucher 1 for Tom's company is applicable to these vouchers, ex­
cept that this amount is subject to suspension for want of prcper 
receipts .......... · .......................... . .. _ ............... . 
A vouche·r for $100, paid James H. Ra,ymond, paymaster of the com­

panies in this class, appears with the vouchers of Travis's company, 
in class 1. The amount is there disalloweLl. 

RECAPITULATIOX. CLASS III. 

Conditions noted for class 2, recapitulation, if applied to this class, 
wonld leave the accounts submitted for the companies of Tom, Tobiu, 
aml English as follows: 

Amount which should be-
Allowed ............... --· .......... ---- .... $3,984 14 
Suspended .. .. . .. --.. . . .. .. . .. . .. .. .. .. .. .. 166 00 
Disallowed .................... ---- .. _....... 435 87 

---- $4,5~6 01 
Brought down fre>m preceuing classes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . 72, 561 06 

CLASS IV. 

Sansom's company. 

It was asserted that this organization was employed from April 16 
to July 16, Jtl56. It was paid for ninety days' services, under the gov­
ernor's certificate of employment, from April 16, though the mustering 
officer certified that it was not mustered in until April 19, 1856. It 
appears that the principal, Sansom, was paid at the rate of $1.50 per 
day, and the men at $1 per day each, and not at the rate fixed for 
troops in the United States service. 
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$0 20 
108 50 

808 76' 

$0 40 
22.~ 00 

1, 316 46. 

166 00' 
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Voucper. 
This fact proves that tbi~ company was not a military organization, 

and the amounts paid to its members for services alleged to have 
been rendered as troops should be disallowed .. ____ .. ________ . _. _ _ $1', 155 00 
NOTE.-The one voucher filed on account of this company is certi-

fied to by the so-called captain, who asserts that ho witnessed the pay­
ment of the whole company. The signatures to the receipts are not 
witnessed, however, but all appear to ha.ve been written by one band. 

Davenport's company. 

It is asserted that tbis organization was employed at various times 
between March 13, 1H5o, and June 1, 1857. 

1. A roll was made out for three months' pay at the same rates as are 
noted for Sansom's company; but the full amount specified as clue 
was not paid. It appears that John M. Davenport and Joseph G. 
Brown, the two principals, were each entitled to $135, but were paid 
only $60.39 each, and that the thirty-five men were each entitled 
to $90, but were paid only $45.70 each, leaving a balance due. For 
twenty of the men the money was paid to John M. Davenport on 
powers of attorney, which do not, on sight, present a favorable ap­
pearance. One J. M. McCormick, who belonged to the company, was 
at the same time, or subsequently became, clerk of a county court 
of w bich .James B. Davenport was chief justice. Before one of these 
two individuals the powers of attorney in favor of John M. Daven­
port were executed. One of the documents represents that it was, 
in the presence of the chief justice, signed by eighteen of the men. 
If the men were not all taught penmanship by one and 1 he same 
tutor, then one person signed all the names in this instance, and the 
Davenport family thereupon received nearly all the money paid on 
this voucher, the amount of which should be disallowed . ____ ..... 

2. Neill Robinson, services as paymaster for the companies of Sansom, 
Davenport, and Black ......... ------ .................... $100 00 

The unsat.isfactory manner in which this man discharged his duties 
and rendered his accounts should have debarred him from obtaining 
any pay. This amount should be disallowed .....•... _ .... -- ..... 

Black's company. 

It is asserted that this company was in service at various times be­
tween January 1 and December 31, li-356. 

A roll was made out for two months' pa:y at the rates noted for 
Sansom's company, but the full amount spemfied as due to each indi-
vidual was not paid. . 
It appears that R. W. Black ancl 'James Mosely, the two priucipals, 
were each entitled to $90, but were paid only $45.70 each, and that 
the twenty-eight men were each entitled to $60, but were paid only 
$30.46 each, leaving a balance clue. 

For twenty of the men the money was paid to J. C. Ellis (a member 
of the company) on powers of attorney siguecl by persons who ap­
parently learned to write under one and the same master. John M. 
McCormick, who belonged to Davenport's company, and was clerk 
of a county court, also belonged to this company, and before him 
every one · of the twenty powers of attorney was acknowledged. 
Under these circumstances it is difficult to determine who was, in 
fact, paid for services rendered in t.his in>~tance; bnt it is suggested 
that the character of this voucher is sufficient to warrant a disal­
lowance of its amount ... ---- ------ .. ---- ---- ------ . -- ... ---- -... 

RECAPITULATION OF CLASS IV. 

The total claim should be disallowed ........ ____ .. ____ . $3, 646 6() 
Brought down from preceding classes ........ --·· ...... 77,147 07 

CLASS V. 

The companies pertaining to this class were to serve as minute-men,. 
and their employment was authorized by letters from the governor. 
How or where they served is not clearly set forth. 

] ,.599 62 

100 00 

791 '98 
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Voucher. 
The evidence goes to show that, notwithstanding the apparent em­

ployment of this military force, Indians committed depredations in 
some of the very counties and. during the very times in which these 
companies apparently existed as protectionists. The charges for all 
the companies are from December, 1857, to March, 185ti, aud the 
vouchers are as follows: 

Carmack's company. 

1. T. K. Carmack, first lieutenant ... ----··.................. $269 00 
Any action that will allow reimbursement of any exvenditure on ac-

count of this cerupany will favorably consider this amount._ ..... . 
2. Pay-roll of enlisted men. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2, 352 30 
3. Use of pack-mule, at $8 per month....... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24 00 
4. Use of pack-mnle, at $8 per month....................... 24 00 
5. Use of pack-mule, at $t3 per mouth....................... 24 00 
6. Use of pack-mule, at $tl per month ........ __ .... _ ..... __ . 24 00 

As on voucher 1, next above .... __ .............. ·; .......... . 

Conner's company. 

1. John H. Conner, lieutenant............................. $86 7El 
As on voucher 1 of Carmack's company, except that this amount i~ 

subject to suspension, as the officer's servant is not descrihed ..... 
2. Pay-roll of enlisted men. . . . • • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. .. . . . . . . $3, 758 27 

3-6. Use of pack-mules, at $8 per month...................... 96 00 
As on voncber 1 of Carmack's company ........................... . 

7. W. L. Williams, private, for value of one horse and equipments, taken 
by the Ind.ians, w bile in the service of the State of Texas. $105 00 
This is certified to under oath by Lieutenant Conner, but it is not 

shown at what place, upon what date, and under what circumstances 
the horse was lost. 
As on voucher 1 of Carmack's company, except that this amount is 

subject to suspension ......................................... .. 

Hodges's company. 

1. JohnS. Hodges, lieutenant, for services from December 14, 1857, to 
April26, 1858 ........................................... ~564 75 

As on voucher 1, Carmack's company, except that this amount is suu-
ject to suspension, as the officer's servant is not described ....... . 

2. Pay-roll of enlisted wen ...................... , .. .. . . . .. . . $2, 384 00 
As on voncher 1, Carmack's company ............................ .. 

3. JohnS. Hodges, reimbursement of amonnt expended for blacksmith-
ing for three months ...................................... $4 00 
Hodges's receipt for the moneJ·, or the receipt of the party paid by 

him, is not found. 
As on ~oucber 1 of Carmack's company, except that this amount is 

subject to suspension .......................................... .. 
4. Horseshoeing ..... : ........................................ $51 50 

As on voucher 3, next above, suspended ......................... .. 
5-7. Use of pack-mules, at $8 per month ......................... $72 00 

As on voucher 1, Carmack's company ............................. . 
8. Use of pack-mule .......................................... $24 00 

The receipt of the party paid is not produced. 
As ou voucher 1 of Carmack's company, except that this amount is· 

subject to suspension ......................................... .. 

Frost's cornpany. 

1. T. C. Frost, lieutenant .................................... $376 50 
As on voucher 1 of Carmack's company, except that this amount is 

subject to suspension for want of a description of the officer's serv-
ant . . . . . . . .. _ . . . . . . . . . • • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . __ ..... _ . . . . 

2. Pay-roll of enlisted men ...... _ .... __ ........ __ ..... ___ . $2, 390 75 
As on voucher 1 of Carmack's company, except that this amount is 

subject to suspension for want of witnesses to receipts for the 
money ......................... --- ... - .. - - . - .. -- .. - - ... -- ... --. 
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2,448 30 

$86 75 

3, 758 27 

105 00 

564• 75 

2,::l84 00 

4 00 

51 50 

72 00 

24 00 

376 50 

2,390 75 



74 CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 

Voucher. 
:3. Use of four pack-mules, three months each, at $8 per month .. $96 00 

As on voueher 1 of Carmack's company, except that this is subject to 
suspension for want of powers of attorney to support the receipts 
of the parties paid ....... ------·----··----· ................... . 

RECAPITULATION. 

If a United States law authorized and directed the Secretary of War 
to settle and adjust, "on just and equitable principles," the claims 
.submitted in connection with the companies of Carmack, Conner, 
Hodges, and Frost, an enforcement of the rules of the War Depart­
ment would leave the accounts as follows: 

Amount which should he-
Allowed ................................. $11,514 32 
Suspended .....• , ........................ 1,212 50 

---- $12,72() 82 
Brought down from preceding classes ..... _.......... ~0, 793 67 

CLASS VI. 

It is alleged that the companies in this class were in service .at 
various times iu the year 1858. The~e organizations were authorized 
by the governor, and they killed at lea8t seventy-two Comanches 
during an expedition into the Cherokee country. 

The voucher8 are as follows: 

Fo1·d's cornpany. 

1. Pay-roll, January 10 to August 10, 1858 . ; ............. _. $1H, 691 11 
The governor's instructions to Ford were, viz : 
" In all matters pertaining to your duties as commander of the State 

troops, you will co-operate with the officers of the Regular Army, if 
expedient, convenient, or practicable." 

$96 00 

In view of this fact it is suggested that this command was entirely 
a State affair; i. e., an independent military establishment, with 
which the United States authorities had nothing to do; therefore 
this amount should be disallowed............ . . . •. . . . . . . . . . . . .. • . $18, 691 11 
NoiE.-Of the foregoing amount $207.94, in items 40 and 90, are 

receipted by proxy, but powers of attorney are not fileil. 
2. Roll of property lost by privates and paid for by the State .. $568 UO 

As on voucher 1, above, and in addition: 
A power of attorney is not filed to support a receipt by proxy for 

. $194 of this amount, which should be disallowed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 568 00 
The following-mentioned vouchers are for pay and allowances of 

officers of the Ford company from January 10 to August 5, 18fitl: 
3. JohnS. Ford, captain .................................... $1,420 65 
4. E. Burleson, first lieutenant ........... _ ........... _.... . 977 00 
5. A. Nelson, second lieutenant............................ 917 00 
6. W. A. Pitts, second lieutenant---~~-·--~--................ 917 00 
'7. J. H. Tankersley, lieutenant............................. 825 12 

As on voucher 1, above, and in addition: 
Burleson and Pitts having been commissioned lieutenants for this 

company, Nelson and Tankersley were supernumerary officers, and 
should not have been paid. The whole amount should be disallowed. 5, 056 77 

8. Abstract of purchases made by Ed. Burleson, lieutenant and acting 
assistant quartermaster for Ford's companies.... . . . . . • $13, 095 13 
This amount embraces charges for large quantities of property not 

perishable, and not accounted for. 
Among the items are six horses, thirty mules, and three wagons. The 

amount of this voucher would be subject to suspension were it not 
for the remark on voucher 1, under which it should be disallowed. 13,095 13 

9. Transportation and repairs .. . . . . .. . • . . .. . . . . .. . • . . . . . . . . $3, :398 58 
10. Ordnance-stores.... .. . . . . .. . . . . .. . . .. . . .. .. . . . . .. . . . . . . . 670 31':! 

As on voucher 1 ; disallowed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4, 068 96 
11. Ed. Burleson, mileage ...................................... $72 00 

As on voucher 1, and in addition : 
Orders for the journey are not submitted; disallowed .. .. .. .. . . .. . . 72 00 



Cl ,AIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 7 5 

Voucher. 
I2. S.M. Swenson, contractorforHuur,;istencefumisbed ....•.. $1,f12!.) 70 

As on voneher 1, and in addition: 
The correctness of this voucher is certified to by Lieutenant Burleson 

and is approvt=>d by Captain Ford. Abstracts of rations received 
and issued are not submitted, and the dates upon which the subsist-
ence was fnrnishecl are not stated; disallowed ........ _ .. ____ .. __ . $1, 529 70 

13. S.M. Swenson, snhsistence ·----· -----· ........ -----· .... $1,000 00 
14. S.M. Swenson, subsistence·-----··----· ............ ·----· 2,tl00 00 
I5. S . .M. Swenson, subsistence------ ____ ·----------· ........ 4,000 00 
I6. S.M. Swenson, snhsistel'lce ...... -----· ··---· ------------ 2, I35 07 

As on voueher 1~, and in addition: 
Receipts for the money are not snbmit.ted; disallowed. ___ .......... 9, 935 07 

I7. Robert Cutter, extra-duty pay as commissary clerk, at 40 cents per 
day. ___ ..... __ ... ___ ...... ____ .. _. __ . __ ....... _. __ .. __ ... $72 80 

This man was first sergeant of the company, and nuder the customs 
of the military service could not have been properly detailed as 
clerk. Au order placing him on extra duty, detached service, is not 
tiled, and dates of service are not statecl. Otherwise, the remarks 
on voucher I apply to this voucher; the amount of which should 
be disallowed ...... __ .... __ ..... _ ... ___ .. __ . _ ... _ .... __ .... _... . 72 80 

18. J. H. Tankersley, lieutenant .......... ·----------· _____ ---· $178 76 
As on··voucher 1, and in addition: 

This lieutenant was paid in full on voucher 7, and this is a duplicate. 
19. H. R. Runnell's expressage---- __________ ------------·-----. $70 00 

Charge not supported by a receipt; disallowed ..... ·----· .... ··-- 17R 76 
The governor's receipt, or the receipt of the party paiu, is not sub-

mitted. Dates of service are not stated. 
As on voucher I, this amount should be disallowed .. __ .... __ .. _ ... __ ~.. 70 00 

20. Miscellaneous expenses .......... _ ................... ___ . $2, 220 6fi 
Items, 1, 4-7, ~. 10, and I2, amounting to $470.98 are for expenses of 

expressmen, printing, keeping a mule, ordnance stores, and horse hire. 
Excepting items 6 and 7, receipts of the parties paid are not submitted. 
The remarks for voucher 1 are applicable to this arnoun t, which shou hl 

be disallowed .................... _ ................... --·........ 470 98 
Items 2, :~, 8, 11, and I5 are duplicates of payments ma1le by items 1, 
. 2, :~, and 5-18 of vouchers I for Williams's compauy; therefore the 

amount should be disallowed ... _ ..... __ ... __ ................ __ .. I, 050 00 
Item 13, John William!", pay and allowances as :first lieutenant, two 

months, from May 24 to July 24, I858 ..................... $2tl7 66 
As on voucher 1,shoulfl he disallowed ........... ·---.---~-- ____ .... 287 66 
Item 14, S. M. Swenson, 1,260 complete rations for Williams's com-

pany, May 20, 1858 .. __ .... _ ......... __ .............. __ .. $412 02 
As on voucher 12, except that here Williams certified and the gov­

ernor approved the account. The receipt of the party paid is not 
submitted. This amount should be disallowed ...... -----·....... 412 02 

W. G. Preston's detachment. 

21. Pay-roll of enlisted men, April 20 to June ~0, 185B ...... _. $1, 150 45 
This detachment was called into service by Captain Ford. 
lu most instancf's the amounts paid exceeded the totals due per 

items correctly added. Twenty-four dollars was paid for a pistol lost 
by Private Hill, but a receipt for the amount is not suumitted. On 
this roll many of the signatures, purporting to be the genuine signa­
tures of the men, were written by one person, whose authority to sign 
by proxy is not submitted. 
As on voucher I, should be disallowed ____ ............ __ ......... __ . 

22. W. G. Preston, second lieutenant .............. ------------- $21:33 42 
As on voucher I, should be disallowed ............... _ ..... ____ .. __ _ 

W. ]{.F. llla1·lin's company. 

1. Pay-roll of enlisted men, from February 24 to April 4, 1859 .. $7:12 50 
This company was employed by Ford in IR58, and when he was about 

to pay it, in IB59, it was reported that Indians were about, so he 
reassembled the company, and thus brought it into active service 
again for "six months, unless sooner discharged." It "·as sooner 
discharged, and the amounts paid to it for service in connection 
with this. clasH, and for other services, are embraced in voucher 8 of 
Ford's company, class 7, duplicating this charge, which should here 
be disallowed . __ .... __ ............ __ ..•... _ .. ___ •. _ .... _ ... __ ••. 

I,150 45 

283 42 

752 59 
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John Williams's company. 
Voucher. 

1. Pay-roll .................................................. $1,08G 60 
Of the twenty items on this roll, the money for fifteen was paid to 

Sergeant D. C. Cowan, whose powers of attorney are not submitted, 
and for five paid at the Stat.e treasury receipts are not produced. 
As on voucher 1 of Ford's company: this amount should be diAal-

lowed .................................... _ .. _ .................. . 

RECAPITULATION. CLASS V~. 

The troops of this class formed a military establishment entirely 
independent of the United States authorities, as will be seen by refer­
ence to page 14 of House Executive Document No. 27 of the second 
session of the Thirty-fifth Congress, which shows that the governor 
wrote to Ford : 

"Of course you will not be expected to submit to any improp~r in­
terference in 1,he ~xecution of your duties from any quarter." It also 
appears therein that "the efficiency or good of the State service" was 
in this instance considered paramount to anything the Uu:ted States 
military authorities in Texas could have said or done. 
In view of the foregoing facts it is r~specr.fully submittPd that the 

total charged in this class should be disallowed ..... __ . $58, 831 02 
Brought down from preceding classes................... 9:~, 520 49 

CLASS VII. 

Bo·u·rland's company. 

This was a State organization entirely independent of any United 
States authority. It was authorized by the governor, whose instruc­
tions to the captain (see paper ·90) show the purposes for which it was 
raised. The vouchers are as follows: 

1. Roll for pay and allowances to enlisted men from October 28, 1858, to 
January 28. 1859. 

Abstracted for .... ___ ... __ ... _ ..•.... _ ....... ___ ........ $6, 126 46 
To which add, for an error in addition............ . .. . . . . 55 28 

Correct amount of roll . . . . . . . . . . .. . ................ _. _ 6, 181 7 4 
Powers of attorney filed in connection with payments made for mem­

bers of this company are in several cases informal, as in cases noted 
in class 1. 
Items 1-14 and 16-78 ........ --- ............. ______ ...... $6,111 76 
Rernm·k.-Any action that will allow reimbursement of any expendi-

• 

$1,085 6() 

ture on account of this company will favorably consider this amount, 
subject to petty deductions...................................... $6,111 76-

Item 15. William Dawson, services as private, November 13, 18Gi:l, to 
January 28, 1859, two months and sixteen days._._ .... _... $69 98 

The muster-out roll shows that this man was discharged December 
22, 1H59, unable for duty. The overcharge for one month and six 
days should be disallowed .................. ·-----·-----......... 3:315 

And for the balance the remark on the other items of this voucher 
is applicable ................ ---·................................ 36 83 

2. Roll for pay and allowances to enlisted men from January 28 to April 
28, 1859. - .. - - - . - - - - . - - - - - - .. - - - - . - - - - -- - . - - - - - ..• - -- . . $2, 778 88 

As on voucher 1 (except item 15) .. ---· ......... _ ---...... .. .... .... 2, 778 88 
3 Patrick O'Gorman, services as paymaster's clerk for two months at 

$700perannum ........ ------ -----· ............ ·----· ---· $116 66 
The dates of service are not stated, and the account is not certified. 

This is not a proper charge to be connected with the employment of 
a company of militia or volunteers; therefore the amount should 
be disallowed·---------------------·-----··--------------------- 116 60 
Officers' pay-accounts from October 28, 1858, to April 28, 1859, viz: 

4. JamesBourland, captain ................................ $1,077 00 
5. E. C. Perry, first lieutenant ...... ·----··-----........... 977 00 
6, G. H. Fitzhugh, second lieutenant........................ 917 00 

The remark on voucher 1 is applicable to these vouchers, the amounts 
of which are subject to suspension, as the officers' sen·ants are not 
described .. __ ............ _ ... ___ . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . .. .. .. . . . . . . . . . . . .. .. . .. . . . 2, 971 00 
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Voucher. 
7. William Hunter, surgeon, from Febrnary 7 to March 8, 1859 .. $67 74 
8. G. L. Scott, surgeon, from October 2tl, 1858, to February 1, 1859, anrl. 

from March 1~ to April 12, 185~ ........................... $389 50 
The names of these medical gentlemen do not appear on the rolls, and 

there is nothing submitted to sbow that they were p.mploye<l under 
contract, in accordance with the Army Regulations. For each 
voucher a power of attorney, not witnessed, is filed, and the money 
was receipted for hy proxy. This amount should be disallowed ... 

9. M. Poindexter, expressman ....................... . ......... $10 00 
The remark on voucher 1 is applicahle to this amonnt, which is sub-

ject to suspension for want of elates of service .... __ ............. . 
10. Alexander Boutwell, pay aud allowances as second lieutenant, from 

Octoher 28, ltl58, to January 28,1859 ..................... $458 50 
The officer's servant is not described. As two lieutenants were paid, 

on vouchers 5 all!l 6, for the wbole time this company was in serv­
ice, this amount for a supernumerary officer should not have heen 
paid, and should here be disallowed ...... ·----- ................. . 

11. W. T. Peery, use of wagon and team ....................... $155 00 
Remark as on voucher 1 ........................................... . 

Ford's company. 

This company was authorized by the governor of Texas, who com­
missioned tile company officers on tile lOth of Novemher, 1858. The 
vouchers .are as followR: 

1. Roll of pay and allowances to enlisted men from November 10, 18fi8, 
to May 10, 1859 ...................................... $11,44:3 10 
Powers of attorney in some instances are informal, as in other cases 

heretofore noted. 
Item 1 is signed by attorney, but a power of attorney to support the 

receipt is not snhmitted; the amounts of items 2:3, ~4, and 73 in part 
are not receipted for. In view of these facts this amount should be 
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~547 24 

10 00 

458 50 

155 00 

disallowed...... .. . .. . ...... .. . ... .. .... .. .... ... .. . ... ... .. . ... $496 85 
Item 40, the amount of which is deducted from thf' roll, requires no 

action. · 
The remaining items on this voucher come under the remark on 

voucher 1 of Bourland's company, except that this is the amount to 
be disposed of... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10, 946 25 

2. James V. Ross, extra-duty pay as clerk in commissary department 
November 10, 1858, to May 10, 1859, at 25 cents per day ____ . $4f> 00 

Remm·k.-Any action that will allow reimbursement of any expendi­
ture. on account of this company will favorably consider this 
amount ... _ ............... _ ............... _ ... _.... . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45 00 

3. John R. Gibbons, :first lieutenant ............ __ ............. $816 54 
As on voucher 1, next above, except that this amonnt is subject to 

suspension for want of a description of the officer's servant....... 816 54 
4. Aaron Burleson, second lieutenant ... _ ..................... $763 80 

As on voucher 2 ...... -----· ________ .... ------ ....•. ------------ _ 763 80 
5. J. H. Huffman, extra-duty pay as hospital-steward, December 10, 1858, 

to May 10, 1859, 150 days, at 25 cents per day .. _ ... _ ....... $37 50 
An order assigning this man to extra duty on detached service is not 

submitted, and the correctness of the account is not certified to by 
any one; therefore this amount should be disallowed ......... _ .. _. 37 50 

6. Charles E. Barnard, for 1,944 rations of subsistence, at 39 cents each, 
April5, 1859 ·----- ...... ------ ·----- __ -----· ·----- ...... $757 96 

7. In part. C. E. Barnard, 2,160 rations, November 15, 1858 .... S42 40 
The correctness of these vouchers is not certified to by auy one. In 

the absence of proper vouchers, this amount should be suspended in 
part ...............................................•.....•... _ . . 1, 600 36 
Amounts paid to various persons on snbvouchers, viz: 

1. Ed. Burleson, for 27 mules, 5 horses, and 3 sets horse- equip-
men ts . ___ ........... _ .... __ ........ __ .. _ . ___ .. . . . . . . . $2, 486 00 

The correctness of this voucher, or subvoucher, is not certified to by 
a~y one. The property is not accounted for. These defects are suf-
ficient to warrant a disallowance of this amount_._ .. _ .......... _ _ 2, 486 00 

No. 2. Sampson & HenrickA, ordnance stores _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $268 00 
No.3. S.M. Swenson, 1 wagon, 4sets barness,a.nd21 blankets. 222 50 
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Voucher. 
No.4. E. D. Walker, equipments ...•....................... $92:3 00 
No.5. A. \V. Anderson, spades ........................ -----· 7 7:> 
As on snbvoncher No.1 of this voucher, should be disallowed $1, 4~1 25 
No.6. Ed. Bnrleson, 600 yards '•Lowells'' .................. $108 00 
The correctness of this subvoncher is certified to by JohnS. Fore, hut 

it is uot understood for what purpose this article was purchased, 
and, there being no accountability for the ·pruperty, this amount 
sh0uld be suspended . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 108 00 

No.7, in part. C. E. Barnard, 514~ bushels corn, at $1.70 ... $"574 2-:l 
The correctness of this subvoucher is not certifieu to by any one. In 

the absence of 'a proper voucher1 suspended . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 874 28 
No. 8. C. E. Barnard, medicines, and articles of imperishaule prop-

erty . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $tf' 4~ 
As on subvoncher No.1, disallowed ...... ----··.................... 88 4 
No.9. C. E. B •rnard, forage ...... ··--·· ... ....... ---· . .... $H6:3 00 
As on subvoncher No.7, in part, suspended ............. _ ..... __ .... 88:3 00 
No. 10. Ed. Burleson, forage ...... ··---· ........ -----· .... $7,452 00 
This is certified to by .Ford; but, as Burleson was acting assistant quar-

termaster and acting commissary subJSistence, an absence of the 
receipts of parties from whom he purchased the forage warrants a 
suspension of this amount . _..................................... 7, 452 00 

8. This is an abstract of expenditures made by Ford, aud the subvouch-
ers are as follows: 

No.1. J. W. Bennett., blacksmithing ....................... $1d2 75 
The correctness of this subvoncher, or of the voucher, is not certified 

to by any one, and, as the property in connection with which this 
expenf!e was incurred is not satisfactorily accounted for, this a.mouut 
should be disallowed .. .. .. .. .. .. . . . . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . . .. .. .. . . .. 182 75 

No.2. A. W. Anderson, transportation of property ........... $28 5;) 
No.3. F. T. Dutfan, supplies ·---- r .......................... 250 00 
As on subvoucher No.1, next above................................ $278 55 
No.4. John Shirley, services as physician ................. $120 00 
The account is not certifted to by any one, and it is not shown that 

the physician was employed under contract, or was noted on the 
company-roll in accordance with Army Regulations. This amount 
should be disallowed............................................ 120 00 

No.5. A. J. Dyche,horseshoeing .... ----~- .................. $30 00 
In the absence of evidence to show that this account is correct, and 

that the services were actually rendererl, and were necessary for the 
public service, this amount should be disallowed....... . . . . . . . . . . . . 30 00 

No. 6. T. Weaver, blacksmithing .......................... $266 (iG 
No. 7. J. Marshall & Co., advertising..................... 1 50 
No. 8. John S. Miller, transportation...... . . . . .. .. . . ... • . . .. 25 00 
No. U. J. S. Perry, advertising..................... .. .. .. .. 3 00 
No. 10. A. Guajarde, muleteer...... .. . . .. . . . .. . .. .. .. .. .. . . 150 00 
No. 11. M. Basques, muleteer .................... .:... .. .. .. . . 150 00 
No. 1~. J. M. Cad era, muleteer . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 150 00 
No. 13. Ed. Finn in, services.... .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . . .. .. .. .. 91 00 
No.14. J. Vasca.baso, muleteer ..... ........................ 150 00 
No. 15. J. M. Salinas, muleteer...... . . .. .. .. .. • . . .. . . . .. . . . 150 00 
As on snbvoucher No.5, should be disallowed...................... 1,137 16 
No. 16. \V. E. Oakes, surgeon .. .. .. . . .. .. . .. . . . . .. .. . .. .. .. $600 00 
As on subvoucher No. 4, should be disallowed .. . . .. .. .. . . .. .. .. .. . . GOO 00 
No. 17. Roll of men on extraduty .......................... $153 00 
Dates of service are not stated, orders placing the men on detached 

service are not submitted, and the correctness of the account is not 
certified to by any one. This subvoucher's defects are sufficient to 
warrant a disallowance of this amount.......................... 153 00 

No. 18. Pay-roll of enlisted men of Lieut. W. N. P. Marlin's company, 
from Pebruary 24 to April 4, 1tl59 ..................... , .. $752 59 

This charge appeared in class 6, but was there disallowed to be con­
sidered here. Captain Ford called this company into service. Of 
the signatures, representing those of twenty men, on t.his roll, fif­
teen are signed in the handwriting of Marlin, and, in the absence 
of powers of attorney, this amount should be disallowed, as it was 
paid upon a falsified voucher...... . .. . .. .. . . . .. .. . .. .. . . . . . . .. . . 752 59 

No. 19. Pay-roll of enlisted men of Lieut. W. N. P. Marlin's company, 
from J ul~7 15 to ~ overnber 14, 1858 ..................... $3, 346 00 
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Voucher. 
No.20. W.N.P.Ma.rlin,lieutenant ....................... $61132 
The officer's servant is not described on No. 20. These charg-es properly 

belonged in class 6, wherein the remark~ on voucher 1 of Ford's com­
pany a1·e applicable to these subvouchers, the amount of which 
should be disallowed ....... _. _ ........ _... .. .. . . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. $3, 957 32 

No. 21. .Jack Williams, guide .............................. $270 00 
As on su bvouuher No. 5, disallowed ............. -.-.. .. .. . . .. .. .. .. 270 00 

B1·own's compa11y. 

From the beading on its muster-roll, this organization appears to 
ha\e been called out by peace commissioners who were sent to the 
Brazos agency to represent the State in the settlement of reported dis­
turbances. It seems, from the charges in this case, that it took about 
seventy days to settle the difficulties, though this is only shown by 
the fact that the State paid the company for services from July 1 to 
September 12, 1859, and it is not shown by any other evidence. The 
vouchers are as follows: 

1. Pay-roll of officers and enlisted men ... _ ..... __ ... _ . . .. __ . $8, 660 06 
The officers were one captain, two surgeons, two first a,nd two second 

lieutenants; but should have been, for one company, one captain and 
two lieutenants, and a contract physician, if necessary. 

Powers of attorney filed in connection with amounts paid on this 
roll are informal, as in cases heretofore noted. 

Of the amounts paid on this voucher, the captain, J. Henry Brown, 
received for his pay, and as attorney, the sum of $3,G24.78, and J. H. 
Raymund, an attorney, received $1,513.06. 
The employment, of this company was purely a State affair. In the 

absence of evidence of date iu 1859, to confirm J. Henry Brown's 
statements, or to show that the peace commissioners actually called 
this company into service, and necessarily kept it employed during 
the time charged for, this amount should not be entertained as sub­
ject to reim bnrsement, but should be disallowed, the same being an 
improper char~e against the United States ...... _. _. __ . __ ... _ ... _ 
NOTE.-Item 63 is overcharged $25.10. 

2. E. M. Cox, extra-duty pay.·----- ____ ··---- ........... ·----- $7 50 
3. William Sharp, extra-duty pay .............. _ ..... _......... 7 50 
4. H. L. Bnrt, extra-duty pay ................................... 15 25 
5. B. G. Edwards,. extra-duty pay ......................... : ..... 13 50 
6. W. S. Perryman, extra-duty pay.-----· ...................... 16 50 
7. John Danley, extra-duty'pay ............... _ ................ 26 40 
8. W. B. Whittington, extra-duty pay .......................... 25 00 

Orders putting these men on extra duty, detached service, are not 
submitted. 
As on voucher 1, this amoun:t should be disallowed ................. . 

9. J. H. Brown, mileage ............................... _ ...... , $16 20 
An order, from superior authority, authorizing or directing the cap­

tain to perform a journey at public expense, is not filed and the dates 
of service are not stated. • 
As on voucher 1, rlisallowed ..... _ ......... _ ....... _ ............. .. 

10. J. H. Brown, reimbursement of expenses incurred for burial of Private 
Smith Estes .............................................. $20 00 
Receipts for the amounts paid by Brown are not produced. 

As on voucher 1,clisallowed ................ ·-···· ................ .. 

RECAPITULATION. CLASS VII. 

If a Unit.ed States law authorized and directed the Secretary of 
·war to settle and adjust," on just and equitable principles," the claim 
submitted in connection with the companies of Bourland, Ford, Mar­
lin, and Brown, an enforcement of the rules of the War Department 
would leave the accounts as follows: 

Amount which should be-
Allowed ..................................... $20,837 52 
Suspended ............... _.. .. .. .. .. . .. . .. . . 14, 715 18 
Disallowed .................................. 21,884 91 

---- $:>7,437 (jl 
Brought down from preceding classes .... _. • • . . . . . . . . . . . . 152, 351 51 

8, Gi:iO 06 

111 65 

16 20 

20 00 



80 CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 

CLASS VIII. 
Voucher. 

Not less than seven companies of volunteers or rangers appeare(l 
in the history of this class, but for some reason not explained accounts 
are submitted for only one of the seven, and for a corn pany not alluded 
to in any of the correspondence of 1859-'60. 

Hampton's com]Jany. 

This was one of the seven organizations that operated in the Corti­
nas affair, between December 1~, 1859, and January 1, 1860. 

The papers submitted are principally in reference to issues of rations 
and concerning property accountability, but one voucher being fileu 
for moneys paid. 

1. Receipt-roll of four items, viz: 
Hire of wagon and team.·----· ............................ $200 00 
Guide ............................... ---- .... ·----·........ 75 00 
l\1 uleteer . ____ ........... _ . __ .. . ...... _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41 66 
Quartermaster's clerk..................................... 8:3 32 

The correctness of this roll is certified to by G. J. Hampton, ca,ptain 
and quartermaster. 
No item of expenditure made on account of a company of volunteers 

that has been disbanded should be reimbursed by the United States 
until full and complete money accounts pertaining to the company's 
services and expenses are filed and passed upon; therefore this 
amount should be disallowed ..................................•. 

Ben·y's contJ.Jany. 

This was mustered in uy W. G. Tobin, November 10, 1859, and was 
muHtered out by him December 20, 1859. 

Several forage requisitions and reports of persons and articles hired 
are filed with the receipt-roll of quartermaster's employes, and six re­
ceipts for amounts paid for rations for this company. This roll ancl 
these receipts form the only money transactions exhibited for this 
company. 
The State abstract calls for ....•....... ·--~ .............. $6,011 33 

$399 98 

The roll and receipts filed are for...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2, 473 00 
The difference claimed is not supported by vouchers; therefore can-

not be favorably considered, but must be classed disallowed...... $3,538 33 
For the reasons stated in the remarks for the voucher submitted for 

Hampton'scompan.v, this amount should be disallowed........... 2, 473 00 

RECAPITULATION. CLASS VIII. 

Amount which should be disallowed .............. ··---- $6,411 31 
Brought down from preceding classes ................... 209, 789 12 

CLASS IX. 

Governor Houston reported in 1860 that the State then had in its 
employ thirty four organizatwns, making an aggregate of 1,:305 men; 
but the accounts submitted for this class are for supplies, and appear 
to pertain to one company only, viz: 

Burleson's. 
The vouchers are as follows: 

1. Abstract of purchases made by J. E. McCord, lieutenant and acting 
assistantquartermaster ....... . ......•.•............... $1,315 30 
The articles purchased were six mules, six pack-saudles, 461-t bushels 

corn, and horseshoeing materials. The animals and sa(ldles were 
turned over to the State authorities, who give no credit on this 
voucher for the valuation of the articles. 
Remw·ks.-Pay-rolls for the members of th1s company are not sub­

mitted, and the amounts now claimed are for only a part of the ex­
penses incurred on account of this company. No item of expendi­
ture made on account of a company of volunteers that has been 
disbanded should be reimbursed by the United States until fullan(l 
complete money accounts pertaining to the company's services and 
expenses are tiled and passed upon; therefore this amount should 
bedisallowed ..••••...•.••.....•..........•..................... • 1,315 30 
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\oucher. 
2. Abstract of expenditures for:transportation and for services rendered 

by quartermaster's emplo1es ...........•...............• $5:39 75 
3. Ordnance stores ................................... , . . . . . . 20 00 
4. Medicines . . . • • • . . . . • . . . . . • . • . . . • • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • • . . . . . . . . 286 00 
5. Sn bsistence . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • • • . . . . . • . • 18 00 

The remarks for voucher 1 are applicable to these vouchers. This 
amount should be disallowed ................................... . 

6. Leather, rope, and buckles...... . . . . • • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . $:30 52 
For this amount Lieutenant and Acting Assistant Quartermaster 

McCord receipted as attorney for Dodge and Fisher, but a power of 
attorney is not submitted. 
The remarks on voucher 1 are applicable to this voucher. This 

amount should be disallowed ................................... . 
The State abstract for this class calls for reimbursement of amounts, 

viz: 
Paid by McCord . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . .. $2, 000 00 
Paid at State treasury...... . . . • •. . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . 4, 943 46 

Total............................................. 6, 943 46 
The vouchers filed are for $2,209.57, aud for this balance, claimed to 

have been paid at the State treasury, no vouchers are submitted ; 
therefore this amount should be disallowed ..............•• .....•• 

RECAPITULATION. CLASS IX. 
Amount which should be disallowed.................... $G, 943 46 
Brought down from preceding classes . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . 216, 200 4:3 

SYNOPSIS. 
The State abstract calls for. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $223, 011 76 

To this amount there should be added for errora in addi-
tion, viz: 

On Boggess's roll, class 1 . . . • • • • . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . $76 85 
On Bourland's roll, class 7 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . 55 28 

132 13 

Correct total.. . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . .. . . • .. • . • .. 223, 143 89 
Which, in the foregoing report, is conditionally disposed of as follows: 

Amount which should be-

81 

$86:3 75 

30 52 

4, 733 89 

Class of troops or accounts. 1------,-------:------ 1 Aggregate. 

Allowed. Suspended: I Disallowed. 

---------1---------
0ne .... .'. ........... ................ ......... $16, 283 21 $3,942 14 1 $29,960 82 ............. . 
Two . . .. . .. . . .. .. . .. .. . .. .. .. .. .. .. . .. .. .. . .. 13, 322 86 4, 879 72 4, 172 31 ............. . 
Three........................................ 3, 984 14 166 00 435 87 ............. . 
Four. .. .. . .. .. . .. .. .. . .. .. . .. .. .. . . . . . . . .. . . . . .. . .. . .. . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . 3, 646 60 .....•......•. 
Five......................................... 11, 514 32 1, 212 50 ........................... . 
Six .... ~--................................... .. . . . .. . .. . . . .... .. . . .. .. .. 58, 831 02 .......... · ... . 
Seven........................................ 20,837 52 14,715 18 21,884 91 ............. . 
Eight........................................ .... .. . . . . . . . . . ... . . . . . .. . . . 6, 411 31 ...•.•..•..••. 
Nine......................................... . . .. . . . . . .. . . . .. . . . . . . . .. . . . 6, 94:J 46 ............ .. 

Total ................................ -65,94205-24,915 54 l32, 286 30 j $223,143 89 

In order that the foregoing tabular statement may not be misconstrued, I respect -
fully submit that the evidence found in reference to these Texas claims does not ex­
hibit any good groa.nd for actual responsibility on the part of the United States Gov­
ernment for anything more, in this case, than $20,225.35, which, in the ''Synopsis," is 
the sum of the first two items for the troops of class 1 ; and that the balance, viz, 
$202,918.54, waR paid on account of troops or rangers, for the employment or support 
of which the United States, or their dnly authorized agents, aside from the act of June 
21, 1860, were not at all responsible. 

And I further submit that a reimbursement of the last-mentioned amount or a re­
cognition of the services of the men to whom it -was paid will be the commencement 
of a responsibility of which the end-though it may be made to appear in the case of 
the State of Texas-cannot be foreseen, so far as the United States Government may 
be concerned. 

Very respectfully, your~obedient servant, 
THOS. H. BRADLEY, 

S. Ex. 74--6 

First Lieutenant 1'wenty-ji1-st Infantry, 
Brevet Captain, United States A1·my. 
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No. I Date. 

1 Sept. 30, 1852 
2 June 19,1854 
3 July 29, 1854 
4 July 29, 1854 
5 July 30,1854 

6 Aug. 2,1854 

7 Aug. 8,1854 
8 .Aug. 12, 185-1 
9 .Aug.l7, 1854 

10 .Aug. 20, 1854 
11 .Aug. 24, 185-l 
12 .Aug. 25, 1854 
13 .Aug. 29,1854 
14 Oct. 9, 1854 
15 Oct. 30, 1854 
16 Jan. 23,18!15 
17 Jan. 24, 1855 
18 Mar. 10, 1855 

19 Mar. 14, 1855 
20 Mar. 23, 1855 

21 Apr. 9, 1855 
22 May 12,1855 
23 May 28, 1855. 
24 June 20, 1855 
25 July 5, 1855 
26 July 14, 1855 
27 July 2!i, 1855 
28 July 25, 1855 
29 Sept. 5, 1855 
30 Sept. 5, 1855 
31 Sept. 8, 1855 
:S2 Sept. 12, 1855 
33 Aug. 30, 1855 
34 Sept. 15, 1855 
35 Sept. 16, 1855 

36 Sept. 25, 1855 
37 Sept. 29, 1855 
38 Oct. 4, 1855 

39 Oct. 4, 1855 
40 Oct. 7, 1855 

41 Oct. 7,1855 
42 Oct. 7, 1855 
43 Oct. 7,1855 
44 Oct. ~. 1855 

45 Oct. 8,1855 

46 Oct. 9,1855 

47 Oct. 9,1855 

48 Oct. 10,1855 
49 Oct. 11,1855 

50 Oct. 11,1855 
51 Oct. 12, 1855 

52 Oct. 14, 1855 
53 Oct.,16, 1855 
54 Oct. 17,1!:!55 
55 Oct. 17, 1855 
56 Oct. 20, 1855 
57 Oct. 21, 1855 
58 Oct. 21, 1855 
59 Oct. 21, 1855 

60 Nov. 9,1855 
60l Nov. 16, 1855 
61 Nov. 15, 1855 
6li Dec. 6, 1855 

62 Dec. 6,1855 
64 Dec. 18,1855 
65 Jan. 3, 1856 
66 Feb. 4,1856 
67 Feb. 5,185ti 

CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 

List of pape1's. 

From and to wlrom. 

Secretary of War to governor of Texas. 
Seoretary of War to Gen. Persifor F. Smith. 
Gen. Persifor F. Smith to Secretary of War, indorsed by latter August 24, 1854. 
Gen. Persifor F. Smith to governor of Texas. 
Capt. P. Calhoun, United States .Army, to assistant adjutant-general Depart­

ment of Texas. 
Capt. P. Calhoun, United States Army, to assistant adjutant-general Depart· 

ment of Texas. 
Governor of Texas to Gen. Persifor ]'. Smith. 
Lieut. S. B. Holabird, United States .Army, to adjutant First Infantry . 
Gen. Persifor F. Smith to .Adjutant-General United States .Army . 
Gen. Persifor F. Smith to Adjutant-General United States Army . 
Secretary of War to the Secretary of State. . 
Adjutant-General to Gen. Persifor F. Smith . 
Secretary of War to the governor of Texas . 
Gen. Persifor F. Smith to Adjutant-General, indorsed hy Secretary of War. 
Gen. Persifor F. Smith to Adjutant-General United States Army. 
Secretary of War to Ron. J.D. Bright, United States Senate. 
Secretary of War to Ron. P. H. Bell, House of Representatives. 
Gen. Persifor F. Smith to .Adjutant-General United States Army, indorsed by 

Secret.ary of War, Aprilll, 1!:!55. 
Gen. Persifor F. Smith to Adjutant-General United States Army. 
Gen. Persifor F. Smith to .Adjutant-General United States Army, indorsed by 

Secretary of War Aprilll, 1855. 
J. E. Doss, William G. Thomas, and Charles A. Campbell to Secretary of ·war. 
Secretary of War to above citizens of Texas. 
Gen. Persifor F. Smith to Adjutant-General United States Army. 
Governor of Texas to Gen. Persifor F. Smith. 
Governor of Texas to John H. Callahan, esq. 
Gen. Persifor F. Smith to Adjutant-General United States Army. 
Governor of Texas to citizen8 of Bexar County. 
Governor of Texas to John H. Callahan, esq. 
Governor of Texas to Gen. Persifor F. Smitb. 
Governor of Texas to C. Evans, B. E. Edwanls, and H. B. Saunders. 
Gen. Persifor F. Smith to Adjutant-General United States Army. 
RobertS. Neighbours to Capt. G. R. Paul, United States Army. 
United States agents' treaty with Texas Indians. 
Capt. G. R. Paul, United States Army, to RobertS. Neighbours, esq. 
Capt. G. R. Paul, United States Army, to assistant adjutant-general Department 

of Texas. 
Governor of Texas to certain citizens of State. 
Secretary of War to Secretary of State. 
Capt. Sidney Buruank, United States Army, to assistant adjutant-general Depart­

ment of Texas. 
Governor of Texas to Lieutenant Edward Burleson, volunteer. 
Assistant adjutant-general Department of Texas to Capt. Sidney Burbank, United 

States Army. 
Capt. G. R. Paul to asMistant adjutant-general Department of Texas. 
S. F. Ross, agent, to RobertS. Neighllonrs, agent. 
J. R. Baylor to RobertS. Neighbours. 
Capt. Sidney Burbank, United States Army, to assistant adjutant-general Depart­

ment of Texas. 
Assistant adjutant-general Department of Texas to Brevet Col. William Loring, 

United States Army. 
Capt. Sidney Burbank, United States Army, to assistant adjutant-general Depart­

ment of Texas. 
Assiatant adjutant-general Department of Texas to Captain Sidney Burbank, 

United States Army. 
General Persifor F. Smith to Adjutant-General United States Army. 
Assistant adjutant-general Department of Texas to Captain Sidney Burbank, 

United States Army. · 
General Persifor F. Smith to governor of Texas. 
General Persifor F. Smith to Adjutant-General United States Army, indorsed by 

Secretary of War November 3, 1855. 
General Persifor F. Smith to Adjutant-General United States Army. 
Captain Sidney Burbank to assistant adjutant-general Department of Texas. 
Governor E. M. Pease to General Persifor F. Smith. 
General Persifor F. Smith to Adjutant-General United States Army. 
RobertS. Neighbours to General Persifor F. Smith. 
General Persifor F. Smith to governor of Texas. 
General Persifor F. Smith to Adjutant-General United States Army. 
Captain G. R. Paul, United States Army, to assistant adjutant-general Department 

of Texas. 
Secretary of War to Secretary of State. · 
Extracts from roll of William Tom's company. 
Extracts from roll of William G. Tobin's company. 
General Persifor F. Smith to Senor Don Emilio Langberg, commanding forces of 

the Mexican Republic in Coahuila. 
General Persifor F. Smith to Adjutant-General United States Army. 
Governor to J. D. Pitts. 
Governor to legislature of State. 
Governor to Giles S. Boggess. 
Govemor to James W. Throckmorton. 
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List of papers-Continued. 

~~----D_a_t_e_. __ 
1 

_______________________ F __ ro_m __ a_n_d_w __ w_ h_o_m_. ________________________ _ 

68 I Mar. 2'2, 1856 Governor to Col. A. M. M. Upshur. 
69 Mar. 31,1856 Governor to .John H. Callahan et al. 
70 April10, 1851l Governor to Col. .John D. Pitts. 
71 May 1,1~56 Governor to James H. Raymond. 
72 .Tune 17,1856 Extracts from roll of Davenport's company. 
73 I Aug. 4,1856 Governor to State legislature. 

Aug. 25, 1856 Legislative act. (See supplement, following.) 
74 Oct. 1,1856 Governor to .Tames H. Raymond. 
75 Sept. 16, 1857 Secretary of War to Gen. D. E. Twiggs. 

76 
77 
78 
79 
80 
81 
82 
83 

4 

85 
86 
87 
88 
89 
90 
91 
92 
93 
94 
95 
96 
97 
98 
99 

100 
101 
102 
103 
104 
105 
106 
107 
lOS 

109 
110 
111 
112 
113 
114 
115 

116 
117 
118 
119 
120 
121 
122 
123 
124 
125 
126 
127 
128 
129 
130 

131 
132 
133 
134 
135 
136 
137 

Nov. 11, 1856 Levi English's affidavit. (See supplement, following.) 
Nov. 3,1857 Governor to Messrs. Bryan and Reagan. 
Nov. 23,1857 Governor to Thomas K. Carmack, John H. Conner, and ~eill Robinson. 
Nov. 23,1t:l57 Governor's instructions to officers, Texas volunteers. 
Nov. 23, 1857 Resolution, State legislature. 
Dec. 7, 1857 Governor to Thomas C. Frost. 
Dec. 19,1857 Governor commissions .r. S. Hod"'es. 
Dec. HI, 1857 Governor commissions .John H. Conner. 
Dec. 22, 1857 Thomas C. Frost reports to governor. 
.Tan. 28,1858 Governor commissions .JohnS. Ford. 

{
Feb. 8,18581 5" Governor commissions Lieut. E<lward Burleson. 
Feb. 9, 1858 ( Governor commissions W. A. Pitts. 

May 20, 1858 Goveruor authorizes Williams's company. 
May 25, 11'58 Governor to Neill Robinson. 
Ma.y 27, 1851:! Govemor to Neill Robinson . 
.Tnly 13, 1858 Governor to Lieut . .John Williams 
Oct. 4,1858 Governor w Col, James Bourland, with memoranda of instructions. 
Oct. 4, 1858 Governor commissions .Tames Bourland. 
Oct. 8, 1858 Governor to Secretary of War. 
Nov. 2, 1858 Govemor's instructions to .JohnS. Ford. 
Nov. 10, 1858 Governor commissions .John S. Ford. 
Nov. 10,1858 Governor commissions lieutenants. 
Jan. 8,1859 1 Second Auditor to Adjutant.General United States Army. 
.Tan. 8, 1859 Memoranda of payment to six companies. 
.Tan. 11,1859 Secretary of War' to Senate Military Committee. 
Jan. 17,18!:9 I Comm1ssary·General Subsistence to Adjutant·G~ueral United States Army. 
.Tan. 29, 1959 Quartermaster·General to Adjntant·General Umted States Army. 
Feb. 1, 1859 Adjutant-General to Secretary of War. 
Feb. 2,1859 Secretary of War to Senate Military Committee. 
Mar. 19, 1859 Governor's receipt for Bourland's rolls. 
Apr. 5,1859 Decision of Secretary of War . 
.Tune 6,1859 Governor's peacecommission for Brazos agency. 
.July 1, 1859 Extract from roll of company called out by peace commissioners. 
.July 14,1859 Decision of Secretary of War . 
.July Hi,1859 Decision of Secretary of War (on page 375, Senate Document No. 2, first session 

Oct. 13, 18:'i9 
ov. 17, 1i:l59 

.Tan. 23, 1860 
Feb. 2il, 1860 
Mar. 3,18fl0 
Mar. 12, 1860 
Mar. 14, 1860 

Mar. 31, 1860 
Sept. 11, 1860 
Nov. 15,1860 
Dec. 17,1860 
.Tan. 25, 1861 
Feb. 13,1861 
:Feb. 23, 1861 
Feb. 23, 1861 
Feb. 23, 1861 
May 11,1861 
May 13,1861 
May 12,1871 
Oct. 28, 1871 
Fct. 28, 1871 
Nov. 11, 1871 

Thirty.sixth Congress). 
Governor to \V. G. Tobin. 
Governor to .JohnS. Ford. 
Governor to .r. M. Swisher . 
Governor to Secretary of War. 
Second Audit<>r to Secretary of War. 
Third Auditor to Secretary of War. 
Secretary of War to govemor (see page 145, House Executive Document 52, first 

session Thirty.sixth Congress). 
Secretary of War to Senate Military Committee. 
Secretary of \Var to secretary state of Texas. 
Decision of Secretary of War, necessity. 
Secretary of \Var to Governor. 
Governor's certificates . 
Second Auditor to Secretary of War. 
Third auditor's report approved by the Secretary of War. 
C. R. .Johns to Second Auditor. 
Third Auditor to Secretary of War. 
.T. M. McCormick's affidavit. 
R. W. Black's affidavit. 
Act of legistature of Texas. 
Governor to .Tames P. Newcombe. 
Memoranda. 
James P. Newcombe to Secretary of Treasury, referred by letter to Secretary of 

War. 
Nov. 16,1871 .Tames P. Newcombe to Secretary of War. 
Nov. 16,1871 Secretary of War to James P. Newcombe. 
Nov.18,lt371 .Tames P. Newcombe to Secretary of War. 
.Tan. 18,1872 1 Resolution of House of Representatives. 
Jan. 19, 1872 Secretary of War to House of Representatives. 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . Abstract of first amount claimed. 

I sUPl'I.ErtmNT. 

............. 1 Abstract of second amount claimed. 

138 .Aug. 25, 1?56 .Act of legistature for relief of Boggess 
139 Nov. 11, 1856 Levi English's power of attorney to H W. Sublett. · 
140 ~ --- 1872 Pamphlet-Piedras Negras's claims in the American and Mexican .Joint Commis­

sion. 
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WAR Dl<~PARTMENT, April 27, 1872. 
This is to certify that the papers hereunto annexed, and numbered 1-60, 60t , 61, 6q., 

62, and 64-139, are true copies of originals or certified copies of papers found at this 
office. 

THOMAS H. BRADLEY, 
Fi1·st Lientenant Twenty-first Infantry, Brevet Captain, United States Army. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Washington, September 30, 1852. 
Sm: The President has referred to this department your excellency's letter of the 

20th ultimo, with the documents therein inclosed. Your excellency says that repeated 
representations have been made to this [your] department by all the most influential 
and respectable residents of the Rio Grande Valley of their desperate situation and 
the insecurity of life and property in that section of the State, occasioned by the total 
inadequacy of the present military establishment in Texas to check the murders and 
depredations of lawless bands of Indians and Mexicans, and that, in consequence of 
these representations, you had felt it your duty to take immediate steps for the relief 
of the Lower Rio Grande, and with that view had called into the service of the State 
three companies of mounted volunteers (numbering in all about two hundred men 
rank and file), for the period of six months, who are to act in concert with the United 
States troops stationed in that quarter. Your excellency concludes by requesting that 
the "general government will recognize the services of these volunteer troops, and 
make such further and more permanent disposition as upon examination shall be 
found necessary to restore that peace and security to which that [this] unfortunate 
country has so long been a stranger." 

You inclose various communications made to you by citizens of Texas on this 
subject. 

Your excellency is probably aware that the Executive has repeatedly informed Con­
gress that the military establishment of the country was inadequate to the protection 
of its widely extended frontier, and recommended that it be authorized to raise addi­
tional force for that purpose. Congress has seen :fit to disregard these recommenda­
tions at a time when the necessity for their adoption was more apparent than it is at 
present. Before the last adjournment of Congress it was well known that there was 
reason to apprehend an extensive outbreak of the Indians on the frontier of Texas, and 
the very facts communicated in your excellency's letter must have been known to the 
Senators and Representatives of your State in Congress. Nevertheless that body ad­
journed without taking any steps on this subject. 

\Vithin a few weeks past the department has been informed by the reports of its 
officers not only that the rumors that the Indians are preparing extensive hostilities 
were unfounded, but that, in fact (with a few partial exceptions), they have not been 
for a long time as peaceably disposed. All accounts concur in representing the Coman­
ches as unusually quiet; and, by ad vices received from Colonel Sumner, it appears that 
treaties of peace have been concluded with the Navajoes and the Apaches (the most 
powerful nations on the confines of New Mexico and Texas); that there are now trea­
ties of peace with all the Indians inN ew Mexico ; and that, with the exception of some 
of the roving bands of the plains, the Indians in that section of the country have 
t~eased to be troublesome. 

Under these circumstances, even if there were a manifest necessity for an additional 
increase of the military establishment, the Executive would hesitate to call into the 
service of the government a description of force which, while it is far less effective 
than that which Congress has refused to authorize, is more expensive. But the Presi· 
dent is not satisfied that the facts contained in the papers transmitted by your excel­
lency would warrant him in taking this step. The only law under which the President 
could exercise the power referred to is the act of February 28, 1795, entitled "An act 
to provide for calling forth the militia to execute the laws of the Union, suppress 
insurrections, and repeal invasions, and to- repeal the act now in force for those pur­
poses." It appears from these papers that the neighborhood of El Paso and Browns­
"ltille has for several months past been infested by lawless persons, who traverse the 
eountry, singly, or in small parties, driving off cattle and occasionally committing 
murders; that the perpetrators of these acts are principally Indians, Mexicans, and 
half-breeds; but that lawless and reckless persons, professing to be citizens of Texas, 
also participate in them; that, in consequence of the fears occasioned by these dis­
orders, some of the inhabitants have been compelled to abandon their homes; that 
the civil authorities were powerless to put a stop to these outrages, the officers of jus­
tice not being able to collect a sufficient civic force to execute processes, &c. 

There is reason to suspect that these statements are somewhat exaggerated. Be­
sides the natural tendency of persons while under the influence of fear to magnify 
the danger that occasions it, some of the signers of these papers have a strong motive 
to do so. 

It is well known to t,his department that the inhabitants in the neighborhood of 
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military posts have other reasons for wishing them to be kept up besides the protec­
tion they afford. The department, therefore, is frequently urged to establish posts 
where there is no real necessity for them; and whenever troops are ordered away from 
one, alarming accounts of Indian hostilities are invariably set afloat. In addition to 
this, many young men are always found who are anxious to enroll themselves as vol­
unteers, and there is no part of the frontier, from Oregon and California to Florida, 
where similar applications have not been made; but in every instance they have been 
rejecteu. To what extent these remarks apply to the accounts contained in the papers 
transmitted by your excellency I am unable to say. I will merely remark that the 
commander of that department positively. pronounces several of the statements con­
tained in them entirely unfounded, and does not recommend that these volunteers be 
received into the service of the United States. 

Supposing, however, these accounts to be strictly correct, the outrages and disorders 
complained of (except when committed by Indians) are hardly such as this govern­
ment ought to be called upon to repress. The perpetrators of these acts, whether 
Americans or Mexicans, are not public enemies, to be encountered by the Army of the 
United States, but private malefactors, to be arrested and punished by the civil au­
thorities of Texas. If the means which these authorities have at their disposal are not 
sufficient to enable them to do this, and the govertlment of Texas finds it necessary to 
call out her own militia to execute her own laws and to defend her own citizens against 
robbers and murderers, surely it ought not to expect the United States to pay the ex­
penses of the proceeding. 

It must be borne in mind, too, that .the disorders complained of have been brought 
about in part by citizens of Texas themselves. It is well known that many of the 
inhabitants of that State were directly or indirectly concerned in the criminal enter­
prises of Caravajal, in violation of the laws of their own country, and, no doubt, in 
opposition to the wishes of the peaceable and law-abiding portion of the inhabitants 
of Texas. 

It was to be expected that the inhabitants of Mexico would seek in some way or 
other to retaliate upon them, and the Indians in the neighborhood have availed them­
selves of tl!~s opportunity to renew their predatory incursions into the country. The 
number of .,hese, however,judging from official reports to this department, is much ex­
aggerated in these papers. In addition to these, mercenary vagabonds and outlaws 
within onr limits, who bad flocked to the standard of Caravajal, :finding themselves 
disappointed in their hopes of plunder in the Mexican territory, naturally seek to in­
demnify themselves in our own. 

The President directs me to assure your excellency that be sympathizes deeply with 
the sufferings of the good people of Texas, who are thus made to suffer for acts in 
which they did not participate, and that he will do all that he can, with propriety, to 
arrest them. 

The officer in command of that department reports that, in view of the troubles on 
that frontier, he had already ordered to that quarter five companies of mounted rifle­
men. Orders have also been given to fill up all the companies stati<med there with 
their complement of men. One of the papers transmitted by your excellency men­
tions t.hat the officer at a military post had been unable to render any assistance in 
punishing the authors of these atrocities, because his men were unprovided with horses. 
That is very possible. Congress, in spite of the earnest and repeated remonstrances of 
the department, having failed within a few weeks past to appropriate money for the 
purchase of horses, the department found itself unable to supply them. Since the de­
partment has been pro~ided with funds for the purpose, measures have been taken to 
supply the requisite number of horses. 

From reports received from Colonel Sumner, it is rendered highly probable that the 
portion of the forces nuder his command that had for a temporary purpose been or­
dered from the Texas frontier to Santa :E'e have, before this, resumed their former sta­
tions. 

Representations have also been made to the Mexican Government in regard to the 
alleged participation of officers and citizens of that country in the outrages complained 
of. It is hoped that these measures, together with the exercise of a proper degree of 
vigilance and energy on the part of the citizens and government of Texas, will suffice 
to restore tranquillity and peace to that region of country. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant. 

His Excellency P. H. BELL, 
Governm· of Texas, Anstin, Tex. 

C. M. CONRAD, 
Secretary of Trm·. 
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No.2. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Trash·ington, Jnne 19, 1854. 
SIR: From your reports of the various conflicts which have taken place with the 

Indians on the frontiers of Texas and the constant outrages committed by them on the 
defenseless inhabitants of that State, the department is induced to believe you may . 
need the aid of additional troops, which it will not b~ in its power to furnish. Your 
representation of the great want of recruits to fill up the reduced companies under 
your command is received with the greater regret because of tile slow progress of the 
recruiting service, which state of things, it is feared, will not improve miless our hopes 
of increased pay for the soldier, as recommended to Congress, should be speedily real­
ized. 

Under these circumstances it is deemed advisable to authorize yon to call upon the 
governor of Texas for aid, should the exigencies of the service require it, in repelling 
Indian invasions, and in such event you will make requisition for such number of 
mounted men as you may from time to time deem necessary, who, while in service, 
will be supplied with ammunition, forage, and subsistence by the United States. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, .. 
General P. F. SMITH, U.S. A., 

Commanding DepaTtrnent of Texas. 

JEFF. DAVIS, 
Sem·etm·y of War. 

No.3. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
Corpus Ch1-isti, July 29, 1854. 

SIR: Your letter of the 19th of J nne authorized the calling on the governor of Texas 
for mounted men under a certain contingency. I have awaited the receipt of such in­
formation as would enable me to act with some certainty that I was not misled, but 
nothing new bas reached, except a report from Colonel Loomis, which he thinks reli­
able, that some bands of Indians are assembling on the Mexican side of the Rio 
Grande. 

I have waited until now for the arrival of the topographical instruments required 
last December from Colonel Abert before setting out to establish a site of a post near 
Presid·io del Norte. Having waited as long as I could, I am now about to start, and 
have written to the governor of the State a letter, a copy of which I inclose. I have post­
poned the time of calling the men into service the 1st of November, both to allow 
events to develop themselves in the mean time, and because, by the beginning of the 
winter, so many men will have been discharged from the mounted corps that these 
will be very weak. I presume the governor will urge that rifles and revolving pistols 
be provided. There will be time to receive his application in that case. 

The expenditures in the Quartermaster's Department will be very mnch increased 
by the mounted men. The chief quartermaster reports that with the last remittance 
came a notice that it filled all the requisitions from this department for the fiscal year 
ending the 30th of June. By the records here, on the contrary, it appears there is still 
a deficiency of $52,000 unsupplied on the estimates sent forward. 

With this deficiency to begin with, and the great additional expense in prospect, the 
service of the Quartermaster's Department will be very difficult. 

There will be time to send supplies of provisions from Baltimore to Indianola , 
directed to Austin, before the companies, if called out, will want them. 

With the highest respect, your obedient servant, · 
. PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 

B1·evet Major-General, Commanding Depm·tment. 
Ron. JEI(FERSON DAVIS, 

Secreta1·y of Tr m·. 

[Indorsement.] 

The instructions of June 19, 18:>4, authorize General Smith, should the exigencies of 
the service require it in repelling Indian incursions, to make requisition upon the gov­
ernor of Texas for such number of mounted men as might, from time to time, be 
deemed necessary by the general commanding, the men so called into service to be 
supplied with ammunition, forage, and subsistence by the United States. 

General Smith, in his letter to Governor Pease, says: ''If the only evil to be avoided 
were the direct injury from Indian incursions I should not think the contingency con­
templated by the Secretary had arrived." 

No authority was given to call out the militia for any other purpose than that indi­
cated. This was expressly limited to the case of an exigency which rendered that 
resort necessary, and the phrase "from time to time" was intended for such temporary 
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service as incursions should require. No power exists, without special legislation, to 
call forth the militia for such objects as the promotion of settlement and agriculture, 
for a term as long as that proposed. 

JEFF. DAVIS, 
Secl'etal'!J of Wm., 

\V AR DEPARTMENT, August 24, 1854. 

No.4. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPART~IENT OF TEXAS, 
C01'PUS Ch1'isti, Jnly 291 1854. 

Sm: I have been instructed by the Secretary of War" to call upon the governor of 
Texas for aid should the exigencies of the service, in your opinion, require it in repel­
ling Indian incursions, and in such an event you will make requisition for such num­
ber of mounted men, from time to time, as you may deem necessary, who will, while 
in service, be supplied with ammunition, forage, and subsistence by the United States." 

If the only evil to be avoided were the direct injury from Indian incursions I should 
not think the contingency contemplated by the Secretary had arrived, for so many of 
the reports spread by the papers are, to my own knowledgt3, so entirely fabrications, 
that the case presented by the actual fact is not such as to require more force than is 
now here. But there are, doubtless, other serious evils that follow murders and rob­
beries that have really happened, and the greatest is the sense of general insecurity on 
the frontier, which interrupts industry and prevents an increase of population on the 
border, where it is most desirable as the best means of defense. 

If, in the opinion of your excellency, the presence of additional troops on the frontier 
is necessary to repel actual incursions, I would be unwilling to set my own belief in 
opposition to that of yourself, who represent the belief and wishes of the people most 
interested; and if, in the second case, you think a feeling of security so necessary and 
beneficial to the border settlements could only be produced by adding to the troops 
there, I would take your opinion as the rule for my action, and decide that the case 
contemplated had arrived in which I was to call on your excellency for mounted men. 

But as the raising and support of temporary troops are very onerous, both to the 
government and troops themselves, it is very desirable that they should be selected 
with care for the particular service they are destined for, and should be well mounted 
and armed. I would propose, then, that if your opinion is in favor of calling more 
companies into service, on the 1st day of November next six mounted companies 
should be called into service, on which day four of them will be mustered into the 
service of the United States for twelve months, unless sooner discharged, at or near· 
Fort Martin Scott, and two of them at or near Fort Worth. This would give two 
months to raise and organize and arm. the companies. They would be during the win­
ter placed on the frontier, and I would, in the spring, as soon as the grass would 
answer, make two expeditions into the Indian country, and endeavor to inflict a blow 
which should insure the tranquillity of the border for the future. 

If your excellency will do me the favor to send your reply in duplicate-one to this 
place inclosed to the assistant adjutant-general, and the other to the care of the assist­
ant quartermaster at San Antonio, to be forwarded to me by express on my route to 
Las Moras. 

It is to be observed that the troops are to be "supplied with ammunition, forage, and 
subsistence by the United States." Of course they are to provide their arms, horses, 
and equipments. The supply of revolver pistols was a limited one, and I presume is 
exhausted. 

As there bas been no appropriation for paying these men they will have to wait until 
the law provides for their case. 

The legal organization of a mounted company is as follows: One captain, 1 :first and 
1 second lieutenant, 4 sergeants, 4 corporals, 2 buglers, 1 farrier, and 74 privates. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 

His Excellency E. M. PEASE, 

PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 
Brevet Majo1'-General, Commanding Depal'tment. 

Got•erno1' of the State of Texas. 

No.5. 

FORT CITADBOURNE1 TEXAS, July 30, 1854. 
SIR: Information has reached me, through the chiefs of the southern bands of Co­

manches living near t.his post, that large war parties are being formed and some of 
them are actually at present on their way to the Rio Grande. I deem this of such 
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importance as to make the matter a special and immediate report to the commanding 
general of the department. Although the object of this movement is stated to be the 
revenge of the massacre of a large party of the Comanches by the Mexicans a few 
months since, I am inclined to think, from circumstances which have come to my 
knowledge, that the intention may be to depredate also on this side of the Rio Grande, 
should a favorable opportunity present itself. I am led to this conclusion by develop­
ments made by a captive Mexican boy whom I have taken from them. This boy, of 
whom I have heard and was anxious to get possession, was brought in during the 
night by a Mexican who bas lived long among them, under the promise that his agency 
in the escape should be kept a secret from the Comanches. 

The boy says that his name is Vivian Lopez, and that he is fourteen or fifteen years 
of age. He makes the following statement of the circumstances of his capture, &c. : 

His father, Cicilia Lopez, lives near Corpus Christi, aud is connected in business 
with Mr. Gilbert Rodgers, of that place. While out hunting mustangs some three 
months since with his father and another relat.ive, be, being separated a short distance 
from them, was seen and pursued by a party of Indians, . struck from his horse aud 
captured. 

He does not know what became of the others. The Indians proceeded to Laredo, 
where they stole a Mexican boy and some horses. The boy they killed that evening. 
From Laredo the band proceeded toward Fort Merrill, according to the boy's state­
ment, but I am under the impression that he mistakes that post for Fort Ewell; 
and on the Lardo road, near where it parts from that leading to Guerrero, they at­
tacked a train of f'ourteen government wagons, killing five teamsters and capturing 
some hundred mules. The party then proceeded, without the exercise of much cau­
tion, in this direction. They were overtaken by a party of soldiers while in camp, 
several of them killed or wounded, and the mules retaken. This band consisted of twelve 
men, led by Ecanodie, the half-brother of Toshaway, the principal war-chief of the 
Southern Comanches, to which band all of theparty belonged. The captive boy made 
his escape yesterday morning and was brought in last night. This morning early, 
Toshaway, accompanied by the wife of Ecanodie, came in to inquire if anything had 
been heard of the boy. I stated to them that the boy bad claimed my protection and 
that I should retain him. They then demanded a ransom, which I declined giving. 
Toshaway is the war-chief who commanded the party which was destroyed by the 
Mexicans not long since. I sent for Sanaco and Ketumsey, principal chiefs, whose 
camps ale only a few miles distant, and held a long talk with them through Jim Shaw, 
a Delaware interpreter. They expressed themselves satisfied regarding the boy, and 
acquiesced quietly in his being retained. The chiefs appeared to be somewhat alarmed, 
and volunteered the information that large parties bad been formed and were still 
forming among the Northern Comanches, amounting already to nearly four hundred 
men; that runners had been sent inviting them to join. Some of their young men 
bad already left, but they bad not made up their minds whether they would take part. 
These parties were-some of them-now on the way. I would mention, in this con­
nection, that these Indians do not appear nor can they be made to understand that it is 
wrong to engage in hostilities against the Mexicans. They speak openly about it on 
every occasion. They do not appear to think that the government or its agents have 
acted in good faith, and feel, as far as I can judge, little restraint or obligation under 
existing treaties. It is, however, due to them to say that since I have been in com­
mand they have acted in a friendly and consistent manner, apparently more out of a 
policy of their own than any feeling of treaty obligations. • 

Ecanodie and his party are again absent, the boy thinks, on another expedition 
toward the Rio Grande. The statement of the boy and the information oft he move­
ment of the war parties are given in substance, as nearly as possible, as they came to 
me. The interpreter used-Jim Shaw-is a well-known and intelligent Delaware. He 
places full confidence in the statement of the chiefs. In view of the want of confir­
mation of the boy's statement, the absence of the Indians principally engaged, and 
the gep.eral commitment of the whole tribe, I have determined to push the matter no 
further for the present; to treat the Indians as usual, watch them narrowly, and await 
instructions, should nothing more occur from the general commanding the depart­
ment. 

I have stopped the sale of powder and lead by the sutler and other traders in the 
vicinity, and shall endeavor to use to the best advantage the limited means which the 
strength of the command- not more than seventy strong-places at my disposal. 

Expresses have been sent to Forts BBlknap and McKavett. 
I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

P. CALHOUN, 
Captain Second Dragoons, Commanding Post. 

Maj. D. C. BuELL, 
Assistant Adjutant-General Departrn~nt of 'Iexas, Co11Jus Ch1·isti, Tex. 
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No.6. 

FORT CIIADBOURNE, TEX., August 2, 1854. 
SIR: Since my letter of the 30th, additional information has come to my knowledge, 

which I have the honor to report. I mentioned in that communication that Ecanodie 
had returned to the Rio Grande, it was supposed. Yesterday evening the same Mexi· 
can who assisted the boy Lopez to escape informed me that the Comanches had just 
received news that Ecanodie and four of his party had been killed in a fight below. 
These are evidently the Indians with whom Captain Van Buren is reported to have· 
had a fight. 

Jim Shaw, the interpreter, reports the following additional, which he gets from 
Ketumsey: That some thirty or forty of his band have already left, and that probably 
more will do so; none of the chiefs have taken part. He (Ketumsey) thinks that the 
whole force going to Mexico will amount to six hundred; they have passed far to the 
west of this, and intend crossing the Rio Grande some sixty miles below the Presidio 
del Norte, their gathering-point being in Mexico, not far from the Rio Grande. 

From this point they intend attacking the town near which the late massacre of 
their people took place. Ketumsey denies that the Indians killed by Captain Van 
Buren belonged to his band; he says they were Northern Comanches, his men being 
killed by the Lipans, in Mexico. The evidence is, however, strongly to the contrary. 

While I was writing, Lieutenant Tyler, with a scouting party from Fort McKavett, 
came in. I had beard of the approach of this party, and determined to strengthen and 
send it on a reconnaissance in a northwesterly direction ; it has been increased to forty, 
and is now preparing to leave, under the command of Lieutenant Tyler, accompanied 
by Lieut. George B. Anderson. I fear it may be turned back by the want of watert 
as the country in the direction in which it goes is represented as being very deficient 
in that respect. 

In your letter of the 15th of July you say that ''the general regrets to hear that it is 
the intention of the Indian Bureau to locate any bands of Indians in the neighborhood 
of your post." The phraseology of my letter may have led the general to a wrong con­
clusion. This particular region has always been a favorite hunting-ground for the 
Southern Comanches, and wherever the military post was situated they would, when 
at peace, frequent its neighborhood for trading and other purposes. Their camps are 
seldom more than ten miles distant, and frequently within a mile of the post. They 
camp around the post in parties of from twenty to three hundred. I have seen more 
than a hundred warriors in at a time. The term "near" was comparative and not 
meant to convey the idea of immediate vicinity. The location would probably be 
miles distant. The Mexican captive, Lopez., I will send to Corpus Christi by the first 
favorable opportunity. 

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Maj. D. C. BUELL, 

P. CALHOUN, 
Captain Second Dragoons, Cormnancling Post. 

A ssistant ..ldjntant- General, Depm·tment of Texas, Corpus Cl11·isti. 

No.7. 

ExECUTIVE OFFICE, AusTIN, TEx., August 8, 1854. 
SIR: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt, by the last mail, of your letter of 

the 2Uth of July. 
In reply, I have no hesitation in saying that I believe an addition to the troops now 

in service in this State is necessary to produce a feeling of security with the inhabit­
ants residing on and near the frontier. This belief is based upon a knowledge of the 
many murders and outrages that have been committed by the Indians within the last 
six months and upon the numerous communications that have recently been made t() 
me of the opinions of those inhabitants on this subject. I therefore feel authorized, 
from the tenor of your letter, to call out six companies of mounted volunteers, to be 
mustered into the service of the United States at the time and places indicated by you 
for twelve months, unless sooner discharged. 

I fully concur with you in relation to the. care that should be exercised in selecting 
these troops, as well as the necessity for their being well mounted and armed, and as 
so long a time is allowed for raising them, I am satisfied that I can send you a force 
well suited for the service in which you propose to empioy them. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
E. M. PEASE. 

Brevet Maj. Gen. PERSIFOR F. SMITH. 
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No.8. 

FORT DUNCAN, TEX, August 12, 1854. 
SIR: I have the honor to submit to the commanding officer the following information 

concerning the Indians that have crossed from this side of the Rio Grande into Mexico. 
The information I believe to be in the essential parts reliable. The Seminole Indians 
live at or near Santa Rosa, upon lands furnished th.em by Mexico, which they cultivate. 
They have horses, cattle, and mules. They have about fifty warriors and a number of 
negroes. These Indians are under the immediate control of Wild Cat, their chief, and 
they are subject to the military orders of Colonel Casteiiado, the inspector-general of 
the neighboring colonies. I look upon the Seminoles as a military colony, under Wild 
·Cat, and his warriors are colonial troops. As colonial troops they were employed 
against the party of Caravajal, and rendered efficient aid in the fight at Ceraloo in 
Tamaulipas. It is believed that they are again to be employed for a similar purpose, 
to guard the passes of the Rio Grande in this vicinity and prevent any parties crossing 
to aid the reputed revolutionists, and they would probably be used ::tgainst any faction 
opposing Banta Anna. These Indians are known to have a bitter hatred for many of 
the residents of this side of the river. They are well acquainted with all the positions 
of the live-stock raised and kept on this side, and have an intimate knowledge of all 
the fords of the Rio Grande. Under these circumstances, they would undoubtedly be 
very troublesome neighbors, particularly if their natural impulses to steal are stimu­
lated by encouragement or countenance from the other side. That such countenance 
.and protection have previously been given is well known. · 

The Seminoles crossed to this side and stole a large number of animals in the month 
-of March; after crossing the river they went directly to San Fernando, and in the 
presence of the authorities, civil and military, boasted of what they had done, and 
publicly announced (Mr. Harrison can make affidavit to the fact) that they (the Semi­
noles), and particularly Wild Cat, did this with the knowledge and consent of General 
Cordon a, of Coahuila, and that he. could not sell the animals again to their proper own­
ers because he was only entitled to half ; the other half was to be delivered to his ex­
cellency the governor. No steps, as far as can be ascertained, have been taken to dis­
prove the evidence of the Indians, and the boldness of the act, together with the cool 
impudence with which they answered any inquiries on the subject, seem to indicate 
something very much like protection. All the above, I believe, can be readily proven. 
I do not think the Seminole Indians have committed depredations since the above 
affair. 

The Lipans are reported to be under their chiefs, Coyote and. Castro, said to number 
-one hundred and fifty warriors. They seem to he confined to no particular spot ; for 
some time past they have been in the vicinity of San Fernando. There is but one there 
now, and he appears to be used as a courier, to look up and carry orders to the others, 
as they seem to be under the command and are well known to be under the military 
protection of Colonel Castefiado. These Indians are only at peace with the State of 
Coahuila (which embraces the opposite town). 

The people of the neighboring State of Tamaulipas raised a force and came against 
these Lipans, but Colonel Casteftado turned out with a much larger force to protect the 
Indians, and the Tamaulipans had to retire. One hundred Lipan warriors presented 
themselves to Colonel Casteiiado and wished to be led against their enemies, but their 
services were declined. This made the Indians suspect treachery, and they withdrew 
to the mountains, and it is reported that Castro has returned to his old position near 
Las Moras. I do not know upon what the report is founded. It is generally believed 
that the Lipans have been sent for to aid the Seminoles in guarding the frontier from 
filibusters and the interior from revolutionists. I could find no particular charge against 
t.he Lipans having stolen from this side since they crossed, but they have animals in 
their possession they do not own, and some of which are reported to have government 
~~ ' 

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Lieut. R. W. JOHNSON, 
Adjutant Pi·rst Iufantry. 

S. B. HOLABIRD, 
Second Lieutenant First Infantry. 

NOTE.-! was told that the horse stolen from General Smith at Fort Duncan was 
bought by a eecretary of Governor Cordona, and those knowing the fact think he was . 
. aware where the horse came from and how. The horse was said to be sorrel. A mule 
was carried over at the same time, but where it was taken I could not ascertain. 

S. B. HOLABIRD, 
Seconcl Lieutenant Fi1·st Infanf1·y. 
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No.9. 

· HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
Fort Duncan (Eagle Pass), Angnst 17, 1854. 

Cor.o4TEL: I authorized and directed the commanders of the posts on this river to 
send agents into Mexico to learn what the bands of Indians are doins- there. 

Lieutenant Holabird, acting assistant quartermaster, having to visit the opposite 
side in relation to the purchase of corn, was enabled to ascertain on the spot, and from 
reliable sources, the information which is contained in his report, which I inclose. 

It will be seen that the number of Indians under Wild Cat h~s been much overrated 
and the intentions of his band misstated; but the evil comes from the band of Lipans, 
who are stationed by the Indian agent on the Nueces. I also inclose a report of Cap­
tain Calhoun, from Fort Chadbourne, in relation to the Comanches brought to the 
neighborhood of that post through the Indian agent, who does not appear to be with 
them or to have any one to watch or advise. It appears to me that everything is done 
to make it difficult for the military to protect the frontier. 

I am on my way toward the Presidio del Norte and El Paso, with the view of estab­
lishing the site of Colonel Seawell's post and driving off the Mescaleros and Lipans 
about the bead of the Limpia. 

I take with me an escort of a company of mounted riflemen, with a detachment of 
twelve men of the same regiment, having a prairie howitzer, under Lieut. D. Maury, 
the whole under Captain Walker, Regiment of Mounted Rifles. 

Prom what I see of the prairie carriage and howitzer, I am convinced of its great 
utility on this frontier, and would respectfully ask that ten more be sent to the ord­
nance depot at San Antonio. 

Referring to the diminished number of the troops here, I mention that at Fort 
Mcintosh I found Captain Elliott's company of mounted riflemen with fifteen men for 
duty in it, and here I find Captain Caldwell'8 company of the Pirst Infantry with six 
men for duty. After the lapse of a year he will have not one man remaining. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 

Col. S. CoOPER, 
.:l.djutant-Gencral. 

PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 
B1·et·et Major- Geneml, Cornmanding Department. 

ADJUTANT-GENERAL's OFFICE, September 12, 1854. 
Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of War. 

No.10. 

S. COOPER, 
Acljutant-General. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
• Camp on the Piedras Pintas (eight n~iles west of Fort Clade), August 20, 1854. 

Col. S. COOPER, 41djntant-General of 'the Army: 
I arrived here yesterday morning on my way to examine the country about the 

Presidio del Norte, the head of the Lim pia, and to the neighborhood of El Paso. I was 
joined in the evening by Captain Walker's company of mounted riflemen, which I take 
as escort, and expect to-morrow a train from San Antonio with supplies, and will con­
tinue my route on the 22d. I shall probably be absent until the beginning of Decem­
ber, but communications addressed to me at Corpus Christi will reach me by express. 

The Lipan Indians who were in Mexico along the Rio Grande having been alarmed 
by measures taken against them, they have come over on this side and are now en­
camped near Fort Clark. They profess friendship, but were undoubtedly engaged in 
depredations across the river from Mexico. They now fear an attack from the Coman­
ches, of whom Captain Calhoun's letter of August 2 speaks, dated Fort Chadbourne. 
I have taken measures to have troops to meet this expedition when it comes down. 

I have made an absolute call on the governor of the State for six mo1,1nted companies, 
and would desire that five hundred rifles and equipments and as many of Colt's re­
volvers be sent to Lieutenant McNutt's ordnance depot at San Antonio, and that two 
hundred Sharp's carbines, with Maynard's primers, be also sent, furnished with two 
hundred rounds of cartridges and two hundred and fifty primers of the latest manu 
facture for each one. 

I cannot communicate with San Antonio, so as to have the requisition made by the 
ordnance officer there and approved by me These arms will be issued only in ca3e of 
necessity. 
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I inclose a copy of the answer of the governor of the State to my communication of 
the 29th of July. There is a great deal of ~:~ickness among the troops, owing, no doubt, 
to the unusually wet weather this season, and it will continue until cold weather. 
Many suffer from the scurvy, for want of lime-juice, the best anti-scorbutic, 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 
PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 

Brevet Maj01·-General, Commanding Depa1'tment. 
ADJU'fANT-GENERAI.'s OFFICE, September 12, 1854. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of War. 

No. 11. 

S. COOPER, 
Adjntant- General. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Washington, .August 24, 1854. 
SIR: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 22d instant, 

with a copy of one from the Secretary of the Treasury, inclosing a communication 
from S. Powers, collector of the customs at Point Isabel, Tex., stating the probability 
that measures are being concerted by certain disaffected Mexicans on our frontier to 
invade Mexican territory. 

In reply, I have to inform you that the general commanding the Department of 
Texas is possessed of full authority from the President to prevent the carrying on of 
any such expeditions from any place within the limits of his command. 

Copies of the papers will, however, be sent to General Smith, and his attention 
called to the subject. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Hon. W. L. MARCY, 
Secretary of State. 

No. 12. 

JEFF. DAVIS, 
Sem·etary of War. 

ADJUTANT-GENERAL'S OFFICE, 
Washington, .August 25, 1854. 

GENERAL: Your communication of July 29, inclosing your correspondence with the 
governor of Texas in relation to calling out volunteers for the defense of the frontiers 
of that State, has been received by the Secretary of War, by whom I am now instructed 
to state that you appear to have misconceived the instructions of June 19, 1854, "in 
which you were authorized, should the exigencies of the service require it in repelling 
Indian incursions, to make requisitions upon the governor of Texas for such number of 
mounted men as might, from time to time, seem necessary. 

No authority was given to call out the militia for any other purpose than that indi­
cated; this was expressly limited to the case of an emergency which rendered that 
resort necessary, and the phrase ''from time to time" was intended for such temporary 
service as incursions should require. No power exists, without special legislation, to 
call forth militia for such objects as the promotion of settlements and agriculture or 
for a term as long as that proposed. 

The Secretaryof War accordingly directs that your requisitions upon the governor 
of Texas for volunteer troops be made to conform to these views. 

Very respectfully, general, your obedient servant, 

Bvt. Maj. Gen. P. F. SMITH, 
Commanding Depwrtment of Texas. 

No. 13. 

S. COOPER, 
.Lldjutant-General. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Wash-ington, August 29, Hl54. 
SIR: I have received from General P. F. Smith a copy of his letter to you, dated July 

29, in relation to calling out militia for the defense of the inhabitants of Texas from 
Indian aggressions. 

In that letter, referring to the authority given him by this department to call upon 
you for troops, he says that if the only evil to be avoided were the direct injury from 
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Indian incursions, he would not think the contingency contemplated had arrived, for 
so many of the reports spread by the papers are to his knowledge fabrications, that 
the case presented by the actual fact is not such as to require more force than he now 
has; but that there are other evils, the greatest of which is the sense of general inse­
<mrity on the frontier, which interrupts industry and prevents an increase of popula­
tion on the border, where it is most desirable, as the best means of defense. 

He then proceeds to say that if, in your opinion, additional troops are necessary, 
either to repel actual incursions or to produce a feeling of security in the border set­
tlements, he will take your opinion as the rule for his action; and he accordingly makes 
a requisition, subject to your opinion of its necessity, for six companies of mounted 
men, to serve for twelve months. · 

Authority to call out militia is given by law only in cases of actual hostilities or of 
"imminent danger," and in strict pursuance of this authority General Smith was di­
rected to call upon you" for aid, should the exigencies of the occasion require it in re­
pelling Indian incursions." To produce a feeling of security in the border settlements 
is not, within the contemplation of law or the instructions of this department, an object 
for which the militia may be properly called out, and it is manifest that, in his judg­
ment, troops were not needed to repel Indian incursions. As he only, knowing the 
condition of the troops under his command, can judge of the necessity of re-enforce­
ments, it has been deemed proper to apprise him that the department disapproves the 
conditional requisition which he made for troops not deemed necessary by him for the 
object specified in the instructions, especially as the term proposed by him greatly ex­
ceeded that limited by law. 

Although, under the views above stated, troops cannot be called out simply to give 
citizens a sense of security, it appears to me that the object might be in a great degree 
attained were it generally made known in the advanced settlements that General 
Smith has authority to call out and sup'ply such force as he may deem necessary for 
their protection, whenever required, and that your excellency is prepared at any mo­
ment to furnish it. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

His Excellency E. M. PEASE, 
Gorernor of Texas, .dustin, Tex. 

JEF:B'. DAVIS, 
Secretm·y of Wa1·. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
"Painted Ca11tp," on the Limpia, October 9, 1854. 

COLONEL: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your communication of 
the 25th of Augnst, conveying the disapproval of the Secretary of War of my call on 
the governor of Texas for six companies for a year, if not sooner discharged, and direct­
ing me to conform to the views expressed in your letter and to the law, which I will 
accordingly endeavor to do aR far as I can understand them. 

The Indians, as will be perceived from the reports sent to you heretofore, are con­
stantly making hostile incursions, if that can be called an incursion which is made by 
Indians living within the State already. The reports made of their devastating the 
settlements, as published in the papers, were many of them untrue; but small parties 
formerly, and larger ones since, have entered within the line of posts and killed men 
and carried off cattle and horses, and attacked traveling parties, sometimes success­
fully; though these can scarcely be said to have happened within the settlements, yet 
they have alarmed them, and induced some persons to abandon them. These depre­
dations are not known till pursuit is too late, if the Indians, as they oft.en do, imme­
diately retire; to call out the militia to repel such incursions as they happen would be 
useless; troops ready prepared can hardly expect to overtake them, unless they acci­
dentally fall on their .trail, or receive instantaneous notice of the act and the route of 
the retreat; to call on the governor of the State for militia, and to await their being 
assembled and mustered into service, would not meet the emergency. I was conse­
quently of opinion (on which I acted) that when a hostile disposition, evinced by 
hostile acts, was evident, I was authorized to call upon the governor to furnish men 
to be prepared to meet such acts as were pretty sure to follow such a disposition. I 
thought the only question to be decided was whether the regular force under my com­
mand was sufficient to repel these incursions, or whether militia were necessary, and 
upon your information that no recruits could be expected, I framed the call so as to 
furnish the additional force at a time when the regular troops would be as low in 
numbers as it would be safe to permit them to be. If, when the returns for October 
are in, you will observe the number of recruits necessary to :fill up the companies, you 
will probably allow that the :five hundred militia called out are hardly a compensation 
for the two thousand soldiers deficient. 



94 CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 

When I speak in my letter to the governor of the effect the existing alarm may pro­
duce on the settlements, I do not mean to say that such alarm is to be considered, even 
if entirely without foundation, but that if some actual hostilities have produced au 
alarm which, under the circumstances, is unreasonably great, yet that alarm is an evil 
to be remedied among others attending the Iudinn incursions. 

Having no laws to refer to, I was under the impression that the act under which 
volunteers were received into service in 1847 or 1848 for a vear was not limited to the 
war, and on my arrival to take command of the Department of Texas (then the 8th), 
I found companies of volunteers in service for, I think, a longer period than three 
months; but whether I am correct or not in my impressions I have here no means of 
ascertaining. To meet all circumstances, for yon informed me there could be no hope 
of recruits, I asked for the companies for a year, "unless sooner discharged," thus re­
serving the right to dismiss them the moment they were no longer necessary. 

I intended to employ them in a much more effectual way than by letting them wait 
to watch small parties that might come in, which was to organize one expedition or 
more against the tribes that were offending. It is only by a serious chastisement, 
repeated more than once, that these predatory expeditions can be repressed eff~ctually, 
but as long as the tribes that furnish the marauders are protected by the Indian agents 
and kept near the frontiers no effectual lessons can be given to them. 

As many hostile acts and incursions have been committed since tny letter calling on 
the governor, and as the number of regular troops is diminishing daily, without any 
prospect of recruits as yet, I will renew the call on the governor for the six companies 
for'' three months, unless sooner discharged," and employ thep1 at once, part against 
the Indians in this neighborhood and part against the Comanches, and will discharge 
them as soon as their services are no longer necessary. 

If I misconstrue the instructions yon have transmitted and the intentions of the 
Secretary, I will be glad to learn at once in what particulars and how I shall correct 
my action. My sincere wish is to carry out exactly and effectually the views of the 
department in all points. 

'Vith high respect, your obedient servant, 

Col. S. COOPER, 
...ldjlttant-General. 

PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 
Brevet Majo1·-Generctl Cornrnanding Depm·tment. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of War. 

ADJUTANT-GENERAL's OFFICE, November 9, 1854. 

S. COOPER, 
Adjutant-Geneml. 

The view last taken, that is, to employ such additional force as may be necessary to 
repel incursion and to pursue and punish hostile Indians, by making a campaign 
sufficiently protracted for the purpose, is in accordance with the views of the depart­
ment. 

Exception was taken to the former call because it exceeded the power of the Execu­
tive of the United States, and because it was to provide garrisons, looking forward to 
a campaign at a remote period, before which it might be possible to furnish recruits 
and make the regular force equal to the wants of the service. 

JEFF'N DAVIS. 

No. 15. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
Carnp on Sctn Pedro Bit•er, October 30, 1854. 

COLONEL: On the 23d of this month I dispatched an express from the "Painted 
Camp" on the Lim pia, after my return from the Presidio del Norte, with several com­
munications to you, one of which gave my reasons for recommending that no post be 
established at the Presidio, and that the companies of the Eighth Infantry now on 
the Limpia be continued there. I have placed them in a position which, as far as I 
am able to judge from the time I have spent there, is the most healthy and pleasant 
in Texas, having most excellent water, good grass, and plenty of fuel, at an elevation 
above the sea of about 4,700 feet, and being on one of the most important roads in the 
department and in the midst of Indian tribes that are daily committing outrages on 
travelers. This express, the day after it left my camp, was attacked, at first by six­
teen Indians, who were soon joined by fifteen or twenty more, and the men were 
obliged to abandon their mules and baggage to be able to use their arms. Finally the 
Indians, seeming to value their mules more than anything else, pursued them, and · 
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the two men succeeded in making their escape, and returned toward the Limpia on 
foot. On the 24th I began my march, and met the men. I sent Captain Walker with 
thirty men to seek the trail of the Indians, but it was in a rocky place and he did not 
succeed in :finding it. 

Unfortunately, in the same bag with the letters directed to Washington were the 
copies sent to my office in Corpus Christi, so that I have no record of what was sent. 

I have been obliged to-day to make a long march, for want of water on the road, and 
cannot have time before the express must leave to write again w],lat bas been lost;. 
and as I am going direct to Corpus Christi, I shall be there so_on after any messenger I 
can send, and I will then present my views on the subject again. In the mean time I 
have established Colonel Seawell with his six companies there (numbering less than 
two hundred men), and have taken the liberty of naming it without reference to the 
department, and I have called it Port Davis. Amoug the papers lost was a report 
from Captain Arthur, First Iufantry, in command of a temporary post on Oak Creek~ 
giving au account of the Indians, twenty-eight in number, running off all his animals 
pasturing near the post, and of a pursuit by men on foot, in which Lieutenant Woods 
and Sergeant Michael Roke and a private, whose name will be found in the captain's 
report, sent by him to Corpus Christi, succeeded in overtaking the Indiaus, who were 
mounted, and they themselves beiug on foot, and killing two of them, and I had in 
my dispatch recommended Lieutenant Woods and the sergeant and private to the 
notice of the department. 

Captain Arthur's post on Oak Creek and Captain Granger's on this stream are now 
both abandoned for the winter. I am taking the last detachments down with me. 

1 
With high respect, your obedient servant, 

PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 
B1'eret Major-Geneml, Commanding Department. 

Col. 8. COOPER, 
.Ac7jutant-General. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of ·war. 

ADJUTANT-GENERAL' s OFFICE, Norember 21, 1854. 

No.16. 

S. COOPER, 
.Adjutant-Uenm·al. 

"\VAR DEPARTMENT, Washington, January 23, 1B55. 
SIR: In answer to the resolution of the Senate of the 11th instant, "That the Secre­

tary of War be required to lay before the Senate such information as may be in his 
department in reference to such troops of the State of Texas as may now be, or here­
tofore have been, in service in that State, and who have not been paid by the Govern­
ment of the United States, together with the estimates of the amount necessary to pay 
said troops," I have the honor to state that the only troops which are believed to come 
within the terms of the resolution are the six companies of mounted volunteers called 
out by Maj. Gen. P. F. Smith, commanding the Department of Texas, and mustered 
into the service of the United States at Austin, Tex., on the 1st of November last, to 
serve for six months. The muster-rolls of these companies not having yet been re­
ceived at the department, no exact estimate of the amount necessary to pay them can 
now be made. The one made by the Paymaster-General, and submitted herewith, is 
conjectural, but the amount of it, $137,755.38, if appropriated, will probably be sufficient 
for the purpose. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Hon. J. D. BRIGHT, 
P1·esident pro tempore of the Senate. 

No. 17. 

JEFF'N DAVIS, 
Secretary of Wm·. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Washington, January 24, 1855. 
SIR: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 9th instant, 

inclosing a certificate of the comptroller of the State of Texas, showing amounts which 
have been appropriated by the State for the payment of the three companies of vol-
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unteers called out by its executive in the summer of 18!12, and requesting that the 
amount necessary to reimburse the State ($89,301.92) may be asked of Congress by this 
department. 

In reply I have to inform you that when these companies were called out by the 
governor of Texas he advised this department of the fact, and asked that they might 
be received into the service of the United States. This, for the reasons given by the 
Secretary of War* in his reply to the governor, was not granted. 

For the reason, therefore, that these companies have not been in the service of the 
United States, I cannot comply with your request that I should ask an appropriation 
of Congress to reimburse the State of Texas the amount paid them. The decision of 
my predecesRor controls my action in the case. 

The resolution of the Senate relative to the volunteer companies of Texas at present 
in service, to which you refer, has been received and answered by the department. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Hon. P. H. BELL, 
House of .Representatives. 

Col. S. COOPER, Adjutant-General: 

No. 18. 

JEFF. DAVIS, 
SeCYI'etary of War. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TI<~XAS, 
Corpus Christi, Mm·ch 10, Ii:l55. 

Your letter of the 31st of January, inclosing the extract from a report of Major 
Neighbours, Indian agent, was duly received, and, in conformity with your directions, 
the volunteers were immediately recalled from the quarter toward which they had 
been directed; and as the object of employing them, to wit, carrying a war into the 
homes of the Indians who had been making hostile incursions into the interior of 
Texas, could not be carried out, they were ordered to be discharged. I must, however, 
call your attention to the incorrectness of Major Neighbours's report. 

His communication is dated at San Antonio on the 8th of January. On that day the 
volunteers had not yet arrived at Fort Chadbourne, a long ways this side of the posi­
tion he assigned to them, and the command from Fort Chadbourne had not left it when 
you wrote, inclosing his report. Yet he alleges their presence on the upper waters of 
the Clear Fork as causing a disturbance among the Indians with whom he was treat­
ing. The band which attacked the train near Fort Ewell-that which was attacked 
by Captain Van Buren and which killed him-were detachments from these tribes that 
were then about Fort Chadbourne endeavoring to excite the other tribes to join them 
in hostilities. The reports of Captain Calhoun last summer show this fully. If they 

. have joined themselves for protection to any band more peaceful, and nuder the control 
of the Indian agents, the latter should have taken measures to have the offenders given 
up .. Major Neighbours cannot say that subsequent ho~tilities have been caused by the 
presence of the troops, for on the 1st of February Captain Calhoun's two companies of 
dragoons left Fort Chadbourne, and the volunteers had not been mustered into service 
at Austin and San Antonio until from the 1st to the 20th of December. Yet, by are­
port from Lieutenant Givens, Second Dragoons, stationed at Fort Belknap, dated the 
6th of November, it appears that a party of these same Indians had committed depre­
dation on the settlement between the fort and the reservation, and he had followed 
and detected the guilty, but for certain reasons had not arrested them. On the lOth of 
January Major Steen reports that he had, on the complaint of one of the settlers, gone 
to Senaco's camp after mules, stolen some time before from the settler; that on his way 
back Ketumsey, another chief, had overtaken him, with news that a German named 
Lindecker, living near Fort Chadbourne, had sent word to them that an expedition 
was to march against the Southern Comanches, and that thereupon Senaco and Buffalo 
Hump had fled with their bands to join the Northern Comanches. Now, Major Steen's 
report is dated the 8th of January, and the occurrences must have happened some days 
before, while the first of the volunteers did not arrive at Fort Chadbourne until the 
lOth of January. Now, the fact is that this same party of Senaco and Buffalo Hump 
have sent detachments down into the settlements near Fredericksburg, where they are 
reported to be killing cattle and men. I have ordered Colonel May to send a detach­
ment to drive them out, and Captain Calhoun will on his return detach dragoons on the 
same duty. 

The Lipans, under the protection of Major Howard, are following the same plan. An 
incursion was made a few days since across from Mexico, near Fort Duncan, and a 

*In paper No.1. 
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young man killeu who was in search of cattle. In defending himself he killed an In­
dian, whose body was not carried off; and when Captain Walker's company of rifles, 
which was sent in pursuit, came to the ground, some of the men recognizeu the body 
as that of the Lipan Indian who had started with Captain King, First Infantry, in pur­
suit of Comanches, and had been turned over by him to Captain Van Buren, and ac­
eompanied the latter in the pursuit that ended in his death. 

The Indian agents may be able to watch and control the tribes under their charge 
while they reside in San Antonio and the India.ns are on the frontier, but they cannot 
even know correctly the movements of the troops or the facts that transpire at such a 
distance from them; ancl I will assert that all the Indian depredations committed 
within two years are to be attributeu to placing the Indians too near the frontier with­
-out agents actually with them to control their actions, and that, far from the Indian 
agents having the right to complain that their measures for paci:ficating the Indians 
are obstructed by the action of the military, the latter have the right to complain that 
all their efforts to protect the frontier from Indian depredations are rendered nugatory 
by the plans adopted by the Indian agents. 

Since my return from El Paso, I have been preparing a full history of all the events 
of the summer and fall, and the clerks in the offiee have been employed in making 
copies of all the papers connected with it; but the current business is such as to occupy 
their time fully, and it will be some clays yet before all the papers will be ready. 

If the riflemen and dragoons were filled up with recruits and horses, I can foresee 
no contingency that would require the employment of militia, but you are aware that 
when troops have charge of posts, a certain number of men are necessary (whatever 
be the strength of a company) to remain at the post, and only the surplns are dispos­
able, though I have laid it down aa a rule that the posts are to be considered as subor­
dinl\te to service in the ·field, and, if it becomes necessary to abandon one, the post is 
to be left to itself. I must say here, however, in justice to the whole command, th~t 
no men could have better done their duty or conducted themselves in a better manner, 
under all circumstances, than the troops of all arms have done-dragoons, riflemen, 
artillery, and infantry-in a climate as severe and as unhealthy as auy ca.n be, and 
when there is not a single building at any of the posts that is really fit for quarters 
for officers or men, aud hardly a stable for horses. I cannot too forcibly express my 
satisfaction with their good conduct on all occasions. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 
PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 

Bvevet Major- General, Commanding Department. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of War. 
~.COOPER, 

A. tlj u tan t-Geneml. 
ADJUTANT-GENERAL's OFFICE, Mm·ch 24, 185G. 

Read the portion of the letter referring to the complaint of Agent Neighbours, and 
to the necessity of requiring agents to reside with the tribes under their charge; will 
be copied and sent to the Secretary of the Interior. General Smith will be informed 
of the purpose for which the letter of Agent Neighbours was forwarded to him, and 
will be assured of the confidence of this department in the troops and commanding 
officers of the Departmeut of Texas. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, April 11, 1855. 

JEFF'N DAVIS, 
Seareta·ry of Wm·. 

(See letter to Secretary of the Interior, April 17, 1855.) 

No. 19. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
Cmpus GhriBti, Mm·ch 14, 1855. 

COLONEL: I have report from Major Simonson, R. M. Riflemen, commanding th6 
expedition beyond Fort Da.vis, up to the 15th of Pebruary. He was thoroughly scour­
ing the mountainous district north of the El Paso road, and between Fort Davj and 
the Rio Grande. The Indians had left, he thinks, and gone north ard, having rP.­
ceived intelligence of the expedition. 'l'his is very probable, for I have already in­
formed the department that a party of Lipans, from the band established on' the 
Nueces, near Port luge, by the Indian agent, had joined the Mescaleros, and kept up 
a regular communication with their friends near Fort luge, by which they learne{l tlte 
strength and object of every party that passed that point on the road to El Paso. 

S. Ex. 74--7 
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Major Simonson bas been as far north as Captain Marcy's road, and met Major Long­
street, Eighth Infantry, with a command out .from El Paso, in the Guadeloupe Mount­
ains. 

The explorations of Major Simonson and of Colonel Seawell near Fort Davis have 
had very valuable results, the former having disqovered running streams of good 
water that may serve for temporary camps in the future, and possibly give a better 
route for the El Paso road ; and, ·the latter has found, by an examination made by 
Brevet Lieutena,nt-Colonel Bomford, Eighth Infantry, fine pine timuer within eleven 
miles of his post, and accest>ible by a wagon-road. 

The compa.ny of Texas volunteers nnder Captain Henry, part of which bad broken 
open the post-office at D'Harris and pillaged the town (some of them were afterward 
discharged for misconduct on the march toward Fort Davis, and of which the lieuten­
ant, Jackson, was under arrest), was ordered to be discharged; and I have now charges 
on hand against the captain for misconduct while dr-nnk. The other two companies 
witkMajor Simonson-a-ppear to have been usefully employe<l; but on the receipt of your 
letter, inclosing Major Neighbours's remonstrance against the prosecution of expedi­
tions against the Indians, they, as well as the compap.ies w.ith Captain Calhoun, were 
ordered to be discharged. But I trust that I shall he allowed to continue the move­
ments against the Mescaleros and Apaches, so as at least to keep them out of reach of 
the roads to El Paso and Dona Anna, which I can do if the companies now here are 
filled up with recrnits and horses. 

On the subject of recruits, I would urge that they be sent out, if practicable, to 
arrive here on the 1st of December. Whon tbr}y come in the spring or summer they 
suffer from the fevel'S and dysenteries of the climate and. country, and embarrass the 
command rather than aid it. I am aware that this bas not been possible lately, for it 
is only since August last that :recruits could be procured. · 
.. My own regiment has been ver:y unfortunate in this matter.. It was at first filled up 
in 1846 with as good men as ever enlisted. These served during .the war; but on their 
return in 1848 they collected a purse of seven -or eight hundred dollars, and employed 
one of the agents abe,ut Washington to bav:e a law passed discharging them, all of 
which he had done. ·1~hey were entirely recruited anew, but with inferior men, and 
marched across the plains in 1849 to Oregon. In 1851 the men were all transferred to 
the dragoons in the Pacific division, and the regiment reeFuited the third time in six 
years and stationed here. · They bav.e no·w bad no recruits for over two years, and 
some of the companies have not over twenty men. When filled up a large majority 
will be recruits, and anotb.er evil follow; that so ms,ny will have their discharges due 
at the same time that a large leaven of raw men will come into each company at once. 

I delay making any plans for the summer until I know the punposes of the depart­
ment since the increaSe of the Army authorized; but will keep everything as far as 
possible in the most perfect state of efficiency for any design that may, under the new 
circumstances, be determined on. It is said at Brownsville that General La Vega and 
most of the troops in Tamaulipas are going south to aid Santa Anna against the revo­
lution. 

With high resp!3et, your qbedient servant, 

Coi. S. COOPER, 
.Adjutant-Generat. 

PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 
Brevet Major-Gtmeral, Cornrnandtng. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of War. 

ADJUTANT-GENERAL'S OFFICE, Mt~rch 28, 1855. 

No. 20. 

S. COOPER, 
.A(Ijntant-General. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
C01:pus Christi, Mm·ch 23, 18fi5. 

COLONEL: I have generally, before the end of March, determined on the plan of 
operations for the troops until called in late in the fall, but this year have postponed 
putting the troops in motion, and, indeed, deciding bow to employ them, as I knew 
plans for augmenting the military force were before Congress; and the result is known, 
to wit, an increase of four regiments. The determination of the boundary-line under 
the Gadsden treaty may render more troops necessary o.n that line, and it struck me 
as likely that the Department of Mexico wou1d be re-enforced by the six companies 
-of the Eighth Infantry now at Fort Davis under Lieutenant-Colonel Seawell. If it 
were to be so-and Colonel ' Seawell informed that he bad heard that change was de-. 



CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 99 

termined on- I would place 'the First Infantry there and at Oak Creek an<l the San 
Pedro, or at the Great Comanche crossing, and stretch the Fifth along the Rio Gra.nde 
to cover the places vacated by the movement of the First; and if the rifles are filled 
with recruits, General Srnit.h suggests, in a previous letter, that recruits for Texas 
should not be sent before the autumn, to avoid diseases incident to that climate in 
summer The country is now so well known that no additional force wHl be wanting 
on the Rio Grande. But if any such movement is postponed, the companies and trains 
will be scattered and much time and labor lost in a!:'sembling them for the movement. 

Indeed, whatever changes are contemplated, eit.her in consequence of the increase 
of the Army or from new plans determined on by the War Department, they can be 
provided for now before the troops are put iu the field with much more economy than 
afterward. 

It seemed probable that some changes actually determined on woula not and could 
not be carried into e:tl'ect until the additional regiments are prepared to take their 
share in them; but if the department sees fit to advise me of such of its intentions 
as are settled on, I can modify my own plans so as to aid rather than emoarrass the 
movements to be made when the new troops are ready. 

The grass is now coming forward well and the roads are in good order, the trains 
within reach, and the troops concentrated at their posts and refitted in clothing and 
equipments, and, without offering any suggestion as to what should be done, as I do 
not know the plans of the department, I am sure I can carry them out more effectu­
ally now than at any later period, whether they relate to immediate action or to prep­
arations for the future. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 
PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 

Brevet Majo1'-General, Commanding Department. 
Col. S. COOPER, 

Adjutant-Gene-l'al. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of War. 

ADJUTANT-GENERAL'S OFFICE, April 7, 1855. 

S. COOPER, 
Adjutant-General. 

It is not proposed to make such disposition of the new regiments as will interfere 
with the arrangements now being made in the Department of Texas. 

WAR DEPART:\1ENT1 .Ap1·illl, ] 855. 

Hon. JEFFERSON DAVIS, 
No. 21. 

JEFF'N DAVIS, 
Secretary of War. 

Secretary of War, War Depa1·tment, Washington, D. C.: 
We, the undersigned, citizens of Gillespie County, State of Texas, beg to lay before 

the Secretary of War the following statement of facts, and hope he will give it his 
earliest at.ten tion. 

On the 7th of Pebruar.v last a party of Indians came down from the direction of 
Fort 'l'erret,t into the valley of Threadgale Creek, where petitioners have stock-farms, 
and killed with spears and arrows thirty head of fat beef-cattle. They made a sec­
ond attack on onr farms on the 30th of last month, and killed two head of beef-cattle 
and four hogs, and drove oft' between one hundred and fifty and two hundred head of 
very valuabJe cattle, all these belonging to petitionerR. 

We beg further to state that while the post at Fort Terrett was garrisoned with 
lJnited States troops we never had any Indians come into this valley, and felt quite 
secure in our lives and property; but since that post has been abandoned we have 
lost nearJy all our stock, besides many valn~tble horse"'l and mules. 

We beg, at the sarne time, to acquaint the Secretary of "\Yar that our stock-farms 
are situated aoout one aud a ha.lf miles from the road leading from FrederickslmrD" 
to Fort Terrett, being distant twent.y-five miles west from the former town, and w% 
are now compelled to abandon these farms to save our lives, and have brought there­
mainder of our stock close to this town for more protection. Petitioners hope that the 
honomule Secretary of War will take the above circumstances into consideration, and, 
if he has any troops at present at his disposal, that he will afford us the necessary 
m1litary protection we so much need on this exposed frontier. 

J. E. DOSS. 
WM. G. THOMAS. 
CHARLES A. CAMPBELL. 

FREDERICKSBURG, Gillespie Cownty, Tex., April 9, 1855. 
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THE STATE OF TJ•:XAS, County of ,Gillespie: 
I, F. Wrede, county clerk in and for tbe aforesaid county, hereby certify that .J. E. 

Doss, W. G. Thomas, and Charles A. Campbell are persons to me well known, aud are 
worthy of credit aud belief; and I do further certify that the facts stated in the fore­
going communication are true, and t.hat the Indian hostilities in this count.v and vicin­
ity are of such an aggrieved nature as to demand the interposition of the government, 
by giving the citizens of this community immediate special protection. 

Given under my band and official seal this 12th day of April, A. D. 1855. 
F. WREDE, Clerk. 

Copy furnished General Smith May 17,1855, indorsed as follows: Copy for the infor­
mation of the commanding general of the Department of Texas, who is desired to 
afford such protection in this case a.s may be in his power, consistent with the wants 
of other sections of his command and the interests of the public service. 

Respectfully furnished, by order. 
S. COOPER, Adjtdamt-General. 

ADJUTANT-GENJ<JRAL1S OFFICE, May 17, 1855. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Wt~shington, May 12, 1855. 
GENTLEMEN: I have received your letter of the 9th ultimo announcing the attacks 

upon your farms and killing of your cattle by the India.ns. 
In reply, I have to inform you that I have directed that the facts in your letter be 

communicated to Major-General Smith, commanding in Texas, for such action on his 
part as will afford you all the protection he can give, consistently with the wants of 
other sections of the country and the interests of the public service. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
JEFF'N DAVIS, 

Seol'etm·y of War·. 

Messrs. J. E. Doss, 'WILLIAM G. THOMAS, and CHARLES A. CAMPBELL, 
Fredericksburg, Gillespie County, Tex. 

No.23. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
Cm-pus Christi, May 2~, l e55. 

COLONEL: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your reference to me, 
dated Ma,y 17, of the letter of J. E. Doss, William G. Thomas, and Charles A. Camp­
bell, dated April 9, complaining of Indian depredations on the 7th of February and 
30th of March last. 

When Senaco's band of Comanches were notified by the Texan settlers near Fort 
Chadbourne that they were to be attacked, a part of them made an incursion toward 
the settlement, and killed and drove off some cattle between the Colorado. Brevet 
Major Merrill, Second Dragoons, was detached by Major Steen from Fort Belknap with 
a strong party, who scoured the country near and beyond Fredericksburg, and Brevet 
Colonel May detached Lieutenant Norris, Second Dragoons, with half of the strength 
.at Fort McKavitt, who searched the country more to the westward. They found the 
Indians-in all about twenty-three-had retired, and a few days since, the whole 
frontier being undisturbed, the last of the detachments returned to its post. The object 

,of the writers of the letters referred to seems to be rather to have troops again sta-
tioned at Fort Terrett than that any "lhonld be kept in motion through the country. 
'It undoubtedly is greatly to the advantage of those persons who keep small stores that 
they should be near a post to which trains are frequently going, a~; the traffic with 
teamsters is very profitable; but, under ordinary circumstances, the troops moving 
over the country are more effective in keeping out Indians than those :fixed at a post, 
and they are always ready for that duty, and prompt in performing it; and, unless I 
am otherwise directed, I will continue to employ in that way. The repetition of stories 
of depredations committed in the beginning of the winter, published in papers some 
distance off and copied again as new outrages, has multiplied, app~rently, the number 
of incursions and amount of losses. There were many ca.ttle killed for food and some 
cattle and horses driven off by Senaco's band in their sweep through the country, but 
the Indians have been for some time retired, and the agent, Major Neighbours, has, I. 
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believe, opeued a communication with those who were hostile, which I hope will end 
in pacifying them. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 

Col. S. COOPER, 
A?.juta nt- Gt neral. 

PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 
Bt·evet Major-General, Commat1ding Department. 

P. S.-We have here, on -pretty good antlwrity, the report bat the Mexican States 
of Coahuila. a nil New Leon b:-tve prononncec1 aga,inst, Santa Anna, and that Ta.ma.ulipas 
i" to join, and that a ~nnall Mexican garrison at Guenero, about GO miles below Laredo, 
had joined the iL~>nrgen1s. 

PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 
Brctet Majm·-General. 

Respectfully suumitted to the Secretary of War, in connection with the communica­
tion within referred to. 

ADJCTANT-GENERAL's OFFICE, June 9, 1855. 

No. 24. 

W. G .. FREEM:AN, 
Assistant Adjutant-General. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, .Tex., June 20, 1855. 
SIR: I h1elose you a communication from Hon. vVilliam E. Jones, which is taken 

from the State Times, a newspaper published at this place, giving the aceount of the 
murder of a valuable citizen in the upper part of Comal County, on the Guadalupe 
River, by Indians, and also of thefts committed hy them in the same vicinity. Mr. 
Jones is an old citizen of the State, and as highly respected as any man we have among 
us. His statement concerning this transaction I consider entitled to full credit. This 
murder was committed in a section of the State where no United States troops are 
stationed, and where depredations are frequently committed by the Indians during 
the last eighteen months, who have in every instance escaped punishment. This bas 
emboldened them to renew their visits. I am assured that there is such excitement 
prevailing in that neighborhood that if the Indians shall again visit there the citizens 
will arm and turn out and make war npon any tribes that they may meet. Such an 
occurrence may bring on a general war with all the tribes upon our frontier, and, I 
fear, can only be avoided by stationing a company of mounted men to range the coun­
try from that settlement to the nearest post above. . A knowledge by the Indians that 
such a force is in the vicinity will undoubtedly prevent them again from appearing 
there. I therefore request that you will, if possible, send a company of mounted men 
into that neighborhood for its protection, to remain tbere as long as the public Bervice 
will permit. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
E. M. PEASE. 

Brevet Maj. Gen. P. F. SMITH, 
Comrnanding Depa1·trnent of Texas. 

No. 25. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Anstin, Tex., July 5, 1855. 
SIR: From reliaule representations made to me by citizens residing on the Guada­

lupe River and its tributaries in Comal and Bexar Counties, and on the Upper Blanco, 
I am well satisfied that a mounted force is necessary to protect those settlements from 
the thefts and murders to which they are constantly subjected by mara.uding bands 
of Indians, and since the United States Government bas failed to notice those depre­
dations or to furnish any force for the protection of tbe~.>e settlements, I have thought 
proper to authorize you, and I do hereby authorize you, to raise a c01npany of mounted 
men to serve three months, unless sooner discharged. The company must not exceed 
in number that of a mounted company in the United States service, which is composed 
of one captain, one first lieutena,nt, one second lieutenant, four sergeants, four cor­
porals, one farrier, two buglers, and seYenty-four privates. Should you not succeed 
in raising a full company of privates, officers can be elected only in proportion to the 
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number of men. There are no means at the disposition of the executive to furnish 
this company ammunition, arms, subt-istence, or forage, and this authority is given 
with the understanding that this company can be made up of individuals who are able 
and willing to supply themselves with all these articles, and rely upon the justice of 
the legislature to reimburse them, and also to pay them for their services the usual 
amount allowed by the United States for similar service. Should you succeed in rais­
ing such a company, or a part of a company, you will forthwith return to this office a 
complete muster-roll thereof, and repair immediately to such point in the vicinity of 
the above-named settlements as will enable you to give them full protection against 
the Indians. It is expected that you will be actively engaged in ranging in their 
vicinity, unless it may become necessary to pursue any marauding parties of Indians 
that may be found in the neighborhood, in which case you are authorized to follow 
them up and chastise them wherever they may be found. I rely with confidence upon 
your good sense and prudence to avoid attacking any Indians or tribes who are peace­
ably disposed, as such a course might bring on a general Indian war with all the tribes 
upon our frontier, which would be very disastrous for a season to our exposed settle­
ments. I enjoin you, also, particularly, to prevent any trespasses being committed by 
those under your command upon the p,ersons or property of citizens. I shall com­
municate what I have done to the general in command of this department, and should 
be desire to receive you into the United States service for a like time, and to perform 
similar duty, I shall expect you to be mustered under his orders, or should be send 
other mounted troops to the same neighborhood to perform the service for which you 
are destined, then I shall feel at liberty to discharge you at once. You will keep this 
office frequent.ly and regularly advised of your proceediugs. 

Very respectfuliy, 

JAMES H. CALLAHA.L'I", Esq. 
E. M. PEASE. 

No. 26. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
Corpus Christi, July 14, 1855. 

COLONEL: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of a communication from 
your office, dated the 26th of June, inclosing a copy of a letter from the Mexican min­
ister to the Secretary of State of the United States, in relation to rumors of an in­
tended expedition from this side of the Rio Grande into Mexico, under Caravajal and 
other leaders. 

The officers of the Army on that line have instructions to prevent any infraction of 
the law of 1818, and where the information they received or the proof they could obtain 
waa sufficient, they have successfully carried out their instructions, as the former arrest 
of Caravajal and his aAsociates will testify. On various occasions lately, on the rumor 
current il! the neighborhood, various detachments of troops have been sent to scour 
the neighborhood and break up any such expeditions, but they have never succeeded 
in finding any, for these are not organized or created whhin our limits; the arrange­
ments are all made in Mexico, and the parties singly retire to this side to remain in 
security until they are ready to operate, and as they are scattered along the frontier 
among the inhabitauts, who are originally Mexicans, it is impossible to distinguish 
them~ and such communication as they have with each other is private and cannot be 
detected. 

Since the late occupation of Monterey by the insnrgents, Caravajal and a number 
of others have crossed to join them, but as no information was given of the intended 
movement, and it was made without any appearance of hostile intention exhibited on 
our side, it could neither be detected nor prevented, for the river can be crossed any­
where. 

If t.he information on which the Mexican consul at Brownsville founds his report 
was exact and sufficient, it would have enabled Major Porter to have succeeded in ar­
resting it. It was because it was merely general rumor, without particulars, that the 
efl'orts of the officers were not sncce:ssful. 

Unless some one interested in suppressing these enterprises, and at the sa.nle time 
in the secrets of the offenders, will make known their plans, it is not likely that any 
correct knowledge of them will reach the officers who are ou the lookout to prevent 
them, especially as these plans are now confined almost entirely to persons resident on 
the Mexican side, and it is far more difficult to trace any movetnent from the similarity 
()f the population on the two sides of the river. The instructions to the officers are 
full, and they are zealous in the execution of them, but the circumstances I mention 
are more sufficient to account for their general ill-success than are those which prevent 
the Mexican authorities from keeping the Indians they have by treaty with them, . 
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located on the Rio Grande from El Paso to Camargo, from crossing weekly on to our 
side to murder and rob and carry back their booty for sale in sight of our frontier. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 
PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 

Bre~.•et Major-General, Commanding Depirtment. 
Col. S. Coo~ER, 

Adj ulan t- General. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of War. 
S. COOPER, A.djutant-Genm·al. 

ADJUTANT-GENERAL's OFFICE, July 28, 1855. 

No. 27. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, .Austin, Tex., July 25, 1855. 
GENTLEMEN: I have received and attentively considered the application signed by 

you and a large number of other cit.izens of your county, asking me to call out another 
company of volunteers for the protection of Bexar and Medina Counties against the 
depre{lations of the Indians. I am fully aware of the truth of the details you give in 
regard to the depredations of the Indians to whioh your citizens have been so constantly 
subjected for the past year, and have made frequent representations on the subject to 
the commanding general of the department and to the Secretary of War. Since I 
authorized Captain Callahan to call ont a company of volunteers for the protection of 
the settlements on the Guadalupe and its tributaries, I have received a letter from 
General Smith, dated the 15th instant, in which he says he will send a party of mounted 
riflemen to the neighborhood where the recent depredations were committed as soon 
as the command of Major Simonson returns from the duty he is now engaged in. In 
the mean time I will direct Captain Callahan to station a part of his company, as soon 
as it is raised, at such points as will enable t.he~p. to give protection to the settlements 
~f Bexar and Medina Counties. Should these not prove sufficient to give security to 
the settlers, I will not hesitate to call out other volunteers. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
E. M. PEASE. 

Messrs . .A. A. MUNCEY, S . .A. MAVERICK, A. A. LOCKWOOD, 
and other citizens of ]J('!Xar County. 

No. 28. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, Tex., July 25, 1855. 
DEAR SIR: Since I issued authority to you to raise a compa.ny of volunteers for the 

protection of the citizens residing ou the Guadalupe River and its tributaries, in Comal 
and Bexar Counties, I have received from the citizens of Bexar County a memorial, 
asking for a small volunteer force for the protection of the frontier settlements in 
Bexar and Medina Counties, which have been lately harassed by the depredations of 
the Indians. 

I have also received a letter from General Smith, in which he says that he will soon 
send a party of mounted riflemen to the neighborhood where the recent depredl¥tions 
have been committed. This information bas induced me to believe that, instead of 
calling for additional volunteers besides your company, it will be better for the pres­
ent to divide your company and send a portion of it to such a point as will afford pro­
tection to the settlements in Medina and Bexar Cotmties, west and south of the point 
where it was first intended your entire company should be stationed. I therefore de­
sire that you should divide your company and station one portion of it 0:1 the Guada­
lupe where the recent depredations were committed, and the other portion at such 
point as will afford protection to those settlements in Medina and Bexar Counties that 
have recently been visited by the Indians. Should you not succeed in making up your 
company, I have no doubt it can be filled up readily in San Antonio and Castroville, 
when it is known that a portion of the company is to be employed in their ~icinity, 
and this, too, I presume, will facilitate your obtai ing the necessary supplies. 

Please let me bear of your rnovemeots as often as practicable. 
Yours, with respect, 

E. M. PEASE . 
.JAMES H. CALLAHAN, Esq. 
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No.·29. 
SAN ANTONIO, September G, 1855. 

SIR : I came to this place witl1 t.he hope of meeting and having a consultation whh 
you in rega.rd to the depredations recently committed in this county by the .India.ns ,. 
snpposing. that you were still here, but I find that you have returned to Corpus Christi, 
and are not expected to be here before the first of next month. 

Major Belger bas shown me a lett r that he bas written to you, giving an account of 
the murder of the son of the Rev. Mr. McGee, on the Cibolo, some fifteen or twenty 
miles below this place. The facts, as sta.ted by him, are confirmed by several citizens 
well known to me, who reside in the neighborhood where the boy was killed. The 
same party who killed this boy also pursued several citizens who were out bunting 
cattle, but they made their escape. They also stole horses from several other farms on 
the Cibolo, at different points for twenty or twenty-five miles above Mr. McGee's. 
Several small parties have been in pursuit of these Iudians, some of which are still 
out, and I trust will come up with them. I know not precisely what course to recom­
mend to st op these <lepredations, but, unless something is done speedily, the settle­
ments on the streams above and west of this place will have to break up. Horses 
have been stolen, within the last month, from several ranches within fifteen or twenty 
miles or this town, and there is no f1. rmbt thflt in every instance it has been done by 
Indians. It does seem to me that one or two compani ,s of mounted men might be 
stationed, in parties of thirty or forty, at different places near the settlements, from 
the head of the Llano down to the mouth of the Rio Frio, ano perhaps below there on 
the Nneces, so far as to intercept these small parties of Indians who commit these out­
rages. 'l'he company under the command of Captain (!alla.han, which I called out a 
few weeks since and stationed near the heail of the Guada,lupe and the Blanco, have 
put a stop to the depredations which the Indians were corumitt.iug in those neighbor­
hoods for two or three months previous. My situation in regard to these matters is a 
very embarrassing one. Our citizen!! are entitled to protection from the general gov-· 
ernment, lmt, not receiving it, they appeal to the State authorities. There i~; great 
danger, if I call out volunteers, that they may, in their zeal to punish the Indians, do 
something to interfere with the efforts now rna king by the general government to settle 
Texas tribes at the reservation on the Upper Brazos. I think, if I could have a con­
sultation with you on this subject, some plan might be devised to give protection to 
the frontier settlements of this and the adjoiuing counties, and, if agreeable to you, I 
will meet you at this place w ben you return here, if you wm inform me "VI" bat time 
you expect to return. 

In case you do not expect to return here soon, I wish, if it is in your power to do so, 
that you would send a company or two of mounted men immediately to rauge from 
t,he mouth of the Frio to the head of the Llano. This will gi ve confiilence to the 
settlements north and west of this, and keflp 1,hem from breaking up, and rt>lieve me 
from the necessity of camng out additional volnnteers to perform that service. In th~ 
mean time I will dela.y further act.ion, with hope of heariug from you at an early da.y. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
E. M. PEASE. 

Brevet Maj.-Gen. PERSIFER F. SMITH, 
Commanding Department of Texas. 

No. 30. 

SAN ANTONIO, September 5, 1855. 
GENTLEMEN: Your letter of the 1st insta,nt, giving an account of the depredations. 

recently commnted in this vicinity by the Indians, and inclosing the proceedings of 
a public m'eeting of the citizens of this plaee, was reooived at Austin on the 3d insta.nt. 
Supposing that General Smith was still at this place, I ca.me immediately here with the 
view of meeting him and inducing him to adopt measures to prevent a recurrence of 
similar proceedings. Not finding him here on my arrival, I wrote to him yesterday by 
express, detailing the recent murders and thefts committed by the Indians in this 
county, and reqnested him to furnish a sufficient mounted force to be stationed at such 
points as will hereafter give protection a.g-ainst further attacks of the kind. 

I expect to get a reply from him in a few days, and unless he gives me assurances. 
that such a force will be soon furnished, I shall consider it to be my duty to call out a 
company of volunteers to protect the lives and propert.y of our frontier citizens unt.il 
the legislature, soon to assemble, can take such further steps as may be deemed neces­
sary to effect that object. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant , 
E. M. PEASE. 

Messrs. C. EVANS, BEN. E. EDWARDS, and H. B. SAUNDERS. 
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HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
Corpus Chf'isti., Septernber 8, 1855. 

CoLONEL: I ha.-e the honor to acknowleoge the receipt of your communication of 
the 21st of August, inclosing iiocuments rel::ttive to alleged projected incursions into 
Mexico. The rumors, upon which complaints are made by the Mexican minister, are 
almost without foundation. An adventurer, whose proclamations appear in the Texas 
newspapers-with a view of inducing others to join him-announces that be is about 
to invade the neig],lborh1g States of Mexico, and bas a.lready several hnntlred men 
arrayed in this enterprise, and some partisans of his assist him l)y giving currency to 
the same tale. Every one here knows how lit.t.le confidence was to be placed in it, and 
it was not really worth noticing, lest it might be raised to a ·co11seqne11ce it. diu not 
merit. 

Finally, he, with about twenty men scattered along the ri.-er, crossed where theTe 
was no one to oppose, and offered to join the revolutionists, but, being as well appreci­
ated on that. side as on this, their services were refused, and they were advised to cross 
back to Texas. They were consequently broken up, and most of them returned. They 
are, altogether, of so little consequence, t.bat it would be hard to find any one who 
could testify against them or distinguish them from the ordinary crowd that loiter 
about frontier towns. 

The Lipan Indian~!!, who are loca.ted in Mexico, near our border, and pmtected by 
the authorities there, cross constantly, in small parties, and steal horsea and mules. 
The country being :flooded by late rains, it is almost impossible to trail them, and the 
mounted riflemen who have attempted it l1ave not been successful for that reason. 
Many of the citizens who have lost auimals have, I understand, associated themselves 
together to follow these parties from their crossings of the Rio Grande toward the 
Lipan camp, to recover their animals. It is probably the approach of these parties to 
the rivEr which bas given some confirmation to the rumors about invasion, but the 
persons enga~ed in this pursuili are of entirely different character a.nd have different 
objects from those first mentioned. 

If the tenth part of the 1abor spent by our soldiers to prevent. infractions of the 
"neutrality laws" were employed in Mexico to restrain the Indians, even this last­
mentioned project would not have been underta-ken. 

The Mexican minister ma.y lJe assured that the troops bere will carry out earnestly 
the intentions aud instructions of their government. 

"With the highest respect, your obedient servant, 
PERSlFER F. SMITH, 

Brevet Majm·-Genera7, comma?uiing Department. 
Col. S. COOPER, 

Adjutant-General. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of \Var. 

ADJUTANT-GENERAL'S OFFICE, September 2G, 1855. 

(See letter to Secretary of Sbate, 29th September, 1855.) 

No. 32. 

S. COOPER, 
A iljutant- General. 

BRAZOS .A.GENCY1 TEXAS, Septernber 12, 1855. 
SIR: For your information I deem it, proper to inclose a copy of a snpplementa.l treaty 

to the treaty of 1846, concluded between Special Agent George W. Rill and myself, on 
the 30th of August, 1855, with the Indians now" actually" settled on the Indian reser­
vations on the Main and Clear Fork of the BrazoR. That agreement, with a statement 
of our act:i.on, bas been submitted to the honorable Commissioner of Indian Afl:'airs for 
his approval, and it is necessary to have the co-operation of the military in carrying 
out the present policy. I would respectfully request, if not inconsistent with your 
orders, to respect a.nd enforce the conditions of the agreement between the agents and 
the Indians and afford them the protection promised. 

In accordance with my instruction~!! from my depa.rt.ment, I have made contracts for 
the erection of agency buildings and for preparing farms for the Comanche Indians 
on the Clear Fork of Brazos (Comanche agency), and shall have in i.be course of next 
week some bands at work at that point. As I have already found myself embarrassed 
by bands of Northern Comanches (who are not settlers), and have no protection against 
them, should they choose to depredate, and I shall in a short time have government 
Etores exposed to their attacks, I would respectfully request you to furnish me with 
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protection at tha t point. If you can at this time furnish temporarily, say, thirty men 
or one company, if they can be spared from the post, it would afford all the protection 
that I would require. The Indians who are actual settlers give every assurance that 
there is nothing to fear from them, but they, as well as the employei! of the govern­
ment, require protection against the intrusion of the Comanche bands farther north. 
Should you not. feel authorized to give permanent protection, as required at t he Clear 
Fork or Comanche agency, you will please refer the subject to the commanding gen­
-eral of this department, as the Indian agents will find it impossible to resiile perma­
nently on the reserve and to exooute their duties properly unless sustained by the, 
military autbOI:ities . . 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Maj. G. R. PAUL, U.S. A., 
Commanding Fort Belknap, Texas. 

No. 33. 

ROBT. S. NEIGHBOURS, 
Sup ervising Agent Texa.s I ndittns. 

At a general council held at Brazos agency, TexaR, hy and between Robert S. Neigh­
bours, special and supervising agent, au,d George W. Hill, special agent Texas Indians, 
on part of the United States. and the undersigned, chiefs, counselors, and warriors of 
the Comanches, Anadakko, Caddo, Waco, Tawaccano, and Tonkahwa tribes or bab.ds 
of Indians, for and on behalf of these said tribes, on the 30th of August, 1850, it is 
stipttlated and agreed as follows, to wit : · 

ARTICLE 1. The undersigned, chiefs, counselors, and warriors, for themselves aud 
these said tribes, do hereby sanction and acknowledge in full force each and every 
stipulation of the articles of a treaty made and concluded at Council Springs, in the 
county of Robinson, Texas, near the Brazos River, on the 15th day of May, A. D. 1846, 
between P.M. But.ler and M.G. Lewis, commissioners on the part of the United States, 
()f the one pal't, aud the chiefs, counselors, aud warriors of the Comanche, louie, An­
adakko, Caddo, Lipan, Tonkabwa, Keecbee, Tawaccano, Wichita, and Waco tribes of 
Indians, and their associate bands, on behalf of these said tribes, of the other part, as 
amended by the resolution of the Senate of the United Stiates of America on the 15th 
-day of February, 1847, ratified and confirmed by the President of the United States of 
America on the 8th day of March, 1847, a copy of which said treaty is hereto annexed; 
and we further agree to the following supplemental articles for our government as 
settlers on the Indian reservations of the Main and Clear Fork of Brazos River, in the 
State of Texas. 

ARTICLE 2. We agree to abandon forever a roving or bunter's life, and will settle 
-down permanently on the lands selected for us, as per act of the legislature of the 
State of Texas approved February 6, 1854, and to devote all our own energies to the 
cultivation of the soil and to raising stock as a means of subsistence for ourselves and 
families. 

ARTICLE 3. We promise and agree at as early a day as practicable, with the assist­
ance and concurrence of the United States Indian agent, to establish laws and police 
regulations for our government in our towns and villages for the correction and pun­
ishment of crimes and offenses. 

ARTICLE 4. It is further stipulated and agreed that no Indian (party to this agree­
ment) shall leave the reservations without the consent of the Indian agent, and should 
any Indian or band of Indians absent themselves from the reservations, contrary to the 
wishes of the agents and in violation of this agreement, he or they shall be liable to 
forfeit all the rights of settlement confe~red by this agreement, and is also liable to be 
-declared and treated as an-enemy. 

ARTICLE 5. All differences and disputes likely to create a difficulty between tribes or 
bands, par'ties to thi!'! treaty and agreement, shall be referred to the Un,ited States In­
dian agents and head-chiefs of such tribes for adjustment upon fair and equitable 
terms, and their decision shall in all cases be received as a final settlement between 
the parties. 

ARTICLE 6. We agree that no other tribes or bands shall be introduced or settled on 
either of the reservations, unless by the concurrence of the Indian agents an.d of the 
tribes or bands, parties to this treaty and agreement, and absent members of the tribes 
now settled shall not be allowed to visit here except he first obtains the consent of the 
agent under whose jurisdiction he resides, nor shaH they be allowed to settle here or 
attach themselves to the tribes now settled here, until they agree to observe all the 
articles of this treaty and ag-reement and obtain the concurrence of the agent in charge, 
and shall agree to ackriowled~e fully the authority of the chief acknowledged by the 
agents as the bead of the tribe. 

AHTICLE 7. We also agree to break off atl intercourse with bands of Indians outside 
of the reservations who refuse to settle down, except it be carried on with the knowl­
edge and consent of the agents, and in all cases to report as soon as possible the 
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arrival of any Indian or party, and to assist the a~ents in arresting all intruders or 
depredators who may be found inside the lines of tne reservations contrary to treaty 
stipulations. 

ARTICLE 8. We further agree to give assistance and protection to all farmers, labor­
ers, and other employes of the government on the reservations, aud to assist them in 
the preservation of all articles, farming-utensils, animals, &c., furnished by the gov­
ernment, and should any person sell or wantonly des,.roy any farming-utensil, wagon, 
oxen, stock, cattle, or any other article furnished by the government, under this agree­
ment, he shall, upon conviction, be punished according to the laws of the United 
States, and shall be liable to forfeit all his rights and immunities as a settler on the 
reservations, and it shall be the duty of the chiefs of each tribe to give the agents 
notice of all violations of this agreement. 

ARTICLE 9. In consiueration of the faitbful observance of all the articles of the 
above treaty and agreement, the United States, through its agents, agree to protect 
and maintain all the members of ~he tribes, parties to this agreement, in the peaceable 
possession of the lands embraced in the limit of the said reservation, and in their lives 
and property against injury or molestation from citizens of the United States while on 
said reservations, and to afford such protection against and aid in reclamation for 
injuries from other tribes of Indians, whether friendly or hostile, as may be at the 
control of such agents, or as is afforded the citizens of the United States, and to award 
them ample justice under the laws of the United States in accordance with the pro­
visions of the above treaty. 

ARTICLE 10. That the United States, through its agents, agrees to furnish the said 
tribes, parties to this agreement, farmers, to assist and instruct them in the prep 'l­
rat.ion and cultivation of their farms, to furnish t.hem with a blacksmith and with 
iron and steel, to give them necessary farmin~ utensils, wagons, teams, plows, &c., to 
enable them to commence their farms, and to assist and instruct them generally in the 
cultivation of the soil, and to give them stock-cattle and other domestic animals, all at 
the discretion of the President of the United States, and to furnish them regularly with 
such rations as may be deemed necessary to enable them to support their families 
until they can subsist themselves by their own exertions, and the general govern­
ment is hereby pledged to pursue that course of policy with the settlers on these res­
ervations deemed best calculated to advance them in the arts of civilized life and to 
make them a self-sustaining people. 

ARTICLE 11. The Indian agents, under the instruction of the President of the United 
States, shall exercise full discretion as to time, places, &c., of the delivery of an arti­
cles to be furnished said tribes or bands under the provisions of this treaty and agree­
ment. 

ARTICLE 12. This agreement, this day entered into by and betwef'n the undersigned 
parties. to be and remain in full force and effect at the discretion of the President of 
the United States of America, but Iio change to ttis agre-ement shall be made unt,il 
after due consultation with the chiefs of the tribes who are parties hereto. 

Given under our hands and seals on the day and date above written. 
ROBT. ::;, NEIGHBOURS, [SP.AL.] 

Supervising Agent Texas Indians. 
G. w. HILL, [SEAL.] 

Special Indian .Agent. 
An-a-dah-ko: Jos:E MARIA, his x mark. [!'EAL.] 

CHA-BE·AN-o, his x mark. [SEAL.j 
JOHN LIKNEY1 his X mark. [SEAL.] 
JIM PocK-MARK, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
CHI-YA, his x mark. [SEAL.] 

Waco: A-HAH·DOT, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
.A.-QU-QUASJJ1 his x mark. (SEAL.) 
A-SA-QUASH-SHE, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
HEU ·CHE- KILS, his x mark. [SEAL.] 

Tu-ka-hwa: PLICIDOUR, his x mark. (SEAL.] 
CHA-PA·TON, his x mark. (SEAL.] 
JIM-SON, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
WHITE, his x mark. (SEAL.] 

Co-ntan-che : KA-TUM·SEE, his x mark. [SEAL.) 
PE-AT·A-QUASH, his x mark. (SEAL.] 
TO-SHA-HUA, his x mark. (SEAL.] 
PI-NA-HOUT-SA-ME, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
MU-RA·QUE-TOPH, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
KE-PAC-A-WITE, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
WI-CHI-KEE, his x: mark. [SEAL.} 
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Cad-do: 

To-wnc-cau-no: 

Interpreters: 

Witnesses: 
J. L. EVANS. 
CH. E. BARNARD. 
S. P. Ross. 
L. S. RIGGS. 

TI-NAH, 
CHE-EN-HU, 
Co-eRE, 
NI-BUC-UN-IN, 

. 0-CHE· LAS, 
NOCH-UTS-1-0CHS, 
WAS-TED-AC-DREE, 
vVACO, 
UC-I}:A-TART, 
HED-E-KOK-ISH, 

his x mark. 
his x mark. 
his x mark. 
his x mark. 

his x mark. 
his x mark. 
his x mark. 
his x mark. 
his x mark. 
his x mark. 

[SEAL.] 
[SEAL.] 
[SEAL.] 
[SEAL.] 

[SEAL.) 
[SEAl •. ] 
[SEAL.) 
[SEAL.] 
[SEAL.] 
[SEAL.) 

JOHN CONNOR, his x mark. [SEAL.) 
Interpreter for Cornanche Reservation. 

JIM SHAW, his x mark. [SEAL.] 
Interpreter for Brazos Resm·vation. 

D. A. BICKEL, [SEAL.] 
Intmpreter (Spanish) and Secl'etary. 

HEADQUARTERS FORT BELKNAP, TEXAS, 
Septmnbm· 15, 1855. 

SIR: I have the honor to acknowledge the receip1; of your communication of the 12th 
instant, transmitting a copy of a supplemental treaty entered into with different 
tribes of Indians, and requesting the assistance of a part of the troops of my command 
to carry out its stipulations. The troops at this post will always be found ready to 
co-operate with the Indian agents in mainta,ining quiet and order among the different 
tribes within the several reservations, and also in protecting them from marauding or 
strange Indians. Owing, however, to the small number of officers at the post, I do not 
feel authorized to station permanent detachments ou the reserves; but, until the pleas­
ure of the commanding general of the department is known, I shall send scouts from 
time to time, which, by their periodical appearance, may answer the object in view. 

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Maj. R. S. NEIGHBOURS, 

G. R. PAUL, 
Brevet Major, U.S. A., Commanding Post. 

Supm·vising Agent Texas Indians, Brazos Agency, Texas. 

No. 35. 

HEADQUARTERS FORT BELKNAP, TEX., 
Septembm·, 16, 1855. 

SIR: I have the honor to inclose a copy of a supplemental treaty recently made by 
R. S. Neighbours, esq., with certain Indian tribes, a copy of his letter of the 12th in­
stant, and a eopy of my answer thereto. 

Hoping that my answer will meet the views of the commanding general, I remain 
your most obedient servant, 

ASSISTANT ADJUTANT-GENERAL, 

G. R. PAUL, 
Captain Seventh Infantry, Brevet Majm·, U. S. A. 

Department of Texas, Corpus Christi, Tex. 

No. 36. 
AUSTIN, September 25, 185~. 

GENTLEMEN: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 17th 
instant, inelosing the proeeedings of a public meeting and a petition of eitizens of 
Goliad County, giving a detail of depredations recently committed in your vicinity by 
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Indians, and :~sking me to authorize the raising of a company of rangers for your pro­
tection. Previous to the receipt of these papers I had been informed of most of the 
facts detailed in your petition, and had requested General Smith to place a sufficient 
mounted force ou t.he line of the Nueces, to range from the ueighborhood of Fort Ewell 
up to the head of Llano, aud I have just received information from him that he has 
ordered three companies of mounted riflemen to perform that service. These troops I 
trust will prnve sufficient to give security against further incursions of Indians into 
your country; if they do not, I will en'deavor to have additional troops ordered to that 
portion of our frontier; and if I cannot succeed in this, I will then consider it to be 
my duty to call ont volunteers to act under the authority of this State. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
E. M. PEASE. 

Messrs. FAUN'l' LEROY, A. H. Bt.USCOJ<:, and JNO. M. CRANE. 

No. 37. 

'VAR DEPARTMENT, Washington, September 20, 1835, 
SIR: Referring to my letter of the 17th ultimo, in reply to yours of the 16th, inclos­

ing translations of two notes from the Mexican minister on the subject of rumors of 
newly-projected iucursions into Mexico from the United States, I have the honor to 
transmit herewith a copy of a report from Brevet Major-General Smith, commanding 
Department of Texas, on the subject, and stating that the rumors are almost without 
foundation. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Hon. W. L. MARCY, 
Seo·retar·y of State. 

No. 38. 

JEFF'N DAVIS, 
Secreta-ry of Wm·. 

FORT DUNCAN, TEX., Octobe1' 4, 1855. 
Sm: T have the honor to report that, without my knowledge, three nights since, a. 

party of armed Texans crossed the river two miles or more below this post, for the 
purpose, as I am informed, of chastising the Lipan Indians, who have for some time 
past been committing depredations on the property and persons of the people of Texas, 
and then for safety escaping into Mexico. Yesterday morning this party left their 
camp on the opposite side of the river and marched toward San Fernando, and when 
within eight or ten miles of that place were opposed by a large number of Mexicans 

. and Indians. A. fight ensued, in which several Texans were killed and wounded ; with 
what results as to the opposite party I am not informed. Last night, a little before 
tattoo, a Texan, uadly wounded, returned here and reported that the Mexicans had 
attacked the Texans with such an overwhelming force that he feared they had all bee,n 
killed; and early this morning I received repeated messages that the Texans who bad 
escaped from the fight yesterday were on the opposite side of the river asking assist­
ance from me to cross the river, stating that they were pursued by the Mexicans and 
Indians and expected to be attacked every minute. Under the circumstances, I deemed 
it my duty to rend,er assistance, so far as it might be necessary, to protect them while 
crossing, and I immediately placed several heavy guns in such a position as to com­
mand the ferry and crossing. Up to the time of writing, about 12 o'clock m., no Mex­
icans or Indians have made their appearance; and the Texans, so f::tr from crossing to 
this side of the river, have, as I am informed, seizt:~d upon the village of Piedras Negras, 
are strengthening the place, and intend to hold it until they receive re-enforcements 
from Texas; with what object now I do not know, unless it ue to make war upon Mex­
ico. Captain Callahan, I understand, is the commander, an.d he is the captain of a 
company of volunteers called into the service of the State of Texas by the governor 
for the protection of the frontiers. As this matter is likely to become quite serious, 
the Texans, on hearin(J' of the situation of their countrymen and of the death of their 
friends, will flock to tl1e frontier in large numbers and will cross the river in spite of 
resistance. I respectfully beg leave to ask for instructions for the government of my 
actions in this m::ttter. If the Texans should persist in crossing, acting under the 
orders of the gove:r;nor, as they appear to be doing, I have no force sufficient to oppose 
them, admitting it to be my duty to do so. If some persons of standing and influence 
do not immediately interfere, open war must follow in a very short time. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

AssiSTANT ADJUTANT-GENERAL, 
Department of Texas, San Antonio. 

S. BURBANK, 
Captain Fi1·st I nfantry, Cornrn.anding. 
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No. 39. 
SAN ANTONIO, October 4, 18f)5, 

DEAR SIR: Since my arrival at this place, I have learned from General Smith that 
he will send a force of mounted riflemen to take your place at the expiration of your 
term of service. Your company will therefore be mustered out of service at the ex­
piration of three months from the day you were mustered in; and for that purpose 
you will march your company to San Marcus, and report to Col. John D. Pitts, who 
will have orders to muster you out. This communication is addressed to you suppos­
ing Capt.aiu Callahan to be still absent; when he returns, he will act as if this were 
addressed t.o him. 

Yours, with respect, 
E. 1\f. PEASE. 

Lieut. EDWARD BURLESON. 

No. 40. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, October 7, 1855. 

CAPTAIN: I am directed by the general commanding the department to say that he 
ha.s received full powers from the President of the United States to carry out the neu­
trality laws. He has been informed that a party of armed persons bas lately crossed 
the Rio Grande River, in the vicinity of your post, wit.h the intent to violate those 
laws, and he therefore directs you to use every mea.ns in your power to mainiain thelll 
inviolate, by giving warning first to any such parties, and to arrest them, and, if nec­
essary, to use the force at your command for preventing such attempts. You will, as 

. far as possible, take steps to arrest any persons that ma.y be attempting to cross with 
hostile intentions, and keep them under guard until they can be sent to be tried before 
the nearest United States court. The general also directs t.hat you take the necessary 
steps to prot.ect the settlements in your vicinity from robbery by such parties, by post­
ing guards, &c., even if the whole force at your command be necessary for that purpose. 

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
ALFRED GIBBS, 

Brevet Captain and Aid-de-Camp, A. A. A. G. 
Capt. SlDNEY BUR131L.~K, 

First Infa.ntry, Commanding Fort Duncan, Tex. 

HE-A-DQUARTERS OF THE ARMY, 
New Y m·k, November l, 18~5. 

Respectfully forward~d by co~mand of Brevet Lieut,enant-General Scott. 
L. THOMAS, 

Respect~ully submitted to the Secretary of War. 
Assistant Adjutant-General. 

S. COOPER, 

ADJUTANT-GENERAL's OFFICE, November 2, 1855. 
A djuta'!_tt- Genera~. 

No. 41. 

HEA,DQUA.Rl'ERS, :FORT BELKNAP, Octobm· 7, 1855. 
SIR: I have the honor to report that several weeks a.go a party of Northern Comanches 

drove off from the lower reservation about forty horses belonging to Delawares. A 
party of the latter Indians was formed (with the sanction of the agent, Captain Ross), . 
who went in pursuit of the robbers. When about ten miles from Red River, the Dela­
wares left the trail they were on to go to a water-hole, and in doing so crossed a fresh 
trail, which they imme9-iately followed up. 'l'hey soon came up to a band of Northern 
Comanches, who told them they were on t heir way to the set.tlements to steal horses, 
&c. The Delawares, thirteen in number, then attacked these Comanches, killing seven 
and capturing ten horses, beside bows and arrows, shields, &c. They also got a black 
cloth sack-coat, in the pockets of which a daguerreotype likeness of a gentleman was 
found. This may perhaps lead to a war of retaliation toward the fdendly Indians on 
the reservations; and unless mounted troops are soon sent here, the white settlers on . 
the Clear Fork of the Brazos will not be able to remain on their farms. 

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
G. R. PAUL, 

Captain Seventh Infantry, Brevet Major, U. S. A.., Com'rnanding Post. 

ASSISTANT ADJUTANT-GENERAL, u. s. A., 
Headqum·ters Department of Texas, San Antonio, Tex. 
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No. 42. 

, BRAZOS AGENCY, October 7, 1855. 
SIR: The scouts, consisting of twelve Delawares :md one Ca<ldo, left on the 24th in 

pursuit of the horses stolen from this agenoy, and returned on the morning of the 4th, 
report as follows, to wit: They followed the trail five days a northwest direction, at 
which time they discovered another trail going the same direction, hnt mnch fresher­
than t,be one they were followinj!, but determined on following it. Aft.er pursuing it 
about half the day, crossed Red River to rest their hor es; t h6y discm·ered ten IndianM­
coming; meeting them when they came near, Jacou, the captain of the scouts, went 
out to meet their capta:in, who told biro that he was a Yamporeco, and was going down 
to our frontier to kill and steal horses. He said be bad just met two fndians (Nocornys} 
who had been down and killed one man near the mouth of the Clear Fork of the Bra­
zos, and stole seven head of horses on or near the Leon, an<l that the horses that wtjre 
stolen from this agency were taker.. by five Tenawish men. Jacob then proposed that be­
should camp for t.be night. After camping: within thirtyst.epsof each other tl1<~3· then 
held another conversation; he then told the Delawares that the Northern lndi:ms had 
declared war upon all people south of Red River, white and red. J<teob then told-him 
that he lived on the Brazos reservation, and showed him his pass that I gave him. 
Neither party made fire for the night, but watched each other. Abont midnig1lt they 
proposed to gamble with the Delawares, but the captain told him he ha.d not come­
there to gamble; however, be had no objection to four men playing at a time, and 
whilst they were playing t.he Delawares managed to cut t.hree or four of their bow­
strings half in two. The Yamporeco told his men that at daylight he shoulrl com­
mence the fight. Neither party slept during the night. Just as day was breaking the 
Yamporeco ordered his men to fire, but the Delawares, understanding them, fired first,. 
and killed four the first fire and cha.rged their camp, killing three and wonufling one,. 
letting two escape to tell the news. They found on them a black cloth coat, velvet 
collar; also one undershirt, striped, and from stains of blood showed to have belonged 
to some white person killed by them. They also found in their possession a daguerreo­
type, which I send you, as it may probably lead to the discovery of who the man was 
killed. They brought in ten head of horses and mules and seven scalps. They are­
going to have a scalp-dance to-day. Our Indians are anxious to hear from yon. They 
say with two hundred Texans they can whip all of the Northern Indians. The shield 
belonging to the Yamporeoo had fifteen or twenty female scalps fastened to it, about 
half of which are white scalps. When I 8ee you I will give you more of the particu­
lars. 

Yours, very respectfully, 

Maj. R. S. NEIGHBOURS. 

No. 43. 

S. F. ROSS, 
Special Agent Texas Indians. 

BRAZOS AGENCY, Octobm· 7, 1855. 
DEAR SIR: As Mr. Harris leaves for Waco this morning, I avail myself of the­

opportunity to drop you a few lines. I came down to get Mr. Bickel to assist me in 
making out my returns. I left all well at my a.gency, and the India.ns quiet and 
contented. Twenty-four of Shenaco's tribe came in, and repm·t that be will be in 
before long. Two men returned from Mexico, bringing some nine or ten horses which 
Ketumsee took from them, and turned over to rue; he also sent a man to a band of 
Noconies and brought in five more horseA, four of them Delaware horses, and one of 
Jim Shaw's. Harris's men are at work and pushing thin.~s. The party of Delawares 
that left when you did, or a day or two after, retumed, bringing in seven scalps and 
ten horses. T ey report that they followed the trail of the horses for several days, 
and that it gave out, but they continued the direction until they struck a fresh trail 
(which was t.he two that killed Skidmore). They followed that trail across Red River­
and stopped at noon, when a party of ten Comanche warriors came up to them. They 
had a talk and finally camped together, each party watching the other, for Jacob says 
he could understand all they said, and that they agreed among themselves to attack 
the Delawares and kill them and take their horses the next morning at daybreak, but 
the Delawares lay awake all night, and at da.ybreak they opened fire upon them and 
killed four, charged the rest, and killed all but two, one of whom was badly wounded, 
and the other they could have killed, but they wanted him to carry the news of their 
uefeat Lack to the Comanches. One they did not scalp, as he fell into a water-bole 
and sunk. They brought in the bows, lances, shields, and tricks of the party. They 
told Jacob they had met the Indians t.hat killed old Skidmore and had learned from 
them that there were plenty of horses down here, a.nd they were on their way down to 
kill and steal, and that a large war-party was corning down to kill John Conner, Ke-
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tum see, La:~1l.sbearl. and all thE-y could find. They seemed to know all about. the con­
dition of tbr; !>Osts and onr frontier, and said that they had joined the Sioux Indians 
against the whites in the north. The captain commanding the party killed was a Yam­
parico, amlhad a Mack cloth coat, an undershirt, and daguerrotype with him, and on 
his shield were some twenty scalps, mostly white women's hair. I have his ~:~hielU and 
spear. The two Indians who killed Skidmore went on to the San Saba and stole seven 
horses and came back on their trail to the Caddo peaks; from there they struck due 
north and went t.o the main Comanche camp. A party of twelve men followed them 
and lost their trail; they then came on to the post, and then here to see Captain Ross. 
I have no doubt that we will have the devil to pay, and onr frontier is in the greatest 
danger. I hope you will succeed in carrying out your plans, as it is the only hope I 
have of having anything done. The Indians here are ready and willing to go against 
the Comanches, and I think them about the best protection we have, if they are man­
aged by some whit{'\ man ; a few killing scrapes more will give them a distaste to these 
parts anyhow. Jacob learned from the captain he kilied that the point selected for 
winter-quarters of all the wild Indians was on main Red River, where it runs through 
the mounbins, and that some eight or ten tribes had united with the Sioux in their 
war. John Connor says he found out from a Noconie that that is where they expect 
to winter. I think there would be no difficulty in finding them if an expedition was 
gotten up. I shall return to the Clear Fork in the morning and will keep a sharp 
lookout for any strange Indians. I will make a requisition on Major Paul for a de­
tael;lment of men to go out to the agency and remain there, as I think it proper to give 
the government employes all the protection I can. I have given you the outline of 
the war-party. Mr. Bickle will write more fully. 

Respectfully, &c., 

Major NEIGHBOURS. 

No. 44. 

J. R. BAYLOR, 
Special Agent Texas Indians. 

FORT DUNCAN, TEx., October 8, 1855. 
SIR: In continuation of my report of the 4th instant, in relation to the Texan vol­

unteers, I have the honor to state that, pursuant to their resolution to remain on the 
Mexican side of the river and occupy the town of Piedras Negras, they strengthened 
their position as much as possible and awaited the result. The river was unusually 
high and still rising at this time, and the impossibility of crossing their horses was the 
reason they gave for remaining on that side of the river. 

I received through an indirect channel, about dusk on the evening of the 5th instant, 
a note purporting to come from the commander of the Mexican forces, asking my posi­
tion in relation to the Texa.s volunteers. I did not reply; I did not know where the 
Mexican commander was, neither did I deem it of importance. The next day (the 6th) 
the Texans crossed over some of their horses, intending, I believe, to come to this side 
as soon as they could get their horses over; the river in the mean time had fallen con­
siderably, but abont four o'clock in the aftemoon the Mexican forces advanced upon 
them. The moment they came ia sight, to my astonishment, the Texans commenced 
firing the town, and in a few minutes nearly every house in the place was in flames, 
and while it was burning Captain Callahan sent me a message, asking my protection 
and assistance for him to cross the river. I sent him a decided refusal. Thus matters 
continued until after dark, the Mt.xicans making no attack on the place. Soon after 
dark I received a note signed by Callahan and Henry, asking the protection of the 
United States flag to enable them to cross the river, stating that their men were de­
serting them; that they had then but about seventy, and that they were not able to 
contend with the 1\Iexicans-some six: or seven hnndred. I replied that they bad de­
liberately come to the determination to make a stand against the Mexican forces, and 
after what had transpired they must abide by that determination; but that they h~1d 
p0ssession of the boats, and I did not see but that they could easily cross to this side 
of the river, leaving their horse8, which they would have to abandon. I believe they 
commenced crossing, and continued to do so until about llt o'clock, when another 
message was sent imploring my as~istauce to save them from destruction ; the boat had 
got loose and. gone down the river, t.hus cutting of all chance of escape. I then con­
sulted with some of the officers as to what course it would be proper to pursue, but be­
fore I made up my mind fuHy as to my aetiou, I learned that the boat was not lost; 
had broken from the line, but had been brought ashore, and the Texans were crossing 
as rapidly as possible, and at that time, about 2 o'clock a. ru. (7th), they were mostly 
over the river, not being interrupted by the Mexicans. During yesterday they crossed 
over most, if not all,_ their remaining horses, and are now encamped somewhere in this 
vicinity. Nearly all the inhabitants abandoned PieJra3 Negras as soon as the Texans 
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occupied it; a great many crossed to this side, and others lefb for the neighboring towns 
in Mexico, I presume. They are in a state of geeat destitution at this time, and I 
would suggest that provisiouA should be issued to such as are tmffering. 

My situation is an embarrassing one, to preserve peace and at the same time prevent 
acts of hostility. The Mexicans are said to be veey much exasperated, and threaten 
retaliation, and the inhabitants of Eagle Pass are in great alarm. I have to send them 
guards ever.v night to pacify them, though I do not think there is any danger. There 
are said to be many Indians with the Mexicans (Seminoles), and it is these that they 
fear. I trnst matters will soon be quieted, unless the Texans renew their attacks with 
recruited forces. In the mean time I await instructions from headquarters in case 
these forces should arrive at this point. 

My command is mnch reducecl, but I will make the most of it I can. 
Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

No. 45. 

S. BURBANK, 
Captain First Infantry, Cornrnanding. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, October 8, 1855. 

SIR: I am directed by the General commanding the department to communicate for 
your information a copy of the instructions of the President of the United States, re­
quiring him to prevent the carrying on of any armed expedition or enterprise from 
any place within the limits of th!s department against the territory or people of 
:Mexico. The general is informed that such an invasion of Mexico has already recently 
been made from the vicinity of :Fort Duncan, and that further similar invasions, for 
the purpose of re-enforcing the first, will probably be attempted; and it is his order, 
therefore, that you endeavor to prevent any such attempt within the reach of your 
command, and that yon employ the force under your control to the fullest extent that 
may be necessary for that object, and for the fnlfillment of the instructions of the 
President. All persons who may be arrested in such unlawful attempts will be sent to 
Brownsville,•to be brought before the United States commissioner. If the command­
ing officer of Fort Duncan should call upon you for additional troops, the general 
directs that you dispatch them immediately, to the extent of three companies of in­
fantry. 

Very respecbfully, your obedient servant, 

Bvt. Col. WILLIAM: W. LORING, 

D. C. BUELL, 
ABsiBtant A.dj utant-General. 

Mounted Riflemen, Commanding Fort Mcintosh, Texas. 

Similar instructions sent to the commanders of Ringgold Barracks and Fort Brown •.. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 

D. C. BUELL, 
AsBiBtant Adjutant-General. 

San Antonio, October 9, 1855. 

No. 46. 

FoRT DUNCAN, TEX., Octobm· 9, 1855. 
SIR: The mail leaves to-morrow morning for San Antonio. I have but little to·· 

report since my communication of yesterday, sent by express. All is now quiet. 
General Langberg, commander in chief of the Mexican forces in Coahuila, arrived at 
Piedras Negras yesterday, and now hll8 the direction of affairs on the other side of the 
river. He has a force of one thousand men, six hundred regular troops and four hun~ 
dred volunteers. I do not anticipate any further difficulties unless the Texan volun­
teers should return with large re-enforcements; it is evid.ent that, should they do sor 
they will be resisted by the entire force of Mexico in Coahuila. 

The Mexican account of the conflict near San Fernando reports four killed and four 
wounded on their side, their force consisting of two hundred citizens and eight Lipan · 
Indians, who were not recognized as a part of their force, but who followed as strB~g­
glers. The Texans, they report, left live dead on the ground, besides a number of'. 

S. Ex. 74-8 
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horses, and about thirty pistols, guns, or rifles, which were picked up by the Indians 
The volunteers left this vicinity ~resterday, and are gone, I am told, to Leon. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

ASSISTANT ADJUTANT-GENERAL, 
Departrntnt of Texas, U. S. A., San Antonio. 

No. 47. 

S. BURBANK, 
Captain Fi1·st Infantry, Com.manding. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, October 9, 1855. 

· SIR: Your communic.ation of ·the 4th instant, reporting the invasion of the territory 
()f Mexico by an armed l10dy of men from this side of the RioGrande, has been brought 
to the notice of the general commanding the department. He directs that you inform 
the leader of the party that your duty will require you to use every means within your 
.control to prevent any accession to his party from this side of the river, and that you 
can lend him no succor if h1s further movements should place him in a situation to 
.O.esire it. 

The general directs me to communicate for your informat.ion a copy of the instruc­
tions of the President of the United States requiring him to prevent the carrying on 
>Of such expedit,ions or enterprises, and authorizing him to use the troops under his 
.command for that purpose; and it is his order that the force under your command 
.shaH be employed to the fullest extent. that may he necessary to fulfill the instructious 
-of the President. If your immediate command should be insufficient for that object, 
you are authorized to call for additional force from 'the commanding officer of Fort 
Mcintosh, who will have orders to dispatch three companies of infantry upon your 
requisition. AJl persons who may be arrested in attempting such violations of our 
:neut.rality laws will be sent to Brownsville, to be brought before the United States 

.. commissioner. 
Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

·-<Capt. SIDNEY BuRBANK, 
First Infantry, Commanding Fort Duncan, Tex. 

No. 48. 

D. C. BUELL, 
Assistant-Adjutant Geneml. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Llntonio, October 10, 1855: 

rum~ONEL: At the time Indian depredations were reported near Fredericksburg, the 
1.!'over.nor of the State organized a company of voluuteers under Captaiu Callahm1, and 
~tationed them there. Lately about twenty men were left of this company at their 
post. , .:~md Captai.n Cnllahan took the rest to pursue. as it was said, Indians who l1ad 
stolen horses and killed persons on the Cebolo and Medina. He w~s joined by others 
and n•.arched toward the Rio Gran\1e. A report was current that a party was orgaiz­
ing to go into Mexico and take negroes that had run awa.y from Texas and horses 
that. had been stole11, a.ud I presume that tile party of Captain Callahan was the one 
a.lluot\d .to. If so, their clesign was covered by the pursuit of a, trail of Lipans escap­
ing with their booty. This part.y crossed below Eagle Pass, without the kuowledge of 
the commanuing officer ·at Fort Dnnca.n, on the night of the 1st of October. Captain 
Calioha1J says he crossed upon t.be invitation and by t.be assistance of the Mexican 
alcade, .a,nd upon a~surances of lheir aid in pursuing the Indiaus. He and his party 
were led into an ambuscade of Indians and Mexicans on the 3d, as they advanced to­
ward San FernarJdo, the residence of the Seminole Indians;· were repulsed and driven 
back 1o Pied1ns Negras, the 8mall villnge opposite Fort, Duncan. I cannot ascertain 
that they killed any Indians, but several of the Mexicans were killed. They could not 
cro!'s, on a~:count of the high water in the river; and finding themselves not ap­
proached by tbe Indians, they have remained there, and Captam Callahan has called 
upon his fellow-citizens for a.id, and endeavors are made to raise men to re-enforce him. 
I have sent orders to Captain Bnrba11k to arrest every one attempting to cross over 
with any hostile de&ign, and have ordered three companies from Fort Mcintosh to 
atren.gthen him. But the result of these movement~:~ across the river will be to excite 
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the hostility of all the Seminoles and their associates. and we may expect to hear of 
Indian depredations during the whole winter. * * ff In the meantime, every 
means in my power will be employed to prevent the breach of the neutrality laws and 
the incursions of the Indians. I inclose the report of Captain Burbank and copies of 
my previous and snbsequent instructions. I neglected to mention, as the gronnd of 
my belief that Callahan's expedition was originall.v intended aA an inroad into Mexico 
in search of negroes, that his crossing took place on the night of the 1st or morning of 
the 2d, and tbe ambuscade on the 3d; yet, on my arrival here on the 1st, an officer 
read me a private note from a friend at Laredo, inforrr..ing him that a party o( Texan 
volunteers had crossed the river above, intending to attack the Indians: that they had 
been led into au ambuscade of the S<1minoles, and many of them killed, and the re­
mainder had fled back to recross the Rio Grande. Now, this news was at Laredo a 
week and more before the affair happened, and shows that the design existed before­
hand with the volunteers, and was diselosed to the Mexicans, who prepared and exe­
cuted the ambuscade accordingly. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 
PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 

Brevet Majo1·- General, Commanding Depa1·tment. 
Col. S. COOPER, 

Adj ntant-General. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of War. 

ADJUTANT-GENERAL's OFFICE, October 25, 1855. 

No. 49. 

• S. COOPER, 
Adjutant-Genm·al. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPART:\fENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, Octobe1· 11, 1855. 

SIR: Your communication of the 8t.h instant, reporting the further proceeding of 
the unlawful expedition into Mexico under Captain Callahan, has been submitted to 
the general commanding the department, and he has instructed me to reply that he 
entirely approves of your action in the matter. He directs me to repeat to you the in­
junction of preventing a repetition or renewal of the recent invasion. If the force which 
you have already been authorized to call for should be insufficient for the purpose, ad­
ditional troops will be sent to you. It is suggested to you that the communication 
between you and the parties to these expeditions should, as far as possiLle, be confined 
to written correspondence, and at leas1; should be made matter of carefnl record. One 
of the immediate effects of the expedition in question will doubtless be increase(l a0-
tivity in the depredations of Indians from the Mexican side of the river, and the gen­
eral desires, therefore, that your command shall be particularly vigilant with reference 
to them. I am instructed to say that you are authorized to issue provisions sp11ringly 
to those persons from the Mexican side who have come over for protection from the 
party under Callahan and are suffering for food. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Capt. SIDNEY BURBANK, 
Fi1·st Infantry, Commanding Fott Duncan, Tex. 

No. 50. 

D. C. BUELL, 
Assistant .Adjtttant-General. 

HEADQUARTEUS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, October 11, 1855. 

SIR: I have no doubt your excellency is informed already of the inroads made into 
Mexico by a party under Captain Callahan. They crossed the Rio Grande three miles 
below Fort Dnncau on the night of the 1st or 2d instant, were led into an ambuscade 
of Indians and .Mexicans at La Meta, r-epulsed and driven back on Piedras Negras, the 
Mexican village opposite Eagle Pass. Under the belief that they were about reeross­
ing into Texas and ab<tndouiug their expedition, the officer in command at Fort Dun­
can took weasures to prevent their Leing molested in the passage of the river, which 
was swollen since they crossed, but the Texans, taking advantage of this interference, 
prepared to hold possession and await re-enforcements. Since then, the commanding 
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officer at Fort Duncan has refused to countenance their acts. Captain Callahan, finding 
his men were leaving him and seeing the approach of a body of Mexicans, Aet fire to 
the town of Piedras Negras: and, as soon as it could be doue,crossed to this ~ide, where 
his party is encamped. I bad sent orders to the troops at the di:fl'erent posts to pre­
vent any such unlawful inroads or uther breaches of the act of 1818 (the neutrality act) 
upon first hearing of the crossing of Captain Callahan. I do Bot think the bot pursuit 
of a party of In.dians with their plunder, although leading over the boundary, such a 
breach of that act, but this expedition, from the fact,s which have come to my know ledge, 
is not of that character. 1 am advised that the burning of the town and the designs 
on the Seminole settlement have exasperated to the highest degree both that band of 
Indians and the Mexicans. Many of the latter, in utter destitution, are seeking food 
on this side of the river to save themselves from starving. Under these circumstances 
I have no doubt plans of revenge will be for~ed and executed on the peaceable inhabit·· 
ants of our frontier, while those who are the cause of these miseries- will escape, and 
we may look for an inroad from the Seminoles to murder and scalp, not merely to 
steal. It is impossible to undo what is done, but under the act of 1818 the Presirlent 
of t,he United States has delegated to me tbe special authority therein provided for, to 
employ the military force under my command to prevent the infraction of that law. 
I hope your excellency will exert the influence and authority you possess to render 
any such exertion of military force on my part unnecessary. This can only be done by 
putting a stop to the unlawful enterprises in contemplation, for if they are persisted 
in, orders I have lately received will render my action indispensable. 

With the highest respect, your obedient servant. 
PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 

B1·evet Majm·-General, Cmnmanding Depa1·tment. 

I have the honor to inclose a copy of the delegation of authority to me and an extract 
from an order of the War Department. 

His Excellency E. M. PEASE, 
Governor of the State of Texas, Austin, Tex. 

No. fil. 

PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 
Brevet Major-General. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, October 12, 1855. 

CoLONEL: I have the honor to inclose a copy of a further report of Captain B~:ubank 
of the events succeeding those detailed in my former communication. You will observe 
the wanton outrages inflicted on the poor inhabitants of Piedras Negras in the burning 
of their houses and gardens. I wish I could say that conduct so offensive to law and 
humanity met with any reprobation here; the very few I have heard condemn it avow 
their fear to express their opinions publicly. The party under Callahan have fallen 
hack from the Rio Grande and have given out their intention to disperse and return 
to their homes. But although that is their probable course, no confidence can be placed 
in their decl~:~trati~ns, and they will still be watched. A criminal prosecution of the 
offenders would be futile anywhere in Texas, and nothing remains but to endeavor to 
prevent a repetition of such acts. But, on the other band, the Indians will be led to 
retaliate, and the people of the Mexican side, irritated by these outrages, will aid and 
encourage them, and such acts of retaliation will afi'ord a pretext for new outrages, if 
the ill success of the last expedition does not prevent them. I inclose also a eopy of a 
letter I addressed to the governor of the State, with the information I had from Cap­
ltain Burlmnk, and copies of further orders in relation to the subject. It will be seen 
that I direct the arrest of persons attempting to invade Mexico as a measure of preven­
tion under the law and my instructions. The arrest of those returning from the com­
missiop. of the o:ffense I leave to the civil authorities, beMuse it would not prevent the 
crime or an attempt to repeat it ; however, e>ery effort will be made to arrest every 
one engaged in the enterprise. 

I must· toay, in conclusion, that, although the unfortunate inhabitants of the Mexican 
. .s~de have so much to complain Of, it is different with the Mexican Government; they 
have encouraged in every way the incursions and robberies of the Indians, who are 
nuder their protection. Citizens of this side have followed the Indians who stole their 
horses and found them in possession of Mexicans, some in high authority, who bad just 
bought them from marauding parties; far from aiding our people who were endeavor­
Jn.g peaceabl! to get back their property, they interfered to prevent even their pur 
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chase back; and in no instance has any encouragement been given to our citizens 
seeking redress. 

With high respect, your obedient servaJ?.t, 
PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 

BTevet Major-General, Comrnanding Departrnent. 
Col. S. COOPER, 

.Adjutant-Geneml. 

P. S.-I inclose a subsequent report of Captain Burbank, just received, October 14 
18f>5. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of War. 

A~JUTANT-GENERAL's OFFICE, October 27, lti55. 

PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 
B1·evet Major- General, tjc. 

S. COOPER, 
.Adjutant-General. 

Read. The measures adopted by General Smith and the conduct of Captain Bur­
bank in the events within related are entirely satisfactory. Copies of the papers bear­
ing on international relations will be prepared for transmission to the Secretary of 
State. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Noventbm· 31 1855. 

(See letter to Secretary of State, November 9, 1855.) 

No. 52. 

JEFF'N DAVIS, 
Sec,·etary of War. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS1 

San .Antonio, October 14, 1855. 
COLONEL: On my arrival here on the 1st instant I found great consternation per­

vading the community on account of the incursions of. some Lipan Indians to the imme­
diate neighborhood. Between twenty and thirty of these had crossed the Rio Grande, 
in small parties, generally of two or three, and taking the hills at the bead of the 
Medina and Frio Rivers, had secretly descended along the valleys of the Cibolo and 
Medina, and uniting in parties of six or eight, had carried off over two hundred horses 
from farms on the Cibolo and on the Medina, and on the San Antonio below the junc­
tion of the Medina, down as far as the neighborhood of Goliad. On the Cibolo, n«Y<~:r 
the stage-road to Indianola, they killed a boy, the son of Mr. McGhee, and a small black 
girl, and fa.rther up the country they killed a woman and attempted several other 
murders. They were pursued by parties of citizens, generally without success. One 
I11dian of a small party, surprised by Mr. Wallace and six or eight men, was killed. 
Some horses were retaken, but not many. The governor of the State, during an alarm 
on the Colorado, had called out a company of volunteers, under Captain Uallahan, 
which was stationed near that river. A part of this company, with some re-enforce­
ments from other quarters, on the alarm in this neighborhood, started, professedly, to 
pursue the trails of the marauders even into Mexico, whete they resided, and recover 
the stolen 'animals. But it is probable, from what bas since happened, that their orig­
inal intention was to cross into Mexico and go to the Indian camp, tllere attack it, take 
their horses and those in their possession, and retaliate the outrages inflicted here. 
They arrived on the Rio Grande about the 29th or 30th of September, and about thirty 
miles above Eagle Pass. The river was high, and for that reason or some other they 
descended to a ford three miles below Fort Duncan and crossed it secretly on the night 
of the 1st or 2d instant, unknown to Captain Burbank, commanding that post. They 
then had about one hundred and ten men. On the 3d they fell into an ambuscade and 
were driven back to the river at Piedras Negras, a Mexican village directly opposite 
Fort Duncan, with the intention of crossing, but the high water deterred them. Cap­
tain Burbank, to prevent further evil from their remaining in the Mexican territory, 
took a position with some of his artillery to prevent their crossing from being inter­
fered with, as they seemed afraid of being attacked by a very large force. Taking 
undue advantage of this, they determined to remain, and seTlt persons here and to the 
neighboring towns to raise men and bring them assistance. Captain Callahan reported 
that on the 3d he was attacked by seven hundred or eight hundred Indians, aided by a 
large force of Mexicans; that he killed eighty Indians and many Mexicans. He left his 
own dead on the ground, and lost six men killed and wounded. The Mexicans say that 
their force consisted of two hundred rancheros; and that eight Lipan Indians were 
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present accidentally and took part in the fight; that four Mexicans were killed and 
four wounded, hut no Indians were either killed or wounded. They state Captain 
Callahan's loss in killed. correctly, and say they took and found abandoned several 
horses, and also thirty pistols and rifles thrown away by t.he Texans in or after the 
action. Captain Callahan, finding his men leaving him, sent to Captain Burbank to 
assist him in crossing. Captain Burbank declined, telling him that be had 1,aken on 
himself the respo~sibility of holding the place and must abide by it. Finally, Captain 
Callahan's party set fire to the Mexican village and burned it up most wantonly, for 
it was occupied by a poor class of people, generally engaged in the cultivation of small 
plats of ground for the supply of our garrison and the neighboring town with vegetables. 
After several more fruitless applications to Captain Burbank for assistance, the Texans 
crossed to this side and have returned to San Antonio and the neighboring towns, 
where they are raising men to return anrl try their fortune again. They represent the 
wlJOle affa.ir as a brilliant and successful exploit, and as such, uo doubt, t.he newspapers 
t]noughout the country will represent it. They are upheld hy, with very few excep­
tions, t,he whole population; and as the Indians who have committed t-he depredations 
here are undoubtedly upheld and encouraged by the Mexican authorities, it is hard to 
convince the Texans that retaliat,ion on the innocent is not the way to correct the 
evil. The const.a.nt incursions of smaJl parties of Iudians justify the formation and 
movement of armed parties of citizens, and their approach toward t.he front.ier cannot 
be questioned. Jt is only when they have crossed that their original design is made 
manifest. The difficulty of opposing Indian depredations, and preventing at the same 
time breaches of the neutrality laws, may he well imagined. As this subject involves 
our political relations with Mexico, I have reporteu the facts direct to the War Depart­
ment. If copies of Captain Buarbank's reports and my orders on the subject can be 
prepared before the mail closes I will inclose them; otherwise they will go by the 
next mail. 

With high respect! your obedient serYant, 

Lieut .. Col. L. THOMAS, 

PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 
Brevet Major-General, Cormnanding Depm·tment. 

Assista11t Adjutant-General, Headqtta?'ters of the Army. 

HEADQUARTERS OF THE AHMY, 

ReBpectfnlly forwarded to the Adju1ant-General. 
New Yo1'k, October 29, 1855. 

L. THOMAS, 
Assistant Adjutant-General. 

Respectfully submitteu to the Secretary of War. 

.ADJUTANT-GENERAL's OFFICE, October 31, 185!'>. 

S. COOPER, 
Adjutant-General . 

No. 53. 

FORT DUNCAN, TEx., October 16, 1855. 
SIR: I have tbe honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter dated October 11 

Ja.st night. I have nothing of importance to report. The excitement of last week has 
subsided, and the good feeling which existed between the people on the opposite sides 
of ·the river, interrupted for a time by the Texan volunteers, is fast being restored. 
Most, if not. all, of the Mexicans who crossed to this side of the river when their town 
wa.s occupied by the Texans have returned. I do not apprehend any further diffi­
culties. I therefore think the force I now have here sufficient, and I have not made 
the requisition on the commanding officer at Fort Mcintosh for the tb.ree companies of 
infantry I was authori:r,ed to do in a letter from department headquarters of October 9, 
According to the best information I have, the Texans have mostly returned to their 
homes. 1 think it highly improbable that they will return again, knowing, as they 
now do, that they will be resisted by the Mexican authorities with their entire force. 
The Indians brought to the river on t-he ot-her side were again sent into the interior as 
soon as it was known the Texans bad withdrawn from t.he frontier. These were Sem­
inoles and Kickapoos. I will try and watch the movements of the Lipans, the Indians 
who have committed so many depredations on the citizens of Texas. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

.ASSISTANT ADJUTANT-GENERAL, 
J!,"J.Ja1'trnent of Texas, San Antonio. 

S. BURBANK, 
Captain Fi1·st Infantry, Commanding . 
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No. 54. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, AUSTIN, TEX., 
October 17, 1855. 

SIR: I have just seen an extract of a letter from Colonel Hardee, an officer of Colonel 
Johnston's regiment, dated Jefferson Barracks, SepteLnher 29, 18:55, in which he say8: 
"Instructions h:we been given that the l:)econd Regiment of Cavalry will go to Texas, 
but up to this time not a wagon, to my knowledge, has been provided for our transpor­
tation. As the Sioux war seems to have begun, I woula not be snl'pl'ised if we were 
ordered to join General Ha.rney. I consirler it entirely doubtful if we get to Texas t.his 
fa.ll or winter. Colonels Johnston and Lee are both absent, and I am in command of 
the regiment." It seems, therefore, tllat there is much doubt whether the regiment· 
of Colouel Johnston will be in Texas this fall, and in the present exposed situation of 
onr frnntier, liable as it is to be attacked at any moment by the Lipans and Seminoles 
from the other side of the Hio Gra.nde, prudence seems to retluire tha~ an <tdditional 
mounted force sllould at once be called into the field. Such is the opinion of the citi­
zens residing on our western frontier, and I think that opinion well founded. I make 
these suggestions to you because I think such a force is now needed in the field, and 
because I believe if you were to call qn me for such a. force, say three companies from 
the militia. of this State, it would supersede the unauthorized movement of armed men 
that seems to ue now making in the western part of this State, and uring the whole 
matter growing ont of the late expediUon of Captain Callahan entirely under your 
con1i:Fo1. Your authority to caJl for such a force is undoubted, for they are needed to 
rHpel the actual invasion of the Indians, which are daily occurring. Will you favor 
me with your views on this subject as early as convenient1 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Bvt. Maj. Gen. PERSIFOR F. Si\HTH, 
C01nmanding Depa1·tment. 

No. 55. 

E. M. PEASE. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS. 
San Antonio, October 17, 1855. 

COLONEL: There is a great deal of excitement among the citizens of this part of 
Texas, resulting from the late events on the Rio Grande, and t.hey are raising a thou­
sand men to cross th~) river, ostensibly to chastise the Indians. I have seen several 
parties Tide into town yesterday and to-dtty, well armed. and mounted, and of a better 
class of citizens than usually join in such expeditions. 

It has struck me :-:~s extraordinary that, while complaining that they are left without. 
protection from Indian incursions, they can yet afford to send away three times the 
number of the regular mounted force in the whole State from the very portion of the­
State where assistance is said to be so much needed. I shall do all in my power to pre­
vent any unlawful expedition, but, as the country is really infested with small parties. 
of Indians, it is easy for any party of armed citizens who approach the Rio Grande to 
say they are following tbese marauders and protecting the frontier. These illegal ex­
peditions require the 1 roops to be kept near the Rio Grande, while the protection of 
the farmers demands that they should be brought iuto the interior, and it will be diffi­
cult to execute both services with numbers barely sufficient for either. If I can delay 
the action of those parties a few weeks, uo doubt many of the more prudent citizens, 
will think better of the matter and abandon the expedition. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 

Lieut. Col. L. THOMAS. 

PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 
Bnvet Major-General, Commanding Depa1·tment. 

Assistant .Adj'tttant-General, Headqua.rters of the .Anny. 

No. 56. 

AUSTIN1 TEX., October 20, 1855. 
GENERAL: On my arrival here I am placed in possession of the official reports of Spe­

cial Agents Ross and Baylor, who are in charge of the Indian reservations near Fort 
Belknap, copies of which I have thought proper to inclose you for your information • . 
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You will perceive by reference to these reports that we may expect some difficulty with 
the Yampasecos, and, in fact, all of the northern tribes or bands of Comanches; that 
they not only threaten to attack the friendly Indians on the reservations, but to attack 
our settlements on our northern frontier. In order to meet any emergency that may 
arise, I should be pleased if you will give instructions to the commanding officer at 
Forts Belknap and Chadbourne as yon may deem best calculated to meet the threat­
ened danger. Under the circumstances, it is deemed by me absolutely necessary to 
have :1 small force on the Comanche reservation to protect the government employes 
a1H'l to overawe the Comanches now settled should they show any disposition to join 
their brethern farther north in attacks on our settlement. 

You will perceive that Special Agent Baylor has already requested Major Paul to 
fmnish him with a guard. 

Commending this subject to your early consideration, I am, very respectfully, your 
olledient servant, 

Bvt. Maj. Gen. P. 1<'. SMITH, 
San Antonio, Tex. 

No. 57. 

ROB'T S. NEIGHBOURS, 
Supm·vising Agent Texas Ind·ians. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, October 21, 1855. 

GOVERNOR: I had the honor of receiving your letter of the 17th yesterday. I have 
not the slightest apprehension that the destination of the Second CavaJry Regiment 
is changed or that its march will be delayed. On the contrary, my assurance is 
stronger every day that it will be here as soon as a due regard to the condition of the 
horses will permit; and I am sure that, upon considering the grounds of my certainty, 
which I will briefly state, you will be of the same opinion. 

In the first place, Colonel Hardee, in writing a private let,ter to a friend here, has 
stated only impressions made on his own mind; he does not even hint that any 
information, even unofficial, is the foundation of his opinion. On the day he wrote­
the 29th of September-he could not have been in possession of the formal order to 
march. Of course he bad no authority to require or prepare the transportation for the 
regiment. It is possible that this final order was delayed until the situation and 
necessities of General Harney were determined. Accordingly, after the news of his 
success over the Sioux at AHh Hollow, an order from the War Department of the 25th 
of September, a copy of which was sent to me, directs that Col. Albert S. Johnston 
should be relieved from serving on a court-martial to which he had been ordered, and 
that he should at once take command of his regiment, and on the 27th, two days 
afterward, the final order for. march is issued from the Headquarters of the Army. 
This order could not have reached Colonel Hardee, for if it had been mailed on the 
day of its date it wonld not have been in Saint Louis when the colonel wrote. On 
its receipt you are well aware that it became the duty of the officer in command of the 
regiment at once to make requisitions on the staff officers near him for the requisite 
transportation and supplies, and you are also aware that there could be no difficulty 
at Saint Louis and its neighborhood in finding plenty of either. The absence of these 
preparations before the order for march is no evidence of the impossibility of procur­
ing them afterward; besides, I have been officially informed of the intention of the 
War Department to send the regiment here. I have been directed to make prepar­
at.ion for t,heir reception, and to purchase forage for their horses, involving a large 
expenditure. I have received and recorded the formal order for their movement. If 
there were any intention of changing their destination, the first act of the department 
wolllcl be to inform me of it, that I might, suspend the purchases that became unneces­
sar.\' and meet the new position of affairs. Last night I received different orders from 
Washington up to the 4th instant, a week later than the date of the order of march. 
No change is hinted at, and I act under the most perfect confidence that up to t,he 4th 
of October the disposition of the regiment was t;~.nchanged, and that it is now on its 
mareh to Texas, and will be on the northern frontier before any other troops could 
be mised, equipped, and sent there. A company of the rifles arrived four days since 

. and is on the Medina; another is on its march, and a third, probably, bas started from 

. Laredo. I could still draw up from the Rio Grande other companies, now that I have 
their horses and equipments, if the preparations for an unlawful invasion of Mexico 
did not forbid me to strip the Rio Grande of its entire mounted force, and your excel­
lency will see the false position in which I would be placed were I to call rangers into 

, service, because the regular troops, whose place these are to supply, are kept where 
· they are, on the Rio Grande, by the threats of the others to break the laws. I think I 
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can answer for the protection of the frontier with the dispositions I will make by call­
ing some infantry and a mounted artillery company to replace the mounted rifles I 
will bring up here; and roy confidence is in no ways shaken in the expected re-enforce­
ment by the doubts expressed in Colonel Hardee's letter before he had authentic in­
telligence of the movement. 

With the highest respect, your obedient servant, 
PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 

B1·evet Majm·-Geneml, Commanding Departme'nt. 
His Excellency E. M. PEASE, 

Governor of the State of Texas. 

No. 58. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, Octobm· 21, 1855. 

CoLONEL: I have the honor to transmit a report from Captain Burbank at Fort 
Duncan, a letter from the governor of the State, who desires some volunteers to be 
called into service, and my reply, and a report from Brevet Major Paul commanding at 
Fort Belknap. Since my last report some of those engaged in raising the expedition 
for :the Rio Grande have abandoned it, but others still persist and are very active in 
their efforts to raise the necessary number of men by the 15th of November, the day 
:fixed upon for their rendezvous. Many of the best citizens of this part of the country, 
which the late Inrlian incursions have stripped of its horses, under their :first impulse, 
joined in this movement as the only means to secure themselves, for the troops on the 
outer frontier were too distant to afford them instant succor, it being one hundred and 
sixty miles to the nearest post of consequence, Port Mcintosh. To tranquilize all this 
population, so justly alarmed, and thus to detach the better class of citizens from the 
unlawful enterprise projected, I will gradually bring the greater part of the rifle regi­
ment into the country embraced bet,ween a line through the beads of the Cebolo, 
Medina, Hondo, and Frio, and the outlet of those rivers, down as far as Goliad and the 
mission of Refugio, and keep them a<ltively in motion, so that all t.he inhabitants may 
see a portion of them every few days and feel that they have efficient protection close 
at hand. I will, unless otherwise ordered, bring the headquarters of the regiment 
somewhere near the center of this district, and keep up this disposition until confi­
dence is entirely restored. One company, C, is already on the Medina, and companies 
.A. and H will shortly be in . this neighborhood. I have ordered three companies of 
infantry from Ringgold Barracks to strengthen the line between Las Moras and the 
old Presidio cror;sing, and have directed Captain Phelps's light battery to take a posi­
tion where they can meet any emergency likely to occur shortly. Four hundred very 
good horses have been bought for the rifles in Texas, and will replace the losses met 
with in severe service and those which are found too heavy for light cavalry service. 
I propose, as a temporary measure, to take about eight horses from each company of 
rifles, of those too heavy for their use, and give about twenty-four to each of the com­
panies of artillery at Forts Duncan, Mcintosh, and Ringgold Barracks. They can, 
with these, harness two pieces and two caissons at each post, and thus instruct the 
men in that part of their service, and at the same time furnish a mounted scout of 
twenty men in case of necessity. These, in addition to two or three companies of rifles, 
to be kept on the Rio Grande, can secure that line until, tranquillity being restored, a 
new and permanent disposition can be made. This new state of affairs will modify 
former plans. The companies of rifles that come here may more conveniently receive 
their horses here, and the recruits sent to the rifles can come to Indianola. When 
they are ordered out I would be glad to have timely notice of it, that I may send a 
company or two to meet them, for the road from Indianola here is crowded with grog­
shops, and raw men with few officers can harrlly be kept in order. The road from Cor­
pus Christi to Laredo is not subject to that objection, but the companies will not be 
at hand to receive them. I have been told by several persons, committees, &c., that 
if I will only call out a few companies of rangers it will at once employ the most 
unquiet and tranquilize the alarmed, and thus break up the contemplated enterprise. 
I refuse absolutely. I will exert every means I have to avoid any serious difficulty, 
but I will not buy the promised good conduct of such men as must necessarily enter 
into many of their companies at any price. The good sense and manliness of the bet­
ter portion will, I hope, induce them to abandon an improper fellowship, and good 
order will be once more restored. 

With high respect, your obedient servant, 

Col. S. CooPER, 
.Adj-utant-General of the Army. 

PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 
Brevet Major-General, Commanding Department. 
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No. 59. 

HEADQUARTERS FORT BELKNAP, TEXAS, 
October 21, 1855. 

SIR: Since writing my letter of the 7t,h instant, I have the honor to report that a 
general alarm has existed among the white settlers of this neighborhood; that they 
have generally abandoned their farms, and fled with their families to this post for pro­
tection. I am not prepared to say that their fears are groundless, but I believe the 
reports in reference to hostile demonstrations by Northern Comanches as much exag­
gerated. 

I have received several communications from Mr. J. R. Baylor, agent for the Sonth­
ern Comancqes, representing them in a very unquiet state, and asking for troops to be 
stationed among them. I have accordingly sent Captain King, First Infantry, with his 
company. Captain King reported that the Comanches were making preparations to 
leave the reserve, and this step was only prevented by his timely arrival among them. 
Mr. Bay1or wrote again that should the troops be removed from the reservation, there 
would nqt be a single Comanche on it twenty-four hours after the departure of the 
troops. Under these circumstances, until otherwise directed; I shall leave a company 
or a detachment of thirty or fort.y men on the Comanche reserve. In order to catTy 
out the present Indian policy, I think it will be absolute1y necessary to establish a 
permanent post on the lower or Comanche reservation of not less than two companies, 
one of which should be mounted. 

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
G. R. PAUL, 

Captain Seventh Infant·ry, B1·evet Maj01·, U. S. A., COJnmanding Post. 
ASSISTANT ADJUTANT-GENERAL, . 

Headquarters Department of .Texas, San Antonio, Tex. 

No. 60. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Washington, Noventbm· 9, 1855. 
SIR: I have the honor to transmit herewith for your information copies of four com­

municationt'~, with inclosures, from Brevet Major-General P. F. Smith, commanding 
Department of Texas, dated Oc1jober 10, 12, 17, and 21, on the subject of the recent 
and the contemplated invasion of Mexico by armed men under Captain Callahan. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
JEFF. DAVIS, 

Secutm·y of War. 
Ron. W. L. MARCY, 

Secretary of State. 
No. 60-f. 

Extract jr01n remaTks on 1·oll of Capt. William Tom's cornpany. 

Muster-roll of Capt. William Tom's company of Texas Volunteers, organized at San 
Antonio on the 18th day of October, A. D. 1855, in accordance with an advisory letter 
of Col. James S. Gillet, adjutant-general of Texas, dated on the 17th instan~, viz: 

* * * * * * * 
·wiLLIAM TOM, 

Captain Co·mmanding Compan.lJ T, Mounted Volunteers. 

I certify t.hat I attended the assembling and organizing the company commanded by 
Capt. William Tom, and have obtained funds to furnish them with subsistence and 
forage, half rations of corn, from the committee of safety at San Antonio. 

H. E. McCULLOCH, 
Superintending Organization. 

I certify on honor that I mustered the above company out of service on the 16th day 
of November, A. D. 1855, UJl(ler the instructions of Capt. H. E. McCulloch; that the 
remarks set opposite t,he name of ea.ch man are accurate and just, and that they are 
hereby honorably discharged from said service. 

WILLIAM TOM, 
Captain Commanding Company T, Mounted Volunteers. 

I hereby certify on honor that the above acc<mnt exhibits a full and fair statement 
of all the moneys received hy me from the vigilance committee a·t San Antonio, as 
well as the manner in which the same was disbursed for their use and benefit. 

EZRA KEYSER, 
Orderly Sm·geant Captain Will-iam Tom's Company T, Moimted Volunteers. 
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No. 61. 

fExtract.J 

123 

Report of Capt. William G. Tobin's company of Mounted Rangers, commencing on the 
12th day of October, A. D. Ul55,· and ending the 15th day of November, A. D. 1855, 
raised and organized in San Antonio, Texas; disbanded, waiting for further orders. 

List of names of the company. 

I certify that this is a true copy of my company. 
WM. G. TOBIN. 

[Extract.] 

Muster-roll of Capt. William G. Tobia's compa.ny of Mounted Texas Rangers, called 
into the service of the State of Texas, from the 12th day of October, A. D. 1855, for 
the term of one mouth unless sooner discharged. 'rhis is intended as muster in and 
out roll, there being no mustering officer to muster out this company . 

.. * * * If * * 
I certify on honor that this muster-roll exhibits the true state of Capt. William G. 

Tobiu's company of Mounted Texas Rangers for the period herein mentioned; that 
each man answererl to his own proper name in person, and that the remarks set oppo­
site the name of each officer and soldier are accurate and just; and I do further certify 
that the men above mentioned were actively employed in military service of the said 
State from the 12th day of October, 1855, to the 15th day of Novemb ··r, 1855. To all 
of which I do swear to be true to the best of my knowledge and belief. 

W. G. TOBIN, 
Captain Commanding Company Texas Rangers. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me March 21, 1861. 
CLEM. R. JOHNS, 

Comptroller . 

• 
No. 61i. 

[Extract.] 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, December 6, 1855. 

GENERAL: * ~ * * * 
This you must allow is the state of the present case. I do not say what was the char­
acter of Captain Callahan's expedition ; that the government will decide with him. 
I only say, supposing it were of the character given it by its most violent enemies, yet 
the Government of the United States is in no way answerable to the Mexican a·.lthori­
ties, since it is the conduct of these which has furnished Captain Callahan with the 
cloak to hide him from the vigilance of our own laws and its officers. More than a 
year since a tribe of Lipans, which had formerly been under the care of an Indian 
agent of the United ~tates, in Texas, were persuaded by some of the authorities of 
Coahuila to move to that State, and when Major Neighbours, the Indian agent, en­
deavored to visit them a,nd persuade them to return, he was not permitted by those 
authoriti es to communicate wit.h them. These Indians were put under the protection 
of the civil and milHury authorities then in power in Coahuila, and they commencecl 
at once a series of murders and robberies, on this side of the river, which has cont,in­
ued up to tbiR time. About the beginning of the summer these Indians extended their 
depredations so far into the interior as to be out of the reach of the troops, which were 
near the frontier. Drove after drove of horses were stolen and taken at once across 
the Rio Grande, where they were protected from pursuit by the Mexican minor civil 
authorities. Now, I beg you to observe wha;t I say here particularly, because it is the 
origin of all the late difficulties, ~md we have taken pains to obtain the fullest proof 
as to what I assert. Party after party of Lipan Indians, living under the protection 
uf i he ~lexican aut.horities behind L~tredo and near San Fernando, came into the set­
tlements singly, anti joining here in parties of from five to thirteen, stole horses from 
all the ra,nches on the Medina, San Antonio, and Cibolo Rivers, murdered several per­
sons, and escaped, by a rapid :tligbt across the Rio Grande, with much of their plunder. 
Citizens of Texas, from severa.l different neighborhoods, followed them peaceably, 
f(mnd the stolen animals, recognized them, and endeavored to purchase them back­
some from the Indians who stole t.hem-but most of the horses were in the hands of 
minor civil officers, on the Mexican side, who refused all a.id, or even permission, for 
the recovery of them. l!'inding it impossible to obtain redress for wrongs so flagrant, 
they determiue<l to pursue the next band of robbers even into Mexico, which they had 
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a right to do, seeing that the Mexican authorities not only refused redress, but aided 
and protected the Indians and shared their plunder. Under cover of this right, which 
is undoubted, other parties may have contemplated a wrong, but Mexico herself had 
so completely sheltered them from our pursuit that it can only be after a development 
of their true designs that our authorities can ac.t, and it is then too late for prevention . 

. * * * * * * * 
I have the honor to remain, with the highest respect, your obedient servant, 

PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 

Sr. Don EMILIO LANGBERG; 
Brevet Major- General, Comrnanding Depa1·tment. 

Com,manding the Forces of the Mexican Republic in Coahuila. 

No. 62. 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS, 
San Antonio, December 6, 1855. 

SIR: I have the honor to inclose herewith copies of communications from Brevet 
Major Paull commanding Fort Belknap, dated September 16, October 7 and 21, and 
from Mr. R. S. Neighbours, Indian agent, dated October 20, on the subject of Indian 
affairs in the northern part of the department. The reasons set forth in these several 
communications, taken in connection with the implied discretion conveyed in your 
indorsement referring to me the petition of Mr. Woodward to have two companies of 
mounted troops stationed a~ Fort Belknap, have determined me to post four companies 
of the Second Cavalry on the Comanche reservation. The other six companies and 
the headquarters are directed to encamp in the vicinit.y of Fort Mason, agreeably to 
the wish of the Secretary of War, expressed in your communication of the 20th ultimo. 

Very respectfully, your _obedient servant, 
PERSIFOR F. SMITH, 

Colonel S. COOPER, 
»revet M ajo1·- General, Co'mmanding Departnwnt. 

Adjutant-General, U. S. A., Washington, D. C. 

Respectfully submitted to the Secretary of War. 

.ADJUTANT-GENERAL'S OFFICE, December 24, 1855. 

No. 64. 

S. COOPER, 
Adjutant- General . 

EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT, .AUSTIN, TEX., December18, 1855. 
SIR: Reposing trust and confidence in your capacity and integrity, I appoint you 

paymaster, to carry into effect ".An act making appropriations to pay the expenses of 
volunteers called into the service of the State for the protection of the frontier, and 
for other volunteer service," approved December 17, 1855. The volunteers alluded to 
in this act are th.e companies of Capt. J. H. Callahan, Captain Benton, and Captain 
Henry. Under the provisions of said act you will be required to give bond and security to 
the State of Texas in the snmof$22,000 for the faithful performance of your du~ies under 
this act. You will repair to the town of Marcas, in Hayes County, and make the pay­
ments authorized under said act, ou the 7th and tlth days of January, 1856, and the 
following days, if necessary~ previous to which detailed instructions will be given you. 
Your , compensation, under the law, will be $100, which is entirely inadequate to the 
service, but as the service is one that will greatly benefit your neighbors and frie~ds, 
I trust you will undertake it. 

Yours, with respect, 
E. M. PEA.SE. 

Col. JOHN D. PITTS. 

No. 65. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, .AUSTIN, TEx., February 4, 1856. 
Gentlemen of the senate and house of representatives : 

I transmit herewith the muster-rolls of three small companies of mounted volunteers, 
one commanded by William Tom, which was in service on the frontier from the 18th 
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of October to the 16th of November, 1855; another, commanded by W. G. Tobin, which 
served on the frontier from the 12th of October to the 15th of November, 1855; the other, 
commanded by Levi English, whose precise term of service is not known to me. These 
companies were voluntarily organized and supported by the citizens of the frontier for 
their defense, during the past fall, while they were suffering from the constant attacks 
of hostile Indians, there being no mounted troops of the United States near enough to 
afford any protection. 

Small parties of the last-named company bad several encounters with and killed 
many of the Lipan Indians, and all of the companies were in active service at a time 
when the frontier settlements were nearly broken up by the incursions of the Indians, 
and contributed greatly to restore peace and confidence to those settlements. I think 
it but an act of justice that they should receive from the State a reasonable compen­
sation for their services and expenses, and therefore submit the matter to your consider­
ation, with the hope that you will make suitable provisions for their payment. 

The circumstances under which t,hese companies were organized and the service 
they rendered are well k11own to Messrs. Maverick and McCullough, of the senate, and 
the Bexar delegation in the bouse of representatives, to whom reference is made for 
informat.ion on these points. 

E. M. PEASE. 

No. 66. 

EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT, AUSTIN, TEX., January 3, 1856. 
SIR: You are hereby appointed an agent of this State, under the provisions of "An 

act to provide for the payment of six companies of mounted volunteers that were 
mustered into the service of the State of Texas on the 1st day of November, 1854, un­
der a requisition of Brevet Major-General Persifor F. Smith, and to pay the expenses 
incurred by said companies," approved January 14, 1856, and an act to amend the sev­
eral sections of said act, approved February 1, 1856, with full power and authority to 
receive from the State treasurer a portion of the appropriation made by said first­
named act sufficient to pay Uw companies commanded by yourself and Capt. J. G. 
Walker for three months at the same rate per month as they were afterward paid by 
the United States while in their service. 

Upon the receipt of said money you will, as early as convenient, give public notice 
of the time when yon will meet the members of said companies at or near the places 
where they were respectively organized, for the purpose of paying them off, under the 
provision of said act. James R. dhaw, esq., the comptroller of public accounts, will 
inform you what amount of pay per month each member of said companies is entitled 
to receive; he will also advise you what character of vouchers you will be required to 
take for the payments you may make under this appointment; and his instructions in 
regard to these matters must be strictly followed. 

Any assignment from any member of said companies of his p<1y which does not 
show on its face that the assignor knew at the time of its execution that he was enti­
tled to receive three months' pay from the State will only be recognized as convey­
ing to the assignee the pay due the assignor for the time he was actually in the serv­
ice of the State, which time of service was, for the members of your company, one 
month and twenty-one days, and for the members of Captain Walker's company one 
month. 

Should any of the members of said companies fail to apply to you for their pay at the 
time and place you may appoint, or within a reasonable time thereafter, you will return 
the residue of the money, with the vouchers for the payments yon have made, to the 
comptroller, and make a final settlement with him. 

The names of the persons who composed said companies you will ascertain from the 
duplicate muster-rolls furnished to the captains by the officer who mustered them, or 
from any authentic copy of said duplicate or original roll. You will be allowed for 
your services, on a settlement of your accounts, under this appointment, with the 
comptroller, a reasonable compensation, to be paid out of the appropriation made by 
this act. 

E. M. PEASE. 
GILES S. BOGGESS, Esq. 

No. 67. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, AUSTIN, TEX., Feb1·ua1·y 5, 1856. 
Sm: You are hereby appointed, under the provisions of" An act to provide for the pay­

ment of six companies of mounted volunteers that were mustered into the service of 
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the State of Texas on the 1st day of November, 1854, under a requisition of Brevet 
Major-General Persifor F. Smith, and to pay the expenses incurred by said eompanies," 
approved January 14, 1856, and an act to amend the seventh section of said act, ap­
proved February 1, 1856, as the agent of the State, to receive from the State a, portion 
of the appropriation of money made by said act sufficient to pay the company com­
manded by Capt. William Fitzhugh, that was organized at the town of McKinney, 
in Collin County, for three months. 

Upon the receipt of said money, you will proceed, as early as convenient, to pay the 
members of said company, at said town of McKinney, after giving a reasonable public 
notice of your authority to make such payments, for three months' services, at the 
same rate for such time as they were paid by the United States while in their service, 
which rate will be furnished to yon by James B. Shaw, esq., comptroller. The names 
of the persons composing said company you will ascertain from the copy of the mus­
ter-roll that will be furnished you by Mr. Shaw. You will recognize no assignment of 
any member of said company which does not show on its face that the party knew 
that he was entitled to three months' pay as conveying a right to any more t.han one 
month and twenty-one days' pay; service all over and above that amount is a gratuity 
from the State, and should only be paid to the party who rendered the service, unless 
the said party has assigned it with a full knowledge of his right. 

The comptroller will advise you fully what character of vouchers yon are required 
to take for the payments you may make under this appointment, and his instruetions 
must be strictly followed. As soon as convenient, after yon shall have paid all the 
parties that may apply to yon at McKinney, within the time you may fix for their pay­
ment, you will return the residue of the money, together with the vouchers for the 
pa.yments yon have made, to the comptroller, and make a final settlement with him of 
your proceedings. 

You will be allowed for your services, on a settlement of your proceedings under this' 
appointment, a reasonable compensation, to be paid out of the appropriation made by 
said act. 

E. M. PEASE. 
JAMES W. THROCKMORTON, Esq. 

No. 68. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, AusTIN, March 22, 1856. 
DEAR SIR: You are hereby appointed as the agent of this State to pay the company 

of Capt. Patrick H. Rodgers, which was enrolled at the town of Brenham, in the 
month of October, 1854, for three months' services. 

The pay of the members of said company will be the same as that allowed by the 
laws and regulations of the United States to mounted volunteers, a statement of which, 
together with the muster-roll and particular instructions as to the manner of payment 
and the vouchers necessary to be taken by you, will be furnished to you by the comp-
troller of public accounts, which must be strictly followed. . 

You will recognize no assignment from any member of said company as conveying 
more than his pay for one month and twenty- two da.ys, unless it shall appear from said 
assignment that the assignor knew that he was entitled ' to receive full three months' 
pa.y and intends to convey that amount. 

You will commence paying said company at the town of Washington, on the :nst 
day of March instant, and remain at that plaee a reasonable time for the members of 
said company to apply for their pay. You will receive from the comptroller the funds 
necessary to pay said company, and, after the expiration of the time you may deem 
reasonable for the mern bers to apply and receive their pay, yon will return what funds 
may remain in your hands to the corn pt.roller and make a settlement with him of your 
acconn,ts and doings under your appointment. 

The amount of compensation cannot be st.a.ted at this time, but it will be fixed so 
soon as I can ascertain the amount of the appropriation that will remain after the pa'y­
ment of all of said company. 

E. M. PEASE. 
Col. A. M. M. UPSHER. 

No. 69. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, AUSTIN, TEX., March 31, 1856. 
GENTLEMEN: Your communicat,ion of the 12th instant, representing that, unless 

som121thing is done immediately for the protection of the citizens residing on the Up­
per Blanco, Guadalupe, Curry's Creek, and Perdinales, they will be compelled to give 
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up their homes, has just been received. I have not been unmindful of your exposed 
condition, ancl some time since requested the commanding general of this department 
to have mounted troops sent to your vicinity for its protection, but I have heard noth­
ing from him in reply. 

You must be well aware that no means have been placed at my disposal for frontier 
protection, and without means I can do nothing . effective. I would, however, advise 
tb~tt your settlement organize a company of minute-men. Let a small number, say ten 
or fifteen, be kept scouting, whose duty it shall be to notify the company to assemble 
and pursue the Indians whenever it shall be ascertained that they are in the neighbor­
hood. ~uch a course will enable you to rally a respectable force at a short notice, and, 
I think, will tend to restore confidence. Should you conclude to act on this advice, you 
will keep me advised of yonr proceedings, and I shall take pleasure in urging the leg·· 
islature to make a suitable compensation for the service of those who may be employed, 
and to pay for all reasonable expenses that may be incurred. I do not intend to ad­
vise the organization of a force for offensive warfare at a distance from your homes, 
but that you shall endeavor, by this plan, to give yourselves protection against the 
Indians who may come into the vicinity of our settlements. 

Yours, with respect, 
E. M. PEASE. 

Messrs. J. H. CALLAHAN, E. BEN. GEORGE, R. W. JOHNSON, OTTO WUPPERl\IAN, and 
others. 

No. 70. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, AUSTIN, TEX., April 10, 1856. 
DEAR SIR: You are hereby appointed as the agent of this State to pay the company 

of Capt. William R. Henry, which was enrolled at the town of Goliad in the month 
of October, 1t:!54, for three months' services. The pay of the members of·said company 
will be the s:tme as that allowed by the laws and regulations of the United States to 
mounted volunteers, a statement of which, together with the muster-roll aud partic­
ular instructions as to the manner of payment and the vouchers to be taken by you 
will be furnished to you by the comptroller of puLlic accounts, which must be strictly 
followed. 

You will recognize no assignment from any member of said company as conveying 
more than hiH pa,y for one month and fom·teen days, unless it shall appear from said 
assignment that the assignor knew that he was entitled to receive full three months' 
pay and intended to convey that amount. 

You will commence paying said con1pan~' at the town of Seguin, on the 15th day of 
April instant, aud remain at that place a reasonable time for the mem hers of said com-
_pany to apply for their pay. . 

You will receive from the comptroller the funds necessary to pay said company, and, 
after the expiration of the time you may deem reasonable for the members to apply 
and receive their pay, you will return what funds may remain in your hands to the 
comptroller and make a settlement with him of your acts and doings under your ap­
pointment. 

The amount of compensation cannot be ~tated at this time, but it will be fixed RO 

soon as I can ascertain the amount of the appropriation that wilt remain after the pay­
ment of all of said company. 

E. M. PEASE. 
Col. JOHN D. PITTS. 

No. 71. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, AusTIN, TEX, May 1, 1856. 
Sm: You are hereby appointed to pay off the company of Capt. Charles E. Travis, 

under the provisions of "An act to provid~ for t.he payment of six companies of mounted 
volunteers that were mustered into tbe service of the State of Texas on the 1st day of 
Novembt·r, A. D. 11:!54, under a requitSition of Bvt. Maj. Gen. Persifor F. Smith, and to 
pay the expenses incurred by saifl company," approved January 14, 1856, and an act 
to amend the sevtluth section of said act, approved February 1, 1856. 

Your compensation for services will be the same as may hereafter be allowed to the 
persons appointed to pay off the companies. 

E. M. PEASE. 
JAMES H. RAYMOND, Esq. 
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No. 72. 

Extract from general rernat·ks on J. M. Davenport's company 1·oll. 

lst.--On the 20th day of March, 1836, a party of Indians, supposed to be Coma.nches, 
carne into the· Lowt=~r Sabinal settlements and s.tole seven head of horses and mules. I 
took the trail with my men, which was followed up to the headwater~:~ of the New 
Esses, then crossing we proceeded to the south prong of the Llano, and on arriving 
there late in the afternoon discovered the Indians encamped barbecuing a horse. We 
charged the camp, but being on an elevated position and the Indians in a low ravine, 
discovered our movements and made their escape through a mountain pass, being then 
dark, and in. the morning no trail was visible. 

Scout 2d.-On the night of the 16th day of May a party of Comanche Indians, eight 
in number, came into old Fort Lincoln and stole eight head of horses. We t.ook their 
trail next morning. and followed them to the heaclwaters of the Medina River, but, 
owing to a haavy rain, we lost the trail and could not proceed any further. 

Scont 3d.-On the night of the 7th June, 1856, there was a party of Indians, supposed 
to be t'vventy-:five in number, came into the Upper Sabinal settlements, known as the 
Carrion Valley. :five of them entering the yard of Mr. Aaron Anglon and killed two 
dogs; heing fired on by John Leaky, a private of my company, who WtlS stopping for 
the night in Mr. Anglon's house, and from his exertions the Indians left the yard. I 
sent five men next morning to hunt for their trail, while I was collecting the balance 
of the men about three miles southwest from Anglon's house. The above-mentioned 
five men came on the Indians in camp on the Frio Mountains (this being the place 
where Mr. Leaky and Baremore received their wounds). On the morning of the 9th 
I took the trail with twenty of my men, and followed it for eight days, and finally 
came up with them in camp on the Leon River about thirty miles from Fort Inge 
(south). We charged the camp and killed seven of them, which lay on the ground, 
au d wounded 8everal others. We also captured four head of horses, three shields, six 
quivers with bows and arrows, two rifle-guns, and one government revolver. We 
made various other scouts too numerous to report, but all of which came off with suc­
ce~;s. 

I remain, sir, your ot.edient servant, 

N.o. 73. 

JOHN M. DAVENPORT, 
Captain M. M. Volunteers. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, Tex., .August 4, 1856. 
G:entlemen of the senate and house of representatives: 

I have the honor to inform you that, about the month of March last, communica­
tions were received from the settlements on the Upper Blanco, Guadalupe, and Corny's 
Creek, complaining of their exposed situation and asking protection against the In­
dians, who committed frequent depredations about that time in those settlements and 
also in the settlements farther west. 

I replied to the communications that no means had been placed at my disposal for 
the protection of the frontier, and advised them to organize a company of minute-men 
for their own protection, and that I would urge the legislature to compensat.e them for 
their services and expenses. 

Acting upon this advice, a company was organized in the vicinity of Corny's Creek, 
a mu8ter-roll of which, together with an appraisement of their horses and arms, was 
forwarded to me. 

Since the meeting of the legislature, I have received a communication from J. W. 
Samson, captain of this company, informing me that he had been discharged, and 
inclosing a statement of the number of days served by each man. 

I transmit her_ewith the original petition for relief, a copy of my letter in reply to it, 
the original muster-roll of the company, appraisement of horses and arms, together 
with the communication of Captain Samson informing me of the discharge of the men 
and the time they served, which papers are numbered from one to four. A similar 
company was organized on Bancharos and Sabinal Creeks in March last, of which John 
M. Davenport was elected captain. I transmit herewith the letter of Captain Daven­
port advising me of its organization, and also another letter from him of a more recent 
date, giving an account of a fight with the Indians. 

A letter was addressed to Captain Davenport of a similar character to that written 
to the citizens of the Upper Blanco. 

More recently a similar company bas been organized in Uvalde County, of which 
Reading W. Black has been elected captain, and I transmit herewith his letter inform­
ing me of the organization. 
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I am well satisfied that these companies were actually necessary to keep the frontier 
settlements from breaking up, and they have done good service in their protection. 

Several members of yonr own body are well informed of the situation of the settle­
ments where the companies were organized, and the necessity that existed for them. 
I trust the legislature will encourage such efforts on the part of our citizens to protect 
themselves, and will make provisions for paying them a reasonable compensation for 
their services and expenses. 

E. M. PEASE. 

No. 74. 

• EXECUTIVE OFFICE, A~tBt-in, Tex., Octobm· 1, 1856. 
SIR: Having been unable to find any person who will accept the office of paymaster 

for the companies of Captain William Tom, jr., Levi English, and "William G. Tobin, 
and pay them in the manner and for the compensation provided for by "An act pro­
viding for the payment of the companies of mounted volunteers commanded by Cap­
ta.ins William Tom, jr., Levi English, and William G. Tobin, organized for the tem­
porary protection of the western portion of Texas," approved August 30, 1856, I have 
concluded to appoint you to make said payments at the treasury. You will therefore 
proceed and make the payments to said compa,uies at the State treasury as tbe parties 
may apply for the same, being governed in other respects by the provisions of said act. 

JAMES H. RAYMOND, Esq. 

No. 75. 

E. M. PEASE. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, 
Washington, September 16, 1857. 

SIR: I received your letter yesterday, stating that a rumored expedition was prepar­
ing in the western part of Texas for the invasion of Mexican territory, and that the 
names of distinguished men were connected. with it. I hope very sincerely, for the 
sake of this country, that this report may prove to be unfounded. 

We are not only at peace with Mexico, but that peace is guaranteed by the most 
solemn undertaking and deliberate pledges which it is possible for one country to give 
another. It should be borne in mind, too, that these pledges are the work of tlle people 
themselves; they have pledged their word, they have plighted their faith, that peace 
should be preserved between the two sister republics. By many, tlfese pledges have 
the sanction of an oath, for under the Constitution, which we have sworn to support, 
the treaties entered into by t.he government are ma!}e the supreme law of the laud. 
Without provocation, therefore, to enter upon the territories of Mexico for any hostile 
purpose whatever is an act as indefem;ible and as repugnant to every sentiment of 
honesty, manliness, and good faitb as an act of open piracy upon the high seas. Such 
outrages tarnish our national honor and materially damage the high and deserved 
reputation of our people for courage and chivalry. 

It would be very humiliating to think that any respectable number of American 
citizens could be instigated by ~L knowledge of Mexican feebleness to commit an act of 
outrage upon that nation which fear would restrain them from committing against our 
more powerful neighbors in the north. It is the part of magnanimity to spare the 
feeble, even in legitimate warfare, bnt it is good cause of eternal reproach to those 
whom the weakness of a friendly nation could incite to acts of rapine, plunder, and 
outrage. 

It is your duty to prevent, by all the means within your power, the consummation 
of any such design, and I am inst.rncted by the President to say that the whole force 
under your command must be used, if necessary, to arrest any movement whatever of 
the sort, and you are hereby directed to enforce obedience to the law in such cases 
made and provided. These provisions are deemed amply sufficient, and are hereby 
transcribed for your instruction and direction. (See sixth and eighth sections of the 
act of April 20, 11:318, Statutes at Large, vol. 3, page 449, "An act in addition to an act 
for the punishment of certain crimes," &c.) · 

You will see the necessity for great vigilance and activity in preventing such a 
movement if, in truth, such an one is seriously thougllt of. 

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Brevet MaJor-General D. E. TWIGGS, 
San ..Antonio, Tex. 

S.Ex.74-9 

JOHN B. FLOYD, 
Secretary of Wa1-. 
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No. 76. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, Tex., Novernber 3, 1857. 
GENTLEMEN: Some correspondence has taken place between this office and Brevet 

Major-General Twiggs, commanding this department, in regard to the inadequacy of 
the force he now has to give protection to our extended frontier against the depreda­
tions of the numerous bands of India.ns who are scattered along our northern and west­
ern borders. I inclose herewith copies of the letters received from General Twiggs, 
together with the copy of the draught of a bill for raising a regiment of mounted volun­
teers from this State. You will perceive that Generl:J.} Twiggs has asked for an increase 
of troops, and, in case none can be sent here from other departments, he is desirous of 
having this volunteer regiment of our citizens for one or two years. The only altera­
tions I would suggest in the bill are tha,t there should be two majors, as that number 
is allowed to each regiment in the Regular Army ; that the tterm of service should be 
changed from one to two years, and that all after the word "month," in the third line 
of the last section, be stricken out. Within the last few months the mail-train from 
San Antonio to El Paso was attacked and robbed of many of its animals, and I have 
now before me a communication just received from a large number of citizens residing 
on the waters of the San Saba and Upper Colorado Rivers, stating that the Indians have 
recent.ly made several incursions into those settlements and stolen and carried off nearly 
three hundred horses. These aggressions show conclusively that the force now assigned 
to our frontier is inadequate to its protection, and that there is a pressing necessity for 
this regiment. You must be aware that our citizens havelongbeen desirous of having 
such a regiment for our defense, and the present seems to be a favorable opportunity 
for securing it, since I am assured that General Twiggs will co-operate with you in 
urging the measure upon the attention of Congress. · 

Very respectfully, 
E. M. PEASE. 

Hon. Guy M. BRYAN and JOHN A. REAGAN. 

No.77. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, November 23, 1857. 
SIR: You are hereby authorized to enroll a company of twenty mounted men in the 

counties of Erat4 and Palo Pinto, to serve for three months, for the protection of the 
settlements in said counties against the incursions of hostile Indians. Each man will 
furnish himself with a good rifle or double-barreled shot-gun, and one or more pistols, 
with a sufficient quantity of ammunition, a good horse, saddle, and bridle. When the 
company shall have been enrolled you will cause an election to be held for one lien­
tenant to command the company, and one sergeant ~nd one corporal, and make out 
duplicate muster-rolls, one of which you will deliver to the lieutenant and the other 
you will forward, as early as convenient, to this office. 

The officers and men, respectively, will be paid by the State while in actual service 
at the same rates as mounted volunteers were paid by the United States during the 
Mexican war. They will furnish themselves with subsistence and forage, and will be 
allowed therefor in accordance with the commutation fixed by the rules of the United 
St.ates service. ·when the company shall have been organized, you will deliver to the 
lieutenant the accompanying letter of instructions for his government, and also a copy 
of this letter to yourself. Each officer and private will also be allowed pay for all 
ammunition necessarily used in service, on the certificate of the lieutenant. 

E. M. PEASE. 
THOMAS K. CARMACK, Esq. 

NOTE.-Similar authority at same time issued to John H. Conner for thirty men, and 
Neill Robinson for twenty men, to be enrolled in other counties of this State. 

No. 78. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, November 23, 1857. 
To the lieutenant who may be elected to command the co1npany of mounted men authorized to 

' be enrolled by John H. Conner in the counties of Brown and San Saba: 

SIR: Yon will keep the whole or such portion of your company as you may consider 
necessary, in actual service, at such point or points upon the frontier in the vicinity of · 
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Brown and San Saba Counties, and the adjoining counties, as will best enable them to 
give protection to the inhabitants against the incursions of hostile Indians. 

The object in raising your company being mainly for defensive operations, it is not 
expected that you will make any distant expeditions against Indians, unless it may 
become necessary to follow up hostile parties of them who have committed depreda­
tions upon our citizens. You will in no event interfere with the Indians who are 
settled on the government reservations, nor with any of those belonging to the reserv­
ations that you may meet with off the reservations, unless you find them actually com­
mitting depredations upon the settlers, or under such circumstances as shall leave no 
doubt that they have been actually committing acts of hostility against our citizens. 
You will exercise extreme caution, so as not to give offense to any friendly tribes, as such 
a course of proceeding will be certain to increase the dangers to which our settlements 
are now exposed. It is not intended that you shall keep the whole or any part of 
your company in active service any longer at one time than there shall be an actual 
necessity for them, but that you shall, from time to time, keep only such number 
actively employed as will give security and confidence to the settlements you are 
designed to protect, so as to make the three months of service extend over as long a 
period of time as possible. You will keep an accurate account of the number of days 
that each officer and private is actually employed, and make a return of the same to 
this office, under oath, to serve as a guide in paying them for their services. You will 
make regular reports of all the operations of the men under your command to this office 
as often as once in two weeks, which report you will transmit through the post-office 
nearest to you. Should any of your company fail to furnish himself in accordance 
with the reqnirements contained in the instructions to the enrolling officer, or fail in 
his duty under your command, it will be deemed a sufficient cause for withholding his 
pay, and you will report all such cases without delay. 

E. M. PEASE. 

No. 79. 

A .JOINT RESOLUTION requesting our Representatives and instructing our Senators in the United 
States Congress to call upon the United States Government to refund the money heretofore paid out 
by the State of Texas for the defense of her frontier since the 28th day of February, 1855. 

Whereas, under the compact of annexation; the State of Texas is entitled to protec-
tion from the depredations of Indians by the Government of the United States; and 
whereas that protection, in many instances, has not been afforded to the exposed 
portions of the frontier since the 28th February, A. D. li:l55, in consequence whereof 
the governor of this State has, from time to time, been compelled to order rangers or 
volunteers into the field to protect the lives and property of our citizens against 
predatory bands of Indians which have infested our frontier; and whereas the legisla­
ture has appropriated nearly one hundred thousand dollars out of the treasury of the 
State to pay the troops so called out, which sums of money have not been refunded to 
the State by the United States; Therefore, 

Resolved, That our Senators in the United States Congress be instructed and our 
Representatives be requested to urge upon the Government of the United States the 
necessity of refunding the amount of money paid out by Texas for the defense of the 
frontier at the earliest clay possible, and that the governor be requested to furnish 
each of our Senators and Representatives in the United States Congress, and the Sec­
retary of War, with a copy of this preamble and resolution, accompanied by a full 
statement of all the sums of money paid by the State for the defense of the frontier 
as aforesaid. 

WILLIAMS. TAYLOR, 
Speaker of the House of Rep1·esentatives. 

H. R. RUNNELS, 
P1·esident of the Senate. 

No. 80. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, Decernber 7, 1857. 
SIR: You are hereby authorized to enroll a company of twenty mounted men in the 

counties of Coryell and Comanche, to serve for three months, for the protection of the 
settlements in said counties against the incursions of hostile Indians. Each man will 
furnish himself with a good rifle or double-barreled shot-gun, and one or more pistols, 
with a sufficient quantity of ammunition, a good horse, saddle and bridle. When the 
company shall have been enrolled, you will cause an election to be held for one lieu­
tenant to command the company, and one sergeant and one corporal, and make out 
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duplicate muster-rolls, one of which yon will deliver to the lieutenant, and the other 
you will forward as early as convenient to this office. 

The officers and men, respectively, will be paid by the State, while in actual serv­
ice, at the same rate as mounted volunteers were paid by the United States during 
the Mexican war. They will furnish themselves with subsistence and forage, and 
will be allowed therefor in accordance with the commutation fixed by the rules of the 
United States service. When the company shall have been organized, you will de­
liver to the lieutenant the accompanying letter of instructions for his government, 
and also a copy of this letter to yourself. Each officer and private will also be al­
lowed pay for all ammunition necessarily used in service, on the certificate of the 
lieutenan·t. 

E. M. PEASE. 
THOMAS C. FROST. · 

No. 81. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS. 

Whereas, under the authority vested in me by "A joint resolution authorizing the 
governor to raise and muster into the service of the State mounted men for the protec­
tion of our frontier," approved November 17, 1857, I did, on the 23d of November, 1857, 
authorize Neill Robinson, esq., to enroll a company of twenty mounted men in the set­
tlements on the waters of the Upper Blanco and Guadalupe, to serve for three months, 
for the protection of said settlements against the incursions of hostile Indians, and to 
cause an election to be held by said company, when enrolled, for one lieutenant to 
command the same; and whereas the said Neill Robinson has reported 'tha.t he caused 
said company to be enrolled and said election to be held on the 14th day of December, 
1857, and that John Seaborn Hodges was duly elected the lieutenant to command said 
company: . 

Now, therefore, I, E. M. Pease, gov~rnor of said State, by virtue of the authority 
vested in me by said joint resolution, do hereby appoint and commission him, the said 
John Seaborn Hodges, as a lieutenant from the day of his said election, hereby vesting 
him with all such an1;hority as ·pertains to his said office, under his letter of instruc­
tions, and such other instructions as may from time to time be given to him by the 
executive of this State for the time being. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name a.nd caused to be affixed the 
great seal of the State, at the city of Austin, this the 19th day of December, 1857, and 
of the independence of Texas the twenty-second year. , 

[SEAL.] E. M. PEASE. 
By the governor : 

EDWARD CLARK, 
Secretm·y of State. 

No. 82. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS. 

. Whereas, under the authority veRted in me by "A joint resolution authorizing the 
governor to raise and muster into the service of the State mounted men for the protec­
tion of our frontier," approved November 17, 1857, I did, on the 23d day of November, 
1857, authorize John H. CC!nner to enroll a. company of thirty mounted men in the 
counties of Brown and San Saba, to serve for three months, for the protection of the 
settlements of those counties against the incursions of the host.ile Indians, and to cause 
an election to be held by said company, when enrolled, for one lieutenant to command 
the same; and whereas the said John H. Conner has reported that he caused said com­
pany to be enrolled and said election to be held on the 2d day of December, 1857, and 
that John H. Conner was duly elected the lieutenant to command said company: 

Now, therefore, I, E. M. Pease, governor of said State, by virtue of the authority 
vested in me by said joint resolution, do hereby appoint and commission him, the said 

. John H. Conner, as a lieutenant from the day of his said election, hereby vesting him 
with all such authority as pertains to his said office under his letter of instructions, 
and such other instructions as may from time to time he given to him by the executive 
of this State for the ttme being .. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name and caused to he affixed the 
great seal of the State, at the city of Austin, this the 19th day of December, A. D. 1857, 
and of the independence of Texas the twenty-second year. 

[SEAL.] E. M. PEASE. 
By the governor: 

EDWARD CLARK, 
Secretary of State. 
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No. 83. 

Extract of 1·emarks on roll of Thomas C. F1·ost's company. 

CORA, COMANCHE COUNTY, TEXAS, 
December 22, 1857. 

To his excellency the governor of the State of Texas : 
In pursuance to an order to me directed by your excellency, on the 7th instant, I 

have enrolled a company of twenty mounted men to serve for the term of three months 
for the protection of the settlements in the counties of Comanche and Coryell against 
the incursions of hostile Indians. 

I proceeded, in obedience to said order, to muster into service on the 21st instant 
said company, who were furnished and equipped as the order directs. I caused an 
election to be held for th'3 offices of lieutenant, sergeant, and corporal, have made out 
duplicate muster-rolls, one of which is hereby transmitted and the other delivered to 
the lieutenant of said company, and all the requisitions of said order have been com-

. plied with, and the company is now in service. 
* * * * * * 

T. C. FROST. 

No. 84. 

EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT, .Austin, Texas. 

To all to whom these p1·esents shall come, greeting: 
Know 'ye that, by virtue of the power and authority in me vested by an act of the 

legislature of the State of Texas entitled" An act for the better protection of the fron­
tier," approved January 27, 185f:l, I, H. R. Runnels, governor of said State, have this 
day appointed, and do by these presents appoint and commission JohnS. Ford, sr., 
captain to command the forces of the State, as enrolled by virtue of that act and as 
specified in that act, and to superintend the protection of the frontier. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto set my hand and caused the seal of the State 
to be affixed this the 2l;th day of January, 1858, and of the year of the Independence 
of the United States the eighty-second and of Texas the twenty-second. 

[SEAL.] H. R. RUNNELS. 
By the governor: 

T. S. ANDERSON, 
Sem·etary of Sta.te. 

No. 85. 

THE STATE OF TEXA.S. 

To all to whom these presents shall come, greeting : 
Know ye that I, H. R. Runnels, governor of said State, reposing special trust and 

full confidence in the honor and patriotism, fidelity and capacity of Ed. Burleson, do . 
hereby appoint him first lieutenant in Capt. JohnS. Ford's company of Texas Rangers, 
and quartermaster and ex-officio paymaster of thEl forces called out under the provis­
ions of ''An act for the better protection of the frontier," approved January 27, 1858; 
and I do hereby authorize and empower him, the said Ed. Burleson, to exercise, dis­
charge, execute, and perform all and singular the duties of this appointment accord­
ing to law, for and during the term of six months from the date hereof, unless sooner 
discharged by the governor. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto set my hand and caused the seal of the State 
to be affixed this the 8th day of February, 1858, and of the year of the Independence 
of the United States the eighty-second, and of Texas the twenty-second. 

[SEAL.] H. R. RUNNELS. 
By the governor : 

T. S. ANDERSON, 
Sec1·eta1·y of State. 

Memo1·andum.-Similar commission issued to 'William A. Pitts for second lieutenancy 
of Ford's company. 
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No. 86. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, AUSTIN, May 20, 1858. 
SIR: You are hereby authorized to enroll a company of twenty mounted men in the 

counties of San Saba and Llano, to serve for sixty days, or until such time as may be 
hereafter advised, for the protection of the settlements against the Indians; each man 
will furnish himself with a good rifle, or double-barreled shot-gun, with one or more 
pistols, with a sufficient quantity of ammunition, a good horse, saddle, and bridle. 

You will yourself hold the rank of lieutenant and take command of the company. 
You will cause an election to be held by the men, when enrolled, for one sergeant and 
one corporal, and make out duplicate muster-rolls, one of which you will forward to 
this office as early as convenient and keep the other yourself, particularly noting the 
term of actual service of the company and of each of its members, and return the 
same to this office whenever the services of the company shall be discontinued. The 
officers and men will look to the legislature for compensation, which, if allowed, will 
be at the same rate for their services as is now allowed to other companies engaged in 
the service of the State, at the option of the legislature. 

They will furnish themselves with subsistence, &c., for which they will, at the op­
tion of the legislature, be entitled to the same pay as allowed to volunteers who have 
been called into the service; they will also be entitled to pay for all ammunition nec­
essarily used in the service, on the certificate of the lieutenant. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name and caused the great seal of 
the State to be affixed. Done at the city of Austin this the 20th day of May, A. D. 1858, 
and in the year of the independence of Texas the twenty-third. 

[SEAL. J H. R. RUNNELS. 
JOHN WILLIAMS, Esq. 
By the §O'overnor: 

T. . ANDERSON, 
Sem·eta1·y. of State. 

No. 87. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS. 

1o all to whom these presents shall corne, greeting: 
Know ye that, reposing special trust and confidence in the honor and integrity of 

Neill RobinAon, I do hereby appoint him paymaster, under an act of the seventh legis­
lature of the State of Texas, approved February 13,1858, and entitled "An act to pro­
vide for the payment of three companies of minute-men, commanded by Capt. John 
W. Sansom, John D. Davenport, and Reading W. Black"; and I do hereby authorize 
and empower the said Neill Robinson to do and perform all the duties of this appoint­
ment, under and in obedience to the provisions of the above-entitled act. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name and caused the great seal of 
the State to be affixed at the cit.y of Austin this the 25th day of May, .A.. D. 1858, and 
of the year of the independence of Texas the twenty-third. 

[SEAL.] H. R. RUNNELS. 
By the governor: 

T. S. ANDERSON, 
SeO?'eta·ry of State. 

No. 88. 

THE STATE OF 'l'EXAS. 

To all to wh01n these p1·esents shall come, g1·eeting : 
Know ye that, reposing special trust and confidence in the honor and integrity of 

Neill Robinson, esq., of Blanco County, I, H. R. Runnels, governor of said State, by 
virtue of the authority vested in me by "A joint resolution authorizing the governor 
to raise and muster into the service of the State mounted men for the protection of the 
frontier," approved November 17, 1857, do hereby appoint him, the said Neill Robinson, 
paymaster, to pay off a company commanded by Lieut. John S. Hodges, for their ser­
vices, according to the rates allowed by the United States to volunteer mounted mili­
tia when called into their service; and I do hereby authorize and empower the said 
Robinson to do and perform all the duties of this appointment under and in obedience to 
the provisions of the above-entitled joint resolution. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name and caused the great seal of 
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the State to be affixed at the city of Austin this the 27th day of May, A. D. 1858, and 
of the year of the independence of Texas the twenty-third. 

[SEAL.] H. R. RUNNELS. 
By the governor: 

T. S. ANDERSON, 
Sem·eta1·y of State. 

No. 89. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, AUSTIN, July 13, 1858. 
SIR: You are hereby instructed to disband the twenty men which you were author­

ized to raise for frontier prutection when their term of sixty days' service shall have 
expired, and make due report of the same to this office. 

With due respect, I am, sir, very respectfully, 
H. R. RUNNELS. · 

Lieut. JOHN WILLIAMS, 
San Saba. 

No. 90. 

EXECUTIVE 0Fl!'ICF.1 AUSTIN1 October 41 1858. 
DEAR SIR: I receivec1 by last night's mail a letterfrom Major Bishop, of Wise County, 

inclosing the petition of a large number of citizens, giving such an account of the 
condition of that frontier as to require, if true, action by authority of the State, the 
general government having failed to adopt the necessary measures for its protection. 
I was also much pleased to see from a paragraph in the Dallas Herald that you had 
taken the matter in hand, and, with a number of your fellow-citizens, had determined 
to follow up and punish the Indian enemy. I hope before this reaches you you will 
have done so and been successful. 

I inclose you, by the bearer of this, a commission, which will enable you to act with 
authority in the matter and give direction to the necessary movements against the 
common enemy, which I hope you will be able, consistently with your feelings, to 
accept. You are aware that it is impossible for me to know the requisites of such au 
emergency, situated so far from the scene as I am. 

There must be some one in whom I can and sho11ld confide in matters of so much 
moment, for, while I am willing to do everything in my power, it will not do to rely 
on every representation that is made. I know of no one in your section whose past 
experience will so welljustify me in confiding the direction of affairs at this time as 
yourself. I therefore authorize you to adopt such measures of defense as you may 
deem desirable to meet the existing emergency. You are authorized to raise a com­
pany of seventy-nine men, rank and file, for three months' service, or for such time as 
may be hereafter directed, but such company in no event to be kept under pay longer 
than their services are absolutely required. If you ahall have become satisfied of the 
tribes committing the depredations, and believe that an expedition against them at 
their own homes is necessary and practicable, you are then authorized to raise such 
additional number of men as may be required for the purpose, and pursue and punish 
them, wheresoever they may belong and wherever they may go. 

If satisfied of their guilt, you will pay no regard to treaty stipulations between 
them and the Government of the United States in any event, without the uncondi­
tional surrender of the offending parties and the return of the stolen property of our 
citizens. If the general government cannot or will not protect our citizens from her 
Indians, and the necessity devolves on them of doing so, the whole civilized world will 
justify and sustain them in exercising the right. 

If you should find it necessary to cross Red River, you can co-operate with Major 
Van Dorn's command or not, as you may think best. 

You will use all possible exertion to overtake and punish the offenders, find them 
where you will, within our territory or out of it, without regard to time or place, ex­
cepting the Indian reserves only, but regarding the circumstances of your ability to 
do so alone. You will perceive t.he necessity of the greatest celerity of movement, at 
the same time that due caution should be exercised on attempting an expedition against 
any of the bands in their own strongholds, lest the force of the blow should be foiled 
or weakened by giving them time for preparation or escape. 

If you should determine not to act under this commission, you are then authorized 
to raise the company or designate some proper person to do so, to the efficient aud 
proper officering and manning of which I shall hope you will give some attention, as 
without good officers and good men there is no efficient service to be expected. 
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All reasonable expenses for ammunition will be paid to your requisition on the comp­
troller. The means for the pay and subsistence of the men will have to be provided 
by the next legislature at its next regular session. You will please let me hear from 
you by the return of the messenger, and give me as exact an account of the situation 
of affairs and the requirements of the occasion as may be in your power. 

Oblige, very reApectfully, 
H. R. RUNNELS. 

Col. JAMES BouRLAND, 
Cooke County, l'exas. 

AUSTIN, October 6, 1858. 
I have been disappointed in getting the messenger off as soon as expected, and have 

opened the envelope to make an additional suggestion. I hope you will take no action, 
unless it is absolutely necessary, without communicating further with me or until you 
are satisfied the emergency requires it fully. I know not how far the legislature may 
be willing to justify the step, as its indorsement will be necessary in getting an appro­
priation. I have taken this course in giving you authority because I cannot be present 
to know the requisites and because of the absolute necessity of checking the forays of 
the Kickapoos and other United States Indians who are believed to have been inter­
rupting our territory. I have written to the President I would punish them if the 
government did not restrain them. 

H. R. RUNNELS. 

Copy of memoranda of instructions f01·uoa1·ded to Colonel Bourland. 

1st. To make a disposition of the force to cover and protect the exposed settlements, 
making stations upon or near the trails or passes of the Indians. 

2d. Pursuing trails to the camp of the enemy, chastising him, and destroying his 
supplies. 

3d. Reclaiming stolen property, no difference in whose bands it is found. The pos­
session prirna facie evidence that tile possessor was the robber; where the property is 
not given np peaceably, to take it by force, and in the case of Indians, to take life, if 
necessary, to accomplish the object. 

4th. To break up the trade carried on between the friendly Indians north of Red 
River and the Comanches and their confederates. To assure the former, if they do 
not desist, Texas will make war upon them, and the United States will, in the end, 
have to co-operate and send the government troops to invade their territory. 

5th. To co-operate with Major VanDorn, if practicable. 
6th. To issue rations of subsistence and forage in accordance with the laws of the 

United States. To cover all issues by requisitions and returns. To issue ordnance and 
stores in a regular manner. 

In these matters there must be system and compliance with law and the regulations 
of the United States Army. 

7th. To use strict economy, and' purchase no article unless absolutely necessary for 
the good of the service, and within the line of articles used by the like army in the like 
United States service. 

8th. The rules and regulations of the United States Army and the Articles of War 
to be observed and enforced as near as can be. 

You will, as soon as practicable after the company has been organized, forward to 
this office a copy of the muster-rolls, with the names of the officers elected, and prop­
erly authenticated. 

H. R. RUNNELS. 

No. 91. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS. 

l'o all to whom these ]Jresents shall come, greeting : 
Know ye that, by virtue of the power vested in me by an act of the legislature of 

the Stat.e of Texas, entitled "An act for the better protection of the frontier," approved 
January 27, li:l58, I, H. R. Runnels, governor of said State, have this day appointed, 
and do by these presents appoint and commission, James Bourland, of Cooke County, 
captain to command a company of seventy-nine men to be raised and enrolled into the 
service. of the State by him, under the provisions of said law, and to serve on the fron-
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tier for the term of three months, if not sooner discharged from said service by the 
governor. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name and caused the great seal of 
the State to be affixed at the city of Austin this the 4th day of October, A. D. 1858, and 
of the independence of Texas the twenty-third year. 

[SEAL.] H. R. RUNNELS. 
By the governor : 

T. S. ANDERSON, 
Secreta1·y of State. 

No. 92. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, Tex., October 8, 1858. 
SIR: I have the honor herewith to inclose an abstract from the comptroller's office 

of the different sums appropriated by the State of Texas for protection against the 
Indians, and now remaining unpaid by the Government of the United States, which, 
if consistent with the views of the department, we shall hope will be included in the 
estimates of expenditure for the present year. The muster-rolls anii vouchers are all 
on file in that offic , and will be forwarded to the proper office at Washington as soon 
as intelligence shall reach here of an appropriation by Congress to cover the amount. 
I have also the honor to inclose herewith copy of a letter of recent date from this 
office to Colonel James Bourland, with instructions for his guidance in regard to Indian 
disturbances on the northern frontier of this State. These particular disturbances are 
believed to be, in a great degree, attributable to certain predatory bands in treaty 
with the general government, who have hitherto roamed on that part of our Territory 
at pleasure, and of which I have at former times taken occasion to give the govern­
ment due notice, and to ask that they should be restrained to their own limits. 

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Hon. JOHN B. FLOYD, 
Sem·etm-y of War. 

No. 93. 

H. R. RUNNELS. 

EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT, Austin, Tex., November 2,1858. 
CAPTAIN: You are hereby authorized and empowered to raise a company of ran~ers 

to serve for six months, unless sooner discharged. The said company will be orgamzed 
in accordance with the laws of the United States, and will consist of one captain, one 
first lieutenant, one second lieutenant, four sergeants, four corporals, two buglers, two 
farriers and blacksmiths, and seventy-four privates. You will rendezvous at this 
place and proceed to organize by the election of officers at the earliest practicable 
period, and you will report the result of said election to the proper department imme­
diately. After the completion of the organization and the procurement of the neces­
sary supplies, the said company will move without delay to a suitable point to protect 
the exposed settlements, which have recently suffered from Indians. 

. H. R. RUNNELS. 
Captain J. S. FoRD, 

A us tin, Tex. 

No. 94. 

In the name and by the authority of the State of Texas. 

To all to whom these presents shall cmne, greeting : 
Whereas, at an election held in the county of Travis on the lOth day of November, 

1858, John S. Ford was elected to the office of captain of a company of Texas Rangers, 
called into service for frontier protection for six months, unless sooner discharged: 

Know ye that I, H. R. Runnels, governor of the State of Texas, reposing special 
trust and confidence in your courage, patriotism, and integrity, and in your :fidelity to 
the constitution and laws of the State of Texas, and your attachment to the United 
States of America, do hereby commission you, the said John S. Ford, to the office of 
captain of the said company of rangers, to rank as such from the lOth day of Novem­
ber, 1858; and the said company you are to lead, train, muster, exercise, and command 
according to the existing laws and military discipline of the United .States, and you 
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are strictly to observe and execute all such orders and instructions as you shall, from 
time to time, receive from the governor (the commander-in-chief) for the time being, or 
any of your superior officers, according to the rules and discipline of war; and all inferior 
officers, or others belonging to said company, are hereby commanded to obey you as 
the captain thereof. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name and caused the great seal 
of the State to be affixed at the city of Austin this the lOth day of November, A. D. 
1858, and in the year of the Independence of the United States of America the eighty­
third and of Texas the twenty-third. 

[SEAL.] H. R. RUNNELS. 
By the governor: 

T. S. ANDERSON, 
Secretary of State. 

No. 95. 

In the name and by the authority of the State of Texas. 

To all to whom these presents shall co·me, greeting : 
Whereas, at an election held in the county of Travis on the lOtll day of November, 

1858, John R. Gibbons was elected to the office of first lieutenant of a company of 
Texas rangers, called into service for frontier protection for six months, unless sooner 
discharged : Therefore, 

Know ye that I, H. R, Runnels, governor of the State of Texas, reposing special 
trust and confidence in .your courage, patriotism, integrity, and in your fidelity to the 
constitution and laws of the State of Texas, and your attachment to the United States 
of America, do hereby commission you, the said John R. Gibbons, to the office of first 
lieutenant of the said company of rangers, to rank as such from the lOth day of Novem­
ber, 1858; and the said company you are to lead, train, muster, exercise, and command 
according to the existing laws and military discipline of the United States, and you are 
strictly to observe and execute all such orders and instructions as you shall, from time 
to time, receive from the governor (the commander-in-chief ) for the time being, or any of 
your superior officers, according to the rules and discipline of war; and all inferior offi­
cers, or others belonging to said company, are hereby commanded to obey you as the 
first lieutenant thereof. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name and caused the great seal of 
the State to be affixed at the oity of Austin this the lOth day of November, A. D.1858, 
and in the year of the Independence of the United States of America the eighty-third 
and of Texas the twenty-third. , 

[SEAL.] H. R. RUNNELS. 
By the governor : 

T. S. ANDERSON, 
Secretary of State. 

NOTE.-Commission similar to the above was issued to Aaron Burleson, as second 
lieutenant of said company, November 10, 1858. 

No. 96. 
TREASURY DEPARTMENT, 

Second Auditor's Office, Janum·y 8, 1859. 
SIR: I herewith respectfully return the papers connected with the claim of the State 

of Texas, now before the Committee on Military Affairs and the Militia of the Senate 
of the United States, with a list of six companies of Texas volunteers, called out in 
the year 1854, and paid by the United States, under the act of Congress approved 
March 3, 1855. 

By an examination of this list you will perceive that, up to this time, the United 
States has paid to these six companies $68,449.70, and the records of this office cannot 
show that any stoppages were made in favor of the State of Texas. 

The records of the Third Auditor might show an additional allowance to these com­
panies for subsistence, &c., which would increase the allowance made by the United 
States. 

This office is not aware of any other companies of Texas volunteers in 1855 having 
been paid by the United States. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

8. COOPER, 
Colonel and Adjutant-General U.S. A. 

T. J.D. FULLER, 
Second Auditor. 
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No. 97. 

Six companies of Texas volunteers, under act March 3, 1855. 

r.tl ~ p., .s .co ,..0 
d ~r.tl "CC· 
00· ~~ ·e~s 
"CCfa 
<!)-+" S;a ~~ 

Names of captains of Texas Period of service paid for by -+"r.tl 
t:~ §00 .... c;s 

volunteers. ;>, the United States. ~~ - ~~ o"CC 

§ p.,d == ~~ 
,..oP. 0 0 • = S' "CC ~~s 3P 

0 -~ 0 
0 ~ ~ ~ 

Capt. Giles S. Bog~ss ..••. A Dec. 23, 1854, to Mar. 22, 1855 •••• $11,604 29 '"""$785"23" $11,604 29 
Capt. John G. Wal er .•••. B Dec. 1, 1854, to Mar. 31, 1855 •••. 13,559 49 14,344 72 
Capt. William R. Henry . .. c Dec.14,1854, to Mar. 31,1855 •••. 9,837 36 568 79 10,406 15 
Capt. William Fitzhu~ii ... D Dec. 24, 1854, to Mar. 23, 1855 •••. 10,520 34 114 95 10,635 29 
Capt. Charles E. TraVIs .••. E Dec. 1, 1854, to Apr. 1, 1855 •••. 11,075 49 550 97 11,626 46 
Capt. P.H. Rogers ..••..••. F Dec. 22, 1854, to Mar. 21, 1855 ••• . 9, 266 05 566 74 9, 832 79 

Total .•••••.•••••.••. -·-· ..................................................... 65,863 02 2,586 68 68,449 70 

TREASURY DEPARTMENT, SECOND AUDITOR'S OFFICE, January 8, 1859. 

No. 98. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, January 11, 1859. 
SIR: In reply to your communication of the 3d instant, inclosing Senate resolution 

No. 59, to provide for the payment of certain volunteers called out by the governor of 
Texas for the protection of the frontiers of that State, requesting me to furnish the 
committee with any information upon the subject now on file in the War Department, 
I herewith transmit all the information in the department upon the subject of volun­
teers called out by the authorities of Texas. The terms of the resolution are so com­
prehensive that I have felt constrained to communicate everything connected with the 
services of volunteers in Texas within the period stated. I may, therefore, have trans­
mitted something which may be considered irrelevant to the subject; but, under the 
circumstances, I could not undertake to discriminate. 

I beg leave to suggest to the committee, most respectfully, the propriety of appro­
priating money at once to pay off all the just claims which the State of Texas may 
have against the United States on account of services rendered by volunteer~. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
JOHN B. FLOYD, 

Secretary of War. 
Hon. JEFFERSON DAVIS, 

Chait''lnan Committee on Military Affairs, Senate. 

No. 99. 

OFF:WE COMMISSARY-GENERAL SUBSISTENCE, 
Washington, January 17, 1859. 

COLONEL: In compliance with your request of the 14th instant, I have the honor 
to state, for the information of the Secretary of War, that subsistence was furnished 
by this department to the following-named companies of Texas volunteers and for 
the periods opposite, viz ; 

Captain G. S. Boggess, Company A, from December 25, 1854, to March 22, 1855. 
Captain J. G. Walker, Company B, from December 9, 1854, to April2, 1855. 
Captain W. R. Henry, Company C, from November 29, 1854, to April4, 1855. 
Captain W. Fitzhugh, Company D, from December 25, 1854, to March 23, 1855. 
Captain C. E. Travis, Company E, from December 9, 1854, to April 1, 1855. 
Captain P. H. Rogers, Company F, from December 24, 1854, to March 21,1855. 
The records of this office do not show that any others of the Texa.n volunteer 

companies named in the statement of the comptroller of that State received subsist­
ence from this department. 
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The commumcation of Governor Runnels and the statement of the comptroller are 
herewith returned. 

Very respectfully, your most obedient servant, 

Col. S. COOPER, 
Adjutant-General. 

J. P. TAYLOR, 
Assistant Commissary-Genem l Subsistence. 

No. 100. 

QUARTERMASTER-GENERAL'S OFFICE, 
Washington City, Janua1·y 29, 1859. 

SIR: In reply to your request of the 14th instant, asking to be informed whether 
any issues or disbursements were made by the Quartermaster's Department on account 
of the \rolunteers who were called into service for the protection ·of the frontiers of 
Texas during the years 1854, 1855, 1856, and 1857, I have respectfully to inform you 
that aU the supplies furnished through this department which were required by them 
were provided, and when the vouchers for the same were analyzed in this office and 
sent to the Treasury for settlement, a request was preferred that the value of' the 
articles with which they had been furnished, and the amount of the disbursements 
that had been made on their accounts, might be charged to the appropriation for the 
support of Texas volunteers-, approved on the 3d of March, 1855, which, from inquiry 
at the Treasury, I learn has been done. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Col. S. COOPER, 
Adjutant-General U. S. A., Washington, D. C. 

No. 101. 

TH. S. JESUP, 
Quarte1·mastm·-General. 

ADJUTANT-GENERAL'S OFFICE, 
Washington, D. C., Feb1·ua1·y 1, 1859. 

SIR: I have the honor to submit herewith copies of reports which have been re­
ceived from the Quartermaster-General, Commissary-General, and Chief of Ordnance, 
in further response to the call made by the Military Committee of the Senate for in­
formationrelating to the volunteers called out by the S ~ate of Texas for the protection of 
her frontier in the years 1854, 1855, 1856, 1857, and 1858, and in relation to the claim 
of that State, now pending before Congress, for reimbursement of her expenses in­
curred on their account. 

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Ron. JOHN B. FLOYD, 
Seoretary of War. 

No. 102. 

S. COOPER, 
.Adjutant-General. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, February 2, 1859. 
SIR: I have the honor to transmit herewith a report from the Adjutant-General, cov­

ering copies of communications from the Quartermaster-General, Commissary-General, 
and Chief of OrdnA.nce, in further response to your letter of the 3d ultimo relative to 
the claim of the State of Texas for reimbursement of expenses incurred for the sup­
port of volunteers called out by the governor. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Ron. JEFFERSON DAVIS, 
Chai1·man Committee on Military Affairs, Senate. 

JOHN B. FLOYD, 
Seoretary of War. 
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No. 103. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, AUSTIN, March 19, 1859. 
SIR: The muster-rolls for your company were received here some weeks since, and 

a report also soon thereafter, which would have been acknowledged sooner if I bad 
been able to arrive at a definite conclusion as to the time at which the services of the 
company could be dispensed with. Having received up to this time no definite infor­
mation -when the United States troops will commence active operations, and learning 
from your last report (received a few days since) that depredations have not only con­
tinued but increased in number, it is determined that the company shall be continued 
in service until the 23d day of April, at which time you will cause it to be disbanded, 
unless otherwise ordered. 

Your course in calling into service an additional number of twenty or twenty-five 
men, to meet existing emergencies, is approved. 

You will not, however, further augment the present number, unless the opportunity 
should be presented for attacking the Indians in a body and striking a signal blow. 
You will acknowledge the receipt of this, and communicate any information or which 
you may be possessed in regard to the state of affairs on your part of the frontier. 

Very respectfully, 
H. R. RUNNELS. 

Capt. JAMES BOURLAND. 

No. 104. 

April12, 1859, Adjutant-General. February 16, 1859, Gen. D. E. Twiggs, Department 
of Texas, forwards report of Brevet Major Van Dorn in regard lo the treatment of 
Indians when found off their reservations. 

The commander of the Department of Texas may enforce hostilities against all In­
dians found off their reserves within the limits of this department. 

The rule should be applied with some discrimination, however, with reference to 
tribes or bands generally peaceful, individuals of which may be found beyond their 
limits with no evident hostile intention. 

The subject of combined operations against the Comanches will be deferred for such 
future action as the exigencies and interests of the service may render expedient. 

War Department, April 5, 1859. 

No. 105. 

STATE OF TEXAS. 

JOHN B. FLOYD, 
Sec'reta1·y of W a1·. 

Whereas late information has been received at my office to the effect that a large 
body of men are now assembled in aqns near the Brazos agency for the avowed pur­
pose of attacking and making war upon the Indians of said agency; and whereas this 
movement is the result of the many difficulties and continued quarrels and disturbances 
between the citizens of that frontier and the Indians at the agency, which have in­
creased for months past; and whereas all the best interests of the State require an 
immediate, peaceable, and permanent settlement of said disturbances: 

Now, therefore, I, H. R. Runnels, governor of said State, do hereby constitute and 
appoint the following-named citizens, to wit, George B. Erath, John Henry Brown, 
Richard Coke, J. M. Steiner, and J. M. Smith, a board of peace commissioners, with 
power and authority to repair to said Brazos agency and represent the State of Texas 
in the peaceable and lawful adjustment of said difficulties. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name and caused the great seal of 
the State to be affixed, at the city of Austin, this the 6th day of June, A. D. 1859, and 
in the year of the independence of Texas the twenty-fourth. 

[SEAL.] H. R. RUNNELS. 
By the governor : 

T. S. ANDERSON, 
Sem·etary of State. 
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Instructions to Messrs. Erath, Coke, Smith, Brown, and Steiner, peace commissioners, Joe. 

1st. The first and main object of your mission is to prevent all further violence 
between the citizens of Texas and the friendly Indians on the reservation and the 
United States troops there stationed. You will therefore repair at the earliest possible 
time to the lower reservation, and if you find any armed body of citizens assembled 
there, or in that vicinity, you will confer with them and with the agent at the reserve 
and officers in command of the United States troops there stationed. 

2d. With acts of violence which may have been already conmitted you have noth­
ing to do, as they must be adjudicated upon by the courts of the county, but you will 
use all your exertions to gather facts for the purpose of ascertaining the true cause of 
the difficulties, and to remove by all legal means those causes in the future, and 
thereby secure a settlement between the parties which will insure permanent peace. 

3d. You will use all peaceable and lawful means to induce the citizens to desist from 
further violence and return to their homes, by giving them assurance of the determina­
tion of the federal government to remove the Indians beyond the limits of the State 
at an early day, as well as of the earnest desire and unceasing efforts of the State au­
thorities to hasten that consummation, and at the same time warn them of the evil 
consequences of any unlawful acts which must result, not only to themselves, but to 
the citizens of the whole frontier. 

4th. You will a,lso use your efforts to induce the agents and superintendents to adopt 
conciliatory measure~ and prevent any hostilities on the part of the Indians and to 
keep all Indians within the limits of the reservations, in order that non-intervention, 
except with persons coming on the reserve for peaceable purposes, may avert the possi­
bility of suspicion on either part and insure peace till the final removal of the tribes 
can be effected. 

Finally, to effect the obje.ct of your mission you are clothed with the power in the 
last resort to call into the military service of the State one hundred men for the pur­
pose of preserving the peace and preventing violations of the law as between the par­
ties and with all other lawful powers with which I can invest you: all of which you 
exercise with the utmost prudence, and report the facts and your action to this office. 

H. R. RUNNELS. 

P. S.-You are also authorized and empowered to associate with you, as a member 
or members of the board, any other person or persons if you think it will further the 
ends of the mission. 

No. 106. 

[Extract.] 

Pay-roll of two detachments of Texan mounted rangers * * * called into service 
by orders of the peace commissioners appointed by Governor H. R. Runnels for the 
protection of the frontier adjacent to the Indian reserves. 

MEHORANDUM. 

Dates of service. 

Captain. 
From- To-

John Henry Brown .•.•.•..••.•.... :............. •..... 84 June 28, 1859. September 12, 1859. 

No. 107. 

July 14, 1859,Adjutant-General. April19, 1859, Brevet Major-General D. E. Twiggs, 
San Antonio, incloses a letter from their superintendent of Indian affairs, relative to 
difficulties between citizens of Texas and the Indians on the lower reservation; thinks 
the United States troops should not interfere in the matter. 

A sufficient force will be employed to protect the Indians on the reservations. It 
will be large enough to overawe and prevent extreme measures. 

War Department, July 14, 1859. • 
WM. R. DRINKARD, 

Acting Secretary of War. 
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No. 108. 

July 18, 1859, Adjutant-General. July7, 1859, submits letter from Brevet Brigadier­
General Twiggs, San Antonio, in regard to the removal of the Indians from the Texas 
reservations, and suggests that a compliance with the order will leave inadequate pro­
tection to the frontier. 

The orders contemplate a temporary arrangement merely. Two companies of in­
fantry will be supplied for the purpose. 

War Department, Ju.ly 16, 1859. 

Captain W. G. ToBIN, San Antonio: 

No. 109. 

WM. R. DRINKARD, 
Acting Secretary of Wa1·. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, October 13, 1859. 

You are hereby authorized and instructed to muster into the temporary service of 
the State one hundred men, for the purpose of assisting the civil authorities in the 
county of Cameron in quelling the lawless and bloody disturbances at the city of 
Brownsville. 

1st. You will immediately, upon the organization of the company, and at the 
earliest possible day, repair to the city of Brownsville, and there with the force under 
your command you will repel any invasion or quell any insurrection which may be 
attempted by armed bodies of lawless men in that county or vicinity within the limit 
of the State of Texas. 

2d. You will promptly and at every hazard arrest the parties charged with the 
murder of peaceable citizens in Brownsville on the 28th of September last, resist all 

• further attempts on the part of said offenders against the lives and property of the 
citizens, and protect said citizens against such until the offenders are secured and the 
civil authorities are enabled to enforce the law. 

3d. Yon will be prudent and refrain from disturbing Mexican or American citi­
zens, or encroaching upon Mexican soil, the sole object of your mission being to arrest 
offenders and prevent further violent and lawless assaults upon the citizens in that 
vicinity and their property, and when this object is obtained and the people are secure 
in their lives, you will disband your men from the service of the State. 

4th. You will, by reports, keep the department regularly and fully informed of your 
action and movements. 

The men brought into service will be expected to arm and equip, furnish themselves, 
and look alone to the next legislature for such remuneration therefor, and for such 
pay as they deserve. You are authorized to increase your force after reaching Browns­
ville, if absolutely necessary, to carry out the above instructions. 

H. R. RUNNELS. 

No. 110. 

JOHNS. FORD: 
EXECUTIVE OFFICE, Austin, November 17, 1859. 

You are hereby authorized to enlist and organize a company of mounted men, to 
consist of one captain, one first lieutenant, one second lieutenant, four sergeants, four 
corporals, two buglers, two farriers and blacksmiths, and seventy-four privates, or a 
number and an organization approximating the above. Your company will proceed 
to Goliad and elect their commissioned officers, unless otherwise ordered by John S. 
Ford, the mustering officer. The service required is to protect the western frontier 
against Cortinas and his band and to arrest them if possible. The term will expire at 
the discretion of the governor or legislature. 

H. R. RUNNELS. 
Duplicate of this directed to M. B. Highsmith. 

EXEC.UTIVE OFFICE, Austin, November 17, 1859. 
SIR: You are hereby authorized to muster into the volunteer militia service of 

the State of Texas --- mounted men, for the purpose of quelling the insurrection 
or resisting the armed invasion of one --- Cortinas and his followers in the south. 
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western border of said State. In executing this authority you will be guided by the 
following instructions, to wit : . 

1st. The companies of men already raised in Bexar, Victoria, Gonzales, and other 
counties, will be adopted into this service and organized under these instructions. 

* * * * * * 
2d. You will organize the force as nearly as possible upon the basis adopted in the 

United States Army, having each company to consjst of one captain, one :first lieuten­
ant and one second lieutenant, four sergeants, four corporals, two buglers, two farriers 
and blacksmiths, and seventy-four privates. 

3d. Immediately upon the organization of each company the men will elect their 
commissioned officers, and as early as possible they will also elect their :field-officers, 
and commissions will be forwarded for all of said officers from this office to you at any 
designated point immediately upon the receipt of the information of said elections, 
and until said elections of :field-officers you will command the entire corps. 

4th. When the force is organized the commanding officer will appoint a quartermas­
ter, paymaster, &c. 

5th. As the companies are organized, and until the organization of the whole corps 
is completed, you are authorized to contract for, upon the credit of the State, and thus 
furnish supplies-of subsistence, forage, ammunition, and all other needful ar·ticles, and 
also for the necessary means of transportation for the same. 

6th. The point at which the troops raised under these instructions shall be the town 
of San Pelvecia, if practicable ; but, if not, then the selection of said point is left to 
your discretion. 

7th. You will, as far as may be possible, or as the emergency will permit, receive 
only such men as are able-bodied, well mounted, and well armed. You are expected 
to execute the duties imposed by these instructions by the earliest day, and when said 
duties are performed the commanding officer of the whole force will proceed in obe­
dience to other instructions, which are herewith handed you. 

,8th. Instr1wtion.-During the time required to complete said organization all the men 
enlisted in said service, ·Commissioned or non-commissioned officers, privates, or per­
sons in any wise attached to the service, are hereby required to pay due respect and 
obedience to your orders, and you will adopt the Articles of War and the Regulations 
of the United States Army in the governance of said force, except where manifestly 
inapplicable. 

9th. You will rank as major, and receive the same and reserve the pay and emolu­
ments of a like grade in the cavalry arm of the United States service until the services 
above designated have been performed and the :field organization completed. 

H. R. RUNNELS. 
JOHN S. FORD. 

No. 111. 

EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT, Jamtary 23, 1860, 
SIR: You are hereby appointed paymaster, for the purpose of paying off the com­

panies of Capt. JohnS. Ford and Capt. John H. Brown. 
You will be careful to discharge the duties incident and belonging to the appoint­

ment, and will be entitled to such compensation as is by law allowed, and before enter­
ing on the duties you will give bond according to law and take an oath to discharge 
the duties of the office of paymaster . 

. I have the honor to be, your obedient servant, 
[SEAL.] SAM HOUSTON. 

P. S.-You will also proceed to pay off Capt. J. Bourland's company, at Gainesville, 
Cooke County, Texas. 

SAM HOUSTON. 
JoHN M. SWISHER, Esq. 

No. 112. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Febma?'Y 28, 1860. 
SIR: Your dispatch was received and promptly submitted to the President, when 

action was immediately bad to carry out your wishes. 
Such measures as the means and the power of this department could command have 

been taken for the defense of the Texan frontier on the Mexican border. 
An officer of great discretion and ability has been dispatched to take command of 
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the Department of Texas, and has no doubt arrived at the scene of action before this 
date. Strong additional re-enforcements will be sent into Texas as soon as the season 
of the year will render a movement of troops possible. 

Hon. SAMUEL HousTON, 
Governor of Texas. 

No. 113. 

JOHN B. FLOYD, 
Se(Jretary of Wa1·. 

TREASURY DEPARTMENT, 
Second Auditor's Office, March 3, 1860. 

SIR: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of a letter from the chairman of 
the Committee on Military Affairs and the Militia of the United States Senate, with its 
inclosures, with a request for a report thereon. 

The object of this letter is for the purpose of acting understandingly on the claim of 
the State of Texas for money advanced by her for services rendered by volunteers 
called into service by the governor of said State for the protection of the frontier of 
said State. 

The letter embraces three points, to wit: 
First. The amount of claims of Texas now pentiing in the War Department; 
Secondly. The nature of claims; and, 
Thirdly. Any information in relation to these claims which the War Department can 

furn:sh. 
In reference to the first and second points, this office can give no information, inas­

much as no claims have ever been filed or received from the State of Texas. 
As to the third point, I have nothing to report directly touching the question, but 

as one of the papers submitted is called a statement of the amounts paid and assumed 
by the State of Texas for the support of volunteers called into service for the protec­
tion of the frontier since the 28th day of February, 1855, I beg leave to offer a few re­
marks touching the matter incidentally, which may be the means of eliciting further 
inquiry. 

This statement presents the sum of $55,000 having been appropriated by the State 
of Texas for the pay of Captains W. R. Henry, Giles S. Boggess, John G. Walker, W. 
Fitzhugh, P. H. Rodgers, and Charles E. Travis's companies of volunteers, being six 
companies called out by General P. F. Smith, United States Army. 

The State of Texas alleges to have paid these companies $45,975.38, leaving a bal­
ance of $9,024.62 subject to be drawn for said purpose. 

Section 1 of act of Congress, 3d March, 1855, chapter 169, provides the sum of 
$137,755.38 for pay, supplies, and traveling expenses of six companies of Texas volun­
teers, called into service by the governor of Texas, and mustered into the service of 
the United States; and section 21 of the civil and diplomatic expenses of government 
for the year enuing June 30, 1856, and for other purposes, approved March 3, 1855, pro­
vides the sum of $25,000 to pay the' necessary expenses of six companies of volunteers 
called into the service of the United States by Brigadier-General Smith, in the State 
of Texas, to be paid under the direction of the Secretary of War. 

The six companies alluded to in the aforesaid sections are the identical companies 
stated in the abstract of particulars submitted by the State of Texas, and by a letter 
addressed to Col. S. Cooper, Adjutant-General United States Army, on the 8th Janu­
ary, ltl59. It will be observed this office has paid these companies to the amount of 
$68,449.70, a copy of said letter, with a list of the companies, being inclosed. 

All the papers submitted to me I herewith respectfully return. 
I remain, truly, yours, 

Hon. JOHN B. FLOYD, 
Sem·etm·y of 1Va1·. 

No. 114. 

T. J. D. FULLER, 
Second Auditor. 

TREASURY DEPARTMENT, 
Thi1·d Auditor's Office, Mm·ch 12, 1860. 

SIR: I had the honor to receive from you on the 6th instant, for a report, the letter 
.addressed to your department on the 18th of January last by Hon. Jefferson Davis, 
.chairman of the Committee on Military Affairs of the United States Senate, relative 
to claims of the State of Texas, on account of volunteers called out for the protection 
-of said State against Indian hostilities. 

Mr. Davis transmits Senate resolutions No.3, referred to his committee by the Sen­
ate, and desired that said committee may be informed what amount of claims of the 

S. Ex. 74-10 
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State of Texas is now pending in your department; what is the nature of said claims; 
if they were for the payment of volunteer troops; whether, in the opinion of your 
department, there was any necessity for calling them int:; service at the time; also, for 
any information in relation to the Texas claims which you may be able to furnish, so 
as to enable said committee to act understandingly upon them. Thif:! resolution limits 
the inquiry to claims created or assumed by said State subsequent to 28th February, 
1855. 

In reply, I have the honor to state that no claim of the Sta,te of Texas, of any de­
scription, has been presented at or filed in this office since the 2d day of January, 1tl52. 
The letter of Mr. Davis and accompanying papers are herewith returned. 

I am, with great respect, your obedient servant, 

Ron. JOHN B. PLOYD, 
Secretm·y of Tim·. 

No. 115. 

R. J. ATKINSON, 
Auditor. 

\VAR DEPARTMENT, jl[m·ch 14, 1860. 
SIR: Your dispatch of the 8th instant has been received and submitted to the Presi­

dent. He directs me to say that he declines your tender of volunteers, inasmuch as a 
dispatch has this day been received by the Adjutant-General of the Army from Brevet 
Col. Harvey Brown, Second Artillery, dated New Orleans, March 13, 1860, in which he 
says, "!left Br<:Jwnsville on the 8th instant. All was quiet on the frontier. The dis­
turbances were believdd to be over, and Cortinas to have given up the contest and to 
have retired into the interior of Mexico. Major Heintzelman has officially reported 
the war to be ended." 

This information, being so much later and more direct from the scene of the late 
difficulties than you could have received at Austin at the date of your dispatch, leads 
the President to believe that you are mistaken or have been misinformed. 

Besides, there are now in Texas, ready for active service, two thousand six hundred 
and fifty-one troops, which force will soon be increased by the addition of ten compa­
nies, comprising eight hundred and forty-two men, now under orders to proceed there 
from New Mexico. Of these last, :five companies are to be stationed at l~inggold Bar­
racks and :five at Fort Clark. The quota of arms now due to the State of Texas, under 
the law, amounts to one hundred and sixty-nine muskets, which, in an emergency, may 
be doubled by anticipating the quota for the next year, and which will be promptly 
delivered upon your requisition. As the money value of the arms for the two quotas 
does not amount to $5,000, you will readily perceive that it is entirely impracticable to 
meet the requisition for arms, appendages, and accouterments made in your dispatch, 
the cost of which, at the lowest estimate, is within a fraction of $100,000. 

The President further directs me to say that, with a sincere desire in every practica­
ble way to meet the wishes of the governor and people of Texa.s, he conceives he has 
already performed his whole duty in the premises, under the circumstances. 

Very respectfully, 
W. R. DRINKARD, 

A cting Secretary of Wa1·. 
His Excellency SAl\! HOUSTON, 

Govenwr of Texas, Austin, Tex. 

No. 116. 
'VAR DEPARTMENT, Mm·ch 31, 1860. 

SIR: I had the honor to receive Qn the 1st instant your letter of the 18th January 
last, inclosing a resolution to provide for the payment of the claims of Texas for the 
reimbursements of money expended for the support of volunteers called out for the 
protection of the State, and asking information on the subject. In reply, I have the 
honor to transmit herewith reports of the Second and Third Auditors, from which it 
will be perceived that there are no claims of the State of Texas now. pending before 
this department. 

'rhe statement of the comptroller of Texas, transmitted with the report of the 
Second Auditor, is the only evidence received at this department that 'l'exas has such 
claims against the United States, 

The resolution is returned. 
Very respectfully, your obedient se.rvant, 

Ron. JEFFERSON DAVIS, 

JOHN B. FLOYD, 
Sec1'eta1'Y of Wm·. 

C hainnan Committee on Military A.tfai1·s, Senate. 
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No. 117. 

vVAR DEPARTMENT, Septernbel' 11, 1860. 
SIR: In answer to the inquiries contained in your letter of the 14th ultimo, I have 

tbe honor to state that, in order to procure the settlement of the account fot· expenses 
incurred bv the State of Texas for frontier defenses, a full statement of that acconm, 
properly sustained by original vouchers, should be transmitted to this department. 

Very respectfully, ;your obedient servant, 

Hon. E. S. N. CAVE, 
Secretary of Stctte of Texas, Anstin. 

No. 118. 

JOHN B. FLOYD, 
Sec1·etary, of War. 

November 15, 1860, Second Auditor (F 115,) reports on letter of E. S. N. Cave, cali­
ing attention to the two appropriations to reimburse the State of Texas for money 
pa1d on account of frontier defenses. 

I have examined and considered the evidQnce submitted for my decision on the ques­
tion presented in the proviso to the sixth section of the act of June 21, 1860, makin¥, 
"appropriations for the support of the Army for the year ending 3~th June, 1861,' 
and am satisfie(l that there was a necessity for calling out the Texas vo]nnteers men­
tioned therein, and that they were called out by competent authority. 

The Second Auditor will therefore ha,ve the claim of Texas audited under the pro­
visions of the said sixth section as soon as the proper vouchers of the claim of the 
State are received by him. 

vVar Department, November 15, 1860. 

No. 119. 

J. B. FLOYD, 
Secretary of Wa1·. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, December 17, 18G0. 
SIR: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your communications by mail 

of the 28th ultimo, and by telegraph of the 6th instant, desiring that a corps of Texas 
Rangers may be called into the service of the United States in view of late depreda­
tions and murders committed by Indians on the frontiers of Texas. 

In reply, I have respectfully to inform you that, Congress having given no sanction 
for such a measure, this department is without the necessary power to adopt it. In 
connection with this subject, I beg leave to say that, in consequence of previous repre­
sentations from your excellency and the unprotected state of the frontier settlements 
in Texas, the number of regular troops in that military department has been recently 
much augmented, so that lt now exceeds what it has been at any time before. It now 
consists of five companies of artillery, two of which are armed with light batteries, 
ten companies of cavalry, and twenty-five companies of infantry; in all, equal to four 
regiments. 

I cannot permit myself to doubt that these troops will be found efficient and ready 
for any active service the Indian relations in the State may demand, and that, so soon 
as the proper commanders on the ~:~pot become aware of the need of their assistance in 
any quarter, it will be promptly and successfully applied. 

I have the honor to be, sir, very respectfully, your obellient servant, 

His Excellency SAM HOUSTON, 
Got·ernor of Texa8, Austin. 

No. 120. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS, Executire Departnwnt: 

JOHN B. FLOYD, 
Seoreta1·y of War. 

I, the undersigned, governor of the State aforesaiU, do hereby certify that a company 
of mounted rangers, mustered into the service of tb~ State of Texas on the 28th day 



148 CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 

of January, 1858, commanded by Capt. JohnS. Ford, were duly recognized as having 
been called out by competent authority, and ordered to be paid by act of the legif;lla­
ture of the State of Texas approved January 27, 1858. 

In testimony whereof I baye caused the se:tl of the State to be affixed. Done at the 
city of Austin this 25th day of January, A. D. 1861, and in the year of the Independence 
of the United States the eighty-fifth and of Texas the twenty-fifth. 

[SEAL.] SAM HOUSTON. 
By the governor: 

E. w. CAVE, 
Sec-retw·y of State. 

No. 121. 
TREASURY DEPARTMENT, 

Second AudUo1·'s Office, Februat·y 13, 1861. 
SIR: The State of Texas, through C. R. Johns, esq., comptroller of the State, pre­

sents the claim of said State, under the sixth section of act of Congress June 21, 1860, 
and his authority for so doing I derive from a certified copy of an act of the legisla­
ture of the State, passed January 28, 1861, inclosed. Inasmuch as your predecessor, 
on the 15th November, 1860, decided the necessity for calling out troops by the State 
of Texas, and that they were called out by competent authority, I have rrow only to 
consider at present two points, to wit: ·first, that the amount now claimed was 
actually paid by the State of Texas; secondly, the compensation to be allowed is 
only for the period during which said troops were actively employed in military ser­
vice. From the limited period allowed me to examine the claim presented, arising 
from Mr. Johns's desire of a speedy action, I am satisfied the papers are very loosely 
made out, and very deficient in many essential particulars, as is more fully elucidated 
in an exhibit marked A, herewith inclosed.'~' What is that but evidence, if paid by 
an agent, that said agent was duly appointed and recognized as such; that certain 
sums were advanced to him by the State for said purposes, and that he made pay­
ments, giving the time of said payments as evidence of his disposition of funds 
advanced to him and paid by the State. If payments were directly made · by the 
treasurer, we should have some tangible evidence of the fact, showing the time when 
paid and the warrant on which payment was made. Every fact should be substan­
tiateu by affidavit, and the whole submitted under the broad seal of the State. Now, 
as to the period for which payment should be made, the law requires it should be for 
the time the troops were actively employed in military service. From the evidence 
produced by what is called the muster-rolls, does it appear that the time is actually 
given as to the troops' active employment f I think not. Take, for instance, Captain 
Black's company-roll, which says," organized in the year 1856." The pay-roll embraces 
a period of one year, from January 1 to December :n, 1856, and yet on that pay-roll 
hut sixty days have been paid for; what sixty out of the three hundred and sixty­
five days is not shown. This is one out of many cases, as you will perceive by the 
Exhibit A. In order to fully adjust the claims of the State of Texas under the act of 
Congress of 21st June, 1860, in conformity with the practice of this office in like cases, 
it would be necessary to have regular muster-rolls, showing the time when each were 
mustered in and out of service; how long each was actually employed during the 
period of service. 'fo these rolls proper affidavits should be annexed, and to the pay­
rolls the exact time paid for during the whole period should be noted; also by whom 
paid, and when paid, and every voucher should give the period of service and by whom 
paid, so as to show clearly that the State has actually paid the amount claimed. Un­
less this is done I cannot conceive bow the government can refund to the State of 
Texas any amount which she claims. All of which is respectfully submitted. 

Your obedient servant, · 

Hon. J. HOLT, 
Secretary of Wm·. 

Approved. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Feb1·uary 14, 1861. 

T. J.D. FULLER, 
Second AudUor. 

J. HOLT, 
Secretary of War. 

*To satisfy the United States that the State of Texas actually paid her troops the amount claimed, 
we should require the best proof that could be obtained. 
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List of exceptions to the clai1n of State of Texas undm· act 21st June, 1860, section 6. 

Capt. J. H. Collahan's c01npany.-The pay-roll does not state from whom the money 
was received. The three officers of the company produce receipts without rendering 
any accounts. The amount was received from Col. John D. Pitts, as paymaster. 

Capt. N. Benton's company.-No muster-in roll, but a muster-out one on 15th October, 
1855. No evidence as to who paid the company by the pa.y-roll, nor at what time 
paid. 

Capt. W. R. Henry's company.-No evidence as to who paid the company. 
Capt. W. Torn's company.-The pay-roll does not state the specified month paid or by 

whom pa1d. The officers were paid on vouchers by one J. H. Raymond, called a pay­
master. One private paid at treasury of State, a certified copy presented; the origi­
nals in all cases have been required by the Secretary of War. 

Capt. W. G. Tobin's c01npany.-A list is given of the company as to the commencement 
and ending of service, called a muster-roll, anJ is alleged as a copy of his company. 
No evidence on the pay-roll who paid the company. Captain 'l'obin is paid for one 
month's service by J. H. Raymond, called paymaster, but the year and precise month 
is not given. 

Capt. Levi English's company.-A list is furnished for a muster-roll. Officers paid on 
vouchers by J. H. Raymond, called treasurer. Length of time given, but the. particu­
lar month and year not given. The pay-roll does not state from whom received. 
Privates paid at treasury are known only by copies. The originals not produced. 

Captain Sansorn's company.-A muster-in but no muster-out roll. Mustered in on 19th 
April, 1856. Pay-roll paid by N. Robinson, called paymaster, from 16th April to 16th 
July, 1856. 'l'he pay commences three days before muster in. 

Captain Davenport's company.-Paid by N. Robinson, called paymaster. Period, March 
13, 1856, to 1st June, 1857. But three months' time paid. 

Captain Black's compcmy.-A roll is presented which says organized in year 1856-
sixty days. Pay-roll is from 1st January to 31st December, 1856, oue year; yet but 
sixty da.ys is paia for by N. Robinson, called paymaster. 

Lieut. T.J(. Cm·mack's company.-A list of names is called a muster-in roll. Pay-roll 
paid by J. H. Ra.ymond, called treasurer. No voucher received of the privates paid at 
treasury. 

Capt. J. H. Connor's company.- The muster-roll purports to be a mere copy; the 
original is not produced. Pay-roll does not state from whom received. 

Lieut. F. C. Frost's C011Lpany.-A muster-in but no muster-out roll. The pay-roll does 
not state by whom paid. Lieutenant Frost paid on voucher, but by whom is not men-
tioned. . 

Capt. J. S. Hodges's company.-A muster-in rol1, 14th December, 1857. The pay-roll 
is for three months; but by whom paid is not stated. Captain Hodg;es is paid for four 
and one-half months, a one and one-half beyond the company. No evidence except 
his own statement of services as to the excess, nor is it stated from whom he rece,ived 
pay. Privates paid at the treasury are stated, but no vouchers. 

Capt. J. S. Ji'01·d's company.-Pay-roll purports to be paid by Edward Burleson, called 
paymaster. Officers' vouchers fail to state from whom paid. 

Ron. J. HOLT, Sec1·etm·y of War: 

No. 122. 
TREASURY DEPARTl\fENT, 

ThiTd Auditor's Office, February 23, 1861. 

On the 16th instant I received from the Second Auditor a large mass of papers rep­
resenting a claim of the State of Texas against the United States, under the acts of 
March 3, 1854, chapter 83, and of June 21, 1850, chapter 163, for reimbursement of 
moneys expended on account of milit:;,ry services of Texas volunteers in 1854, 1855, 
Ul56, 1857, 1858, and 1859. Accompanying was a report thereon by the Second Auditor, 
of the 13th, which you approved on the 14th instant, by which it is required "that 
evidence must be furnished that the payments made by the States were by officers of 
said State regularly authorized and commissioned to do so." It is a1so required, not 
only that the volunteers were called out by proper authority, but the dates of muster 
in and muster out of service must also be establishetl, together with ''the periods 
during which said troops were actively employed in the military service," as the law 
requires. 

The allowances and payments through the Third Auditor's Office will essentially de­
pend upon a compliance by the State with the above decision of the Secretary of War 
upon the report of the Second Auditor. The a,ccounts and vouchers to be acted upon 
by the Second Auditor are separate from those belonging to the Third, and upon the 
latter the following remarks are submitted. 
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Lieut. John H. Conner's company. 

In service from December 2, 1857, to March 2, 185S: 
Amount .................................................................... $201 00 
Account of \V. L. Williams for horse lost, no date of loss....... $105 00 
Account of J. G-ayne, for mule-hire, receipt not filled up....... 24 00 

No remarks upon the rest of the voucher. 

Lient. JohnS. Hodges's company: 

In service from December 14, 1857, to March 14, 1858: 
Amount ........................ _..... . ................................ . 
Account of Thomas Johnson for mule-hire, the receipt not signed 

or dated.... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ................ . 
Account of John Campbell ................................... .. 
Account ofT. M. Martin .......... ... ........................ . 
Account of Joseph B. Miller .................................. .. 
Account of JohnS. Hodges, for blacksmithing, receipt not filled up 
Accounts of sundry persons for blacksmithiog; no evidence of 

payment-s to t~e parties entitled ...... . ..................... . 

Lieut .. C. Prost's company. 

In service from December 21, 1~57, to March 21, 1853: 

$24 00 
24 00 
24 00 
24 00 

4 00 

51 50 

Amount .........•....................•.................................. 
Accounts of .Tames N. Hornsby, ·william Reed, Wrn. R. Cowen, 

and Charles W. Neal, for mule-hire, $24 each; the receipts are 
not dated...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 96 00 

Lietd. 1'homas C. Carmack's com1)any. 

In service from December 14, ltl57, to March 14, 1858: 
Amounts ............ ·~-- .................................... . 

No objection to payment for mule-hire. 

Capt. Nat. Benton's compan.IJ. 

In service from September 15 to October 15, 1855 : 
Amount .................................... -~-- .... · .................... . 
A roll of losses of 'horses and arms by H. B. King and ten others, 

with a.ffidavit.s of loss. There a.re no receipts, and it is very 
doubtful whether the acts of 1859 and of ltl61 provide for any 
payment other than the pay and allowances of the troops ..... . 

Capt. James H. CCfllahan's company. 

In service from July 20 to October 19, ltl55: 

129 00 

151 50 

96 00 

96 00 

935 00 

9:~5 00 

Amount .......................... _... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $7, 988 60 
Snndry accounts, from 1-14, such a!:! are objectionable, are so 

noted on the accon n t . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $5, 750 60 
Roll of losses ·of horse~ and arms by \V. H. Wood and twenty-

eight others; sa.me remarks as to Capt. Nat. Benton's com-
pany, above.... . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • 2, 238 00 

7,988 60 

Capt. William R. Hem·y's company. 

In service from September 15 to October 15, 1855: 
Amount..... . ..................... _. . . . . . . . . • . • • . . . . . . . . • • • . . . • • • • • • • . • 1, 290 00 
A roll of losses of horses and arms by \V. R. Heury and fourteen 

others, wit,h affidavits of loss; same remarks as to Capt. Nat. 
Benton's company, above .. .. . .. . .. .. .. . . .. . • . . . . . .. . • .. .. .. $1, 2~0 00 
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Capt. Williarn Tont's company. 

In service from the 18th of October to 16th November, 1855: 
Amount................................................................. $408 97 
Account of Ezra Keyser, for amount paid for subsistence ; the 

quantity of each article and the rates of charge should be 
given, and the receipts of the parties to whom Mr. Keyser paid 
the several amounts should be stated. . . . • • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $408 97 

Capt. JohnS. Fo1~d's company. 

In service from January 10 to August 5, 1858 : 
Amount belonging to Third Auditor's Office...... . . . . • • . . . . . . . . . . • • . . • • • • • 46, 884 57 
And :first a roll of losses of horses and arms, amounting to $568, 

to which the same remarks are applicable as to Capt. Nat. 
Benton's company ; upon the vouchers for the balance of the 
amount, such as are objectionable are so noted on the account. $46,884 57 

Miscellaneous expenses for frontier defenses, amount Third Audi-
tor .........•....•••..........••......•.•.•.. -.-. • • . • . . . . . . . • . • . . . . • • . 755 85 

The objections are noted on the several accounts.......... . . . . . . . . . . 58, 807 48 
Six companies of Texas rangers, called into service by Governor E. M. 

Pease, from October 20 until mustered into the service of the United States, 
for the three months, as follows: 
Capt. J. G. Walker, mustered into the service of United States December 1, 

1854. • 
Capt. C. E. Travis, mustered into the service of United States December 1, 

1854. 
Capt. W. R. Henry, mustered into the service of United States December 

14,1854. 
Capt. J. H. Rodgers, mustered into the service of United States December 

22,1854. 
Capt. G. S. Boggess, mustered into the service of United States December 

2:3, 1854. 
Capt. William Fitzhugh, mustered into the service of United States Decem­

ber 24, 1854. 
And the following amounts belonging to the Third Auditor's Office for set­

tlement: 
Capt. J. G. Walker's company................................. $958 20 
Ca.pt. C. E. Travis's company ....•.....••....... _...... . . . . . . . . 70 70 
Capt. W. R. Henry's company......... .. . . . . .. . . . . . •. . ..• . . . . . 269 42 
Capt. J. H. Rodgers's company............ . • . . • . . . . . . . . . . • .. . . 985 95 
Capt. Giles H. Boggess's company . . . . ... . .. • . . . .. . . . . . •. . . . . . . 2, 059 99 
Capt. William Fitzhugh's company........................... 381 87 

--- 4,72613 
Total amount retained by Third Auditor .....•••.....•...••...•••• 63,533 62 

The circumstances of the raising, organizin~, and muster into service of the above 
six companies are set forth in my report to tne Secretary of War upon the claim of 
S. M. Swenson, of Austin, Tex., dated June 5, 1855, which is submitted herewith. 
That claim was under a contract dated October 30, 1854, with E. M. Pease, governor 
of Texas, for supplying said companies with subsistence, forage, and medicines, camp 
equipage, stationery, ammunition, and transportation, from the date of said contract 
un til the companies were mustered into the service of the United States, and was paid 
through this office in June and August, 1855, amounting to $20,990.69. 

Of course any part of the present claim of the State for supplies that were fur­
nished said companies to the extent they were entitled to, according to existing regula­
tions, ought not to be allowed. With respect to the accounts and vouchers, they ap­
pear to have been very loosely made out, many of them wanting dates and receipts. 
I would therefore suggest that they all be returned to the authorities of the State, 
through her comptroller, Clement R. Johns, esq., to be perfected as follows: Every ac­
count for any kind of supply should have all the items distinctly set forth, with date 
when furnished and rates of charge, and every account for service of all descriptions 
should in like manner have set forth the date when performed, with rates of charge, 
and be certified to as to correctness by the commanding officer if possible, and, :finally, 
all accounts a.nd vouchers should have the receipt of the parties to whom due, in favor 
of the State or its authorized agent. 

It is proper to state that the objections heretofore noted to the papers as presented 
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relate almost exclusively to matters of form in making them out, and the require­
ments are preliminary to an investigation with reference to the character of the items 
charged for. The questions of the propriety of the charges, and other questions going 
to the merits of the claims, are reserved for future consideration, when the claims shall 
be again presented with the additional evidence required by the law. 

It is also proper to say that all property purchased by the State agents. not of a 
perishable nature, such as horses, mules, oxen, wagons, camp equipage, &c:, must be 
accounted for by being shown to have been used up in the service, or afterward sold 
for the benefit of the State, or turned in to the proper agents. 

I am, with great respect, your obedient Rervant, 

Approved: 

R. J. ATKINSON, 
...iuditor. 

. WAR DEPARTMENT, Februm·y 21, 1~61. 

J. HOLT, 
Secreta1·y of Wa1· • 

No. 123. 
WASHINGTON, February 23, 1861. 

SIR: From your report on the claim of Texas, recently filed, I learn that there are 
informalities in the papers and deficiencies in the evidence of such a character as to 
render it necessary that the papers should be returned to Texas for the purpose of 
being perfected and returned to your office. I would therefore ask permission to with­
draw all the papers in the case. 

Very respectfully, &c., 
CLEMENT R. JOHNS, 

Comptrollm· of the State of Texas. 
Papers returned, accompanied by letter 23d February, 1861. 

C. H. 

No. 124. 
TREASURY DEPARTl\:lENT1 

Tl!it·d .Auditm·'s Office, February 23, 1861. 
SIR: In compliance with your request, I herewith return all the papers pertaining 

to your office received with your two letters of the 16th instant, transmitting the 
claim of the State of Texas, under the second section of the act of Congress approved 
March 3, 1859, chapter 83, and the sixth section of the act approved June 21, 1860, 
chapter 163. All the accounts and papers received therewith referable to this office 
have been withdrawn and retained for such action as is required in the premises. 

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

T. J. D. FULLER, Esq., 
Second Auditor. 

No. 125. 

R. J. ATKINSON, 
.A1tditm·. 

Extract ft·om 1·ema1·ks on roll of John M. Davenport's company. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS, County of Uralde: 
I, J. M. McCormick, clerk of the county court in and for said county, do hereby certify 

under my official oath that the company of mounted minute-men commanded by John 
M. Davenport was mustered into service on the 13th day of March, A. D. 1856, anu kept 
up an organization and took the field scouting and pursuing Indians whenever the 
safety of the settlement required it up to the 1st day of June, 1857, when said com­
pany was disbanded from service by the said Captain John M. Davenport, and this 
roll adopted as the muster-out roll. And I further certify that the members of said 
company were actually emplo)~ed in the military service of said State for the term of 
three months, but at different times between the aforesaid dates, and that the said 
Captain John M. Davenport departed this life on or about the 2Sth day of October, 
A.. D. 1859. 

In testimony whereof I hereunto sign my name and affix the seal of the county 
court of said county at office in Uvalde the 11th day of May, A. D. 1861. 

[SEAL.] J. M. McCORMICK, 
Clerk County Cou1·t Uvalde County. 
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[Extract.] 

Muster-1·oll of Captain Reading W. Black's company of minute-men, organized in the year 
A. D. 1856. 

I certify upon honor that the above-named men served under Capt. Reading W. 
Black as officers and privates in the year 1856, as minute-men, and served the number 
of days affixed to their names. This the 2d day of August, A. D. 1858. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS, County of Uralde: 

JAMES MOSELEY, 
Lieutenant Minute Cornpany. 

I, J. M. McCormick, clerk of the county court in and for said county, do hereby cer­
tify that Reading W. Black, captain of said minute company, is at this time absent 
in Mexico. To certify which I hereunto sign my name and affix the impress of the 
seal of the county court of said county at office in Uvalde this the 2d day of August, 
A. D. 1858. 

[SEAL.] 

Approved August 31, 1858 

THE STATE OF TEXAS, Uvalde County: 

J. M. McCORMICK, 
Cle1'k C01wty Court Uvalde County. 

H. R. RUNNELS. 

Reading \V. Black, after being duly sworn, states that he was commander of the com­
pany of mounted minute-men mustered into the service of the State of Texas on the 
1st day of January, 1856, for the protection of the citizens of said county against the 
incursions of Indians, and that said company was held in readiness to pursue and chas­
tise the Indians whenever the alarm was given or they notifiell of their hostile incur­
sions in said county; and that the members of said company were at different times 
actively employed in the military service of said State, between the said 1st day of 
January, 1856, and the 31st day of December, ltl58, in all two months, and that said 
company was disuanded on the said 31st day of March, 1857, there being no regular 
mustering-out officer, and this r<fll was adopted for a mustering-out roll, and that this 
roll and the remarks thereon are correct and just, to the best of my knowledge and 
belief. 

R. W. BLACK. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me. To certify which I hereto affix the impress of 
the seal of my office at Uvalde this 13th day of May, 1861. 

[SEAL.] J. M. McCORMICK, 
Clerk C01tnty Cou1·t Uvalde County. 

No. 127. 

AN ACT .to authorize the governor to receive from the Treasury of the United States the money due 
the State of Texas from the United States. 

SECTION 1. Be it enacted by the legislatw·e of the State of Texas, That the governor be, 
and is hereby, authorized to receive from the Secretary of the Treasury or other proper 
authority of the Government of the United States all._money now undrawn by this State 
which has been appropriated by the Congress of the United States to the State of Texas 
for military services paid by Texas, or for other claims of this State; and the money 
so receiYed shall be placed by the governor in the treasury of this State, subject to 
appropriations made for the support of the State government : Provided, That all sums 
received in gold for these claims may be converted into lawful money at the market 
value thereof, by the governor, and the proceeds thereof placed in the treasury. 

~EC. 2. That whatever the governor is authorized to do in person under this act he 
may also do by agent appointed: Pro1:ided, That if any other officer of this State is 
authorized and directed by him to perform these services, then such officer shall receive 
no compensation therefor beyond his necessary expenses in performance of the same; 
and the sum of one thousand dollars, or so much thereof as may be necessary, is hereby 
appropriated out of any moneys in the treasury to defray expenses under this act, to 
be paid under the approval of the governor. 

SEc. 3. That this acL take effect and be in force from and after its passage. 
App1·oved May 12, 1871. .. 
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No. 128. 
STATE m' TEXAS, County of Texas: 

Know aU men by these presents that I, Edmund J. Davis, governor of the State of 
Texas, by virtue of the authority and power vested in me as governor as aforesaid by 
act of the legislature of the State of Texas approved May 12, 1tl71, entitled "An act to 
authorize the governor to receive from the 'l'reasury of the United States the money 
due the State of Texas from the United States," have constituted and appointed, and 
do by these presents constitute and appoint, James P. Newcomb, esq., secretary of state 
of the State of Texas, my agent and true and lawful attorney for the performance of 
the duties and exercise of the powers imposed upon and vested in me by the said act, 
and do hereby authorize and empower the said James P. Newcomb, for me and in my 
place and stead, to receive from the Secretary of the Treasury, or other proper author­
ity of the Government of the United States, all money now un~rawn by this State of 
Texas, which has been appropriated by the Congress of the United States to the State 
of Texas for military services paid by Texas, or fo1· other claims of this State of Texas; 
and I do hereby ratify and confirm all and every acts or act of my said agent right­
fully and lawfully done and performed by him in the premises for me and in my stead, 
and I do hereby recognize the same as fully and completely as if done by myself by 
virtue of said act. 

In witness whereof I hereunto subscribe my name and cause the seal of the State of 
Texas to be hereto affixed at the executive office, in the city of Austin, this 2c3th day of 
October, A. D. 1871. 

[SEAL.] EDMUND J. DAVIS, 

By the go~ernor: 
JAMES P. NEWCOMB, 

Secreta1·y of State. 

Governor. 

No. 129. 

Memorandum, relative to tlw cla,im of the State of I'exas on the general government for 
advances made jo1· f1'ontim· defense from 2~th Febt"iwry, 1855, to 1st September, 1859, and 
amount paid for milita1·y services on the Rio Gmnde, !859 and H360. · ' 

The statement of advances made for frontier defense from 2Bth February, Ul59, to 1st 
September, 1859, and accompanying papers, embraces the accounts of twenty-five com­
panies of rangers, and amount,s to $209,656.99. The transcript from the records of the 
office of the comptroller will show when the money was paid from the State treasury 
and determine the period of time for the computation of interest. When the papers 
were presented, in 1861, objections were raised to many accounts. besides the general 
objections that the government had no proof of the necessity for calling out companies 
to protect the frontier. It is now attempted to remove these causes of objection to par­
ticular accounts, it is hoped successfully, and the general objections alluded to are met 
by copies of communications to and from the executive, which will fu,lly demonstrate 
the necessity. The claim for military services on the Rio Grande amounts to $13,354.77 
and interest. 

NOTE.-The foregoing appears to have been made by Ron. J.P. Newcomb, secretary 
of the State of Texas. · 

No. 130. 

·wASHINGTON, D. C., Novembm: 11, 18'71. 
'SIR: I am here to -submit to your consideration the original papers pertaining to the 

claim of the State of Texas for reimbursement for moneys paid out for frontier defense 
under acts of Congress March 3, 1859, and June 21, 1860, and to ask in behalf of the State 
as speedy an. investigation and settlement of the matter as possible consistent with 
the convenience of your department. . 

In the spring of 1861 the State of Texas, through its agent, Mr. Clement R. Johns, 
presented this claim, but the rebellion had already been inaugurated in the South, and 
the hesitancy of the department and obstacles thrown in the way of a settlement 
at that time were largely attributable to the threatening condition of the South, and 
actual hostilities began while Mr. Johns was in Washington, effectually and fortu­
nately putting an end to all further negotiation. The matter has lain dormant up to 
the inauguration of the present State administration, and it has been with much diffi­
culty that the original papers relating thereto have been gotten together, as the records 



CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES. 155 

of the State \vere thrown iuto confusion ancl destroyed to a great extent during there­
bellion. The papers are now presented in the best•possible shape, and constitute the 
only showing the State can make. The objections raised at the time Mr. Johns pre­
sented the case were mainly of a technical nature, to wit, that the vouchers and papers 
were not made out in all particulars in a business-like mauner, lacking formality, &c.; 
in fact, that the State bad done its business in a very loose way. 

We have attempted to remove many of the causes of objection then raised, by sup­
plying the evidence reqnired. The State pa.id these frontier claims, and the only 
fact, it appears to us, necessaQT to be established, in order that the appropriations 
made by the general government may be applied to reimburse the State, is that the 
State has liquidated these claims. I believe the e.-idence I have to present does this 
satisfactorily. The lapse of time and the war ba.-e placed it beyond our power to make 
good all technical defects, as many of the parties connected with the transactions are 
either dead or their residences unknown, while the whole matter has passed into his­
tor;v and beyond the remedy of technicality. 

Hoping that this business, which is of great importance to our State, will enlist your 
earnest a.ttent.ion and be dealt with in a liberal mu.nuer, I have the honor to be, very 
respectfully, your obedient servant, 

JAMES P. NEWCOMB. 
Hon. GEO. S. BOUTWELL, 

Secretm·y of the Treasul'y, Washingtou, D. C. 

No. 131. 

·wASHINGTON, D. C., Norembel' 16, 1H71. 
GENERAL: During our interview on Saturday last you ~;nggested that there was no 

appropriation to pay the cla.im of the State of Texas, or rather that by act of July 12, 
Ul70, such appropriation had been covered into the Treasury. I hope this point will 
he thoroughly examinecl before passed or decided adversely to the claim of the State of 
'l'exas, it being, in fact, preliminary to any settlement of the matter at this time. If 
you will take the two acts, March 3, 1859, and July 21, 1860, together, I thlnk you will 
conclude that the consideration involved must be construed under the bead of a per­
manent appropriation until the matter is finally disposed of by the compliance of both 
parties, the State of Texas ancl the United States Government, with the provisions of 
the act. 

'l'he act of March 3, 1859, section 2, provided for the repayment to the State of 'l'exas, 
out of any moneys not otherwise appropriated, moneys advanced by the State for the 
payment of six companies of mounted volunteers called into service by General P. F. 
Smith, with the proviso that the allowance should be no greater than for United States 
troops, and for a period of three months. The act of June 21, 1860, section 6, extends 
the provision of the act of March 3, 1859, to include all moneys advanced by the State 
in payment of volunteers called out in defense of the frontier since 28th of February, 
1855, with proviso that the Secretary of War shall be satisfied that there was a neces­
sity for calling out these troops, that they were called out by competent authority, 
and the amount claimed by the State was actually paid by the State, and the amount 
to be allowed limited to $1~3,544.51, &c. Had this limit not been stated, the State of 
Texas could have come forward and claimed the full amount of her outlays under 
the act. 

I regard the acts cited as a contract, bargain, and agreement on the part of the 
United States Government and the State of Texas. The State of Texas has made 
good its part of the agreement; jt; remains for the United States to complete the mat­
ter. If the act of July 12, 1670, eliminates the $123,544.51 from the act of June 21, 
1860, then we claim a general adjustment of all our claims within the dates mentioned 
and the entire amount expended by the St.ate. 

Respectfully, 

General w. vV. BELKNAP, 
Secretary of War, Washi11gton, D. C. 

No. 132. 

JAMES P . NEWCOMB, 
Secreta?'Y of State. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, 
Washington, D . C., November 16, 1871. 

Sm.: Yonr letter of the 11th instant and certain claims of the State of Texas, which 
were therewith submitted by you to the honorable the Secretary of the Treasury, have 
been received at this department, as has also your statement, dated to-day, in relation 
to the application of certain laws. 
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The aggregate of the claims, as submitted by your abstract, is $209,656.99. Of this 
amount it is alleged that only $50,001.81 were expended for the six companies -referred 
to in the act of March 3, 1859, and the balance, $159,655.18, is claimed, it is supposed, 
under section 6, act of June 21, 1860. • 

Regarding the expenses of the six companies, I have to state that various United 
States laws, made within the last decade of years, in reference to the applicability of 
appropriations made by former acts, as well as in reference to the consideration of 
certain claims against the government, convey to my mind au impression that no officer 
of the government can at this time admit or pay any portion of these claims. It is 
understood that a discretionary power in relation to them was granted to the head 
of this department in the act of March 3, 1859, by which he was" authorized," but 
not, as in many other cases, specially directed to act, and in this instance I prefer to 
adopt the above impression. No claim can now be considered under section 6 of the 
act of June 21, 1860, as the amonnt thereby appropriated, viz, $123,544.51, was carried 
to the "surplus fund" under section 10 of the act of .August 31, 1852, by a warrant 
dated June 30, 1863. 

In view of the foregoing facts, I have to inform you that the claims submitted by 
you cannot be favorably entertained at this department until Congress acts further 
in regard to them. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
WM. W. BELKNAP, 

Secreta.ry of Wa1·. 
JAMES P. NEWCOMB, Esq., 

Sec-reta1·y of the State of Texa.'J. 

·wASHINGTON, D. C., Novembm· Ul, 1871. 
GENJmAL: Your reply of November 16 is at hand. Having performed my duty as 

the agent of his excellency Governor E. J. Davis, governor of Texas, in presenting the 
claim of the State of Texas for repayment of moneys advanced by the State to frontier 
troops called into service by authority of the United States Government, and as by 
your ruling we are entirely excluded from a settlement unless by further act of Con­
gress, I respectfully ask that the papers and vouchers pertaining to this claim be 
retained in t.he custody of your department, to await further action. 

In conclusion, allow me to thank you for the kindness and com;ideration you have 
shown me, and I only regret that the business could not have been settled without 
further delay, as the money would have been of great assistance to our struggling 
State administration at this time. 

Very respectfullJ', your obedient servant, 
J.AMES P. NEWCOMB, 

Secreta1·y of State of Texas. 
General \Vl'II. W. BEI.KNAP, 

Sec-retary of TVar, Washington, D. C. 

No. 134. 

FORTY-SECOND CONGRESS, SECOND SESSION. 

CONGRESS OF THE UNITED STATES, 
In the House of Rept·esentatives, Jannary 18, 1872. 

On motion of Mr. WILLIAM T. CLARKE: 
Resolved, That the Secretary of War be, and is hereby, directed to inform this House 

why the money a.ppropriated under the acts of Congress March 3, 1859, and June 23, 
1860, has not been paid to the State of Texas as provided for in said acts . 

.Attest: 
EDW .ARD McPHERSON, Clerk, 

By IS.A.AC STROHM, Assistant Clerk. 

No. 1~5. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, JanuaTy 19, 1872. 

The Secretary of War has the honor to send to the House of Representatives, in com­
plian~e with a resolution of the 18th of January, 1872, inquiring" why the money ap­
propriated under the acts of Congress, March 3, 1859, and June 23, 1860, has not been 
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paid to the State of Texas as provided for in said acts," the following-mentioned papers, 
which give the requisite iuformation: 

A copy of a letter of November 11, 1871, from the secretary of the State of Texas to 
the Secretary of the Treasnry, showing why the money had not been paid prior to that 
date. A copy of a letter of November lG, 1871, from the Secretary of War to the sec­
retary of the State of Texas, showing why the money bas not been paid since the last­
mentiouecl date. 

WM. W. BELKNAP, 
· SecretaTy of War. 

No. 136. 

Statement of adt·ances made by th e State of Texas for frontie1' defenses from Febr1w1·y 28, 
1855, to Septembm· 18, 1858. 

- ------- ----- ------ --- ---·-- .-- -
Amount I Balance For what purpose. Amonnt 

paid . appropriated. undrawn. 

.Amount appropl'iated December 17, 1855, to pay the three fol- .......... .. $l6, 091 12 
lowing-named companies, viz: 

Commanded by Capt. James H. Callahan ................ . 
Commanded by Capt. Nat Benton ....................... . 
Commanded by Capt. W. R. Henry ...... . ............. .. 

Amount appropriatetl same date for their subsistence ......•. 
Amount paid thereon to sundry parties ..................... . 
Amount appropriated same date for compensation of paymas-

ter to above.named companies . 
.Amount paid John D Pitts, paymaster .................... .. 
.Amount appropriated January 14, 18:1G, to pay the six fol1ow-

ing-named companies called out by General P. F. Smith: 
Commanded by Capt. W. R. Henry ..................... . 
Comman(1ed by Capt. Giles S. Boggess ......•.•.......... 
Commanrled by Capt. John G. Walker ................. .. 
Commamlell by Capt. \Yllliam Fitzhugh .....•...•....... 
Commanded by Capt. P. H. Rodgers . .................. .. 
Commanded by Capt. Charles E 'l'ravis ................. . 

Amount appropriated same date for payment of balances uue 
on contracts for support of above compa.nies·. 

Amount paid thereon from February 2, 1856, to September 6, 
1858. 

$10,080 18 ····••·••·•····· ........... . 
2, 509 83 ........................... . 
2, 981 00 .. .. . .. . .. .. .. .. $520 11 

...... ...... 5, 755 22 .•••...•... . 
5, 750 60 .. .. .. .. . . .. . .. . 4 62 

............ 100 00 .......... .. 

100 00 ............ ·--· ·· 55;ooo.oo·l: ::::::::::: 
7, 791 58 ........................... . 
8,4~9 05 .......................... .. 
7,980 55 .......................... .. 
8,2l3 76 ........................... . 
5, 936 16 .•.•.•.....•.•...........••. 
7, 564 28 .. .. .. .. .. .. . . .. 9, 024 62 

...... .••••• 6,000 00 ........... . 

4, 026 43 .............. .. 1, 1!73 57 

Amount appropriated August 30, 1856, to pay the three fol- .....•...... 4, 48!) 20 .......... .. 
lowing-named companies. viz: 

Commanded by Capt. Willliam Tom . . . . . • • . . . . • • . • . . . . . . 1, 494 72 ..•....••••..••..••.•....... 
Commanded by Capt. W. G Tobin . ...................... !H7 46 .......................... .. 
Commanded by Capt. Levi English . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . 1, 764 86 . • • • • . • • . • • • . . . . 312 16 

Amount appropriatetl same date to pay for supplies furnished . . . . . . . . . . . . 408 97 ....•..••••• 
Capt. William '!'om's company aml to compensate paymas-
ter of above-named companies. . 

.Amount paid thereon . ....................................... 408 97 .......................... .. 

.Amount appropriated November 17, 1857, to pay the four fol- ............ 20, 000 00 ........... . 
lowing-named companies, viz: 

Commanded by Capt. T. K. Carmack..................... 2, 924 80 ........................... . 
Commanded by Capt. John H. Conner .. .. . . • .. .. . . . • .. • . 4, 273 02 .......................... .. 
Commanded by Capt. J. C. Frost......................... 2, 863 25 ........................... . 
Commanded by Capt. J. S. Hodge11. .. .. .. .. .. • .. . .. . .. .. 3, 028 25 .. .. • .. • .. • .. • • . 6, 910 68 

.Amount appropriated January 13, 1858, to pay the three fol- ...... .... .. 6, 600 00 .......... .. 
lowing-named minute.companies, viz: 

Commanded by Capt. John W. Sansom . ........................................................ .. 
Commanded dy Capt John D. Davenport ....................................................... .. 
Commanded by Capt. Reading Black.. . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . .. .. . .. .. ............ · ............. . 

Amount paid Neill Robinson, paymaster of same..... .•..•. 4, 000 00 .••••••••. .... .. 2, 6{)0 00 
Amount appropriateu January 27, 1858, to pay Capt. JohnS. ... • • • . •• • .. 70, 000 00 .......... .. 

Ford's companies. 
Amount paid Edward Burleson, paymaster of same, and to S. 55,800 00 .... •••••• •••••• 14,200 00 

M. Swenson for supplies fumished. 

Total .................................. -- ~ --- .......... 148,898 75 184, 444 51 35,545 76 

I, the undersigned, comptroller of public accounts of the State of Texas, do hereby 
-certify that the foregoing statement is a correct and true exhibit of the amounts paid 
and assumed by the titate of Texas for the pay, subsistence, and forage of volunteer 
troops called into service for the protectiou of the frontier since the 28th February, 
1855. 

Given under my hand and seal of office this 18th day of September, 1858. 
[SEAL.] JAMES B. SHAW, 

Comptt·oller. 



158 CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATE8. 

No. 137. 

Statement of advances made by the State of Texas fm· fl'ontie1' defense f1·om February 28 
1855, to September 1, 1859. 

Abstr.act . Company. 

.Abstract A .•. . . . . .•. . . . . . . . . .James H. Callahan's ............ ......... . 
Nat. Benton's . ........................ . .. . 
W. R . Henry's .......................... .. 

Abstract B ................. . W. R. Henry's ...... ...... . ............. .. 

1: ~: t~~:;:: :::::: ::~~~::::::::::::::::: 
W. Fitzhugh's ...................... . .... . 

K :: :r~~~=~~s-~~:::· :::::::::::::::::::::: 

Abstract C .................. W. Tom's ................................ . 
· W. G. Tobin's ............ . ............... . 

L. English's ............................. .. 

Abstract D .... ~ ....... .. . .. . P. H. Carmack's ......................... . 
J. H. Conner's ........................... . 
T. C. Frost's ...... ................. ...... . 
J. S. Hodges's ............ ............... .. 

Abstract E.................. J. W. Sansom's .......................... . 
J. M. Davenport's ....................... .. 
R. '\V. Black's ........................... .. 

Abstr.act F .. .. .. . .. . .. . .. . .. J. Williams's ............................ .. 
J. S. Ford's .............................. .. 
W. N. P. Marlin's ........................ . 

Abstract G .................. J. Bourland's ....................... ...... . 
J.H. Brown's ............................ .. 
J. S. Ford's .............................. .. 

.Amount. 

$16,595 46 
2, 566 83 
3, 212 60 

8, 043 ill 
10, 369 2~ 

8, 048 30 
8, 487 63 
6, 872 11 
8, 288 18 

1, 903 69 
917 46 

l, 764 86 

2, 717 30 
4, 046 02 
2, 863 25 
3,100 25 

1, 155 00 
1, 699 62 

791 98 

1, 085 60 
56, 992 83 

752 59 

13, 073 74 
8, 807 91 

35, 500 68 

Grand total...... .. .. .. .. .. . . . . . . . . . . .. ....... . 

Total. 

$22,374 89 

50, 109 32 

4, 586 01 

12,726 82 

3, 64(3 60 

58,831 02 

57,382 33 

209,656 99 

Statement of advances made by the State of Texas for 'military services on the Rio Grande, 
1859 ancl 1860. 

No. Description. 

Hampton, G. J., captain and quarterma-ster ....................................... . 
2 McCord, J. E., for Captain Burleson's company ........................ $2, 000 00 ( 
3 Paid at the State treasury . • . . . • . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4, 943 46 5 
4 H. W. Berry's company ........................................................... . 

Total. 

$399 98 

6, 943 46 

6, 011 33 

Total • . .. • • .. .. .. . . .. .. .. . .. .. . .. . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . . .. .. . . .. .. .. .. . . . . . .. . . . 13, 354 77 

No. 138. 

AN ACT for the relief of Giles S. Boggess. 

SECTION 1. Be it enacted by the leg·islature of the State of Texas, That the comptroller 
of the State be, and he is hereby, authorized and required to sett.le with Paymaster 
Giles S. Boggess, npon his presenting to said comptroller a copy of the muster-roll of 
J. G. Walker's company, made out by him, the said Boggess, upon the best data he can 
get and certified to by him, before some· person authorized by law to administer oaths, 
to be just and correct, according to the best of his knowledge and belief, and that the 
original muster-roll was either stolen from, taken from, or lost by him; said copy of 
muster-roll, when so ma.de out and certified to, shall be received in lieu of the original 
roll, the amount or amounts returned by said Boggess as paid shall be passed to his 
credit upon the books of ~be comptroller's office. . . . 

SEc. 2. That should sa1d Boggess report as pa1d· any person who was a member of 
said J. G. Walker's company, who bas not been paid, it shaH be incumbent upon the 
person wishing to contest the ma.tter to make affidavit, before some person authorized 
to administer oaths, that he has not been paid; and upon the filing of said affidavit in 
the comptroller's office, it suall be the duty of the comptroller to notify said Boggess, 
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and allow him sixty days' time to make the proof of payment; and, should the said 
Boggess fail to satisfy the comptroller that said person has been paid, it shaH be the 
duty of the comptroller to draw his warrant upon the treasurer in favor of such indi­
vidual, which warrant shall be paid by the treasurer out of the appropriation for the 
payment of said oompany; and for each amount so paid the said Boggess shallue held 
responsible to the State upon bond as paymaster. 

SEc. 3. That any member or members of said compan:r who, according to the return 
made by said Boggess, stand as unpaid npon the certified. COllY of the muster-roll of 
said company, shall be entitled to his or their pay by application at the office of the 
comptroller and treasurer, upon filing an affidavit th:1t he or they have not been paid, 
and that the amount due them for services rendered in said J. G. Walker's company 
is still due and owing. 

EC. 4. That this act take effect from its passage. 
Appr ovecl August 25, U3G 

DEPARTMENT OF STATE, 
Austin, J'ex., March 5, 1860. 

I, the undersigned, secretary of state of the Sta.te of Texas, do hereby certify that 
the transcript on the reverse hereof is a correct copy of the original act on file in the 
department of state. 

Given nuder my hand and the seal of the department of state the day and year first 
above written. 

(SEAL.] 

No. 139. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS, County of Bexar: 

E. W. CAVE, 
Secretary of State. 

On this 11th day of November, A. D. 1856, personally ea.me before me, James E. 
Gardner, a justice of the peace in and for said county, Levi English, who, after being 
duly sworn, says that he is the identical perF;on who was a captain of a company of 
mounted men who oervell against the Texas Indians; that be commenced his service 
about the-- day oi August, 1855, and served until about the-- day of November, 
1856; that he furnished his own horse, forage, subsistence, aud a servant; and that he 
has not received the pay due him for said service, or <1DY part thereof. 

I hereby empower H. ,V. Sublett, esq., of Austin, Tex., to collect any and all pay 
which may be due me by virtue of said service. 

lliS 
(SEAL.] LEVI + ENGLISH 

mark. 

Personally came before me, James E . Gardner, a justice of the peace in and for said 
county, Y. P. Alsbury and William H. Long, who, upon their oaths, declare that they 

·are personally acquainted with Levi English, and that they saw him sign the affidavit 
on the reverse hereof by making his mark, declaring his inability to write, and that 
they know him to Lethe identical person who ·wa8 a captain of a mounted company 
against the Texas Indians. 

Y. P. ALSBURY. 
vVM. H. LONG. 

I, James E. Garllner, justice of the peace for Bexar County, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing, and. on the reverse hereof, was signed by ma:king his mark, declarinO' 
his inability to write, and acknowledged in my presence; and that I know the affi': 
ants to be creditable persons, and that the claim<tnt is the person be represents him­
self to be. 

Given under my hand and official signature, at office, in the city of SanJAntoni,o, on 
the day and year above written; and that I have no interest in this claim. 

JAMES. E. GARDNER, 

'I'nE STATE OF TEXAS, County of Bexar: 
Justice of Peace, Bexm· Cmm.ty. 

I, s~muel S. Smith, clerk of the county court of Bexar County, do hereby certify 
that James E. Gardner, esq., before whom the foregoing affidavit and declaratiou on the 
reverse hereof was made, was an acting justice of the peace in and for the county of 
Bexar at the time the same was made, and that his signature, herewith attached, is 
genuine. 

In testimony whereof I hereunto sign my name and affix the seal of said county, 
at office, iu the city of San Antonio, this 11th day of November, A. D. 1856. 

SAM. S. SMITH, 
Clerk of County Co-urt, Be:cm· County, 

By EDWARD MILES, 
Deputy. 
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No. 140. 

IN THE AMERICAN AND MEXICAN JOINT COMMISSION. 

PEDRO TAUNS (No. 679) AND OTHERS vs. THE UNITED , STATES. 

To the honm·able American and Mexican Joint Co1~wtission, in the city of Washington, 
Dist1·ict of Columbia : 

The memorial of Pedro Tauns respectfully showeth: 
That in the month of October, A. D. 18fi5, an armed force of more than two hundred 

Americans, under the command of Captains Callahan and Henry, having crossed the 
Rio Grande from Texas, in the United States, entered and took possession of the town 
of Piedras Negras, in the State of Coahuila, Mexico, and by force of arms disarmed all 
the inhabitants of the town, and with many insults, threats, and cruelties drove them 
from tl:.eir houses and caused them to flee from the town to the woods. After having 
pillaged them of all their most valuable and easily transported contents, the said forces 
set all the houses on :fire, reduced the town to ruins and ashes, and then returned with 
the body to the opposite side of the river by the public ferry. All this was done by the 
said forces with the aid and protection of the regular officers and soldiers of the United 
States of America, at that time occupying Fort Duncan, on the left bank of the Rio 
Grande, in front of Piedras Negras, which regular officers and soldiers, upon a dominant 
point, planted all their artillery bearing directly upon the town of Piedras Negras, 
with intent to bombard and destroy the town in case the inhabitants thereof should 
resist the forces of Captains Callahan and Henry; and they aided the said forces of 
Callahan and Henry to cross the Rio Grande to Piedras Negras, one of the said regular 
officers drowning himself in the act. The said forces of Callahan and Henry were 
received with their booty in the United States, on the left bank of the Rio Grande, 
under protection of the said regular officers and soldiers, and permitted to march with 
their booty to the interior of the State of Texas, where they received the approbation 
of, and pay ·from, the said State of Texas for the time they were in Piedras Negras 
committing the wrongful acts aforesaid; and the Government of the United States of 
America, by section 6 of an act entitled ''An act making appropriations for the support 
of the Army for the year ending the 30th of June, Hl61," approved June 21, 1860, pro­
vided r.o reimburse the State of Texas for the said payment; but the people of the 
State of Texas having thereafter gone into rebellion against the Government of the 
United States, the said reimbursement was therefore withheld. 

When the said forces of Callahan and Henry took possession of Piedras Negras, your 
memorialist was living in that town with his family, six in number, and had there, of 
his own sole and exclusive property, two houses, constructed of lumber, and all the 
other things set forth in an account hereto annexed, marked Exhibit A, to which ref­
<erence is here had, making it a part of this memorial, which property was then and 
there worth the sum of $5,550, gold. 

Your memorialist further states that the said forces of Callahan and Henry, in the 
said pillage and burning which they did in Piedras Negras, on the 3d, 4th, and 5th days 
of October, A. D. 1855, pillaged and burned his said houses, together with all the other 
things set forth in an account aforesaid, whereby they very greatly injured him in his 
property and business, causing him to lose the use, benefit, profit, and enjoyment of 
his said property ever since he so lost the same, thereby damaging him, in addition to 
the value of his said property, in the full sum of $8,000, gold. 

The said forces of Callahan and Henry drove your memorialist from his home, and 
Mmpelled him to flee to the woods with all his family, where he wandered for three 
days, exposed to death under the tomahawk of the barbarous Indians, who frequented 
the said woods at that time, suffering from hunger and thirst in a degree almost insup­
portable, whereby they caused him great injury in his person and that of his family, 
damaging him in the full sum of $52,000, gold. 

By all their illegal acts aforesaid, the said authorities of the United States of America 
·did greatly injure yom memorialist in his person and that of his family, and in his 
property and business, whereby they damaged him, in the aggregate, in a ~reat sum, 
to wit, in t,he full sum of $65,550, gold; and therefore he prefers this his cla1m against 
the Government of the United States of America for the said sum of $65,550, gold, 
.amount of damages done to him by the authorities thereof. 

Your memorialist is, and from his birth bas been, a citizen of the Mexican Republic, 
born in the town of Nacogdoches, State of Texas (then Mexico), July 13, A. D.1811; 
his domicile at the present is in the town of Fuente, State of Coahuila, and when this 
.claim had its origin was in Piedras Negras. 

The whole amount of this claim does now, and did when it had its origin, belong 
·solely and absolutely to your memorialist; and he has never received any sum of money 
or otheT equivalent or indemnification for the whole or any part of the losses and in­
juries upon which this claim is founded. 
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This claim was not presented before the 1st of February, A. D. 1869, to the Depart­
ment of State of the United States or that of the Mexican R~public, or to the minister 
of the United States in Mexico, or that of the Mexican Republic in Washington. 

Your memorialist, in addition to the testimony filed and to be filed in this case, re­
spectfully refers to the memorials and papers in all other c~ses before the commission, 
giving full details of the same transactions upon which this claim is founded, andes­
pecially refers to the memorials of Ma. Juana Hernandez, Francisco Herrera, Santos 
Loy, Pedro Villareal, and Dimas Sandobal, in their claims against the Government of 
the United States, and the testimony of the following witnesses, filed therein, to wit: 
Luis Sandohal, Manuel Rodriguez, Francisco Sa,lenas, Francisco Gonzales, Francisco 
Gnedea, Antonio :Montez, Ramon Rodriguez, Lorenzo Guevara, Timoteo Gonzales, 
Anestacio Jimenes, Jos6 MariaRivera, Jesus Frias, SantosLoy,JoseMa. Carbajal, and 
Margarito Teposte. 

·wherefore, your memorialist respectfully prays the honorable commission to award 
in his favor, against the Government of the United States of Americ-a, the sum of$65,550, 
gold, amount of injuries and damages done to him by the authorities thereof, and that 
there be awarded to him ~uch other indemnification as by law and eqaity he may be 
entitled to in the premises. 

PEDRO TAUNS, 
By his attorney in fact, JAMES B. SI.MPSON. 

E. \V. RICE, Solicilol'. 

CITY OF vV ASHINGTON, District of Colnntbia, 88 : 

I, James B. ~impson, solemnly swear that I am the attorney in fact of the claimant, 
Pedro Tauns, who is absent from the District of Columbia, and that the matters and 
things set forth in the foregoing memorial are true, to the best of my knowledge, in­
formation, and belief. 

JAMES B. SIMPSON. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me, the undersigned notary public in and for said 
city, this 24th day of March, A. D. 1870. 

ED~HTND F. BROWN, 
Notm·y Public. 

EXHIBIT A. 
THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

To PEDRO TAUNS, DR. 
For property destroyed and taken by the authorities thereof in Piedras 

Negras, State of Co:thuila, Mexico: . 
October 18, 1855.-0ne house and one kitchen ... __ •...•... _ .... ___ ... _ •• - $3, 000 00 

Groceries ....... -- •.. ---- •.. --- ... -... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1, 000 00 
Household furniture and decorations, and kitchen furni-

ture and cooking-utensils .... ··---··----··----··-·--· 
Wearing -apparel .... ·----· ...... ··---·---· .... ·---·· .. 
Fifteen head of cattle ........... _ .... ___ ... ____ .. ___ .. 
:For injury caused by the loss of the use of his said prop-

750 00 
500 00 
300 00 

erty ... - ......... - ..... - ...... - ........... _. . . . . . . . . 8, 000 00 
For injury to his person and that of his family .•.•.. __ .. 52, 000 00 

·.JW -----
Total amount ... -.- .................. ---- ... _ . _. 65, 550 00 

STATEMENT AND AH.GUMENT :FOR THE UNITED STATES. 

TilE CLAI:\1 A.....""'\'D THE CLAJMA~T. 

The claimant, otherwise known as Peter Towns, is shown by the testimony of one 
of the witnesses on the part of the Uniteu States to be a mulatto, born in the State of 
Texas, and who now professes to be a citizen of the United States, and a voter in the 
State of Texas. It appears that he resided for some time in Mexico, and it is not im­
probable that he was Jiving in Piedras Negras when that village was burnec:l by Cap­
tains Callahan and Henry, in Octoher, 1855. 

Mr. Amos 0. Strickland, whose deposition has been taken on behalf of the United 
States, states as follows: " I know Pedro Tauns, who is one of the claimants for the 
destruction of Piedras Negras. He now resides in Kinney County. He is a native of 

S. Ex. 74-,--ll 
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Texas. He is a mulatto, and was the servant of the late General Sam Houston. He 
resided some time in Mexico, but claims now to be a United St.ates citizen, and told 
me at the last . election how he was going to vote in Kinney County. Tauns is well 
known to the United States officers at Fort Clark; to Major Bacon (who was on Gen­
eral Sheridan's staff), of t.he Ninth United States Cavalry, colored. Tauns has been 
working lately as a mason in the employ of the government at Fort Clark, and for the 
last year or so bas been burning lime, or ha,s been employed in small jobs about the 
post; he is also a :fiddler, and plays at fandangoes and for the officers when they make 
a party th<:·re." 

This ~olored fiddler alleges that at the time of the destruction of Piedras Negras he 
was the owner of a house and kitchen in that village worth $3,000, and personal prop­
er ty to the amount of $2,500.; that the same were destroyed and taken by the men 
under Callahan a.nd Henry, and that the amount of damages sustained by him in con­
sequence thereof was $65,550. This amount be demands from the United Sta.tes as a 
citizen of the Mexican Republic. vVe have already shown that be is not and never 
w as a citizen of Mexico. 

The testimony of Mr. Strickland, to which reference bas been made, shows that if 
this claimant lost anything on that occasion the amount bas been mobstrously exag­
gerated, and it also directly proves that he deliberately intended to defraud the United 
States. Mr. Strickland sa>s: "He told me also that he was one of the claimants for 
the destruction of Piedras Negras, and had made claim t.herefor against the Government 
of the United States. I asked him the amount be claimed, and he answered, '0, I an~ 
ashamed to tell you j it is sa big.' He has never been worth $100 at any time since I have 
known him, and that is eight years.'' 

These observations are sufficient to dispose of this particular claim. But inasmuch 
as it is our present object to direct the attention of the commissioners to the general 
subject of the Piedras Negras claims, particularly to the proofs taken by the United 
States, which sbow that these claimR, as preferred, are the result of a criminal con­
spiracy to defraud the United States, and are supported by false and forged papers 
transmitted by these conspirators through the Mexican Government to this commis8ion, 
we will proceed to present a general summary of the contents of the depositions and 
other proofs introduced by the agent of the Uniteu States. 

The testimopy shows that many of the expedientes :filed in the office of the commission 
are, in whole or in part, forged documents; that persons are represented as having 
signed as claimants documents contained in these expeclientes, who, it is proved, never 
affixed their signatures to such papers; that in numerous instances individuals are 
represented by written signatures as having appeared as witnesses in support of the 
claims of others, who, it is shown, never subscribed the documents to which their sig­
natures purport to be attached, and t.hat this fraudulent work was dune by persons 
engaged in the business of getting up the claims for presentation to this commission. 
'\Ve will speak more in detail hereafter of this wholesale fraud, . _,,,,~~ 

It is apparent also, upon the most hasty inspection of the expedientes on :file in the 
office of the Mexican secretary, that many of them have been manufactured by the 
same hand or hands. It needs no expert in handwriting to prove that numerous sig­
natures of different persons have been made by the same hand, and the sworn testi­
mony on the part of the United States clearly shows that this is undoubtedly the fact. 

Under these circumstances, it will be for the commissioners to determine whether 
any of the expeclientes :filed on the part of the claimants are justly entitled to be received 
as evidence to support the claims, or whether the whole body of them should not be 
thrown out of the cases altogether, and the claims dismissed for want of proof. 

THE TRANSACTION AT PIEDRAS NEGRAS. 

These claims, some one hundred and ninety-three in number, arise out of the burn­
ing of the village of Piedras Negras by a number of mounted volunteer troops, organ­
ized under the authority and in the exclusive service of the State of Texas, ancl com­
manded by Captains Callahan and Henry, on the 5th of October, 1855. These troops, 
as it appears, had been mustered into the service of the State* by the governor of 
Texas, in the mont-h of July, 1855, to serve for three months, unless sooner discharged, 
for the purpose of protecting the frontier settlements a.gainst hostile incursions of the 
Indians. On the night of the 1st of October a portion of them, togethC"r with a number 
of citizens of Texas from Hays, Guadalupe, Bexar, and other counties, crossed the Rio 
Grande several miles from Fort Duncan, without the knowledge, approbation, or assist­
ance of the military authorities of the United States, ostensibly for the purpose of 
following and chastising a band of Lipan Indians from the west side of the river, who 
had previously committed, as was alleged, depredations on t.he settlements in Texas. 
The Texans were resisted, as it would seem, by Indians and Mexicans, and in the prog­
ress of the affair they occupied the Mexican village of Piedras Negras. 

*The War Departmt>nt.possesseA nothing to show that Henry's company was actually recognized 
b.v the governor of Texns tu 1855. It was mustered out, not by order of the governor, but by order of 
C,\llahan.-T. H . B. - · 
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On the 5th they set fire to the town, and a number of houses, or rather huts, belong­
ing to the inhabitants, were burned. It is probable that other property was destroyed, 
and perhaps some articles were carried away by the Texans. The actual extent of the 
loss sustained by the inhabitants will be stated more particularly hereafter. 

The circumstances under which this expedition into the territory of Mexico took 
place may be ascertained, so far as they are now discoverable, from the public docu­
ments filed in evidence, consisting of papers in the possession of the State of Texas, 
and the military and diplomatic correspondence in the possession of the War and State 
Departments of this government. 

It is to be regretted that the affair was not subjected, at the time it occurred, when 
the recollection of witnesses was fresh, to a thorough and searching investigation. 
An effort was made by the Mexican authorities to prove that the commander of the 
United States troops at Fort Duncan connived at this invasion of Mexican territory, 
and after the Texan volunteers were driven back by the Mexican forces rendered them 
active assistance. On the other hand, the then Secretary of Statf', Mr. Marcy, in cor­
respondence with the Mexican minister, took the ground that the Texans had been in 
fact invited across the river by competent Mexican authority in order to aid the Mexi­
cans in chastising the Lipan Indians, who bad committed robberies and murders in 
Texas; that they had been treacherously le.d into an ambuscade of an overwhelming 
hostile force of Mexicans and Indians; and that therefore they were justified in adovt­
ing any measure which would tentl to secure their safe retreat t;> the other side. 

A c~ndid consideration, however, of the con:temporary documents will show beyond 
all tloubt of cont.rover::>y that the imputation against the coillwauding officer at Fort 
Duncan was wholly without foundation, as that officer neither connived at the origi­
nal invasion nor rendered the party afterward any assistance in carrying on the hos­
tilities in whieh they had becoille involved. The Texan volunteers crossed the river 
during the night, about two miles below Fort Duncan, without the knowledge or con­
sent of Captain Burbank. When that officer fouud that something in the nature of a 
battle was transpiring on the other side, he so disposed of some of his artillery a3 to 
prbvent any violation of American territory, as he had the right and it was his duty 
to tlo. And when he was informed by Callahan, after t.he place had been fired, that 
his men were deserting him and he was not able to resist the Mexicaus, he replied that 
they had deliberately determined to make a stand against the Mexican forces, and that 
after what had trauspired the Texans must abide by their determination. 

The correspondence also shows that as soon as the military commander of the depart­
meut, Geueml Persifor F. Smith, was advised of what had occurred, he took all proper 
measures, under the tlirectiou of the goverumen tat \Vashingtou, to prtnrent any further 
violations of the neutrality Jaws of the United States. 

There can be no doubt that the authorities of the United States were free from blame 
in this transaction. It was au affair of the State of Texas aud Texan volunteers and 
citizens; it was no affair of the national government or any of its proper authorities. 

The theory advanced by the Secretary of State, in correspondence with Mr. Almonte, 
that Callahan crossed the river upon the invitation and with the assistance of the .Mex­
ican alcalde or other authority, and upon assurances of the aid of the Mexican officers 
in pursuing the Indians, appears to have been founded upon the report of Callahan to 
the governor of Texa~, in which that statement would seem to ha,ve been macle. This 
report, however, cannot now be found and was probably destroyed or mislaid during 
the confusion of the recent rebellion in Texas. (See letter of the secretary of state of 
Texas to Mr. Ashton, May 10, 1870.) 

A darker shade seems to have been giYen to the transaction by the suggestion that 
this inroad iuto Mexican territory was undertaken for the recapture of fugitive slaves. 
Whether this was the object of these men, or the real object of the expedition was in 
good faith to inflict chastisement upon Indian robbers and murderers who had taken 
shelter on Mexican soil, it ma.v be, perhaps, difficult at this day to ascertain with posi­
tive certainty. But whatever was the real object or motive of these men, aml whether 
they crossed into Mexico with or without the consent of the authorities, their act of 
settiug fire to the town of Piedras ~egras, we are bound to say, was without justifica­
tion or valid excuse. 

The question, however, of the responsibility of the Goverument of the United States 
for the destnwtion of this village is another matter. That these men were not in the 
military service of the United States is admitted. They were purely and simply a part 
of the militia of the State of Texas. We have already said that the United States 
military authorities had no know·ledge or notice of this intended expedition into 
Mexico; that they were not apprised of the fact that the Texans had crossed the riv-er 
until after theiT forces were on the other side; that the military commander at Port 
Duncan rendered them no assistance in the beginning, and afforded them no aid in the 
progress or at the en<l of the affair; and that he denounced, iu proper terms, their act 
in occupying and destroying the Mexican village. 

It is, indeed, abuudantly clear that the Government of the United States neither by 
sufferance nor 1·ccep~ion (patientia a1tt receptu), to use the words of Grotius, knowingly 
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aided or abetted the invasion or the subsequent acts of the Texas militia. And under 
these circumstances no responsibility can be held to attach to the United States for the 
injuries sustained by the inhabitants of Piedras Negras, unless it should be determined 
that Captains Callahan and Henr;r, officers of the State of Texas in command of this 
militia force, organized under the authority of the State, were within the legal desig­
nation of "authorities of the United States," in the sense and meaning of the treaty of 
July 4, 1868. 

We have thus presentNl a brief outliue of the facts oi the transaction at Piedras 
N0gras in 185G, and stated the only ground upon which any liabili ty therefor can be 
im1mted to the Government of the United States. We 11ow proceed to show, inde­
pendeut.ly of any legal ground of obj ~ction to tho recovery of those claims arising out 
~f the chm·acter of the parties inflicting the injury, the claimants have, hy their own 
acts of fraudulent exaggeration of their losses and damages, and presenting through 
their agents, or otllerwise, false and forged papers in support of their reclamations, 
placed their cla.ims in such a position as to be withont credible or trustworthy proofs 
before this commission. 

FRAUDULENT EXAGGEUATION 01<' LOSSES AND DAMAGES. 

Piedras Negras, according to the evidence introdncc<l by the United States, was at the 
time iu. qncstiou one of the most wretched and insignificant of all the villages :mel ~>mall 
towns of the Mexican Republic. It did not contain more than five hundred souls, men, 
women, and cbldren, or more than one hundred families all told. General Burbank 
states that it was settled after the establishment of the post of Fort Duncan, in the 
spring of 1849, and that tlle inhabitants lived mostly, if not entirely, on the small 
trade carried on wit.h the tro0ps stationed there, and such employment as wasgiveu to 
them from time to time by the government, as guides, muleteers, and laborer.... Their 
houses were chiefly jacales, or Mexican but~:>, an<l many of them consisted of holes or 
cellars dug in t.he hank of the river, covered with thatch, without. door, window, or 
~Sides. These houtses were built of pickets stuck into the ground, with grass roofs, 
without windows or floors. The people were wretchedly poor; and, as the testimouy 
;shows, the whole village, including lots, houses, and all the personal property of the 
inhabitants, could have been bonght in 1855 for less than $50,000. 

Let us see now what the expedientes on file pretend to have been the amount of prop­
erty, real and personal, destroyed and stolen by the Texan volunteers iu October, lt355, 
and of the da.mages actua11y sustained by the claimants. 

The property destroyed or taken is valued in these cases at $2,872,0i0.31, all(l the 
consequential damages alleged to have been sustained are estimated at $8,525,918.12. 
The reclamations thus amount in ftll to $11,397,988.4:-3. 

'Ve subjoin a carefully prepared analysis of the expeclicntes on file in the office of the 
Mexican secretary, showing the estimated values of the several species of property 
alleged to have been destroyed or taken on this occasion. It presents such a case of 
wicked and reckless fall'ehood as has never before occurred in the history of interna­
tional reclamations. The abstract of the expedientes is as follows: 
Ilouses (287) .. _ ...... ___ .....••• _ _ _ ..•. _ ..... __ .. ___ .•. _. __ • _ ...... . 
Corn ( 12,415 fanegas) .. __ •••.•••••..• _ •.. _. _ •.. __ ••.. __ • _ .. ___ .... ____ . 
Corn ( 3 fields) .. __ .... ___ - .• _ • • . ____ .. _ ..... ____ ... ___ ........ _ .. ___ _ 
Horses (298) .. _ ..•.....• _ ..... ___ ... __ .. __ .. _____ . _ .. _ .. ·- ___ ... _ .• _. _ 
Household furniture. __ ........... ___ . _. _ .. _ .. __ ... _. _ ... _ ...•....•... 
Wea1ing-apparel .. _ .•.. ____ . _ . . ; . _ ~ _ ... _ ••. __ ... _ .... _ .... ___ . __ ... _. 
Jewelry ____ ·-·- ........ ·--- ..•••. ·----··--·-········-···· ____ ·-··---· 
Money ... ____ . ____ .. _ ... _ .. _. __ .....•... _. _ . __ ... ____ ... __ .. __ .. ____ . 

Cattle (:~,440) ·----- ---- ···-·· ···--· ·----· ·----- ··-··· ·----· ·----· ---· Pigs ( 804.) .. __ - ..•.. __ .. _. __ . _. _. ____ . _ ... _ .. _. _ .... __ . _ ...... __ . _. _. 
Imple1nents. _ .. _ .. _ .••.. -- .... ___ ... __ .... ___ ... ___ ... _ .. ~ ... ___ .. _ .. 
Fencing ... --- .. _--- .... _ . _ . _ . ---- ... ___ .. ____ .. _____ . ___ ... _ ..... . 
Merchandise .. ___ ...... _ .....•.. ____ ... ___ .. ____ .. __ . __ . _ .. _ .. _ ... _ .. 
Fire-arms.-. -..... -- ... ___ .. ____ - . ____ .. __ . _ .... _ .. .. _. _ .. ____ .. _ .•. _ 
Carts . - - - . . - - ... - ... - .... - ~ - . - - - - ... - ... _ - .. -... _ ... - - - - .. __ . _ .. ___ .• 
Libraries . _ .... ___ .. - --- ... -- .... --- .. - _.- .. -- _- .. - .... . ____ .. _ ... _ .. 
Claims without details.·-----·-······----····-···---·····-··-···· ... . 

$234,218 00 
59,774 00 
4,140 00 

25,110 00 
1~1,359 00 
90,702 00 
45,375 00 
29,364 31 
26,911 00 
37,300 00 
24,384 00 
10,611 00 

222,702 00 
3,858 00 
9.422 00 
9;352 00 

1,917,488 00 

2, 872,070 31 
Loss of use and damages .. - .... - •....•..•........••••.. -.- ..... -.. • . . . 8, 525, 918 12 

Total .••••..•.•••..••... - ..•........••..• -•.....•...•..•..•..•. 11, 397, !38 3 43 
It will be unnecessary to occupy much time or space with a detailed examination of 

the proofs taken by the United States for the purpose of exposing this fraud before the 
commission. Those proofs consist of numerous depositions of persons of respectability 
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and credit, who were perfectly familiar with the chamcter of this place, the con<lition 
of the inhabitants, the value of the property they possessed, and the extent of the 
depredations committeu. The commissioners will read these proofs, an 1l will determine 
that the papers filed in evidence by the claimants :ue absolutely and wholly discred­
ited by the evidence introdnf'ed on the part of the United States. They will discover 
that the losses and damages have been exaggerate<l with a deliberate pnrpose to de­
fraud the government against which the reclamations are presented. Vve shall con­
tend that these facts, together with the actual forgery of documents which it is ap­
parent has here been committed, are sufficient to warrant the determinat.ion that the 
entire mass of claims must be rt'jected. 

We will now briefly review the substance of the testimony for the United States. 
Mr. Edward T. Moore says that a.bout forty smalljacale houses, valued at about $40 

each, were burned; that not more than $5,000 worth of property was taken from the 
inhabitants; and that $10,000 wonld am ply compensate them .for all damages and losses 
sustained. 

Mr. John Newton says that thejacale8 were not worth more than $;)0 each. 
Mr. Adolfo Dnclos s::tys that he knows from personal observation that the articles 

stolen by the filibusters coulll not have amounted in actual value to $1,000. 
Mr. A. 0. Strickland says that the· town did not contain $50,000 worth of property, 

all told. 
Mr. Brackenridge testifies that he maue an estimate of the injury that had been 

ca11sed, a fpw days after t he ar.t, and that he thought it could not; a1nount to $;)0,000. 
Mr. Lorenzo Castro :states that there was onlr one two-story hon'le in the town; 

that the inhabitants had some ext.ra articles of clothing and jewelry; and that$50,000 
or $60,000 would have paid liberally for all the damage done. 

Mr . .E'. Groos testifies to the Bame effect. 
Ramon Perales, a claimant, says that thirty or forty huts were burned, which might 

have been worth $50,000 ear.h, and that the majority of the inhabitants did not pos­
sess more than $200, $:300, or $400. 

Florencio Canales testifies that the majority were poor people, who had $200, ."'300; 
or $400. 

Gregorio Garza, who resided there at the time, states that the maj ority of the resi­
dents were very poor, and had not more than $300 or $400 in value of furniture or 
goods; he swears that the sums claimed are greatly exaggerateu. 

Manual Ban states tba.t the majority of tlw inhabitants were day-laborers; "some 
had a little horse; some cows, with calves, or a little p ig, or a cart to ca.rry water." 
Very few persons hacl cows; a cow with a calf was then worth $10, and a fat pig was 
worth about $25; but be does not recollect to have seen many fat pigs. 

Adelaide Vau, a claimant, says few of t.he inhabitants had much more than $300, ancl 
she states the value of pigs an<l cows. 

Pedro Salazar, a claimant and resident, says that the number of stone houses did 
not exceed six; thn.t the other dwellings were huts, cabins, and cellars; that he was 
living in an underground bnt; that all the houses were not burned. 

The testimony of Rafael Salinas, Jesus Loy, Jose Luciano de la Garza, Jesus Lamora, 
Thomas Martines, Jose Maria Carvasar, and Rafael Tij erina, as to the notorious pov. 
erty of the inhalJitants and the amount of property lost by them, is to the same gen­
eral effect. 

The American witnesses examined in Washington by the agent of the United States, 
viz, General Sidney Burbank, General James B. Ricketts, and Mr. Edmund W. Wal. 
lace, corroborate in their depositions, in substance and effect, all that is said by the 
witnesses examined in Texas anll Mexico. 

It thus appeals that, according to the highest estimate of the value of the town1 if 
the commissioners were to distribute among the claima.nts the full value of all the 
property, real and pen;onal, that it contained, the aggregate amount of the a-wards 
would not exceed $50,000. 

We pass now to the last but the most unpleasant feature of this class of claims. 'Ve 
allude to the e-ddence which shows that the claims have not only been fraudul ently 
exaggerated in amounts, but tlmt they are also supported by false documents in some 
cases with the actual kno wledge of the claimants, and in others, perhaps, without their 
direct connivance or contient. · 

F ALSIFICA TIO:N OF TilE EXPEDIEXTES. 

We will now, us briefly as possible, refer to the testimony which establishes the 
fact alleged in regard to these documents: 

Ramon Pemles, who js a claimant, swears t.hat Luis Mnzqniz, also a claimant and 
one of the per.:~ons concerned in the concoction of this fra ud, came to him aurl aLlYised 
him to present an ex:aggeratetl demand, and stated th:1t the residents of Piedras Negras 
bad agreed to make up their claims and to divide the proceeds with him (Mnzquiz) and 
others who commenced the business. 
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Gregorio Garza testifies that the expedientes were made up by Luiz Muzquiz aud 
others; that Muzquiz came to his house and asked his wife the amount of his loss, and 
that she replied that she was not competent to state how much it was. He-proceeds 
as follows: ''Luis Muzquiz then pnt down the sum which be wished, and be did the 
same with the other residents. I never signed any expediente or declaration of my 
loss. I was never at the house of the judge, nor at the court, for the purpose of giv­
ing testimony on this subject. I believe that he did the same with the others, and 
that he bas put down and claimed $8,000 or $10,000 in favor of persons who did not 
lose $100." 

In another deposition the same witness states: "Luis Muzquiz never spoke to me 
nor any other one about this matter concerning me, nor with reference to other claim­
ants. I know Jesus Salinas and Maximo Garcia and Arcadia Ramirez, but I never pre­
sented them as witnesses in the matter of my claim, inasmuch as I myself did not 
know that they were claiming an amount so exaggerated for me. Jesus Salinas 
lives at Eagle Pass, Maximo Garcia lives since four years on a ranch in Texas, eleven 
leagues from Piedras Negras, and Arcadia Ramirez lives in the little town; and in 
order to present them as witnesses in my claim, I would have been under the neces­
sity of going to seek them in those places ; this I never did because no one ever spoke 
to me about doing it. I know Antonio Montes, and Jesus Frias, and Nicanor Valdes, 
but at no times did I make a deposition with respect to t!Jeir expedientes in their claims. 
I also know Pedro Gonzales, but neither did I make a deposition about him or about 
the property which he lost. It surprises me to see my name as a witness in the mat­
ters touching the claims of these parUes against the United States, inasmuch .as I 
never made and never was called to give testimony respecting them. I do not kuow 
Maria N. de la Garza, and it is not poss!.ble that I could have made a deposition of who 
she was or what she had. I am completely ignorant of the persons who appear as 
witnesses in the expediente which was made up for me, and it is my opinion that in 
these transactions many rascalities have been committed. I never knew the amount 
which they claimed for me, inasmuch as I never had the intention of claiming one Qent 
more than what I lost. It is, in my opinion, very wrong to use the names of persons 
as witnesses without their knowledge, and I believe what was done in my case was 
done in many others." 

Adelaide Van, another claimant, testifies that she made no deposition nor subscribed 
any document in respect to a claim before the judge at Piedras Negras, nor before any 
other authority. She implicates a person named William Stone in the fraudulent trans­
action, and gives a full account of an interview with that person. She also states, like 
Gregorio Garza, that many of the claimants were children at the time of the occur:rence. 

Pedro Salazar testifies that be communicated with Luis Muzqniz, and that he and 
his secretary, Abram Jimenez, banded him a paper to sign, telling him it was the ex­
pediente of his claim, but that be did not read it, and did not know what it contained. 

Jesus Loy testifies that Luis Mnzquiz and Mr. Coopwood were engaged in preparing 
claims for the residents of Piedras Negras, but that they never called on him to make 
depositions, and that if be appears as a witness his name has been fraudulently used. 
The analysis of the exped·ientes herewith presented shows t.bat Jesus Loy appears as 
a witness infive cases. 

Ramon Perales, in another deposition, swears that be was never asked to subscribe 
any document or expediente, and if Luis Muzquiz or other agen~ bas placed his name 
in expedientes, such agent has committed a fraud by using his signature. It appears, 
however, that Perales is a claimant in one case, and a witness in jon1· others. 

There is other testimony to the same effect; and it is all corroborated by the appear­
ance of the expedientes, which shows the most r:mperficial observer that they have been 
manufactured by the wholesale by the f{etters-up of these absurd claims. 

Muzquiz, the principal Mexican conspirator, claims on his own account $51,797, while 
the testimony is that be was extremely poor and was at one time in jail. The other 
parties concerned with him in the fraud unfortun:ttely appear to be Americans. 

The Government of the United States having determined to expose this fraud, a 
special agent was sent to Mexico, and the valuable results of his inquiries are con­
tained in the depositions to which we have referred, and the principal parts of which 
we have indicated. The proofs show beyond all doubt-

Firstly. That the claims have been grossly exaggerated, with intent to defraud the 
United States. 

Secondly. That numerous persons appear as claimants who were either not in 
Piedras Negras at the time of its destruction, or were chi:dren, and owned nothing at 
that time. 

Thirdly. That the names of claimants have ueen placed without their consent to 
representa,tions of claims and of papers. 

Fourthly. That numerous persons are represented as having signed documents as 
witnesses who swear that they never signed such documents or authorized their names 
to be signed thereto. 
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Fifthly. That these documents have been gotten up by and between Luis Muzquiz, 
William Stone, and-- Coop wood, doubtlest:~ with the assistance of the local Mexican 
udge. 

THE PROPER DISPOSITION OF THE CLAIMS. 

Upon this state of fact.s it will become necessary for the commissioners to determine 
whether or not the entire body of these Piedras Negras claims should not be rejected, 
on the ground of fraud practiced or attempted to be -practiced against the United 
States in the expeclientes on file in the office of the commission. 

On behalf of the United States the undersigned contends that such disposition 
should be given to these claims. The proofs on file, he contend,.,, are not entitled to 
be received in evidence and read in support of the claims. They are all tainted with 
fraud, and are vitiated thereby absolutely and entirely. The cases, therefore, stand 
as if they were entirely without attempted proof. They should be rejected and dis­
mil:;sed for want of evidence to support them. 

There is an analogy in the legislation of the United States which might also be 
profitably considered in connection with these claims, in view of the fraud to which 
we have referred. "'We allude to that provision of the statute of March 3, 1863, 
concerning the Court of Claims, which declares: "That any person or persons who 
shall corruptly practice or attempt to practice any fraud against the United States in 
the proof, statement, establishment, or allowance of any claim against the United 
States, ipso fa cto, shall forfeit the same to the government; anu it shall be the duty of 
t.he Court of Claims, in such cases, to find specifically that such fraud was practiced 
or attempted to be practiced, and thereupon give judgment that such claim is forfeited 
to the government, and that the claimant be forever barred from prosecuting the 
same." (12 Stats., p. 767.) This statute proceeds on the ground of forfeiture; but the 
special ground on which the undersigned now asks the r~j ection of these claims is, 
that the documents filed in evidence on behalf of the petitioners uefore this com­
mission are shown to ue utterly untrustworthy, and therefore inadmis3ible as proof in 
support of the rec]amations. 

If, however, contrary to the view now presented, the commissioners determine to 
make awards in any cases, it will be necessary to determine who among all these 
claimants there is just reason to believe were Mexican citizens residing in the place 
and were owners of property, or subjected to injnry, at the time of the occurrence, and 
to estima.te the damages according to the effect of the evidence introduced by the 
United States. Under this rule of decision the number of cases in which awards can 
be made will be extremely limited, and the amount of the awards will be exceedingly 
small. In no possible contingency, however, will the commissioners be entitled upon 
these proofs to award in the aggregate a greater amount than $50,000. If they should 
b.elieve that every house in tlte town was burned, and every dollar's worth of 
property destroyed and carried away, and that every individual here appearing was 
.an actual sufferer, and is entitled to appear as a claimant against the United States, 
the above amount iSJ the largest which could possibly be distributed as awards among 
these claimants. 

In the confident belief, however, that sufficient has been shown to j nstify the com­
missioners in rejecting the entire body of claims, the foregoing observations are sub­
mitted for their consideration. 

The undersigned prints herewith the depositions taken on behalf of the United 
States. He also submits, in connection with this argument, a ma,nuscript volume, 
containing a full list of the claimants and of the witnesses, whose names are attached 
to the expedientes, and also a complete abstract of the claims, giving schedules and 
amounts of all tlte property for the alleged loss of which indemnity is claimed, to­
gether with observations upon each claim which will aid the commissioners in appre­
ciating the full extent of the fraud here attempted. 

This book has been carefully prepared by a skillful hand, with a view to facilitate 
the investigation of these cases. 

J. HUBLEY ASHTON, 
Counsel of the United States. 

DEPOSITIONS TAKEN ON THE PART OF THE UNITED STATES. 

Deposition of James B. Ricketts, Majoi'-General United States A1·my (retked). 

The deponent, being duly sworn, says: In the summer and fall of 1855 I was a cap­
tain of artillery in the Army of the United States, and was stationed at Fort Duncan, 
in Texas, situated on the east side of the Rio Grande, nearly opposite to the town or 
village of Piedras Negras, in Mexico. While stationed there I frequently visited 
Piedras Negras, and had a fair opportunity of acquiring some knowledg·e of the conn-



168 CLAIMS AGAINST TifE UNITED STATES. 

try in the neighborhood, and of the resources, business, and loss sustained from its 
invasion by a party of armed Texans in October, 1855. The town or village of Piedras 
Negras contained at that time not more than eight hundred persons, and was situ­
ated about one mile from Fort Duncan. They were very poor, being principally a 
fluctuating population of Mexican herders and carriers, with their families, who re­
sided in huts built of adobe, covered with a coarse grass, with earthed floors. There 
were about one hundred of these huts, and probably tma. others with gravel roofs. 
There was but one two-story brick house, the property of a man named Rich, which 
was not molested, and was the principal place of business. There was considerable 
transit trade in raw cotton and bonded goods from the United States; corn, hides, 
lead, wool, and brood mares to the United States, the freight mainly carried on ox­
carts. The country w:1s unproductive and without cultivation. The Texans remained 
about twenty-four hours, barricading the streets with ox-carts aud setting fire to 
these grass-covered huts, which were easily consumed, with a number of ox-carts, 
besides destroying all they could belonging to the defenseless people, after which 
they recrossed to the Texas side of the river in a panic, using the :l:latboats and skiffs, 
and in such haste that their own horses were abandonNl until they could subsequently 
return for them. I am of the opinion that no heavy articles were carried away, and 
it is impossible for me to state the value of any property stolen or destroyed, beyond 
the fact that the impoverished cctndition of the inhabitants, their insufficient clothing 
and scanty subsistence, prove the impossibility of their being pillaged to any large­
amount. 

JAMES B. RICKETTS, 
Major-General United States Lh·rny (reth·ed). 

Deposition of Sidney Burbank, Brevet Brigadier-General United States Army (retired). 

The deponent, being duly sworn, deposes and says: I was a captain in the Army of 
the United States in October, 1855, and was stationed at Fort Duncan, Texas, and in 
command at that post. I had a fair opportunity of knowing something of the pop­
ulation and business of the people, and could very well jndge of their wealth or pov­
erty. Fort Duncan was established in the spring of 18491 at which tiwe there were 
no inhabitants on either side of the river, up or down, for a great number of miles. 
The town of Piedras Negras, situated directly opposit,e Fort Duncan, was settled and 
grew up after the establishment of that post. The inhabitants were very poor, and 
lived mostly, if not entirely, from the small trade carried on with the troops stationed 
at Fort Duncan and the dependents thereon, and such employment as was given them 
from time to time by the government as guides, muleteers, and laborers. Occasionally 
there were Mexican troops stati,oned at Piedras Negras, but it was not a regular gar­
risoned place, and the inhabitants could recei>e but little support from this source. 
In October, 1855, I should judge the number of inhabitants to be about fiye hundredt 
men, women, and children. The houses, huts, or dwellings of the inhabitants were of 
the cheapest construction, built of adobes or upright poles and thatched with grass; 
in some cases the dwellings were caves or excavations in the banks of the river, and 
these dwellings were furnished in a manner equally plain and cheap. In my opinion, 
these houses or huts could not cost, on an average, more than $50, and the furnishing 
could not exceed that amount. There were to the best of my knowledge and belief 
from eighty to one hundred of these huts or houses burned by the Texans on the 6th 
of October, 1855, and the entire and total damage caused by the conflagration would 
not exceed, in my estimation, $10,000. 

S. BURBANK, 
Brevet Brigaclier- Geneml, U11ited S~ates A1·rny. 

Deposition of Edn~und W. Wallace. 

The dflponent, being duly sworn, sa.ys: That he is an American citizen by birth, is 
forty years of age, and is residing at Georgetown, District of Columbia. That in 1850 
he sojourned at Fort Dnncan, where he was in business in connection with his brother, 
who was sutler to the post; that he remained so in business until 1853, when he was 
appointed deputy collector of customs at Eagle Pass, Tex., directly opposite Piedras 
Negras, by Mr. Guthrie, the Secretary of the United States Treasury. He remaineJ. 
such collector, discharging the duties of his office, until March, 1861. His business 
office was in Fort Duncan, contiguous to Eagle Pass. His business and residence 
afforded him fair opportunities of becoming very well acquainted with the town of 
Piedras Negras, he having almost daily intercourse with it, and becoming acquainted 
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with very many of the inhabitants, their occupations, and pursuits. He was in that 
town when it was burned by the troops under the command of Captains Callahan and 
Henry, who were sa,id to be in the service of the State of Texas. He estimates the 
number of the inhabitants of Piedras Negras at the time of the burning, including 
men, women, and children, at about eight hundred souls, and they were generally very 
poor indeed. Some of them, perhaps a majority of the heads of families, were owners 
of small lots of cattle, which were allowed to graze during the day-time iu the neigh­
borhooil, and which were brought up to the village at night for protection ~tgainst the 
Indian's. Some of them were owners of carts and ox-teams, anll were engaged in 
freighting between San Antonio and Eagle Pass. Some of them were little shop-keep­
ers, having a meager supply of miserable Mala,ga wine, mescal, cigarritos, and other 
little articles. Some few, also, had Mexican blankets for sale. There were four stores, 
and he can remember no more, which had a better supply of goods-one managed by 
Mr. Riel , one by Mr. Duclos, one by Mr. Oswald, and one by Mr. Stone. He thinks 
that the snpply of goods which these four stores may have had on hand at the time of 
the burning could not have exceeded in valne $100,000 in the aggregate, and he does 
not know that the value was as great. The goods in the lHtle shops and stores could 
not, in his opinion, have exceeded in value $75,000. The retail trade of the town of 
Piedras Negras was mostly carried on across the river at Eagle Pass, the inhabitants 
buying there their coffee, sugar, calicoes and other dress-goods, and no considerable 
stock ·of goods was kept at Piedras N egras. The houses in Piedras N egras ·were mostly 
small, built of adobe, and thatched with a species of country grass or st.raw. The 
military barracks on the plaza were covered with a kind of concrete roof. There was 
one brick house in town, belonging to Mr. Rich. There were no frame or wooden 
houses in tlte town. The housPs were generally without :floors, and were wor~h, gen­
erally, on an average, about $400 apiece. The deponent built an adobe house at Fort 
Duncan for his use, better than the average of houses in Piedras Negras, at a cost of 
$500; the labor employed was Mexican. The furniture of the houses was meager in 
quantity and very primitive in character. He thinks, on an average, the fnrnitnre to 
each house was not worth over $100, including t.he whole, beds, bedding, &c. Their 
little gardens about in the village produced very little; some little cultivation was 
carried on out of town in the neighborhood. The Mexicans are generally fond of 
jewelry, but the inhabitants of Piedras Negras were so poor that the quantity in that 
town was inconsiclerable. It was very uncommon to find a watch among the inhab­
itants. The food of the inhabitants consisted of tortillas, jerked beef, and peppers. 
The corn they ground by hand-mills. Thirty bushels of corn on hand at the time of 
the bnrning is a reasonable estimate for each family, and, calculating about six persons 
in each family, there were about one hundred and thirty-three families. The price of 
corn was from $1 to $1.25 per bushel. 'rhere was a considerable number of ox-carts in 
t.Q.e town, of very simple and primitive character, the wheel being generally composed 
of one piece. There were a few modern carts, with hubs, spokes, and iron tires. The 
deponent thinks it likely that a, number, perhaps thirty or forty, of these were burned, 
as he saw them piled together in the form of a barricade. They were worth on an 
average about $40 apiece. The Callahan troops did not carry off any carts, oxen, cows, 
or other animals, and he does not think any considerable number of these could have 
been lost by the occupation and burning of the town by Callahan. It is possible some 

• few may have stampeded and strayed off, but deponent thinks not many. 
The deponent says that he was messing with the officers at Fort Duncan at the time 

the burning took place, and be knows that no officer or soldier of that post participated 
therein or sanctioned it in any manner. Himself and Dr. Woo<l were in Piedras 
Negras, from curiosity, in the afternoon of the day that the town was fired. As soon 
as they discovered that the town was being fired, they irnme<liately crossed the river 
to the American side. The town of Piedras Negras was not compactly built, but scat­
tered oYer an area of about a quarter of a mile square. The brick house referred to 
was not burned. ' 

The deponent resided at Fort Duncan twelve years, and knew the people of Piedras 
N egras very well. 

Tbe deponent says he has no interest in any claim before the commission. 

[Translation. J 

STATE OF TEXAS, Ma1:e1'ick Cottnty, ss : 

EDMUND W. WALLACE. 

Deposition of Manuel Ban, of Eagle Pass, Texas, taken on behalf of the United States, 
and intended to be used before the joint commission between the United States and 
Mexico in the matter of various claims now pending before that said commission. 

The said MANUEL BAN, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I was born in 
the State of Arkansas, in the United States of the North; I am an American citizen, 
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and resident of Eagle Pass; thirty-nine years of age, and a carpenter by occupation. 
I am well acquainted with PiedrasNegras siuce the year 1851. Since the 24th of June, 
1855, I have lived in Eagle Pass, and during the time before and after the destruction 
of Piedras Negras by Texas volunteers, under the orders of Callahan and Henry, my 
business, as agent of one of the business houses of Eagle Pass, obliged me to go every 
day, and even five times a day, to Piedras Negras. I was acquainted with almost every 
bouse and cabin in Piedras Negras, and also the greater part of .the inhabitants. At 
the time of the burning by the aforesaid Texans, it did not have more than three or 
four hundred houses. Juan Jose Patino had a house about ten vams (yards) long and 
four and a half wide; Jose Ma. Flores bad a house in dimensions a little more or less 
than that of Patino; Dona Isabel Milian also bad a bouse, and, besides these three 
houses, it had houses which were the quarters of troops, and in one of these Captain 
Saiz, the bnsbancl of Dona Onofre Villareal, lived, and when the burning took place 
Captain baiz was not in the town, and Dona Onofre Villareal alone in the bouse. 
Besides the houses mentioned, the dwellings consistetl of buts, cabins, ancl straw­
thatched buts, the number of which did not exceed one hundred and twenty-five; it 
only had three streets. The inhabitants in general were exceHsively poor, with the 
exception of eight or ten persons who had means of living. One of these was Jesus 
Maria de la Garza; be had a little shop, and, estimating in all conscience the goods, 
their value <'lid not exceed $3,000; and it was the only store which had supplies. 
The capital of the other rich people did not exceed from $800 to $1,000. Almost all 
these had a little bar-room, but they did not have supplies of the goods in which they 
traded, and they always crossed to Eagle Pass to buy their liquors by a gallon at a 
time. The majority of the other inhabitants were day-laborers, and who before were 
soldiers, and l did not know that they had any property besides their labor; some 
had a little horse, some cows with calves, or a little pig, or a cart to carry water. 
The dwellings were of a very inferior kind, and the constmction of the greater part 
of them could not have exceeded $100 in cost; they were of mesquite posts, and cov­
ered with hay or straw. The material for the construction of cabins was then very 
close to the town. 'fhe furniture of the house was little and of very slight cost; the 
richest, including their furniture and the ornaments of their houses, were not worth 
abo\e $400. The houses of Dona Isabel .Miihm, of Dvna Onofre Villareal, of Pedro 
Lechupia, husband of Dona Dolores Salinas, were the houses best furnished and 
adorned, but the value of the furniture and adornments could not have exceeded $400. 
In each hut lived one family, but as every day new emigrants arrived, it might have 
been t.hat in one or other hut families lived in a crowded state. The number of horses 
was not large, and the best was not worth above $80, and the majority of them were 
worth from $15 to $20 each, because they belonged to poor men, who did not haV(I the 
means to keep a go.od horse. I believe that all the inhabitants of Piedras Negras to­
gether did not lose more than twenty-five horses. I saw the Texans when they 
crossed from Texas to Mexico, and I saw them all well mounted, and I also saw them 
when they returned from Piedras Negras, and I believe that the Texans left as many 
of their own horses in Piedras Negras as they carried away from the inhabitants of 
Piedras Negras. Veryfew persons had cows, and a cow with calf was then worth$10. 
I do not recollect to have seen many fat pigs; a fat pig was worth at that time as much 
as $25, and I have never seen a fat pig which was worth more at any time before or 
after, nor have I known of a case where more than $2G was asked for a pig. 'fhe per­
sons who had jewelry were few, and all who bad wore it, and they had time to hide it 
before the Texans commenced to rob and burn the houses. From the moment that 
the Texans crossed to the Mexican bank (side) the families in Piedras Negras began 
to go out, leaving everything of value, and this tl.ight (emigration) lasted until the vol­
unteers returned after four or five days, when they commenced to rob and burn the 
houses, and I believe that the inhabitants removed everything which they had of value 
out of the city, inasmuc•h as they had time ~mfficient to do it. 'fhe day before the 
burning of Piedras Negras I went iuto the majority of the houses, and for this (reason) 
I know very well what was their situation; I myself assisted families to cross to the 
American side. The inhabitants in general were very poor; the persons who had 
more than $300 were very few and very famous. I was acquainted with Mariana Juana 
Hernandez: she had a few little bottles and some sweetme~tts :1nd a little soap; she 
was a working (laboriug) woman, and had a little cabin, joined to a straw-thatched 
hut, worth $100. The wines and other merchantable e:fft~cts did not exceed $70 in value. 

I am acquainted with, and was acquainted with, Lorenzo Guevara; he was very poor; 
he had a cabin, half above and half uuder ground; he had nothing, and lived with his 
mother. I was acquainted with Juan Jose Patino; ho was poor, and he did not have 
more than one house, the same which he still has; and I only knew him as a day­
laborer, and sometimes he was engaged in the courts and other employments; in the 
event of his owning carts and property he had them outside. I am acquainted with 
Santos Loy; he was a soldier, and very poor-a laborer who worked from day to clay for 
a living. I am acquainted with Guadalupe Ramos; he was very poor, and burdened 
with a family ; he lived in a straw-thatched cabin, where he had eight or ten bottles 
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of wine, and he gave balls to support himself in a very straitened way. I am ac­
quainted with Francisco Gonzalez; he was a very poor day-laborer; he did not have 
property of any kind; he worked on the river to support himself. I am acquainted 
with Melchora Zimenez; she was very poor, and nothing but her labor with which to 
support herself; her son Francisco Quiritero lived with her, who was under age, and who 
had no property separated from ·his mother. I am acquainted with Geronimo Gonza­
lez; he was very poor; be bad a few little carts, with which he supported himself. I 
am acquainted with Pablo Valadez; be was very poor; he labored with his souR cov­
ering cabins in order to support himself; there lived with him his sons, who were 
under age, Nicanor and Silverio, who did not have and do not yet have any property 
separate from their fat.ber. I am acquainted with Simon Ramirez; he was a very 
poor laborer. I am acquainted with Angel Yturriaga; he was an ex-soldier, very 
poor, and was a servant. iu the houses of different persons; he worked very little, be­
cause he was almost always drunk. I likewise am acquainted wi.th Secundino Bar­
bosa; he was a retired soldier, very poor, a little drunkard, and all his property was 
an ass. I am acquainterl with Manuel Rodrigues; be had a little shop (cabaret), with 
a few little bottles, and by this he supported himself. I am acquainted with Jose Ma. 
Carbajal, who was in the same condition as B<Lrbosa; he was an ex-soldier, and a 
drunkard. I am ~cquainted with Victor Gonzalez; he was a sil-versmith, bnt he did not 
have any indepenilent place of business; he was very poor. I do not remember to ha-ve 
seen Gregorio Gonzal<"s at that time, and I believe he was not in Piedras Negras. I was 
acqnainted with Julian Rodriguez before and after the burning of Piedras Negras, but 
I never knew of his livhJg in Piedras Negras before the year 1862. I am acqnainted 
with Antonio Montt>z; he was ,~ery poor; be had a few Httle bottles and played the 
>iolin. I am acquainted with Jesus Losoya, but he did not live in Piedras Negras. I 
am acquainted with Juan N. Lopez; be had some cows, a.nd sold milk; he was poor, and 
worked wherever they engaged him; in this way he was supported. I was acquainted 
with Mariano Aguirre for a long t.ime, and at the time of the burning lte was not more 
than thirteen years of age, and never had any property except the clothing which he 
wore. I am acqnainted with Luis .M:uzquiz; he had nothing else in this world bnt the 
pen with which he wrote lies. Jam acquainted with Cervero Barrara; be lived with 
his mother Dona Isabel Milian; he had little cows, carts, horses, the property of his 
mother, under his management; she, moreover, bad a little shop (cabaret), and was 
one of the richest. I am acqnaint.ed with Pedro Gonzalez; be had no more capital 
than his carts and little cows, with which he supported himself; he lived in a cabin, 
but this cabin was not bnrned, because I saw it afterward. I am acqnainted with 
Juan Caceres; he was very poor; he workerl. on hal-ves in a boat (ferry) in order to 
maintain himself. I am acqnainted with Anastasio Gonzalez; he was -very poor, and a 
robber; I did not know that he bad any other occupation except to rob, and by this means 
he supported himself. A few days before the fire he stole stock from the American 
camp. I am acquainted with Severo de la Luna; he was poor, a day-laborer. I am 
acqwainted with Jose Ma. Rodriguez; be was very poor; I never knew that he had 
any property; he was a day-laborer, and a very good worker. I was acqnainted with 
Domingo San Miguel; be bad nothing more than the little ornaments of his house, 
which did not exceed $400 in value. I am acquainted with Jesus Salinas; be lived in 
a sufficiently dilapidated cabin; he had nothing more than some carts which he had 
bought, and these carts were absent on a journey at the time of the fire. I am ac­
quainted with Maria Delila Tau us, and her claim ought to be the same which Domingo 
San 11ignel claims, with whom she lived at that time as wife. I am acquainted with 
Jesus l\1a. Herrera; lJe was poor, working in a foundery. I am acquainted with Dy­
onisio Gonzalez; be is the father of Francisco Gonzalez; be was very poor, a day­
la,borer. I always knew Jose Jimenez was a very poor devil. I am acquainted with 
Adelaide Ban; she is my sister; she was a widow, engaged in washing and ironing, 
and made clothing in order to support herself, and her loss did not exceed $200, and I 
am convinced that she never intended to claim a cent more than what she lost. I am 
acquainted with Miguel Patino; he had carts with which be supported himself, and I 
think at the time of the fire ho was on a journey with the carts. I am acquainted with 
Catarino Rios; be waH poor, working for me as a wagoner on the very day of the fire, 
when he asked leave to cross to Piedras Negras to see his house. I am acqnainted with 
Leonardo Rodriguez; he was very poor, and worked by the day in order to support 
himself. I am acquainted with Gabriel G. Cordero.; he was a poor man, a card-player. 
I am acquainted with Julian On.iz, who is now a guard; and if be is the same who 
])resents a claim for losses caused by the burning of Piedras Negras, I say that he never 
lived in Piedras Negras at that time; he was a resident of SanJuan de Allende. I am 
acquainted with Jacinto Rodrigues; he is a card-player by profession, and never bad 
anything. I am acquainted with Vidala de la Cerda; he was poor; had fifteen or 
twenty bottles of wiue, and made bread; with this he supported himself. I am ac­
quainted with Eleno Rodriguez; he is the son of Ramon R.odrignez; he lived with 
his father, and did not have any property whatever separate from his father. I am 
acquainted with Manuel Perea; he was employed as clerk in the business of Jesus de 
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la Garza. If Jose Ma. Parez, who presents claims, is the one who was a guard, and 
lives to-day in the little town (the town of Fuentes), I say that he came a long time 
after the destruction to live in Piedras N ep·as; he was (then) a resident of San J nan 
Allende. I am acquain~ed with Maria Telesfora Sosa; she is the wife of Geronimo 
Gonzalez, and she coulfl not have. sustained losses apart from her husband. I am ac­
quainted with Blas Palos; he was as poor as Lorenzo Guevarm, with whom he was 
brought up, in the same house, and be was not at that time auove fifteen years of age. 
I believe that the values which claimants have put in their exped·ientf's are ridiculously 
exaggerated, and I believe that everything tbaL existed in Piecl.ras Negras, together 
with all the land on which the town was built, could hfwe beeu bought at that time 
for $100,000. 

MANUEL BAS. 

(Here follows, in English, the c~rtificate, unr1er seal, of Albert Tiirpe, notary public 
of Maverick County, Texas.) 

STATE OF TEXAS, Mcwerick Qounty, ss: • 
Deposition of William Schuchardt, of Piedras Negras, taken ou behalf of the United 

States, aud intended to be used before the joint commission between the United 
States and Mexico, in the matter of various claims now pending before the said 
commission. 

The Aaid "\Vn"LIAM SCHUCHARDT, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a 
citizen of the United States, a residep.t of t,he Piedras Negras,forty years of age, and com­
mercial agent of the United States at Piedras Negras, Mexico. I am well acqua.inted 
with Manuel Ban, of Eagle Pass, Tex., who has signed aml sworn to a deposition 
taken before Albert Titrpe: on the 6th day of March, 1871. The said Manuel Ban is 
entirely worthy of credit, and his statements are to be believed. His general reputa­
tion for truth and veracity is very good. 

WILLIAM SCHUCHARDT. 

(Translated by A. P.M., Washington, May 31, 1871.) 

[Translation.] 

STATE OF_ TEXAS, Maverick County: 

Deposition of Gregorio Garza, of Piedras Negras, Mexico, taken on behalf of the United 
States, and intended to be used before t,he joint commissio11 between the United 
States and Mexico, in the matter of various claims now pending uefore the said 
commission. 

The said GREGORIO GARZA, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a citizen 
of Mexico and resident of Piedms Negras, in the district of Rio Grande, State of Coa­
huila, forty-six years of age, and a laborer by occupation. I know Antonio Montez, 
and Pedro Gonzalez, and Jesus Frias, and IS"icanor Valadez; I do not know MariaN. 
de la Garza, and I do not recollect having known her at that time. I was a resident of 
Piedras Negras at the time that this town was destroyed by volunteers under the orders 
of Callaha.n and Henry, and I was at that time in the town. I know many of the 
residents who at that time lived in Piedras Negras, who have presented claims against 
the United States of the North for loRRes which they sustained by the destruction of 
the town of Piedras N egras at that tiille. At the time the expedientes of claimants 
were ma.de up I was absent from Piedras Negras, and on my return my wife informed 
me that Luis Muzquiz had talked with her about making up au expediente touching 
the loss which I had suffered by the destruction of my property when the volunteers 
robbed and burned the houses; hut Luis Muzquiz never spoke to me, nor any other 
one, about this matter concerning me, nor with reference to other claimants. I know 
Jesus Salinas and Maximo Garcia and Arcadio Ramirez, but I never presented them 
as witnesses in the matter of rny claim, inasmuch a,s I myself did not know that they 
were claiming an amount so exaggerated for me. Jesus Salinas lives at Eagle Pass; 
Maximo Garcia lives, since four years, on a ranch in Texas, eleven leagues from Pied­
ras Negras, and Arcadio Ramirez lives in the little town; and in order to present them 
as witnesses in my claim, I would have been under the necessity of going to seek them 
in those places; this I never did, because no one ever spoke to me about doing it. I 
know Antonio Montez, and Jesus Frias, and Nicanor Valdes; but at no time diLl I make 
a deposition with respect to their expeclientcs in their claims. I know also Pedro Gon-
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zalez, but neither did I make a deposition about him or about the property which be 
lost. It surprises me to see my name as a witness in the matters touching the claims 
of these parties against the United States, inasmuch as I never made and never was 
called to give testimony respecting them. I do not know MariaN. de la Garza, and 
it is not possible that I couhl have made a deposition of who she was or what she had. 
I am completely ignorant of the persons who appear as witnesses in the expediente 
which was made up for me, and it is my opinion that in these transactions many ras­
calities have been committed. I never knew the amount which they claimed for me, 
inasmuch as I never had the intention of claiming one cent more than what I lost. It 
is, in my opinion, very wrong to use the names of persons as witnesses without their 
knowledge, and I believe what was done in my case was done in ma,ny others. I am 
informed that some persons, snch as Eleno Rodriguez, Arcadio Ramirez, Miguel Villa­
real, and others also present claims, and at the same time their fathers claim very large 
sums. Eleno Rodriguez lived with his father, Ra,mon Rodriguez, and he was a boy­
just as Arcadio Ramirez and Miguel ViJlareal were children-and did not have any 
separate propert.y at that time. I know Rafael Flores; he was a soldier; had two 
cabins; I lived opposite to him in the one in which Ma. Ramona Mnzquiz now lives; 
and Rafael Flores lived where I now live. As Rafael Flores was a soldier, he was out 
of the town when Piedras Negras was destroyed by the Texans. The wife of Rafael 
Flores was sick in bed at that time, and she was not able to move. I know very well 
that her cabin was not burned, a,ncl none of his property was taken, because be had 
nothing of value. In a few days the wife of Rafael Flores died, and then he sold me 
his property, which consisted of two cabins and a lot, the two cabins being the same 
which he had before the fire. After the wife of Rafael Flores died he withdrew from 
Piedras Negras, and never returned; and IwouderwhereLuis Muzquiz seized (found) 
him in order to make him a claimant. 

Witness: W}t'f. SCHUCIIARDT. 

STATE OF TEXAS, .Maverick Connly: 

his 
GREGORIO+ GARZA. 

mark. 

(Here follows in English, the certificate, under seal, of Albert Tiirpe, notary public, 
Maverick County, Texas.) 

(Translatetl by A. P.M., Washington, May Hl, 1871.) 

(Translation .1 

STATE OF TEXAS, J}Iavericlv Connty, 88: 

Deposition of Ailelaida Van, of Eagle Pass., Tex, taken on behalf of the United States, 
and intended to be used before the joint commission between the United States and 
Mexico in the matter of various claims now pending before the said commission. 

The said ADELAIDA VAN, being first duly sworp, deposes and says: I was born in the 
State of Georgia, in the United States of North America, and I am now a resident of 
Eagle Pass, Tex. ; my occupation is that of seamstress, and I am forty-three years of 
age. I am well acquainted with Piedras Negras, and I was well acquainted with it 
before its destruction by fire by the Texans, who entered Piedras Negras, under the 
orders of Ca1lahan and Henry, in the yeal' 1855. At that time the town of Piedras N e­
gras was recently settled, and its appearance was poor, and the inhabitants was like­
wise poor. The dwellings which it contained were cabins, badly dilapidated little 
houses (mala.nquitos), straw-thatched buts (cbamacueros), and underground abodes 
(soterraneos). The furnitnre and adornments of the houses which the inhabitants had 
at that time were very few and of ·an inferior kind, and their cost very little. Some 
bad a few pieces of jewelry, bnt in general there was not much jewelry among the peo­
ple. The construction of a hut now costs frolll $~0 to $40 ; but at. that time it cost 
much less, the timber and grass being ver.v near the town, while to-day it must be 
brought very much farther. There were few horses and cows in the town, neither 
were there many pigs. The price of a cow with a calf, of good quality, was at that 
time from $12 to $13, inasmuch as at this price I bought many for the officers of the 
American camp, who intrustctl me with this commisssion. The very fattest pigs did uot 
exceed $25 in value, and pigs which were worth a,s much as this were very few. At no 
time was a pig of the best quality worth above $25. I believe that few of the inhabit­
ants bad as much as $300, because they were poor, and what they had was of little 
-value: it contained many inhabitants who did not have a hundred dollars. I am ac­
quainted with Pablo Valades; he had cabins and carts and oxen, and was engaged, 
together with his sons, in making cabins; and he was poor. I am acquainted with 
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Jose Ma. Carbajal; he was a servant of Captain Saiz; and I did not know he had any 
property. I am acquainted with Victor Gonzalez; he is a silversmith, and did not have 
anything. I am acquainted with Juana Longoria• she was poor; she had a cabin. I 
am acquainted with Dolores Salinas; she had good household furniture, but with the 
exception of these she was very poor. I did not know that Julian Rodriguez had any 
property whatever. I am acquainted with Anton:lo Mantez; he was a J;nusic-teacher, 
and supported himself by his occupation; he was poor. I am acquainted with Mari­
ano Aguierre, but he did not have anything. I am acquainted with Jesus Almendares; 
he was poor; he did not have anything. I am acquainted with Juan Caceres; he was 
very young and a boatman; he was very poor. I am acquainted with Anastasio Gon­
zalez; he was poor; he had four children, and never had anything to give them to eat. 
I am acquainted with Jose Ma. Rodriguez; he was a servant and had nothing. I am 
acquainted with Domingo San Miguel; he was a servant, and he had no property but 
his house and arms. I am acquainted with Cecilio Vara; he was a poor workman; he 
made cabins. I am acquainted with Casper Salazar; he was my neighbor; he lived 
in a hut; he was poor. I am acq nainted with Vicente de los Santos; he was a soldier; 
I did not know that he had any property except his horse and arms. I am acquainted 
with Dionicio Gonzalez; he lived with his father, and was poor. Jose Jimenez was a 
boatman and did not have anything. I am acquainted with Rafael Zepeda; he was 
very poor; the little that he possessed he bad lost in a fire before the place was burned 
by the Texans. I am acquainted with Isabel Galindo; she was a widow, and very 
poor. I am acquainted with .Jesus Pineda, bricklayer; he had cabins, and worked at 
his trade, aud by it made his living. I am acqnainted with Leonardo Rodriguez; he 
was very poor. I am acquainted wit.h Gabriel G. Cortlero; he was very poor. I am ac­
quainted with Maria del Pilar Galindo; she was a single woman, who had no house, 
and was very poor. I am acquainted with Jesus Frias; he was a soldier; I did not 
know that he had any property at all. I am acquainted with Jacinto Rodriguez, gam­
bler; he did not have anything in Piedras Negras; he came and went. I am ac­
quainted with Maria Ygnacia Mesa,; she was a, poor woman. I am acquainted with 
Eleno Rodriguez ; he was the son of Ramon Rodriguez, and was very small at that 
time, and did not have any property. I am acquainted with Manuel Perea; he was 
a clerk of Jesus de la Garza ; he lived with his father, Ignacio Perea, and Manuel 
did not have any property separate from him. I am acquainted with Maria Refu­
gio Garcia·, but she did not live in Piedras Negras at that time. I am acquainted 
with Guadalupe Perez; be bad a hut and was poor. I am acquainted with Blas 
Palos; he was a little fellow and had nothing. I am also a claimant for losses 
which I suffered by the robbery and fire of the TexanA, and my losses altogether 
cannot exceed the value of $400; and this sum will pay for the losses which 
I sustained. I have not made a . deposition nor have I subscribed a document 
with respect to a claim before the judge of Piedras Negras, nor before any other 
authority. They informed me that I ought to present a claim for the losses which I 
suffered by the burning of Piedras Negras by the Texans, because the Government of 
the United States was going to pay us for what we lost; and in a short time Mr. Wil­
liam Stone sent for me. When I went to see him he told me that the government was 
going to pay, and that I would lose nothing by making the attempt. I was telling 
him all that I had lost, but it appeared to him very little, and he wished to make it 
more, but to this I did not agree. He told me it was necessary to place it at a high 
figure in order that they should give us some, Uincl in order that there would result 
some to pay him for his labor, and we would divide (or go halves), he and I. He 
wrote a document, but did not read it to me; he told me it was the value of what I 
had lost, and then I took the pen with which he subscribed the document, believing 
that he had put clown what I had indicated. This document is the only papor which 
I have signed concerning my claim, and no authority or notary public was present. I 
appointed William Stone my attorney to receive any money whatever, and to take the . 
steps desirable for the success of my claim. I did not subscribe this power. When 
he made up the document of my claim he told me I must return to sign it, but he 
never sent for me; I believe that he saw that ~he business did not please me. It 
seems to me that all the claims are ridiculously exaggerated. 

her 
ADELAIDA + VAN. 

mark. 
(Here follows, in English, the certificate, under seal, of the notary public, Albert 

Tiirpe, of Maverick County, Texas.) 

STATE OF TEXAS, Maverick County, 88 : 

Deposition of William Schuchardt, of Piedras Negras, Mexico, taken on behalf of the 
United States, and intended to be used before the joint commission between the 
United States and Mexico in the matter of various claims now pending before the 
said commission. 

WILLIAM ScHUCHARDT, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a citizen of 
the United States of America; a resident of Piedras Negras, Mexico; forty years of 
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age, a.nd United States commercial agent at Piedras Negras, Mexico. I am acquaintecl 
with Adelaida Van, of Eagle Pass, Tex., who has signed and sworn to a deposition 
taken before Albert Tlirpe, on the 26th day of April, 1871. I always knew the said 
Adelaida Van to be an honest and true woman, and entirely worthy of credit, and her 
statements are to be believed. Her general reputation for truth aml veracity is $ood. 

W.M. SCRUCHARvT. 

' (Here follows, in English, the certificate, under seal of Albert Tlirpe, notary public 
of Maverick County, Texas.) 

(Translated by A. P.M., Washington, May 24, 1871.) 

[Translation.] 

STATE OF TEXAS, .jJ[averick County, 88: 
Deposition of Pedro SahLzar, of Piedras Negras, sta,te of Coahuila, Republic of Mexico, 

taken on behalf of the Uniteu States, and intended to be used before the joint com­
mission between the United States and Mexico in the matter of various claims now 
pending before said commission. 

The said PEDRO SALAZAR, being :first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a citizen 
of Mexico, and resident of Piedras Negras~ thirty-two years of age, a boatman by oc­
cupation. I was born in San Fernan<lo de Rosas, in the district of Rio Grande, State 
of Coahuila,, Republic of Mexico, and I was a resident of Piedras Negras, some time be­
fore its c1estrnction hy Texas volunteers, under the orders of Callahan and Henry, 
which destruction, as I recollect, took place in the year 1855. I was well acquainted 
with the town of Piedras Ncgras before it was destroyed and afterward. The number 
of (stone) houses did not exceed six; the ot.her dwellings were huts, cabins, and cellars. 
I was then living in an underground hut (8oterraneo8) covered with earth, and I had 
established in it a hat manufactory; I lost by the destruction (of the town) everything 
that I had in my house. I had about five dozen bats finished and for sale, and about 
four dozen unfinished; at that time I sold a hat for $4; I also lost all the furniture 
and other things in my house. ·when I knew that claims were presented ag~tinst the 
Government of the United States for the losses which we had suffered by the destruc­
tion of the town of Piedras Negras, I presented myself, as one who 'bad also lost, 
to Luis Muzqniz, in order that he might present my claim for me, but as I never gave 
him a list of what I had lost, nor have told him of it, I do not know whether or not he 
has done it, but Abram Jimeues, secretary of Luis Muzquiz, handed me a paper to sign, 
telling me that it was the expediente of my claim ; but I did not read said paper, neither 
did they read it to me, nor do I know what it contained. At the same [time] that I 
subscribed the paper Zernardo Valdez, a friend of mine, subAcribed another paper sim­
ilar to it, and Abram JimeneA, the secretary of Luis Muzquiz, said to Bernarclo Valdez 
that it was the expediente of his claim. I do not know what was exactly the number 
of cabins which it contained when the town was destroyed, but I know that they were 
not all burned. At that time the price of a breeding-cow was $12 and t.he price of the 
best cow did not exceed $15. A fat hog sold at that time for $25 and $30. 

PEDRO SALAZA~. 

(Here follows, in English, the certificate, under seal, of Albert Tiirpe, notary public 
of Maverick County, Texas, under date of 4th March, 1871.) 

(Translated by A. P.M., May 20, 1871.) 

STATE OF TEXAS, Mavetick County, 88 : 

Deposition of William Schuchardt, of Piedras Negras, Mexico, taken on behalf of the 
United States, and intended to be used before the joint commission between the 
United States and Mexico in the matter of various claims now pending before the 
said commission. 

The said WILLIAM SCHUCHARDT, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a 
citizen of the United States, a resident of Piedras Negras, forty years of age, and a 
commercial agent of the United States at Piedras Negras. I am well acquainted with 
Pedro Salazar, of Piedras Negras, who signed and swore to a deposition taken before 
Albert Ti.irpe on the 4th da.y of March, 1871. The said Pedro Salazar is entirely worthy 
of credit, and his statements are to be believed. His general reputation for truth and 
veracity is good. 

WM. SCHUCHARDT. 

(Here follows, in English, the certificate, under seal, of the notary public of Maverick 
County, Texas, under date of 21st April, 1871.) 
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. rTranslation.] 

STATE OF TEXAS, _]{avericlc County, 88: 

Deposition of Jesus Loy, of Piedras Negra.s, Mexico, takon on behalf of tho United 
States, and intended to he used before the joint commission between the United 
States and Mexico in the matter of various claims now pending before said com­
mission. 

'The said JEsus LoY, being first dn1y sworn, deposes and says: My name is Jesus 
Loy; many persons call me .Jesns Loya. I was born in the town of Guadalupe, near 
Monterey, i11 the State of New Leon. I am a Mexican citizen, and resident of Piedras 
Negras, in the llistrict of Rio Grande, in the State of Coahuila, Republic of Mexico. I 
am a boatman by occnpation, and twenty-nine years of age. My father was a soldier, 
and his name was Santos Loy, and he was in Piedras Negras when this town was 
destroyed by the Texas volunteers in 1855; hut I a.rrived at Piedras Negras about three 
years after it was destroyed, and I do not know anything about what happened before 
my arrival in sa.id town. I knew that Luis Muzquiz and Mr. Coop wood were engaged 
in preparing claims for the resitlents who had lost by the destruction of their property 
when the Texas Yolunteers robbed and burned Piedras Negras; but they never spoke . 
to me on this subject, neither did they call me to make a deposition concerning the 
losses which had been suffered by me or others; and if certain (any) persons present 
me as a witness in their expedienie8 they have acted in bad faith, and they have used 
my name with fraud, since I never made a deposition, becattse I did not know any­
thing, and neither did they call me to do it, anfl I wonder how I can appear in the list 
of witnesses without having been one. I do not know Guad;1lnpe Salinas and Fran­
cisco Hernandez and Maria Dolores Hernandez. I know Jose Ma. Carbajal, hut I never 
made a deposition concerning his claim. I knew from hearsay that be had suffered 
(loss) in the destruction referred to. I know Nona.to Patifio, but I do not know whether 
or not be lost in the destruction of the town, and I never made a deposition concerning 
him, nor was I called to do so. 

JESUS LOY. 

(Here follows, in English, the certificate, under seal, of the notary public of Maverick 
County, Texas, under date of March 10,1871.) 

(Translated by A. P.M., Washington, May 17, 1871.) 

STATF: OF TEXAS, .Mat·erick County, 88: 
Deposition of William Schuchardt, commercial agent of the United States at Piedras 

Negras, Mexico, taken on behalf of the United States, and intended to be used before 
the joint commission between the United States and Mexico, in the matter of various 
claims now pending before the said commission. 

The said V\.,.ILLIAM ~crrucrrARDT, being :first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a citi­
zen of the United States, a resident of Piedras Negras, forty years of age, and commer­
cial agent of the United States at Piedras Negras. I am well acquainted with Jesus 
Loy, of Piedras Negras, who has signed and sworn to a deposition taken before Albert 
Ttirpe on the lOth day of March, 1871. The said Jesus Loy is entirely worthy of credit, 
and his statements are to be believed. His general reputation for truth and veracity 
is a good on e. 

WM. SCHUCHARDT'. 
(Here follows, in English, the certificate, under seal, of Albert Ttirpe, notary pulJlic 

of Maverick County, Texas, under date of April 21, 1871.) 

[Translation.] 

STATE Ol!' TEXAS, Maeericlc County, 88: 

Deposition of Rafael Salinas, of Presidio de Rio Grandi:', taken on behalf of the United 
States, and intended to be used before the joint commission between the United States 
and Mexico, in t,he matter of various claims now pending before the saitl commis­
sion. 

The saitl RAl!'AEL SALINAS, being first duly sworn, tleposes and says: I was lJorn in the 
Presidio de Rio Grande; I am a citizen of Mexico, and a resident of the Presidio de 
Rio Grande, district of Rio Grande; my occupation is that or an ordinary mail-carrier, 
and my age is fifty-five. I am acquainted wit.h the town of Piedras Negras, and I knew 
it before its destruction by Texas volunteers in the yea,r 1855. At that time Piedras 
Negras was a very little town. The number of stone houses did not exceed six, the 
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-o<,her dwellings were huts, cabins, and mud and straw-thatched ranches (cllamacum·os). 
I cannot estimate how many of the inferior class of dwellings it then had. I was ac­
Gt.Iainted with those residents of Piedras N egras who had come from my country to this 
t.owu. I was acquainted with Octaviano Cervera; he is the son of Miguel Cervera; 
they \\·ere poor; they had some few cows and one or more beasts (horses). I am ac­
quainted with Antonio Flores Salinas; he was one of the most substantial. I was 
acquainted with Geronimo Gonzales ; he lived in one of the two straw-thatched huts or 
ranches ( chamcwuero8); he had corralls, but I do not know whether or not it was burned; 
he also had carts and oxen and cows; but I did not know whether he had any capital. 
I was acquainted with Maria Telesfora Sosa; she was the wife of Geronimo Gonzales, 
and they lived together in the same house, which was well furnished and decorated, 
but in the usual manner. I was acquainted with Juan N. Lopez; he was poor, and 
had a cabin, a little ranch (chamacue1·o), and cows. I was acquainted with Nazario 
Moya; he was poor; he lived at the expense of a sister; he had a little cart and three 
yoke of oxen, and I did not know that he had a house of his own. 

RAFAEL SALINAS. 
1 Here follows, in English, the certificate, under seal, of Albert Tlirpe, notary public 

oi Maverick County, Texas, under the date of March 11, 1871.) 
{Translated by A. P.M., Washington, May 20, 1871.) 

TATE OF TEXAS, Ma.vm·icl.; Cottflf.y, 88: 
Deposition of Willi~tm Schuchardt, of Piedras Negras, taken on behalf of the United 

States, and intended to be used before the joint commission between the United 
. tates and Mexico, in tho matter of various claims now pending before said com­
~ission. 

The said \VILLIAM ScHUCHARDT, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a 
citizen of the United States, a resident of Piedras Negras, forty years of age, and com­
mercial agent of the United States at Piedras Negras. I am well acquainted with 
Rafael Salinas, of Presidio de Rio Grande, who has signed and sworn to a deposition 
~aken be:fore Albert Tiirpe on the 11th day of March, 1871. 'rhe said Rafael Salinas is 
entirely worthy of credit, and his statements are to be believed. His general repnta­
<iion for trnth and veracity is excellent. 

WM. SCHUCHARDT. 
(Here follows, iu English, the certificate, under seal, of Albert Tiirpe, notary public 

or :\faverick County, Texas, nuder date of April 21, 1871.) 

(Translation.] 

I, Jose Luciano de la Garza, lieutenant-colonel of cavalry of the national guard of the 
State of Coahuila, of Zaragoza, Mexico, employed by the federal government of the 
Republic of Mexico as inspector of the post-office of this city, certify, by the power 
which the laws confer upon me to issue certificates, that I am certain (of the follow­
}ng things to be true), of my own knowledge, because since the year 1835 I have been 
engaged in public affairs under the oath which I have taken, that in the year 1855, the 
iiime in which an armed force of Texan volunteers, under the command of Callahan 
and Henry, bnrned the town of Piedras Negras, that (town) was in a state of poverty, 
and the inhabitants were poor; and this was a notorious fact by public fame and re­
port ; and moreover my oath and my knowledge compel me to say that I knew the in­
habit.ants who migrated before the. tire to the said town of Piedras Negras, and that 
they lived in this city some, perhaps as many as eight, \Vho carried a small amount of 
st-ock with them. I also certify that, when the Texan volunteers burned Piedras Ne­
··-ras, that town was composed of plain huts, built of grass and supported by rough 
posts with the ba.rk on, and that the value of each one was $30, because that is what 
.:t cost; to build a but. All the dwelling were huts, except four or six houses which 
77ere constructed of earth. 

In testimony of which I witness the present at the request of William Schuchardt, 
Tice-consul. I do not use a seal to subscribe, because the law does not permit me to 
U'!e one. 

JOS~ LUCIANO DE LA GARZA. 
ZAHAGOZA, April17, 1871. 
(Translated.by A. P.M., Washington, June 10, 1871.) 

STATE OF TEXAS, l1ta7•el'ick County, 88: 
Deposition of William Schuchardt, of Piedras Negras, taken on behalf of the United 

. tates, antl intended to be used before the joint commission between the United 
St ates and Mexico, in the matter of various claims now pending before the said com­
mission. 

The said WILLIAl\:I ScnucnARDT, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a 
e:tizen of the United States, a, resident in Piedras Negras, forty years of age, and corn-

S. Ex. 74--12 
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mercial agent of the United States at Piedras Negras. I am well acquainted wHh 
Jose Luciano de la Garza, of Zaragoza, who signed a hereon-annexed certificate on the 
17th day of April, 1871. The said Jose Luciano de la Garza is entirely worthy of credit, 
and his statements are to be believed. His general reputation for truth and veracity 
is very good. The signature on the sa.id annexed cert.ificate is his true and genuine 
signature. 

WM. SCHUCHARDT. 

(Here follows the signature, under seal, of Albert Tiirpe, the notary public of MaY­
erick County, Texas.) 

[Translation.] 

STATE OF COAHUILA_ DE ZARAGOZA, MEXICO, 
District of Rio Grande : 

P1·oceedings had at the 1·equcst of William Sclmcltm·dt, the cice-co/lsl!l of the United Stale8 at 
Pied1·as Negras. 

To the acting judge of the first instance of the district, of Rio Grande, l>elonging to the 
State of Coa.huila, Mexico: 

Jose Luciano de la Gar11a, resident of the city of Zaragosa, and ao-ent (special and 
solely for this business) for William Schuchardt, vice-consul of the United Sta.tes in 
Piedras Negras, come before you and respectfully state: That desiring a complete in­
vestigation may be made, in order to enal>le the United States to indemnify the inhab­
itants who were domiciled in Piedras Negras, a.nd who suffered losses in the year 1855, 
in the burning of the place by an armed force of Texan volunteers, under the orders 
of Callahan and Henry, and to bring to light what I desire as agent of the vice-consul, 
I request you, as is my right, to make appear in the court over which you preside the 
citizens whom I offer to present, being residents of this town, and of lawful age, who 
may testify under oath concerning the points of the following interrogatories : 

1st. Let them state their name, age, condition, occnp::J,tion, residence, &c. 
2d. Let them say whet.her they were well acquainted with Piedras Negras at thP. 

time of its destruction by fire by Texan volunteers under the command of Callahan 
and Henry, and what was the wealth or poverty at that time of the inhabitants of the 
town of Piedras N egras. 

3d. Whether they knew anything about the residents who emigrated from this city 
to the mentioned tow:u of Piedras N egras, what was their comfort (condition) then, 
and what was it when they suffered from the fire. 

4th. And finally let them testify about whatever they may know, and a.bout what­
ever may have reference to the true proof of what they suffered at the fire, the wit­
nesses stating whether they are connected with the claims before the mixed commis­
sion between the United States and Mexico. 

For the reason before stated, I beg you that when the proceedings are conclnde{l 
you will please retum the originals for the purpose r~quired by my -principal. 

JOSE LUCIANO DE LA GARZA. 
ZARAGOZA, April14, 1871. 
Received on ·the 14t.h of April, 1871. 

ZARAGOZA, ..lptil 15, 1871. 
As asked, and for the purposes indicated by petitioner, let him ue notified to present 

the witnesses which he offers in the foregoing interrogatory. Ignacio Fuentes, judge 
of the first local of this city, and acting judge of first instance of the district of Rio 
Grande, have so ordered and subscribed in this decree, with assistant witnesses. In 
witness: 

JOSE MARIA VALDES. 
RAFAEL ZAMOZA. 

IGNACIO FUENTES. 

Immediately Jose Luciano de la Garza appeared, and, having been informed of the 
f01·egoing decree, said that he hears it, and will comply by presenting .the witnesses 
which he offers in his memorial, and which appears he subscribed with me and assist­
ant witnesses. In witness: 

JOSE MARIA VALDES. 
RAFAEL ZA1\10ZA. 

Y. FUENTES. 

In the aforesaid city, on the 17th day of April, 1871, came the first witness, Jesus 
Z amoza, (who,) having been duly sworn to tell the truth about what he might know 
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and be questioned, said that he is calJell as stated ; is more than 40 years of age, a 
widower, resident of this place, and by occupation a farmer; and having been shown 
the interrogatories at the beginning of this proceefling, and being well informed of 
tJJern-· 

To the second question Le said that he was "·ell acquainted wir.h the town of Piedras 
Negras at the ti.me of its destruction by fire 1y Texas volunteers, under the command· 
of Callahan and. Henry, and that, as to the wealth of the town, it was, in fact, at that 
time, one of poverty, because there was not a person who llad any capital; t.hat the 
houses in wlJich the inhabitants lived were huts made of grass, snpported by rough 
posts with tLe hark on, with the exception of some houses of earth, a.mong them the 
maritime custont-house. 

To the thlnl question (he replied) that. he ':Yas >Yell act}uaiuted wi1.h the residents 
who emigra.ted from this city before the fire to the before-meDtioued town of Piedras 
Negras~ and that their condit.ion was one of povert;v, aud this same ( con<liti,m of) pov­
erty con tinned when the fire (occurred); that sowe of tlle emigrants carried a mod­
erate number of cattle and oxen with them; that he does not remember whether aU 
did so, but that he knows, or has iu his mind some, such as Severo de Luna., :Martina 
Lopez, Antonio ~1outes, Luis Muzquiz, Filipe de la Garza, Pedro Gonzales, Dionicio 
Gonzales, Francisco Gonzales, Juaua Hernandez (widower), Melchora Zimenes (wid­
ower), Antonio Ramirez, Arcadio Ramirez, Hamon Rodriguez, Catariuo Rivo, Miguel 
Villareal Herrero, Rosa de la Garza (widow); and he explained that if some were 
omitted they are few. 

To the fourth question he explained that as ~o many years bad passed he does not 
1·emember other details; and testifies that he is not comprehended in the claim before 
the mixed commission between the United States and Mexico; that this is true, under 
he oath which he declaretl he bad taken, anti (he) subscribed ·with me all(l the assist­

ant witnesses. In wi tnesg : 

.JOSE MARIA VALDJ<:S. 
RAFAEL ZA:'I10ZA. 

JBSUS ZAMOZA. 
Y. FUENTES . 

Without any interruption, the second witness, Thomas Martines :v1d Znlaica., ap­
peared, (who,) having been duly sworn to speak the truth about what he might know 
and be questioned about, said: Tbat he is named as stated, is more t.han fifty years of 
age, a bachelor, a resident of this place, and by occupation a mechanic; and, having 
been shown the interrogatories at the beginning of this proceeding, and having been 
well informed of them-

To the first question he said that the general prohibitions of the law, which were 
explainell to him, do not include deponent. 

To t.he second question he replied that he was well acquainted with the town of 
Piedras Negras at the time of its destruction by fire by Texas volnnteers, under the 
command of Callahan and Henry; and that the condition of that town, and in that 
t.ime, was one of poverty, because the inhabitants, as well a.s the town, were recently 
ettled. 

To the third question he said that he also was well acquainted with ret-.idents who 
emigrated from this city to the before-mentioned town of Piedras Negras before the 
fire, and that their condition was not one of wealth, but of poverty, which continued 
even to the time of the fire; that he is satisfied that some of the residents who emi­
grated, such as Marcelino Lopez, Antonio Ramirez, Ramon Rodriguez, Guadalupe Peres, 
Guadalupe Ramos, Gaspar Zalasar, carried. to their new horne a moderate number of 
cows and oxen, as did also Jose Ma. and Pedro Gonzales, and Dionicio Gonzales, who 
brought some little sheep with them; and Juana Hernandez (widow), Rosa de la Garza 
(widow), Melchora Zimenes (widow), Luis Muzquiz, Prancisco Gonzales, Severo de 
Luna, also carried cattle with them; tha.t although be is aware that some (who took 
stock with them) are omitted, these are very few as he recollects. 

To the fourth question he said that as so many years have passed since the fire oc­
curred, he does not remember other details, and that he is not interested in the claim 
before the mixed commission between the United States and Mexico; that this is the 
trnth under the oath which he says he has taken; and he subscribed with me and 
assistant witnesses. 

YGN. FUENTES. 
THOMAS MARTINES AND ZULAICA. 

R. ZA::\IUHAH. 
A. J. MA. VALDES. 

'fhen the third wit.ness, Jose Maria Camanca, appeared, (who,) having been duly 
sworn to tell the truth about what he might know and be qnestioned, said that he is 
named as stated, is more than thirty years of age, resident of this place, by occupa­
tion an artisan; and having been shown the interrogatories at the beginning of these 
proceedings, and ha;ving been well informed of them-
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To the first question he said that the prohibitions of the Jaw, which have heeu ex­
plained to him, do uoi; comprehend deponent. 

To the seeond question he replied that be was well acquainted with the town of 
Piedras Negras at the time of its destruction by fire by Texas volunteers under the 
command of Callahan and Henry, and that the condition· of wealth at that time of 
"said tjown was a condition of poverty, because there was no person who had any cap-
ital whatever, owing to the circumstances of the time. . 

To the third qne8iion he said that he was well acquainted with some of the residents 
who emigrated, before its destruction by fire, from this city to the before-mentioned 
Piedras Negras, and that their conuition was one of poverty; and that some of them 
who migrated carried with them an ordinary number of catt;le and oxe11 ; that he does 
not remember whether all of them did, but he recollects that some of them did; for 
instance the following: Marcelino Lopez, Antonio Montes, Luis Muz<Jni%, Pedro Gon­
zales, Antonio Ramirez, Ramon Rodriguez, Gaspar Zalasar, Guat1a.lt1pe Pera, Gnada- . 
lnpe Ramos, but be did not remember any more. 

To the fourth question he explains that as so many years have pas!>ed he does not 
reco1lect anything else, and he declares that he is not connected with the claim (be­
fore the commission) between the United States and Mexi'co; that this is true unde1· 
the oath which he !laid he had taken; and he Anbscriued wHh me a.nd assistant 'wit-
nesses. 

JOSE MARlA VALDES. 
A. RAFAEL ZAM01~A. 

Y. FUENTES. 
J. MA. CAMANCA. 

The fourth witness, Rafael Tijerina., appeared, (who,) having been duly sworn to tell 
the truth about what he might know and be questioned auout, said that he is called 
as stated, is more than fifty years of age, is married, resident of this place, by occupa­
tion an artisan; and having been shown the interrogatories which are at the head of 
t.hese proceedings, and having been well informed of them- . 

To the first question be said that the prohibitions of the law, which have been ex­
plained to him, do not comprehend deponent. 

To the second question be answered that he was well acquainted with the town of 
Piedras Negras at the t.ime of its destruction by Texas volunteers under the command 
of Callahan and Henry, and that the condition at that time of said town was one of 
poverty, for the reason that its inhabitants, as well as the town, were recently set­
tled. 

To the third question he said that he was also well acquainted with the resident 
who emigrated Jrom this city to the .said Piedras Negras before its destruction by fire, 
and that their condition was not one of wealth, hut of poverty, and this continued even 
to the time of the fire; t.hat he is satisfied that some of the residents who migrated, 
such as Marcelino Lopez, Antonio Ramirez, Ramon Rodriguez, Guadalupe Peres, Gua­
dalupe Ramos, Gaspar Zalasar, carried to their new home an ordinary number of cows 
and oxen (as did also Jose Ma. and Pedro Gonzales, and Dionicio Gonzales some few 
little sheep), and the following persons also carried cattle with them, viz: Juan Her­
nandez (widow), Rosa de la Garza (widow), Melchora Zimenes (widow), Luis Muzquiz, 
Francisco Gonzales, Severo de Luna; that, although he knows he has omitted some, 
they are very few, as he remembers. 

To the fourth question he explained that as so many years have passed since the fire 
Dccurred, he does not recollect other details; and that he is not interested in the claim 
before the mixed commission between the United States and Mexico; that this is the 
truth under the oath which he said he bad taken; and he subscribed with me and the 
assistant witnesses. In witness: 

JOSE MARIA VALDES . 
.A. RAFAEL ZAMORA. 

Y. l<'UENTES. 
RAFAEL TIJERINA. 

I, Ygnacio Fuentes, acting judge of first instance of the district of Rio Grande, belong­
ing to Coahuila, Zaragoza, Mexico, certify that the foregoing witnesses who have tes­
tified are of age, residents of this city, and that what tbey ]Jave deposed is to the best 
of their knowledge and belief; as also that they testify tl1at they are not included, nor 
have they any interest in any claim pending before the mixed commission between the 
United States and Mexico; or, better said, that they have no claim before the cabi­
nets to which they refer, for the reason that said witnesses so depose. 

And in te~timony I subscribe with the seal of my office, in t.he said city of Zaragoza, 
Coahuila, chief city of the district of Rio Grande, and in the state of Coahuila, of Zara­
goza, on the 16th day of April, in the year 1871, with assistant witnesses. In witness: 

Y. FUENTES. 
JOSE MARIA VALDES. 
A. RAFAEL ZAMORA. 
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Let the origioa1s of the present proceedings be cleliveretl, as requested, and upon five 
written sheets. 

Put the seal of my office. 
Fees of the court, according to the tariff, $7.50 ; and of the certificate, ~1.~5. 

(Tnws1n.ted by A. P.M.; Washington, .June 10, 1871.) 

DPp08itiou of .Amos 0. Strickland. 

The said A:\IOI:l 0. STRICKLAND, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a cit­
izen of the Unitecl S~atcs, native of Bradford County, Pennsylvania, and for the last 
eighteen years a resident of Texas. I now reside in Kinney C~unty, near Port Clark, nine 
miles from there. I have a stock-ranch there and farm. I know and am well known 
to the offtcers of the garrison at 1!-,ort Clark. I know Pedro Tanns, who is one of the 
cbimants for the destruction of Pieclra.s Negras. He now resides in Kinney County. 
He is a native of Texas; he is a mu1atto, aud was a serv::wt of the late General Sam 
Houston. He resided some time in Mexico, but claims now to be a United States citi­
zen, and told me at the last election how he was going to vote in Kinney County. He 
old me also th!tt he · was one of the claimants for the destruction of Piedras Negras, 

and had mncle claim therefor against the Government of the United States. I asked 
him the amonnt he claimed, and he answered, ''0, I am ashamed to tell you; it is so 
oig!" He then sa.icl he was one of the first settlers of the town of Piedras Negras, 
which was settled when the post of Fort Duncan was established, or soon after. He 
has never heen worth over $100 at any time, at least since I have known him, a.nd that 
is eight ;years. Tauns is well known to the United States officers at I<'ort Clark; to 
)lajor Bacon (who wns on General Sheridan's staff), of tbe Ninth United States Cav­
alry (colored). Tanns has been wortdng lately as a mason, in the employ of the gov­
ernment, at ·Fort Cln.rk, and for tbe last year or so has been hrH"ning lime, or has been 
employed in smal1 jots about the post; he is also a tkMler, and }llays at fa,ndaugoes, 
~ nd for tbe ofllcen; when tbes make a party there. I am well acquainted with Piedras 
_ 'egras; tbnt is, since it was l.mmed. I know a great many of the inhabitants of the 
village; they are w·uemlly poor, and a1ways have been; tlleir houses are chiefly 
jacale8, or .Mexican hnts; those of the common kind would cost to construct from $10 · 
to $100, according to its size aud finish; the furniture they have, where they have any, 
is of a very poor cleseription; many are without a chair, bedstead, or even a table, in 
faet, the grenter part of them; many of their honses consisted of holes or cellars dug 
right iu the bank of the river and covered wir;h th~1tch, without door, window, or 
sides. Tlre inhabitauts were chiefly cartruen or laborers, and very few of them hacl 
any property whatever. From all that I know of Piedras Nogras, and all I have heard 
from its iulll1.hitmrts, who are now claima,nts, autl from others, I should sa.y that in the 
attack upon the place, in 1855, it is impossible th~tt more than $50,000 worth of prop­
erty conld have been destroyed or ta.ken; in fact, I believe far Jess th:tu that, but uot 
over that s11m, because no such amount of property existed there. It was a new set­
tlement, inhabited by the poor·est class of laborers, 'vith some very few exceptions, 
alll.l had nut, like the older settlements fart.her baek from the r.iver, farmers and men 
of ~ome property n·Hi<ling there. 

A. 0. STRICKLAND. 

Ueposi.tion of Edward 1'. Jioo1·e. 

'fhe saicl EDW,\RD T. MoonE, being flrst duly worn, t1eposes and says: I was born 
in Pittstown, H.ensselaer County, State of New York. I am now a resident of San An­
tonio, Bexar County, State of Texas, and am by occupation a stock-raiser. I am a cit­
izen of the United States. I am fifty years of age. I was in Piedras Negras, Mexico, 
and in Eagle Pass, Tex., from the year 1849 to 1856. During this period I was a per­
manent resident of Eagle Pass. In the years 1849 and 1850 I was employed by the 
United States officers to repair buildings and to erect wl.Ja.t is now known as Forb Dun­
can. Dnriug the ba1a.nce of said period I was employed as a ferryman between said 
towns. I kuow the town of Piedras Negras perfectly well, having built tbe first house 
ever erected in the i own. I was, during the periocl hereinbefore mentionetl, constantly 
in said Piedras Neg:ras, and was well a.~quaiuted with every person occnpying each 
town. I was at Piedras Negras when the raid of Callahan n.nd Henry occurred, in Oc­
tober, 1855; t.he circumstances of said raid were as follo,·vs, viz: About the middle of 
the day on which saicl raid occurred, abont ten men on horseback, belonging to the 
command of said Callahan and Henry, made a charge through Eagle Pass and seized 
my ferry-boats on the river Rio Grande; shortly after about one hundred men of said 
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command followed, took possession of said ferry-boats, and immediately crossed to 
Piedras Negras, of which place they took control. · About sundown of the same clay they 
crossed the river they passed through said town of Piedras Negras, and camped three 
miles beyond that place, on the road to San Fernando, without committing any dep­
redation whatever. On the second day after crossing to Piedras Negras said command 
of Callahan and Henry returned to said town, and remained tltereiu two days and a 
part of one night, during which time not more than forty small jacal houses, the vaLue 
of which was not more than $40 each, were lmrned, and some property taken from the 
inhabitants, in value about, $5,000. Some other property, not enumerated above, 
amounting to about $1,000, was taken for the purpose of constructing breastworks as 
proteetion against the Mexicans and Indians who assembled in force, which said prop­
erty was burned. I believe that $10,000 would amply compensate the inhahi tant.s of 
said Piedras Negras for all damage and loss sustained by them on the occasion of said 
raid, they being very poor. There was only one person in said town who was worth 
$3,000; tho average value of the property owned by each family was $200. I do not 
believe that it was possible that $50,000 worth of property could have been destroyed 
on said occasion. The command of Callahan and Henry committed no depredations 
and fired no buildings until the Indians and Mexicans assembled around Piedras Ne­
gms, closed "around them, and commenced au attack upon them, at which time four 
32-pouud guns were run out and bearing npon Piedras Negras, by authority of the 
officer in command of Fort Duncan, Major Burbank, to protect the return of Callahan 
and Henry's command to Eagle Pass. 

• EDWARD T. MOORE. 

Depo8ilion of Geol'[fC W. JJrackenl'id[Je. 

GEORGE W. BRACKEl\IUDGE, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am at thi 
time a citizen and resident of this place, San Antonio, and am president of the San 
Antonio National Bank, and am thirty-nine years of age; have resided in San Antonio 
since 1866. In the year 1855 I resided. at Seguin, in Guaclalupe County, in this State. 
In October, 1855, as soon as the news of the affair at Piedras Negras reached Seguin, 
where it was stated that the .Mexicans were coming across into Texas in retaliation of 
the attack made upon Piedras Negras, I started, in company with others, for Eagle 
Pass, or the frontier, to defend the expected attack. Our company halted on the Sabinal, 
and I, along with one or two others of them, proceeded to Fort Dnncan to inquire 
into the particulars of the affair. We arrived there some days after the occmrence, 
and while all the marks of what had taken place were still visible and fresh. I crossed 
the river into Piedras Negras, accompanied by some others, ancl for tho purpose of as­
certaining what bad really taken place, a.nd the extent of the damage done. We 
found that about two-thirds of the buts or jacales, in which the inhabitants bad re­
sided, bad been burnec1. My information \Yas obtained from the Mexican men and 
women, inhabitants of the town, and whose property had been destroyed; and my 
sympathies were very much enlisted in their favor, because I saw they had been de­
priYed of their homes and propert.'f by what I thought an outra.ge and very unwar­
rantable act. I made an estimate of the injury that bad been caused, :tnd the losse 
then occasioned there, from the testimony I cou1tl obtain from the injured partie.s on 
the spot, and within a few days after the act, and I came to the conclusion, as I recol­
lect, that $50,000 would cover it all. rrhe inhabitants were all poor, principally en­
gaged in carting or stock-driving, and perhaps in smuggling iu a small way. They 
were chiefly laborers, and very many would hire out at $6 or $i a mouth. I thought 
that they had lost what little property they had, which, though small in amount, was 
eYerythiuo- to them, and was entirely changed il1 the opinion I had formed before ar­
rivP.J, for Ihafl supposed that they Vl·cre coming over in force to reYenge the rol>bery. 
I thought the affair a, very shamefnl one on the part of our people, and that a compen­
sation was justly due these poor people. With that view it was that we estimated the 
damage, ·which, after inquiry, we put down a.t the sum I have named. I remained 
there two weeks engaged in tile inquiry, and daily learning some further particular 
of the affair. I do not know or now recollect the particular losses of individuals, or 
the cletans of each case; but the snm I have named is the total amount of the dam­
age, so far as we could ascertain it. rrhe population were generally of a low and vicious 
class, and I remember it was s~dcl of ma.uy individuals pointed ont to us that they 
"could not drink water on the other side," meaning that they could not cross over to 
the American side for fear of arrest or punishment for some crime or offense, in conse­
quence of which they had sou~bt asylum on the Mexican side of the river. There­
spectable portion of the inhabttant.s were also poor, and there was no furniture of any 
value in any bouse I saw in the town. After remaining there some two weeks we re­
turned to Seguin. I have not since visited the place. 

GEO. vV. BRACKENRIDGE. 
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Deposition of Lotenzo Castro. 

The said LORENZO CASTRO, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a citizen 
of t he United States, born in London, England; and coming to the then republic of 
Texas when I was nine years of age with my father, Henry Castro, who colonized and 
settled Castroville, D'Hanis, and other places in "\Vestern Texas. I have resided in Texas 
ever since; not now engaged in business, and thirty-six years of age. In 1851 I first 
went to Eagle Pass, then just settled, and established a business there, and remained 
till June, 1862, after the store belonging to my father was burned. I knew Piedras 
Negras well at that time, crossing over almost every day. It was a miserably poor 
settlement. The Mexican commandant was then the only person who had a decent 
jacal, even the majority, three-fourths of them, living in holes dug in the bank of the 
river, some in huts and chamacuaos, which are dwellings built of posts and covered 
with earth. There were no persons there of any wealth. It was a military colony, 
composed of a compa11y of soldiers of one hundred and forty men, under command of 
Captain Arredondo. To these were added some laborers and camp-followers, and 
peroono enga.ge<l in smuggling in a small way. The wealthiest man there was De la 
Garza. His propert.y was chiefly a,t Santa Rosa, one hundred miles back. De la Garza 
had a small store. There was no other store, nor any place where any article could be 
procured. I returned to Eagle Pass in 1853, antl again visited Piedras Ne~ras. At 
that tirue there were more jaf'ales bnilt, and the number of inhabitants had mcreased 
some, but it was still a miserable place, and the same in all its essentia,l features as 
the year 1:-efore. I was there then two weeks. I returned again to Eagle Pass, crossed 
to the other side, and remained severa.l months in 1t558, after the burning which took 
place in 1855. The place had very much improved; some buildings of adobe and stone 
had been erected after the fire. At the time of the fire the only two-story bouse in the 
town belonged to John B. Rich, who had married a daughter of Mr. De la Garva. At 
the time of the fire, in 1855, there were not more than two hundred jacc~les, and these 
were worth on an average from $40 to $100. These contained small articles of furni­
ture of very Httle value. The inhabitants had some extra articles of clothing and 
jewelr~T; and $50,000 or $GO,OOO would have paid liuerally for all the damage done 
there. 

LORENZO CASTRO. 

DtJposition of ,John Xetrlon. 

The said JOHN NEWTON, being first dul;y swonl, deposes and says: I was born in 
that part of the Indian Territory occupied by the Cherokee Nation. I am now, and 
have been since 1848, a citizen of the State of Texas, and ahmys a citizen of the United 
States. I am thirty-four years of age, and a merchant by occupation. I am now a res­
klent of Fort Concho, Texas; I was a resident of Piedras Negras, Mexico, from Jan­
uary. 1855, to .Ma.rch, 1836; was employed there, and knew that town and the larger 
part of its inbabita.nts well, and knew them in 1855. I was there in October, 1855, 
when t.he raid of Callahan and Heory occurred, and witnessed what was done. The 
circumstances were as follows, viz: 'rhe command of said Callahan antl Henry crossed 
the Rio Grande from Eagle Pass to Piedras Negras, through which last-mentioned 
town they immediately marched, and encamped twenty miles beyond. Being attacked 
by Indians and Mexicans, while in camp, they returned to Piedras Negras the second 
day after first entering that town, and there constructed some rough breastworks to 
protect themselves against the Indians and Mexicans. During the presence of said 
commaud in Piedras Negras, on their return a,s aforesaid, they burned some one hun­
dred jacalee, or huts, of a rude and very cheap construction, together with a few houses 
of ~t better character; they also pillaged the town, but as the inhabitants were very 
poor they could not ba\Te inilicted much damage thereby. The jacales were worth a bon t 
$i'>O each, on au average. From what I know of the place and its inhabitants at the 
time of said raid, I would consider $50,000 ample compensation for all damage done, 
including the valnes destroyed and taken. There· were very few, if any, persons in 
Piedras Negras at the time of said raid. worth $3,000. 

JOHN NEWTON. 

Deposition of F1·nlerick G1·oos. 

FREDERICK GRoos, being duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a citizen and resident 
of Texas, and have been so for more than twenty years. In the year 1855 I resided at 
Eagle Pass, in this State, opposite the town of Piedras Negras, in Mexico, and was 
there at the time of the raid Ly troops under Captains Callahan and Henry on said 

c 
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town, which took place in the autumn of that year. I saw them cross over .the rivtr, 
and I went over there once while they were in Mexico. '!'hey bad advanced from 
Piedras Negras into Mexico, and bad an encounter with Mexicans, and then returned 
to Piedras Negras. When they returned· they fortified themselves in some of the 
strongest-built houses, and they burned or destroyed some thatched huts, or jcwales, o 
as to give range to their fire. They set fire also to some houses in tlle town, to the 
number, perhaps, of twenty, not more, and some stores were robbed and some houses 
were plundered, if they could be called houses, and some small articles were carried. 
off-things that could be found readily and easily carried-such as saddles and Mexican 
blankets. The whole amount of damage done could not exceed, altogether, $50,000. 
The houses, or jacales, which are thatched huts, destroyed were not any of them 
worth more than $100 or $200; possibly two or three of them might been worth $200 
or $300 each, but the town was a collection ofjacales (huts), and inhabited almost ex­
clusively by poor people. Any inhabitant there who was worth or had $2,000 would 
have been considered rich. I knew Maria Juana Hernandez, who claims $127,000. 
She was a poor woman. She had no particular business. She was not worth $1,000. 
She may have owned a small house and lot. Lorenzo Guevara was also known to me, 
who claims $231,429. He was as poor as the above-mentioned. If he had $1,000 it 
certainly was not known at that time. I have seen the list of claimant,s before the 
commission for the destruction of their property in Piedras Negras. They are aH 
grossly exaggerated, with the exception of those who claim a few hundred dollar. 
The injury done on that occasion by robbery and pillage could not have exceeded the 
sum I have mentioned, because the values were not there. There were very few, if 
any, horses or mules carried off, because the river was high and the invaders were 
obliged to leave some of their own horses in their flig-ht to the American. side. Any 
house that contained furniture to the value of $100 or $200 would be looked on as very 

· rich. No house, except some store,or containing a stock of goods, could l1ave lost more 
than a few hundred dollars aside from the value of the bouse. I had been living at 
Eagle Pass, opposite Piedras Negras, and in daily business intercourse with the inbalJ ­
itants of that place, and I knew well the condition and circumstances of most of them, 
and, aside from the value of goods in a store or two, there is not one among the claim­
ants who could have lost $1,000. Most of them did not lose anything like that. As I 
have stated, $50,000 would amply pay all the damage that was occasioned by that in­
vasion. I knew Melchora Jimenes. She might have been worth $1,000. I knew Man­
uel Rodriguez. He might have been worth $2,000. Dolores Moya had nothing that I 
knew of; she was very poor. Jose Maria Nuncio-if he bad anything it must have 
been only a few hundred dollars. Louis Muzquiz was very poor. He chtims $51,000. 
Jesus Almendares claims $156,000. I knew all the merchants there, and almost all 
who traded there and who frequently came over to buy goods. If he had any stock of 
goods or value I would have known it. He had none to my knowledge. Pedm Gon­
zalez claims $83,000. He was a cartman, and I have occasionally employed him as a 
servant and escort. I paid him a dollar a day, and took him with me about th~Lt time 
or the year previous. I see several others in the list situated in the same way, and 
who make claims for larg;e amounts which they never owned. I have already stated 
t hat the town was inhabited by poor people, and any man who had a few thousand 
dollars was looked upon as rich or in good circumstances. The claims are for amounts 
which are grossly exaggerated. Felipe de la Garza was perhaps the best off in the 
town. The owner of the store he wa,s in was Jesus de la Garza, his father. That store 
was robbed to some extent; I do not know to what extent. He could not have lost 
more than $2,000. I am forty-three years of age, and am a merchant in this city, 
where l have resided now five years. 

FREDERICK GROOS. 

STATE OF TEXAS, County of BexaT, ss : 
I, Robert D. Burns, of the c-ity of San Antonio, county and State aforesaid, do hereby 

certify that Lorenzo Castro and E. T. More, citizens of said State, are well known to 
me; that they are truthful and credible persons, and that full faith and credit are due 
and should be given to all depositions and statements made by them. 

R. D. BURNS. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me. In witness whereof I have hereunto set my 
band and official seal, at office, in San Antonio, this .15th day of March, A. D. 1871. 

[SEAL.] J. MILLS HOYER, 
Notary Pnblic Bexar· Cowzty. 

STATE OF 'l'EXAS, Cmmty of Bexm·, 88: 

I, Thomas D. Johnston, of the city of San Antonio, State and county aforesaid, do 
hereby certify that Frederick Groos, George W. Brackenridge, and John Newton, citi­
zens of said State, are well known to me; that they are highly respectable and credible 
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persons, and that all depositions or statements matle by them are entitled to and 
hould receive full credit and belief. 

THOMAS D. JOHNSTON. 

Sworn to and subscribed before rue. In witness whereof I have hereunto set my 
band and official seal, at office, in San Antonio, this 15th day of March, A. D. 1871. 

[SEAL.] J. MILLS HOYER, 
).Tofary Public, Bexw· Connty. 

Deposition of ..ldolfo Duclos. 

The said ADOLl!'O DucLos, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am by birth a 
Frenchman, a merchant by profession, forty-five years of age, now a resident of the 
city of Monterey, where I am established in business, and was formerly a resident of 
Eagle Pass, in the State of Texas, and during my said residence there the occurrence 
to which this deposition relates took place, I being present at the time. I know the 
village of Piedras Negras, and was well acquainted with tbe condition and circum-
tances of a,l1 of its inhabitants at the time of the raid of filibusters, under Callahan 

and Henry, from Texas, took place. I know that nearly all of the inhabitants of the 
vlllage were of the poorest class of Mexica.ns, living in huts built of pickets stuck into 
the grotmd, with gTass roofs, and without windows or floors; and that all their prop­
erty "\Yas of little value, and in keeping with the character of their houses. At t.he 
time referred to there were three or four houses of the better elass, but none of the in­
habitants could be considered rich. I am perfectly satisfied that the whole village, 
including lots, houses, and the personal property of the inhabitants, could, in 1855, 
have been bought for less than $20,0000, the village being at the time one of the most 
insignificant of the small towns of the State of Coahuila. I know, from personal obser­
vation, what articles were stolen by the filibustexs, and I am satisfiecl that they would 
not amount, in actual value, to $1,000. I know this, also, from the fact that, owing 
to the poverty of the hulk of the inhabitant.s of Piedras Negras, there conld not have 
been a robbery of a large amount of property or money. I know, also, from having 
seen the houses which were burned, that not over a half dozen were so destroyed, and 
the most of them jacales, of very little value, wort,lJ, say, $25 to $50 each. I have read 
what is written above, and here confirm it. 

ADOLFO DUCLOS. 

J)cJJOHilion of Ji'lol'cncio Ctwales. 

[ 'l'ranslat ion.] 

The eaid FLORENCIO CANALES, being first duly sworu, deposes and says-, in the Span­
ish language, since he does not speak English: I am a native of Lampasas, in the State 
of New Leon, seventy years of age, now and sjnce the annexation of the Repnhlic of 
Texas a citizen of the Unitetl States of the North, I living then in Old Laredo, on the 
Rio Grande. I am a butcher by occupation. I came to Fort Duncan, or, that is, -Eagle 
Pass, when it was established, and since then I have lived here. I was here in the 
year 1855, and at 1,he moment when the attack occurred by the volunteers of Callahan 
and Henry on the colony o:E Piedras Negras. I witnessed that burning, and saw that 
all the cabins there were burned. Four days a.fter that occurrence I crossed to the 
other side of the river ancl saw the remains of the colony. All was burned. The day 
after the :fire the volunteers who bad burned the colony came to this side. I knew 
many of the residents of Piedras NegTas. I can mention the greater part of them and 
those who had some property. They were poor people who 1i ved by their labor. They 
had their carts and oxen, some shops with bottles of liquors. The st,rongest house was 
that of Jesus de la Garza. He might have had, in my opinion, $2,000. No other resi­
dent had so much. There were some who had $500, or perhaps even as mucb as $1,000 
in every kind of property and goods. But the greater part did not ba.ve such amounts. 
The majority were poor people, and they had $200, . 300, or $400 in alL Luciano de la 
Cerda might have bad $600 in all, and he, after Jesus de la Garza, was one of those who 
had most. 

Before witnesses. 

his 
PLORENCIO +CANALES. 

mark. 
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Deposition of Ramon Perales. 

[Translation.] 

The said RAl\WN PERALES, being first duly sworn according to law, deposes and says, 
in t.he Spanish language: I a.m a native of San Buena Ventura, fifty-eight years of age, 
manied, and a merchant. In the year 1855 I was in Piedras Negras as a contractor and. 
merchant, a.nd in the month of October, in the same year, I witnessed the attack 
made by Texas volunteers, under the orders of Captains Callahan and Henry, on that 
tO\Yn, and I know the ruin they committed there. They burned some cabins with 
corn-say thirty or forty huts-which might be worth $50 each. I had a hut at that 
time which was worth some $40. There were, perhaps, one hundred families, with five 
hundred individuals, all poor. Some individuals possessed $1,000 or $1,500 at most; 
they were the richest. The majority., being poor people, did not have in this class (any) 
who had more than $200, $300, or $400. It was a, new town, recen·tly established, and 
composed of. families who had come from Presidio de Rio Grande, San Fernando, and 
other towns of the district. Being in Nava, twelve leagues from here, Luis Muzquiz 
came from Piedras Niegras to find me, in order that I might come to make a deposition 
and give my testimony about the claims which were being made up in Piedras Negras 
:in order to present them in Washington in favor of the residents in this town. I went 
to Piedras Negras and made the deposition in the house of Luis Mnzquiz. He asked 
me how much I had lost in the attack, and I a.nswered him that the total va,lne might 
reach $800. He replied that I ought to claim much more, since they had outraged my 
person and had caused me considerable damage and injur.v. I said to him that it was 
true, but that I did not propose now to demand this in account, and that the true 
•alae of what they had taken from me was as just stated, some $800. Don Luis re­
plied that the residents of Piedras Negras had agreed to make up and present their 
claims in Washington against the Government of the United States, and to this end 
they had to incur much expense in ma,king up the expedientes, and to secure the deliv-
6l'Y of the money, which would be on shares, that is to say, half for me and the 
other half for him and the others who commenced the business; that so all the others 
had agreed; and he said to me that I ought to sa.y $'20,000. I answered him that he 
might place the amount which he might wish, but that I for my account would be 
satisfied with the value of the goods which I had lost. He said to me that the Gov­
ernment of the United States was very powerful, and could well pay the sums indi­
cated. I replied to him that this might well be, but what it ought to pay was the 
value of the things which the residents of Piedras Negras had lost; that this was just, 
~nd that I did not wish more. I have seen the list of the residents who claim and the 
:ll.mounts demanded, and they are much exaggerated. Lorenzo Guevara is a resident 
of Piedras Negras. All that he had at the time did not exceed $500. He had two old 
carts and a cabin, two little oxen, five yokes, and he had recently come; wagoner. 
Juan .rose Patino was a subcontractor with the quartermaster at Fort Duncan; he was 
:& wagoner; he had two carts, and all that he had could not exceed $800, and he 
was one of the most powerful and rich of Piedras Negras. The sums which claimants 
claim are much exaggerated. There was no one who had more than $2,000. Maria 
Juana Hernandez might have had $300 or $400; it could not be more. Victoriano 
Rodriguez was a wagoner, and his capital and the value of his stock did not exceed 
$400. Maria del Refugio Menchaca might have had $200 ; she claims $99,000. For 
eYery dollar lost they put down as muclt as $1,000 of reclamation, saying that they had 
to cut clown ha1f, and after that leavl the half that remained for expenses and com­
missions, The residents of Piedras Negras who had shops or stores did not have in 
their stores more than some bottles of liquor, leather, shoes, and wares of little value. 
When the town was formed lots were given to all who wished to build a honse, because 
the object was to attract population from the other towns, and the people whom they 
might expect were poor and could. not pay for them. J os6 Olallo Delgado had a store, 
and he may have had $1,000 in all. I know Antonia Sanchez de Fernandez. She had 
a little shop with some bottles of liquor, and she may have had $400, with her cabin 
and all. I also know Domingo Miguel; he was a laborer and could not have had more 
than·$200. Juan Flores might have had $1,000 or $1,200, and he was one of the most 
powerfuL Gasper Salazar did not have more than $200 in all. Greg01jo Salinas was a, 
silversmith by occupation. In the colony of Piedras Negras he had n6thing. He lived 
with his brother in San Juan. Those who charged themselves with the business of 
making up the expedientes of the claims and of obtaining testimony were Mr. Luis 
Muzquiz and au American, who is lame and is called ''of the camels," because he had 
a corral with camels, in Piedras Negras. Secnndio Barbarosa was a soldier and had 
l'leen a laborer. ·what he possessed could not exceed $200. Luis Muzquiz did not have 
more than $1,000; he had a hut and bottles; he sold liquor; he was a clerk. Dolores 
l!oya did not have $300. In my judgment the whole value of all the property and 
stnek which was stolen and destroyed in the attack does not exceed $70,000. I am at 
thi, moment a resident of Navas on account of my business, a.nd I am passing frequent.ly 
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from Navas to Piedras Negras. I hav-e always lived in this district and in Piedra 
Negras until the year 18G6-'67. The colony of Piedras Negras was formed a little while 
aft-er the camp of military location or Fort Duncan. It had no existence before. I 
am a Mexican citizen. 

Depositiou o.f Oregorio (;ar::a. 

fTranslation.l 

his 
RAMON + PERALES. 

mark. 

The said GI{EGORIO GARZA, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a native of 
San Nicolas de Hidalgo, in the State of New Leon, and since eighteen years I am resi­
dent of Piedras Negras; forty-six years of age and farmer. I was in tbe town of Pie­
dras Negras in 1855, and during the whole year and in the month in which the attack 
aucl burning of this town took place, at the hands of Texas volunteers, under the orders 
of Callahan and Henry; was then a resident of Piedras Negras; had a house covered 
with hay in which I lived·at that time, anu my dwelling was burned with the others; 
there were then some one hnndred and fifty or one hundred and eighty cabins (huts) 
belonging to the residents of the town, and the value of t.hem was from $30 to $80 each. 
Very few had articles of value. The generality of the residents were poor people. 
The richest among the inhabitants did not have mot·e than $:~,000 in all, and the gener­
ality mueh less, not more than $300 or $400 in value of furniture, or goods which they 
had. All that I lost on this occasion by the burning did not exceed $500. I know 
l\faria Juana Hernandez; what she could have lost on that occasion did not exceed 
$400; ~>he was poor. I know Dimas Sandoval. He did not hn,ve more than $300 in 
value. Felipe de la Garza might have had $800. Lorenzo Gueyara was then a boy, 
living with his mother. Juan Jose Patino had some wagons (ca.rts), and lost about 
$800. He was one of the wealthiest (men) there. Santos Loy was a solflier, and he 
might have lost :t;:~oo. Guadalupe Ramos was a, musician, and is now, a.nd he might 
ba \·e lost, perhaps, as much as $500. Francisco Gonzales Reyes was poor; a.s was l\fel­
rh ra Jimenes. They have placed my loss at $63,98:3. I have already stated what I 
lost. 'l'he e.rpedicutes were made up by Luis Muzquiz and others. He came to my 
house, and, I not Leiug there, he asked my wife what was the amount. She replied 
tha,t she was not competent to know how much it was. Lnis Mnzquiz theu put down 
the sum which I have 11amed, and he did the same with the other residents. I never 
igned any expedieule or declaration of my loss. I was never at the house of the judge: 

nor at the court for the purpose of giving testimony on thiH subject. I believe that 
he did the same with the others, and that be bas put down and claimed $3,000 or $10,000 
in favor of persoue who did not lose $100. Jesus Almendares and Mariano Aguirre 
claim $126,290 and $51,506, and they did not lose $100, Lecanse they never had it, and 
neither did they have it now. Luciano Arredondo was poor. He had nothing more 
than his cauin and furniture of small value. There was not then more tha.n six stone 
houses; almost all were of t-imber ancl covered with hay. Seconclino Barb:nosa was a 
soldier-a confirmed drunkard; he had nothing-. Jose Ma,ria Carbajal was a soldier. 
Juan Caceres was a lJoy. I do not know who Jesus Cobos i.s. I knew almost all the 
resi<Jents at that time. Santos Cervantes wa.s poor; he hacl some furniture in his 
house. Rafael Cespell~L was a soldier; he was poor. Miguel Cervera was a cartwright; 
be might ha\e lost $600. I do not know Manuel Amarillo Castro, nor Jose Macia Cortes, 
nor Cruz Cifnentes, nor J nan Castro, nor J osc Olallo Delgado, nor Rosa E lqnezabal, nor 
:Manuel ElquezahaJ, nor Gertrucles l!"'loras. Jesus Flores was a peasant; he was poor. 
Antonio Flores Salinas was a boy. .Jnan Flores the same. Jesus Frias was a soldier. 
Rafael Flores, soldier. Gregorio Gonzalez was then a poor baker, and he had no honse. 
Albino Guevara was poor; be never had here the occupation of bat-maker. Anastassio 
Gonzalez was also poor; he claims $57,3:39; be did not have $200. I say the same of Dio­
nisio Gonzale:t and of Francisco Gueda and of Francisco Gonzalez. Maximo Garcia was 
a oldier. Jesus M~Lria Herrera, a smith, claims $46,350, and he coulcl not have bad 
$500. Clemente Herrera claims $72,688; this would be on behalf of his father, Theo­
dore, and he might have had $600 or $c!OO. Eufemia Herna.ndez was poor; she claim 
$44,500; sbe might have lm1t $;)00. Jose Jimeues was a poor man. j uana Longoria 
wa' then a girl; she claims perhaps on account of her parents. They were also povr, 
and they could not have lost more than, '400. Jesus Losoya was poor. Severo de Luua, 
was also a poor man. Marcelino Lopez, the same. CresceuciamL Martinez w:cts poor. 
Antonio Montez was a musician, and poor. Luis Muzquiz claims $51,79i. I believe 
that he was not in the town then. He was the one who marl.e up the e.cpedientcs. I 
believe that he has nothing now. He is a bad man. He was a prisoner in Saragosa 
(San Fernandez), and broke jail and escaped. Jose Maria Nuncio was poor. Jnliau 
Ortiz is a guard now; he was not. in Pjeclras Negras then. Guadalupe 01 vera is poor. 
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Nonato Patino the same, and Jesus Pineda, and Miguel Patiiio, and Fraucisco Quin­
tero, and Simon Rodriguez. Manuel Rodriguez bad a little sLop, aud might have lost 
. orne $800. Julian Rodrignez was a soldier, poor, and JesHs Raruon the same. Rosa­
lia Rodriguez might have lost $500. Jose Maria Rodriguez was a poor man; the same 
was Antonio Ramirez, carpenter. Ramon Rodriguez might b::we lost. $1:!00. Catarino 
Rios was a poor man; the same was Leonardo Rodriguez. Elcno Rodriguez claims 
$52,196; be is son of Ramon Rodriguez, who ch ims $6G,350. At the time Eleuo Rod­
ri~uez was a minor, and he bad nothing. Dolores Salinas is a poor woman; the same 
is Fraucisca Zu1aica. Domingo San Miguel was ensign o.f a compnny of soldiers at 
hat time; be bad very 1ittle; he was poor. Jes11s Saliuas was eoporal nf the com­

pany; poor also. Gregorio Salinas, silversmith, ha•1 very litt.le. GaNpar Salazr.tr wa_, 
poor. Vicente de los Santos was sergeant of a comp<UlY of sol•liera; poor. l ' idelia t1e 
]a Serda was poor; he was a boy then. 1\Iaria de ]a Lu:t. 'alaznr 'Yas the wife of a 
copoml of the company; she cldms $4;~,t3il; she might l1ave }l;td :-;:~00. l\1nrga1ito 
Teposte, soldier, an<l poor. Casimiro Trejo wag corporal of the cotupauy, a.nd poor. 
Pedro Va.]ades was a poor man, and so was E~tauislao Valatlrs, and hit.; brother bih-e­
I'io Valades, peasants and laborer. Onofre Villareal was the wlftl of Captain Jo"c 
Maria Saiz, and had one of the. best houses; she wa~:> amnng the we;t1ti..Jiest peo1de 
there. I have seen her manifest, or Jist of the things whieb she lost, and it does uot 
reach $2,000, and. she claims $11~~,7:36.fi0. Trinidad Vasqnez was se;ge;mt of tbe com­
pany of soldiers, and poor. Bernardo Valdes is now boatmfLil (on the Rio Grande ), 
and claims, without doubt, on account; of his parents, because be was nuder age theu. 
Cecilio Vara was a pooi· man; the same wns Mignel Villareal. Nicanor Valdez, poor 
man. Angel Yturriaga was a soldier, and. poor. Tb~re are so111e names lu the list 
whicb I do not recognize, and I do noli know Htat they \Yere tltere at that time. The 
sums wbich they claim are very extravagant (or exaggerated). Tuey conl<l not haYe 
had, nor could they ba,ve lost, such an amount. There are claimants wllO then wtre 
not in Piedras Negras. 

his 
GHEGORJO +GARZA. 

mm·k. 

First deposition of William Schacltardt, l.~nited States commercial aytul r~j' J>iedra8 Xe!Jrct 

The said WILLIAM SCHlJCHAIWT, being first clnl,v sworu 1 deposes aud says: I am a 
citizen (naturalized) of the United States, thirty-nine ~'ears of age, now temporarily 
:resident in Piedras Negras, where I am commercial agent of the United States. I have 
resided in Piedras Negras since the latter part of the yeal' 186:1. I am well acquainted 
with Ramon Perales, who has made n, deposition before Albert. Tiirpe, uota.J'_V pnblic, 
this day, and intended to be used before the mixetl commission betweeu the United 
States and Mexico, a.nd now sitt,ing u,t Washington, in the matt r of varions claims of 
Mexican citizens against tbe United States, and especi:.tlly iu ftwor of ecrtaitJ claimants 
because of the destruction of :1 p<trt of the towu of Piedras Negras iu 1 55. I have 
known Mr. Perales since 1867. He is a man of integrity of dtaracter, honest and 
worthy of credit and belief. Snell is his general repntn.tiou. I b:we seen the ]i..,t of 
the claimants against the United States for the destrn<'tion and robbery of their 
houses and pillage of their property in Pieilras N<'gras by tbe raidel's nuder Callahan 
and Henry in 1H55, and am acquainted wit.h a good many of them. The cbims are all 
for extravagant a.monnts. None of them ever had any snch amount of property. 1t 
is notorious that the amounts claimed ~tre inflate<l a.ud very extr:wagant. I haye 
frequently conversed with those who allege that tltey lost ihei · property aud all they 
bad on that occasiou, and I know their present conditions and occnpatiolls, and,jndg'ng 
from their own declarations of the articles they then possessed, and ·which were taken 
from them, I should judge that the whole amount of the property destroyed and ta -eu 
at that time and on that occasion could not exceed., in an, $50,000. Ramon Perales 
was one of those who lost property on that occasion, and, as he states in his depositiout 
he desired to make claim for about $1300; and any larger amount than that is an ex:­
a.ggeratiou, made for the purposes be bas stated, at:d not with his consent; ~Lnd from 
that may be jndged the exaggeration in other cases, in all of them, for they are all 
well known in Piedras Negras to be exaggerated, and so stated openly to l1e exagger­
ated, with the expectation that they will be cut down at least one-half or more; and 
of the sums that may be awa,rded bnt a portion will reach the claimants. These facts 
are notorious in Piedras Negras, and of general reputation and notoriety. 

W.M:. SCHUCHARDT 
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Seconcl (lcposition nf frillimn Schncltal'clt. 

The said \VrLLLOI ScnucnAP.DT, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am 
cmnmcrcial agent of the United States at Piecll:asNegras, in Mt3xico, opposite to Eagh) 
Pa.ss, and resident there since 1803. I am well acquainted with Gedgorio Garza, of 
Piedras Negms, who h:t-3 made deposition before Albert 'l'urpe, notary public in this 
11iace, on the lGth llay of February, and who, after the same was taken down by me 
and read to him by me, signed (marked) said deposition. He is entirely worthy of 
credit, and his generaJ reputation is that of an honest and reliable man. I have for 
. ever:tl years had occasion to employ him, :from time to time, on business of importance, 
and requiring a man of confidence and integrity, and have always found him correct 
and trnthful. Such is his generalreputa.tion iu Piedras Negras, where he has resided 
fnr a long time. I <tm acquainted also with many of the persons mentioned by him as 
inhabitant of Piedras Negras, who are among tlle claimants for the destrllction of 
their property in that town in 1855~ and his statements there made, bot.h as to them 
and as to the mode of preparln~ and presenting the CXJJCdientes or documents in sup­
port of his and other claims by Luis Mnzqniz, and others, are true. I am acquainted 
aLo with Luis Muzquiz, and his character and reputation are not good, and the state-
lent of Gregorio Ga.rza in relation to him is true. The agents of the claimants in 

Piedras Negras, Bethel Coopwood and William Stone, came to me aud proposed to pay 
me the fees for my official certificates to 1ihe seal and signature of the jlldge before 
whom the e.cpedicnte..; or testimony in support of those claims was taken-should be 
paid on condition that the claims were successful. I refnsed, stating that for every 
certificate and fee I bail. to render account, and I could make no such stipulation. 

'VM. SCHUCHARDT. 

DepoNifiou of Ramon Pemles. 

Translation.] 

The said RA:\IOX PEJ!ALES, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: I am a Mexican 
oh.;i~en and resident of Nava, and I am about fifty-eight years of age, and merchant 
and laborer by occupation. I was a resident of Piedras Negras at the time that this 
town was destroyed by Texas forces, under the command of Callahan auu Henry, and 
I ost by said destruction property of some value. The past year Luis l\fnzquiz sent 
for me, in order that I might make my claim through him, as my agent. I gave him 
a deposition (statement) of what I had in reality lost, ancl I never expected that they 
would pay me more thau what I had lost, and if tlley paid me what I have lost I would 
be satisfied. I signed a power of attorney, in order that Luis Muzqniz might act as 
my attorney in this business, but they never asked me to make depositions concerning 
what other residents had lost by the same cause, and I never made a deposition, nor 
~ubscribed any document or expediente with respect to persons or losses which they sus­
tained by the destruction of Piedras Negr·as by Texans in 1855. I know Trinidad 
Vazquez. l know Petlro Gonzalez and Domingo San Miguel. I do not know Albin1> 
Guevara; at least I do not recollect bim. I have not been a witness in the expedienle 
of Pellro Gonzales, nor of Albino Guevara, nor of Tri uidad Vazq nez, nor of Domingo San 
Miguel, and of no other person, and if Luis Muzquiz or other agents have placed me 
(my name) in the e.rpedientes of the above-mentioned persons, or of any other person 
whatsoever, these agents have committed a fra.ud by using my signature. I believe 
that many persons have made claims for losses who were not in the town at that time. 
I knew Marcelino Lopez; he was very poor; he had a ca.bin, and worked with a little 
cart. I knew Secondino Barbarosa; he was very poor, antl was a retired soldier, and 
he did not have more than one cabin. The same was Jesus Frias; he was building a. 
cabin, and did not have anything more. I knew Trinidad Vazquez; he did not have 
anything but a cabin, and sold chickens and vegetables; he was very poor. 

his 
RAMON -t- PERALES. 

\Vitness: 
mark: 

MARIDAD FURZA. 
(Here follows, in English, the certificate of Albert TU.rpe, notary public of Maverick 

County, Texas.) 
(Translated by A. P.M., May 19, 1871.) 



190 CI,AIMS AGAINST 'l'HE UNITED STATES. 

T11clex to Picdms _Yegms elairns. 
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237 Almansa, J uan ........................................................... .. 
276 Augele:::, Merce(l de los .. ... . ..... . ......... . ............. . ......... ....... .. 
284 A gil're, 111m·iano ..... . ................ ......... ...... ..... ..... . .. ....... .. . 
IWO A.lrnenilares, Jesus ......................................................... . 
J 09 Arredouc1o. Luciana . . ... _ ....................................... ..... . ... _ . . 
251i B:H·bosa, Secnndino ........................................................ . 
291 Barrera, SeYero ........... . ................. . ..................... - .' ....... . 
22~~ Carbajal, J os!l Ma . ...................... .. ..... .... .. ... ....... ........... .. 

c• Calderon, .Juana ..... . .................. . ........ ....... ...... .. .... . .... .. . 
301 Caceres. Juan . ..................... .. .... . .......... . ....... ... .... ....... . . 
~{05 Cobos, .Jesus ...... -··· ·· ................................................... . 
309 CervaDtes, Santos .................... .. . .. ........................... . ..... . 
313 Cevera, Octaviano ......................................................... . 

91 Cepeda, Rafael ....... . ............................... ..... ....... . ... ...... . 

1~~ 3::~~:.·:~~M.~~~~i~-d~:::::::::: ::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::: 
124 Cortees, .Jose Ma ................................ ... ............ ........ .. .. 
1:17 Cifuentes, Cruz ........................................................... . 
163 Castro, Juan ................... . ....... - ..... · • · .. - .. -.-- · · · · · ·- · .". · · · · · · · · · 
100 Dplgac1o, J·o~e Olallo ...... . .............. .. ........•...... . ....... .. . .... .. . 
250 El•Juezabal, Rosa .......................................... ........ ........ . 
144 Elquezabel, JHanueL ............................................. - ......... . 
248 ]'lores, G ertr(tdes .. ... . .............. . ........ . ................. . ... .. - .... . 
281 Flores, Jesus ........................ - . .............. ·-···-- .. · .. ·· .. · · ··· .. · 
297 :Flores, Antonio Salinas . ..... ..... .... ... ............ ........ .............. . 
319 ]'lores, Juan ................................... - ....... ·-· .... -......... .. ·· 
80 Flores, .1.\ntonio Cadenas ... ......................... ........ ...... . ...... .. . 
So ]'elan, Cemlia ................................. --. - - - .. - · -- ---- -- . ·- · · - - - · - · · 

119 .Frias, Jesus .. . .. - ... ....................... ...... ···· ................ · ... . . 
140 Fuentes, Victoriano ............................................. ---.--- ... - . 
151 Flores, ltafael ........................... - .. -.. -.- .. -.- · ·---- ·.- ·--- ·- · ·--- · · 
~~~ Garza, Felipe de la ........................................ .......... ....... . 

Guevara, lorenzo . .................... . ..................................... . 
243 Gonzales, Francisco Reyes ... .... .. ...................... ...... ............. . 
245 ( rar1.a, Gregorio .............................. - - . . .. - ....... -.-.- · · · -- ·- . - - - · 
247 Garza, J esns Sanchez .. .............................................. . ... . .. . 
249 Gonzales, G-eronimo . ................................................. , ..... . 
260 Gon:~:ales , Victor ............................................................ . 
2·71 Gonzales, Gre~OI·io ......................................................... . 
289 Galindo, M:11-tina . ....................... -................ -.-- .. -.. - · · - ·- -- -• · 
~~~ Garza, ,Jesus Ma. de ]a ............. . ....................... .. ... .. ......... .. 

296 
Gutierrez, Ma. Silvf:stre .................................. •........ . ........ . 
Garcia, ,Josefa Elizondo .............................. .... .. ...... ........... . 

29fl Gonzales, Pedro ........................... - ... - . --. -- . - . --. ·.- -- - - - - · -- -.-- - · 
307 GueYera, Alvino .... ...........•.•....... . .................... . ........... - . . 
308 Gonzales, Anastasio ............. . .................... - ........... -- ....... .. 

~l~ g~[ii~:~i~1}:~l;:·:: ::::: ~::: :::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::: ~: ~:: :::: ~ 
95 Galindo, Ysabel. ... .... . .................. ....... .............. - ........... .. 

107 Guedea, ]'ran cisco .... .................... .. ........... . - . . . .. ... .. . . - ...... . 
108 Gonzales, Francisco .... ... ..................... .......... ..... . ....... ...... . 
113 Garcia Cordero, Gabriel . . .. . . . .. .. . . .. . . .. .. .. . . .. . . . . .. . . . .. ........... .. 
114 Gutierrez, Josefa ....... ................................. .................. . 
117 Galindo, Ma del Pilar ..... ................. . ............................. .. . 
120 Garcia, Maximo .. ... ........ .... . . ..... .. .. . .. ........... ... ...... ......... . 
1:12 Gonzales Salinas, Dolores .. .............. ............ .... .... . ... .... ....... . 
153 Galindo, Clara ............ . ........ ... ... . .. .... .... ...................... . 
154 Garcia Vela, Antonio .................................................. ..... . 

~~~ g:~~~!: ~~~~l~-~t·f-~~~~:::: :~ ::::::::::::::::::::: ::: :·. :·. ~ -: :·.::::: ::::::::::: 
166 Garza, Ma. M. de la ......................................................... . 
168 Garcia, Coleto ....... . ... ..... . ..... . ..... . ... . ......... . .. ..... - ........... . 
173 Unaldarrama, Jose ................. ................................ . ...... .. . . 
23:3 .Hernandez, 1\1a. Juana ......... ...... ..... ........ ........... ...... ........ .. 
235 Herrera. Francesca . _ ..... . . ..... . ......... . ... ...... ...... ..... ........... . 
268 Hernande~~. Martiua . .... .... ................. . ... . ......................... . 
85 Herrera, ,Jesus Mit ....... . ........................ _ ....................... .. 
99 Herrera, Clemente ..... .. .. .......... .. ................ ..................... . 

115 Hernandez, Enferuia . ....... . .......... ......................... ..... ... .. .. . 
141 Hernandez, Rafael. .............. _ . ......................................... . 
147 Hernandez, Olivarez ....... ......... .... ... ..................... ..... ....... . 
149 Hernan!lez, :Francisco ....................................................... . 
160 Rei'DfLn!lez, Ma. Dolores . ...•••.... _ ........................................ . 
244 Jimenes, JY[elchora ................... ~ - ............................. ... .... . 

!JO Jimenes, Jose . ............. ... ................ ...... .. ... . .................. . 
241 Loy, Santos ......................................... . ......... .. ...... ... .. .. 
262 ; Longoria, Juana ............... . ........... . .... ......................... ... . 
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litclex to Piedras Segl'as cZaims-Contiuned. 
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767 136 Mesa, Maria Ygnacia ..........•..........•.................................. 

~: i~~ ~~iti·n!~z~~~~i:i Yg~ac.ia:::::: :::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::: 
338 278 Nuncio, Jose Ma ......................•••...............•.........•........ 
723 1Hl Otiz, Julian . .............................................................. . . 
764 .133 Olvera, Guadalupe ....•..................•.................................. 
299 239 Patino Martinez, Juan Jose ...•••..•...................•................... 
324 264 Patino, Nonato ..................•........••................................. 

~~ ~~~ I ~~~~~.· ~o~~r;~:::: ::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::.::::::::: : 
654 2!19 Perez, ]francisco .............................•.............•................ 

~i ~~~ I ~:~:~~~~~~el~: ::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::: 
~~ 1gJ ~;~~~;,· ~i~~ei: ::: ~:-. ::~ :~·.:·.·. :~~ ~ ~:: :::::::::::: ~:~ ::::::: ~ :~:: ::::::::::::I 
773 142 Perea, Manuel. ........•............................•....•................... 
774 143 Perea, Ygnacio ........................•............•...••••................. 
790 159 Perez, Jose Ma .................................. ............•............... 
793 162 Perez, Guadalupe . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ....... . 
798 167 Perez, Marcelino ....................................••.•.••.•............... 
800 169 Perez, Ma. Gertrudis .....•.......•.....••................•...•.....•........ 
900 172 Palos, Blas 0 ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 

792 161 Quintero, Francisco .......................•................................ 0 

302 242 Ramos, Guadalupe ...........................•.....•........................ 
313 253 J:.amirez, Simon ...............•..........•.•...•...••.... - . - .... - . - . - - . - . - .. 
318 258 Rodriguez, Manuel ...•••...•........................•....................... 
330 270 Reyes, Gabriel de los ................•...................................... 
333 273 Rodriguez, Julian-----·-·················-----------------··----·--······-·· 
345 285 Ramon, Jesus ..................................................•..... -..... . 
353 293 Rodriguez, Victoriano .......................................•....•.......... 
658 303 Rodriguez, Rosalia ..................................•............•......... . 
672 317 Rodriguez, Jose Ma ...................................•................... 0 

~~ '~~ ~~~h~~tJ..;f~~~a-: ~ ~:: ~ ~:: ::::::::: :~::: :::::: ~ :::::::::::::::::::::::::::: 
701 96 Rodriguez Valdes, Manuel ...............................................•.. 
707 102 Ramirez, .A.rcadio ........................•................................. 

~~~ ~~~ ~f~~~t~~~;_,!~~~~-:: :::::::::::::::: ~::::: :::::::::::::: ~-: :::::::::::::::: 0 

~~g gg ~~~~~f~!~; 1:~~~~d~-:: ·_:::::: -_ -_ -_: ~ ~:: ·_ ·. -_:::::::::::::: ~::::::::::: : ::::::: ~: 
~~~ ~~~ ~~bsie:.Nie~~~~~~-: :·.::: :::::::::::::: :::::~:: :::: :::~:::::: :: : ~ :: :::::::::: 
770 139 Rodriguez, Eleno . ...............•.......................................... . 
781 150 Rodl'iguez, Rosalia ............•.....................•...........•........... 
899 171 Rios, Julian .... ..........................................••................. 
294 234 Sandoval, Dimas ...... ..................................................... . 
296 236 Sandoval, Luis ..............................................•............... 
325 265 Salinas, Dalores .... ........................................................ . 
332 272 Sauceda, Antonia ...................................................•...•... 
337 277 Sanchez, Encarnacion .•.......................• --~-- •.....••..•.••.......... 
339 289 Sulaica, Francisca ...............•.•..•........................•....•.•...... 
::143 283 Sanchez, Jose Maria .. .....•.............••........•..••.................... . 

~~g 3~~ ~~lln~~~~~~~~~~~~-:: :::::::::::: :·::: ::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::: 
682 78 Salinas, Gregorio .....•....•••...•.......•.. ___ ..........•......•............ 
~ 6 82 1 Salazar, Gaspar ..•. ... •...•.•...••.•..•..........•..•...•..•.•.............. 

$43, 010 00 
42, 642 (}(.1 
33,445 00 
57,990 00 
83, 7;;0 0 
33 600 00 
26: :!50 00 
95,338 00 

152, 858 00 
12, 190 00 
53,580 00 
41, 675 00 
52, 259 00 
32,969 00 
51, 797 00 
21, 31~ 00 
9fl, 775 00 
n. flm oo 
35, ~~~ 00 
47, · .. ).) (}{) 
85, fl90 00 
37,47:3 00 
58,645 00 
49, 4.j() 00 
24,:194 00 
43,808 00 
41, 870 00 
36,1346 00 
34,847 00 
41, 641 00 
31,371 00 
75, IIH 00 
3:!, 523 00 
70,024 75 

111,225 00 
30, 612 01) 
81,777 00 
94,045 00 
48, 675 00 
80,177 00 
73,847 00 
48,220 00 
47,225 00 
40,910 00 
50,280 00 

114,077 00 
55,378 00 
86,243 00 
10,804 00 
73, 5~8 00 
72,401 00 
10,224 00 
53,543 00 
53,657 00 
54,750 00 
89, 150 00 
49,138 00 
38,624 00 
65,350 00 
57,150 00 
67, 065 00 
71, 747 00 

102,790 00 
70, 012 00 
52, 176 00 
86,617 OJ 

8, 585 00 
43,139 0 I 
54, 075 OJ 
89, j o,j 00 
93, 1~3 0 
62, 610 0 I 
67,800 0) 
63,886 0 ) 
13,752 O:J 
63,200 0) 
39,660 0 I 

33,840 OJ 
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Index to Piedras Negras claims-Continued. 

,---------,--------------------------------- --------

Claimant. Amount 
claimed. 

- - - ---------------------------------

690 
691 
706 
752 
754 
758 
71l5 
769 
776 
747 
779 
783 
801 
306 
655 
670 
679 
685 
688 
786 
787 
676 
300 
311 
312 

. 314 
326 
671 
677 
678 
681 
69'7 
698 
766 
315 

86 
87 

101 
121 
12::l 
137 
134 
138 
145 
146 
148 
152 
170 
246 
300 
315 

75 
81 
84 

155 
156 
321 
240 
251 
252 
254 
266 
316 
322 
323 
77 
92 
93 

135 
255 

Salinas, Francisco .......................................... , ......•... . ..... 
Santos, Vicente de los ...................................................... . 
Sanchez de Fernandez, An to .................... " ......................... . 
Salinas Guevara, J ·esus ..................... . ............... . .. . ............ . 
Salinas, l!~acundo _ ............. . ............... ............................ . . 
Serda, Vidala de la ......................................................... . 
Salazar, Maria de la Luz ... _ .......................................... . ..... . 
Sauceda, Miguel. .............................. . _ . . ...... . ...... _: ___ ...... . . 
Solis, Eduardo . .................. . ......................................... . 
Salinas, Guadalupe ................... .. .................................... . 
Soto, Francisco ........................•....... _ .. _ •......................... 
Salinas, Ma. Antonio .... _ ................ . ................................. . 
Soza, Maria Talesforo ................................................. _ .... .. 

~~~~!~·~ri!1~r~:: ::::::::: ~::::::::::: ~::::: ::::::::::::::::::::::::::::: 
Ta1.ms, Pedro .......................................................... .. 

~~~;:~~~~:{~!~~;~~-:·:·:·:·::':':':':':~:~ :~-:·:':':': ':: :~:::: :·::::::: ~ ~::::: ':':': ':::: ': 
Trejo, J"osefa .............................................................. .. 
Urteaga, Antonio .................................. . ....................... . 
Villareal, Pedro ........................ .................................... . 
Valades, Pedro .................. . ..................... _ ..................... . 
Valades, Estanislaus ...................................................... .. 
Valades, Silverio ...................... . .................................... . 
Villareal, Onofre . . . . . . . .............................................•. ..... 
Vazquez, Trinidad ......................... _ .............................. :. 
·val des, Bel'nardo .......... . ............. _ ......... . ............... . ........ . 
Valades, Silverio ............................ . .. . ........................... . 
Vara, Cecilio .............................................................. ; . 
Villareal, Miguel. ........................ _ ................................ .. 
Van, Adelaida .................. . ..... . .... . ................................ . 
Valdes, Nicanor ............................. _. _ . . ........ ... ................ • 
Yturriaga, Angel. ......................................................... .. 

Extract j1·orn the Washington Republican of Ap1·ill8, 1872. 

$83,020 00 
25,793 00 
50,450 00 
59,373 00 
77,947 00 
56,300 00 
43,861 00 
71,341 00 
48,528 00 
45,264 00 
57,548 00 
70,272 00 
31,302 00 
24,640 00 
58, 178 50 
45, 416 00 
65,550 00 
57,402 00 
38,300 00 
38,943 00 
53,337 00 
9::1,080 00 
63,501 00 
93,262 00 
82,271 00 
84,000 00 

113,736 50 
12,522 00 
33,619 00 

192,618 00 
54,802 00 
53,640 00 
32,620 00 
ti6, 677 00 
31, 802 00 

'l'HE JOINT COMMISSION OF THE UNITED STATES AND MEXICO.-The commissioners 
announced yesterday their decision disposing of the class of cases known as the Piedras 
Negras claims, some one hundred and ninety in number, against the United States, 
arising out. of the sacking of the Mexican town of Piedras Negras by two companies of 
Texas militia in October, 1855. An award of $50,000 is made in favor of the Mexican 
Government, to be by that Government distributed among one hundred. and fifty of 
the claimants, as named in the list prepared by the commissioners, or such of them as 
may be found meritorious ; while the demands of forty of the claimants as named by 
the commissioners are rejected outright. 

Additional evidence being offered, both for the claimants' and defendants' govern­
ments, it was announced by the commissioners that, under the operation of the order 
closing all cases on the 1st of April, they would decline to receive evidence, e~ept of 
substantial cause shown in each case, accompanied by satisfactory explanation of the 
delay in offering it. For want of this explanation, they declined to receive the evidence 
offered in several cases. 

-The large class of eases against the United States known as the "Indian depredation 
cases" was submitted to the consideration of the commissioners upon the lega.l points 
involved. 

[44th Congress, 2d session.-House Ex. Do c. No. 14.J 

Lettm· [1·orn the Secreta1·y of War concer.ning accounts of the State of T exas. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, 
Washington, D. C., December 26, 1876. 

SIR : I have the honor to inform the House of Representatives, in answer to a re­
quest from its Committee on Military Affairs, that this department possesses no evi­
dence concerning the accounts of the State of Texas, further than the statements on 
two abstracts which are for $1,536,487.62, and which were received from the committee, 
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and except accounts for $223,143.89. The latter were examined at this department in 
the year 1871, and they were reported upon in full, as appears in House Executive 
Document No. 277, second session Forty-second Congress. 

The papers received are returned, as requested, inclosed herewith. 
Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

J. D. CAMERON, 
Secretar·y of War. 

The SPEAKER of the House of Representatives, 
Washington. 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, 
Washington, D. C., July 21, 1876. 

SIR : Pursuant to direction by the Committee on Military Affairs of the House of 
Representatives, I herewith transmit to you a joint resolution (H. R. 23), and certain 
papers accompanying the same, providing for the payment to the State of Texas for 
moneys expended in frontier defense, referred to this committee, together with a copy 
of a resolution adopted by the committee, requesting that you cause the accounts t() 
be inspected, and report thereon the" amount really due the State of Texas on ac­
count of the same." 

The original papers herewith transmitted you will please preserve and return with 
your response. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

Hon. J.D. CAMERON, 
Secr·etary of War. 

A. S. WILLIAMS, 
.Acting Chairman. 

Referred to Maj. Thomas H. Bntdley for investigation and report. 
By order of the Secretary of War. 

JULY 25, 1876. 

H. T. CROSBY, 
Chief Clerk. 

Respectfully returned with the report that there are no accounts found in the War or 
Treasury Departments from the State of Texas for reimbursement on account of H. R. 
23, current series, except those for $223,143.89, reported upon in 1871. (H. Ex. Doc. 

• 277, 2d seas. 42d Congress.) 

WAR DEPARTMENT, December· 23, 1876. 

THOMAS H. BRADLEY, 
Brevet Captain, U. S . .A. 

FORT BROWb17 TEXAS, Decentber 3, 1815. 

[Extract.] 

DEAR GENERAL: if if * if if 

We have had quite an excitement lately. Will send you the reports of the officers 
concerned as soon as they are all received. I understand that McNally goes to San 
Antonio shortly, and he may be able to tell you all about it. The Mexican authorities 
promised to return all the cattle, but did not. They did send over a small part of the 
stock, enough to swear by, I suppose. Roundlett having hit one herd and pitched 
into the thieves, caused them to drop two other herds, I understand. One was dropped 
on the 18th ultimo not far from the river (about 300 head 'tis reported), the other is 
reported to have been very large. 'Tis said that there were over 40 thieves in these 
raids, that is, on this side; the entire outfit was ready to receive them on the south 
bank. The mail-rider was captured near Las Cuevas, and detained some twelve hours, 
to prevent him reporting the raid to Captain Randlett, at Edinburg. I think cattle­
stealing is going on quite as rapidly as ever. The river is very low and there is no 
trouble in crossing cattle. About forty of those returned were King's, I understand. 

Yours, 
(Signed) J. H. POTTER. 

Gen. E. 0. C. ORD, 
U. S . .Anny, Sttn Antonio, Tex. 

A true extract. 
(Signed) 

S. Ex. 74-13 
HUGH G. BROWN, .A. D. C. 
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Statement of amounts paid by the State of Texas for f?·ontier protection frorn January 28, 
1855, to Jamta1·y 287 1861. · 

Amounts paid~ 

For pay of companies under Captains Callahan, Benton, and Henry (act : 
of December 17, 1855).... .... ...... .... ...•.. ...... ..•... ...... ...... $15,571 01 

For pay of mileage, subsistence, and volunteers under Captains Callahan, 
Benton, and Henry (act of December 17, 1855) ....•................... 

For pay of paymaster, three companies volunteers callep out (act of De-
cember 17, 1855) ........•................ _ . .......•. :· .•...........•.. 

5,750 60 

100 00· 
For pay of six companies called out by General Smith (act of January 14, 

1856) ... - ..... --- .... -- ... -.... -- .................. --.-. . . . . . . . . . . . . 46, 106 88 
For balance expenses on aceount eontract,s for six companies volunteers 

called out by Smith (act January 14, 1856) ...•.....•............•..... 
For pay of Capt. William Tom's company (act of August 30, 1856) ..•.•.. 
For pay of Capt. L. English's company (act August 30, 185o) ........... . 
For pay of Capt. William G. T.ooin's company (a.ct of August 30, 1856) .. 
For pay of supplies Captain Tom's company (act of August 30, 18.56) ..... 
For pay of paymaster of Captains Tom's and English's .companies (act of 

August 30, 1856) ......•••.....•.... ~ . . . • • . . . . . • • . . . . • . • . . . .••...•.•.. 

4, 026 43. 
1,494 72 
1,764 86 

917 46 
408 97 

100 00 
For pay ot three companies minute-men und~r S;lnsom, Davenport, and 

Black (;let of January 13, lt?57) ..••..•......••.•..• .•. : .••... .... .... 4, 000 00 
For the better protection of the frontier (act of January 27, H~[!7).. . • • • • . 71, 839 03 
For pay of four companies under Captains Carmack, Connor, Hodge, and 

Frost (act of November 17, 1~57). .. . . •. .•. . . . .. . . . . . . .. . . •. .. . ... ... . 18,867 62 
For pay and supplies for Capt. G. H. Nelson's company volunteers (act of 

December 14, 1857) ............• -.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • • . •• . . • . . . . • • • . . . . 14, 655 40 
For pay and suosistence of Captains Ford's, Bourland's, and Brown's com-

panies, app_ pay of peace commi!Jsioners (acts of January 12 aud Feb-
ruary 8, 1860) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . • . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . &0, 480 00 

For pay of necessary expenses incurred by Captain Tobin's company (act 
of January 12, 18{i0). ...... ..•... ...•.. ...... ..•... ...... ..•.•. .•.•.• 9, 748 28 

For pay for protection of the frontier (act February 3, 1860) ...... ...•.. 177,144. 16 
For pay and subsistence of troops on Rio Grande (act of February 15, 

1860) .. -- ....• -- .. ---- ... --- ..... - .. --- ... --.- ... --- .. ---- ... •.--. . . . 36, 966 40 
For pay of supplies furnh;hed troops on frontier (act of February S, 

1861) . - - • - ..... - ...• - ........... - - -- .. - ... -- - -........... - -•.... -- . - 21' 602 1 () 
For pay of supplies of Captain Willi~ms's company in 1858 and 1859 (act 

of February 11, 1861) .......•................•••................•.• -•• 
For pay of Captain Williams's company in 1858 ~nd 1859 (act of April1, 

7,497 15 

1861) .•.... -- •.. --- •.••...... -. -- •.. --.- ... --- ...•.•..• -.- ....• ---. . 10, 070 82. 

Total...... . . • . • • . . . . . . • • • . • • • . • . . . . . . . . . • • . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . 509, 111 95 

I, Stephen H. Darden, comptroller of public acco~nts for the State of Texas, hereby 
certify that the above is a true and correct statement of expenditures on account of 
"frontier protection," as appears by the 'records of this office. 

Witness my hand arid impress of official seal, at Austin, Tex., this 23d day of Decem­
ber, A. D. 1875. 

[sEAL.] STEPH. H. DARDEN., 
Compt1·oller. 

Statement of a.rr1.011 n ts paid by the State of Texas for "f1·ontier protection." TroolJB call til 
out by Gove1·nors A. J. Hamilton, E. J. Davis, and Richard Coke. 

Payments made volunteers called out by Gov. A. J. Hamilton, October 14 
and 20, 1865 (act of November 12, 1866) . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . ... .. . . .. $3,570 76 

Payments made volunteers called out by Gov. E. J. Davis under acts of 
June 13, 1870, and November 25, 1871 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 651, 976 14 

Payments made volunteers called out by Gov. Richard Coke under act of 
Apri110, 1874: 

Amount paid from appropriation (act of May 41 1874) .... .... ...•.. ..•.. 299,986 19 
Amount paid from appropriation (act of March 15, 1875).... . . . . . . . . . . . . . 71, l:l42 58 

Total •••••.•.••.•••..•.•••••..........••....•..••.....•...•..... 1, 027,375 67 
I, Stephen :0:. :parden, comptroller of public accounts for the State of Texas, hereby 

certify that the above is a true and correct statement of expenditures on account of 
"frontier protection," as appears from ·the records of this office. 

Witness my hand and impress of official seal, at Austin, Tex., this 23d day of Decem­
ber, A. D. 1875. 

STEPH. H. DARDEN, 
Compt1·oller. · 
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EXECUTIVE OFFICE, STATE OF TEXAS, 
Austin, December 24, 1875. 

To the Texas delegation in Congress, Waahinqton, D. C. (care of Hon. S. B. Maxey): 
GENTLEMEN: I have the honor to call your attention to the following matters of 

interest to the State, requiring attention at the national capital: 
1. The Government of the United States holds a balance of $101,113.27 due the Stat.e 

--of Texas from funds left in the hands of the former to pay the debt of the Republic of 
Texas. No claim is belieyed to have been presented against this fund within the last 
fifteen years, and the debt of the Republic of Texas is believed to have been. fully sat­
tied. The State needs the balance of this fund, and ought to have it. 

2. I send inclosed statements from the office of the comptroller of public accounts, 
showing amounts expended by the State of Texas for frontier defense from the 28th of 
February, 1855, to the commencement of the late civil war, and from the commence­
ment of Gov . .A. J. Hamilton's administration, after the war, to date, the amount 
aggregating $1,536,487.62. It will be remembered that by act of the legislature of 
Texas, approved February 1, 1856, the State withdrew and abandoned all claims 
a,gainst the Government of the United States growing out of InO.ian depredations prior 
to the 28th of February, 1855. This large amount of money is justly due from the 
National Government to Texas; and I hope that such steps as to you may seem wise 
may be taken at once for the assertion of this claim. 

3. I inclose a public debt statement from the Treasury Department for November, 
1875, which shows that twenty-one of the Texas indemnity bonds and interest thereon 
are still unpaid. These bonds are not in our treasury, and most probably were stolen 
during the war, and may be destroyed, or held by parties who fear to present them. 
I woul<l be glad to know what proceedings are necessary, or will be requireO., on the 
part of the State or her officers, to enable her to demand payment of these lost bonds 
-at the 'l'reasnr·y, and, so far as yon can do so, to aiii in accomplishing the collection of 
the money. I 

4. I sent three days ago to each of your delegation copies of .AO.jutant-General SteePs 
report on Rio Grande troubles; also, copies of the memorial of the late constitutional 
convention of Texas on the same subject, and refer you to the action of last session of 
the fourteenth legislature on the same subject heretofore furnished. I beg, also, to 
refer you to copies of letter from General Potter, commanding at Brownsville, to Gen­
eral Ord, commanding the department, herewith inclosed, in that connection, and to 
suggest that if the Government of the United States does not afford defense and secu­
rity for the people of that border against Mexican invasions it will be impossible to 
restrain the people much longer from organizing and following the raiders into Mex­
ico, and retaliating summarily upon the Mexican border. Our people have been plun­
dered there until they ought not to submit to it any longer. General Ord, the able 
and efficient commander of the department, is doing all he can to protect our people, 
but be is utterly powerless. A police force, irregular troops, rather than a strictly 
military organization, is required there. 

If the President would take into the service of the United States Captain McNelly, 
with say three hundred and fifty men (five hundred would be better); such as he 
would recruit, they would protect that country. They would do service such as the 
<>fficers and men of the United States Army cannot or will not do. They never have 
done any good against the predatory bands of robbers who are devastating that coun­
try, and never will. None but Texas troops have ever checked their operations at all. 
If the United States Government will not protect that border, the State must and will; 
but it is a burden which she ought not to bear. I do hope that you will leave nothing 
undone, no effort unmade, to procure the requisite relief. On this subject I refer you, 
also, to General Ord's last report, and believe I can assure you of any assistance you 
may desire from him in procuring measures of relief. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

[H. Res. 23.] 

RICHARD COKE, 
Governor of Texas. 

:IN TilE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, January 6, 1876.-Read twice, referred to the Committee on Mili­
tary Affairs, and ordered to be printed. 

Mr. REAGAN, on leave, introduced the following joint resolution: 
.JOINT RESOLUTION authorizing and directing the Secretary of the Treasury to pay to the State of 

Texas one million five hundred and thirt,y-six thousand four hundred and seve'nteen dollars and sixty­
two cents on account of moneys paid out by s:tid State for frontier defense. 

Resolved by the Senate and House of RcJJresentaUves of the United Staf.es of America in 
'Congl'ess assembled, That the Secretary of the Treasury be, and he is hereby, antborized 
.and directed to pay, out of any moneys in the Treasury not otherwiae appropriated, to 
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the State of Texas, the sum of one million five hundred and thirty-six thousand four­
hundred and seventeen dollars and sixty-two cents, with lawful interest thereon, to· 
reimburse said State for moneys paid as compensation and for supplies for troops for 
t.he defense of the frontiers of Texas from the twenty-eighth day of February, eighteen 
hundred and fifty-five, to the commencement of the late civil war, and from the corn. 
mencemen t of the administration of the State government by Governor .Andrew J­
Hamilton to the present time. 

[House of Representatives. Mis. Doc. No. 185. Forty-fourth Congress, first session.] 

Joint Tesolution of the legislatut·c of Texas 1·elative to the p1·otection of the 'jrontieT of sa·id' 
State, and compensation for past expenditu1·es by the State ·in that behalf. 

JuLY 17, 1876.-Referred to the Committee on Military .Affairs, and ordered to be printed. 

SECTION 1. Be it Tesohed by the legislatu1·e of the State of Texas, That the Federal Gov­
ernment ()l.es to Texas protection of her exposed frontiers, by virtue of her right a.s 
a member of the Union to an equal participation in the benefits and blessings which its 
Constitution guarantees to all the States, among which is defense against invasion; 
and the Republic of Texas, upon her nrcession to the Union, having ceded to the United 
States all public edifices, fortifications, barraeks, ports and harbors, navy and navy­
yards, docks, magazines, arms, armaments, and all other property and means pertain­
ing to the public defense, the faith of the United Statt's thereby became solemnly 
pledged to extend to the frontiers of the said Republic of Texas the most ample pro­
tection, without which, as a condition-precedent, Texas would have bad no enfficient 
inducement to surrender her independent political position. 

SEc. 2. That onr Senators in the Congress of the United St.a.tes are hereby inst-ructed, 
and our RepreP.entatives are hereby requested, to present t.o Congress now asf!lembled. 
these resolutions of the legislature of the State of Texas, and to urge upon that body 
the enactment of such laws as will secure to our fiOntiers ample military protection 
against Indians and Mexican freebooters; the military forees of the United St.ates on 
otu borders being too weak under the most effective comm:md to afford such protec­
tion, and the State of Texas being compelled, in defense of the property and lives of 
her citizens, to maintain in the field a considerable military force a·t her own expense. 

SEC. 3. That our said Senators be instruct,ed and our Representatives requested to 
present and urge before Congress the passage of a bill reimbursing the St,ate of Texas 
for the large appropriations of money which, from time to time, have necessarily been 
made by her legislature, because of the failure of the Federal Government to provide 
sufficient protection to our frontiers. 

SEC. 4. That the governor of the State be requested to transmit to our Senators and 
Representatives in Congress a copy of these resolutions, together with an itemized 
statement of all expenditures made by the State in the protection of her front·iers. 

SEc. 5. The fact that Congress will a.djonrn at an early day, and the ·necessity fqr 
prompt action, requires that this joint resolution take effect, and it. is hereby declared 
that it do take effect, from an<1 after it.s passa.ge. 

Approved July 6, 1876. 
THE STATE OF TEXAS, 

DEPARTMENT Ol!' STATE. 
I, A.'W. De Rerry, secretary of state for the State of Texas, do hereby certify that 

the above and foregoing is a true and correct copy of the original enrolled senate joint 
resolution No. 169, passed by the fifteenth legislature of the State of Texas, and now 
on file in this department. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the seal of State,. 
at the cit-y of .Austin, this the 7th day ,of July, A. D. 1876. 

[SEAL.) .A. W. DE BERRY, 
Secreta1·y of State. 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, 
Washington, D. C., July 21, 1876. 

At a regular meeting of the Committee on Military .A1fairs of the House of Repre­
sentatives, held June 21, 1876, the following resolution was adopted: 

Resolved, That the joint resolution (H. R. 23) for the payment of the State of Texas 
for expenses incurred in her defense against incursions from Mexico, and the accounts 
:filed therewith, be referred to the Secretary of War, with the request that he will have 
the amounts for said expenses duly inspected, and make report thereon of the amount 
really due the State of Texas on account of the same. 

A copy.-.Attest: 
J.AS . .A. D.A WSON, 

Clerk Committee Military .Affairs, House of Representatives·~ 
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c. 

fH. Miss. Doc. No. 35, Forty second Congress, second session.l 

Letter front the Sec1·etary of the Treasury to the chairman of the Committee on .Appropria­
tiOrls, transmitting a statement of the arnou.nts refnnded to the Sta.tes in raising volunteers 
j1·om 1861 to 1872. 

TREASURY DEPARTMENT, 
Washi11gton, D. C., Janum·y 12, 1872. 

SIR: In reply to your letter of the 16th ultimo, requesting to be furnished with a 
statement showing the amount of claims due certain States for expenses incurred in 
raising volunteers during the late rebellion, I inclose herewith a statement showing 
the amounts refunded and balances claimed by States on suspended accounts, from 
1861 to January 2, 1872. 

I would suggest that the publication of this statement as a public document would 
be a saving of labor to this department. 

I am, very respectfully, 

Bon. JAMES A. GARFIELD, 
Chai1·rnan Committee on Appropriations, 

House of Representatives. 

GEO. S. BOUTWELL, 
Secretm·y. 



Statement of amounts 1·efunded to States for expenses in mising volunteers f1•om 1861 to .Ja.num-y 1872. 

1$.!3 ~ ~ "Ci 
~ 

-dl=l'9 '"'"' Amount paid to States. 13<V.v ~c; • "''""::l 
]~'g . ~..,oot: 

~"' ;e._; ~:€~. <V "' s Q.:Jl <V !l ~~]~ §~ 
+><V ~~cg£ llh• P• ",j,' I 0Total·paid to 

8 ~~§ State. Paid from appropriation. I >:l~ p<ll Q . i:lo goo 8;e ~..CPo 0 ~~'g oo o.-. By war~nt. purcl;lase r States. "'c;;, s ~e~ "C::>:lQ S..c o o s...- s &c. : ~<VO<'$ ~ ~ ~ ~..co 

Maine . . •• . . • . . . . Expenses incurred raising volunteers. Act . . . . . • . . . • • • . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . • . . • . . $1, 308, 300 74 $1, 024, 987 68 . . . . . • . . . . . . . . ''1,·024, 987 68· $283, 313 06 
July 17, 1861. 

New Hampshire . ...... do . .. . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . •• . . . . . . . .. . . •. . . . . .. . . . • . . . . . . . .••••........ . .. . . • . . . . 1, 407, 491 42 967, 872 50 $38, 940 00 1;006, 812 50 · 400,.678 92 
..d.rms, &c., volunteers and regulars .......... $450 00 $450 00 ..•................. . ... . .......•...........•......... ...••..•.................... 

Vermont .......•. Expensesincurred, &c., actJuly17,1861.... . ............ .... . . . ..... . ......... . 924,673 81 772,99713 6,463 47 779,460 60 145,213 21 
Massachusetts . • . . ..... do...... . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • • • • • • • • . . .. .. . . . • . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . .. . . .. ....... :. . . .. .. • . . . • . . . . . . . . .......................... . 

Arms, &c.1 volunteers and regulars. . . . . . . . . 7, 608 88 7, 608 88 . . . . . . . . . . 3, 751, 728 96 3, 500, 313 68 149, 331 '12 3, 649, 644 80. 102, 084 16 
Rhode Island .... Expenses mcurred, &c., act July 17, 1861.... .... ... ...... .... •. .. . . . . . ... . ...... 762,611 99 722,323 86 35,080 33 - 75:7,404 19 · 5, 207 80 
Connecticut ............ do ......................................................................... 2,255,255 94 2,006,090 48 27,947 .80 2,0:l4,'03ti 28 221, '217 66 
New York ............. do.............. ............. .......... ....... ...... ...... ...... . ...... .... 3, 232,325 32 2, 877,100 49 45,3.71 11 2,'92"2, 471 60. 309,853 72 

Arms, &c., volunteers and regulars. . ....... 198,938 52 198,938 52 

·New Jersey······ -~~~~d~s-~~-~~~~~~~i~~~:::: :::::::::::::::::: · ··95; 859"44 · ... 96; 859"44. 
Pennsylvania .... Various appropriations. Act July 17, 1861. ....... . ··~--- ........... .. 

Various appropriations..................... 671,480 09 670,806 85 I $673 24 
Delaware........ Subsistence of the Army ............................................ . 
M_ar~l~nd, ........ Expenses incurred, &c.,· act July 17, 1~61. ............... . 
Vrrginia ............... do .................................................. , ........... .. 
West Virginia ... Reimbursing West Virginia, &c ........................ . 
Ohio ............. Various appropriations . ............................................ .. 
~ois . . • . . . . • • . Exp_enses incurr«:d,. &c., act July 17, 1861.... . • • . • .. . . . . . . . ........... . 

3,172,21819 
3, 019 20 

23,979 72 
54, 089 41 

456,879 03 
:1, 206, 822 77 
4, 574,298 51 

2, 910, 469 11 
3, 019 20 
7,162 52 

48,469 97 
456,658 03 

2, 879, 553 39 
2. 956, 208 28 

3, 826 19. 
1,-()89, 534. 94.. 

1, 385,252 36" 57,196 15 

. 2, 910, 469 11 ·261, 749, 08 
3, 019 20 - ....... ······ 
7, 162 52 16, 817 20 

48, 469 97 5,' 619 44 
456, 658 03 . 221 00 

2, 883, 379 58 .. 323, 443 19 
4, 045, 743 22 528,555 29 

Indiana.......... Various appropriations ..................... . .................. .. .... . 
....•• do ..................................... 1, 074,964 62 1, 073,208 51 

~i~~~~as~n:::::::: _ ~~~~-s-~~ ~~~~~~d~~·: ~~~ ~-~~: ?: !_8_6_1_ :::: ::::::: :::::: :::::: : :::::: 

~~~S·;~::::::: . ~~~d~S. ~~~~~~~~~i~~~:::::::::::::::::::::: ::::::::::::: ::::::: :::::: 
833,017 38 726,435 23 ....... ....... 726,435 23 106,_582 15 

.. i; 756. ii\'. 3; 53o." 3i2. 4i . ! -· 2; 427; ii9. 26 :r··· .. iso: 5o0.:47 '1 •• 2; 487," 6i9. 73 'l'i; o42."·6.-92" 68 
1, 141, 793 81 982, 144 15 . . . .. . . . . .. . . 982, 144 15. 159,649 66 
1, Oil, 765 94 934 624 2Z .. • • • .. • • • • • • . 934, 624 27 137, 141 67 

Missouri ............... do.............. . .. . . .. .. . . . . . . . .. . .. .. 276 75 276 75 
...... do .............................................................. . 

Kentucky •...... Expenses incurred, &c., act July 17,1861 ................ . 
Kansas ................ do ................................................. . 
Nebraska........ Various appropriations ................................. . 
.Colorado......... Payments for militia in 1864 

443,692 71 
7, 236, 978 34 
3, 560, 103 62 

12,351 04 
45,9:26 11 
55,238 84 

· • · · 430; 378·-~ · ·· · · · 5.:293 .. 47 · · · · 435; 67i · 73 · ·-- · · s;wo · ~8 
7, 220, 827 33 .......... - .. . 7, 220, 827 33· 16,' 151 01 
2, 532 699 41 5~7fS, 00 2, 591,417 41. 968,'686 21 

9, 360 82 ·-···· ---· .... 9, 360 82 '· 2,'990 22 
32, 399 29 ., -.... . .. . . .. 32, 399 2(1' 13, 526 82 
55,238 84 .... ... • ... . • . . 55,238 84 .... ~. ---···: 

Total ....... . 2, o5o, 578 3o 12, o48, 148 95 1 2, 429 35 1 44, 5o7, a23 12 I 37; 869, 705 54 J 1,~52~, oo6 ·9o 1_,19, 39o, 112 44 _1 5, 116, 611 28 

NoTE.-Iowa has been allowe8. $89,090.17 on special settlement, but no appropriation from which the same can be paid. MassaGhusetts ha,a. bee!! allowed $79;375-.41, but no 
appropriation from which the same can be paid. Florida has filed a claim, $168,606.73. for payment of troops during the Fionda war. No ajrp.ropriation. New York has filed 
a _ claim, $364,107.07, for expenses incurred. suppressing the rebellion; :filed since January 2, 1872. 

TREASURY DEPARTMENT, Washington, D. 0., January 11, 1872. 
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D. 

STATE CLAIMS, TREASURY DEPARTMENT, THIRD AUDITOR'S OFFICE, 
Washington, D. C., Jamtary24, 1880. 

SIR: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of this date, re­
questing a statement of the amount refunded to States since .April 15, 1861, balance& 
claimed and unpaid, interest and discount claime.;I, &c. 

I herewith inclose statement showing amounts paid, remaining unpaid, also claimed 
for interest. 

I am, very respectfully, 
E. vV. KEIGHTLEY, 

A uditor. 
Hon. ALEXANDER RAMSEY, 

Secl'etary of War, Washing-ion, D. C. 

Statement showing the arnounts refunded to the following Sta.tes since .April15, 1861, on ao­
count of the late rebell·ion; also balances remaining ump aid, and arnounts claimed for inter­
est, together with an estimated amount which migltt be allowed under H. R. bill No. 1563, 
46th Congress, 1st session. 

Name of State. 

Maine .•••........•....•••.... . .•.... 
New Hampshire ...............•.... . 
Vermont---------·------ ........... . 
Massachusetts .............•...•.••. 
Rhode Island ................... . ... . 
Connecticut .•.........•..•......•... 
New York .......................... . 
New Jersey .............••....••..•. 
Pennsylvania.~ .. . .. . .......... . .... . 
Delaware ..•.........•............... 

~i~~~~~~:::::::::: :::::::::::::::::: 
West Virginia ...... .. .. ... .... . ...... . 
Kentucky ............. . . . . .. .. . . . .. . 
Ohio .... . .. . ...... . .......... . ...... _ 
Michigan .. . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . .. . . .. . .. . 
Illinois ............................ .. 
Wisconsin .......................... . 
Indiana ............................. . 
:Minnesota ........................ . . . 
Iowa ......• . ..... . .......•••••...... 
*Missouri .............. . ..... . .. . ... . 
Nebraska .... ...................... .. 
Kansas . ............................ . 

Amounts paid 
various dates 
from 1861 to 
1879. 

~1. 024, 987 68 
1, 010, 815 52 

855,058 09 
3, 731, 704 20 

757,404 19 
2, 1:!5, 073 46 
3, 841, 376 72 
1, 39ti, 141 56 
3, 032, 146 67 

31,988 96 
133,140 99 

48, 469 97 
456,658 03 

3, 385, 536 61 
2, 964, 535 83 

802, 775 99 

4, 045, 504 48 

1 J 036, 423 27 

2, 593, 788 96 

435,671 73 
1, 058, 748 29 
7, 220, 827 33 

34,093 37 
349,118 59 

Balances re­
mainingnn­
paid. 

$283,313 06 

• 
401,775 59 
66,890 16 
19,934 76 
5, 207 80 

156,240 01 
1, 179, 170 90 

38,602 85 
252,050 08 

46,196 87 
45,985 50 
5, 619 44 

221 00 
1, 546, 987 89 

293, 647 68 
32, 828 32 

528,794 03 

105,370 54 

816,450 40 

9, 315 18 
35,765 65 

2, 435, 770 86 
11,832 64 

471,012 98 

Amounts 
c~med for 
interest. 

- .. ~ -................... . 
............................ 
.......................... 
.............................. 
. -... i4i," 363.83-

131, 1~8 02 
........................... 
............................ 
....................... .. ... 
............................ 
.......................... 
........... . .... .. .......... 

973, 701 62 
........................... 
................................. 

{ 232,605 00 
200,507 03 

........... . ............... 

{ 244,702 90 
362, 186 51 

.......................... 

.. .......................... 

................ . ............ 

..... . ................... 

......................... . .. .. 

Estimated 
amounts al­
lowable un­
der H. R. 
bill 1563. 

$200,000 00 
25,000 00 
40,000 00 
10,000 00 

3, 000 00 
100, 000 00 
500,000 00 
25,000 00 

150,000 00 
............................... 
........................... 

2, 000 00 
........................... 

400, 000 00 
200,000 00 

20,000 00 

_50, 000 00 

70,000 00 

106,000 00 

3, 000,00 
25,000 00 

........................... 
5, 000 00 

300,000 00 
1------- ------- ----------

42, 381 J 990 49 8, 788, 934 19 1, 708, 947 01 

*Missouri claim has been conditionally assumed by her but not paid. 
Illinois and Indiana have claims for discount on bonds amounting to $477, 307.90. 
Only four States have presented claims for interest. 

0 

2, 2-28, 000 00 
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